

EDITED BY: Marco Canevelli, Matteo Cesari and Wee Shiong Lim PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine









Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-523-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-523-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

DEMENTIA, FRAILTY AND AGING

Topic Editors:

Marco Canevelli, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Matteo Cesari, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico (IRCCS), and Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy Wee Shiong Lim, Institute of Geriatrics and Active Aging, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore

The number of older subjects is rapidly increasingly worldwide. As a consequence, the nature of clinical conditions is also changing. Traditional medicine and models of care have been based on the evaluation and treatment of single and usually acute conditions occurring in relatively young individuals. Today, the usual clinical manifestation of diseases is characterized by multiple and often chronic conditions affecting older people.

In this scenario, frailty and dementia have been triggering special interest both in research and clinical settings due to their high prevalence, impact on the individual's quality of life, and consequences for public health worldwide. These conditions aptly reflect the complexity of age-related pathological conditions, finding as causal factor a myriad of heterogeneous, interacting, and often still unclear pathophysiological processes. Indeed, their study is strongly affected by the difficulty to differentiate the effects of a normal aging process from eventual pathological deviations of the underlying systems. Their occurrence and trajectories over time are strongly affected by a wide array of factors and determinants that can be hardly attributed to the deficit/ involvement of single biological systems and/or health domains. Moreover, environment and social factors also play a key role in the determination of phenotypes. The present Research Topic is aimed at widening our understanding of the frailty and dementia phenomena occurring with aging, in order to improve the clinical and public health approaches to these burdening conditions.

Citation: Canevelli, M., Cesari, M., Lim, W. S., eds. (2018). Dementia, Frailty and Aging. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-523-2

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Dementia, Frailty and Aging

Wee-Shiong Lim, Marco Canevelli and Matteo Cesari

COGNITIVE FRAILTY

08 Cognitive Frailty in China: Results from China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study

Lina Ma, Li Zhang, Yaxin Zhang, Yun Li, Zhe Tang and Piu Chan

- 14 Characterisation of Physical Frailty and Associated Physical and Functional Impairments in Mild Cognitive Impairment Ma Shwe Zin Nyunt, Chang Yuan Soh, Qi Gao, Xinyi Gwee, Audrey S. L. Ling, Wee Shiong Lim, Tih Shih Lee, Philip L. K. Yap, Keng Bee Yap and Tze Pin Ng
- 22 The Impact of Frailty on the Risk of Conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease: Evidences from a 5-Year Observational Study

Alessandro Trebbastoni, Marco Canevelli, Fabrizia D'Antonio, Letizia Imbriano, Livia Podda, Lidia Rendace, Alessandra Campanelli, Valentina Celano, Giuseppe Bruno and Carlo de Lena

INTERFACE BETWEEN COGNITIVE AND PHYSICAL DOMAINS

- 28 Cross-sectional Associations of Fatigue with Cerebral β-Amyloid in Older Adults at Risk of Dementia
 Claudie Hooper, Philipe De Souto Barreto, Nicola Coley, Matteo Cesari, Pierre Payoux, Anne Sophie Salabert, Sandrine Andrieu and Bruno Vellas for the MAPT/DSA Study Group
 25 Matagia Campita Dick Comparison Predictors of Dementia and Predictors of Dementia and Predictors of Dementia
- 35 Motoric Cognitive Risk Syndrome: Predictor of Dementia and Age-Related Negative Outcomes Jagadish K. Chhetri, Piu Chan, Bruno Vellas and Matteo Cesari
- 43 Is Delirium the Cognitive Harbinger of Frailty in Older Adults? A Review about the Existing Evidence

Giuseppe Bellelli, Rosamaria Moresco, Paola Panina-Bordignon, Beatrice Arosio, Cecilia Gelfi, Alessandro Morandi and Matteo Cesari

54 Spontaneous Reversion of Clinical Conditions Measuring the Risk Profile of the Individual: From Frailty to Mild Cognitive Impairment Marco Canevelli, Giuseppe Bruno, Francesca Remiddi, Carlo Vico, Eleonora Lacorte, Nicola Vanacore and Matteo Cesari

DEMENTIA

- 60 Worry About Caregiving Performance: A Confirmatory Factor Analysis Ruijie Li, Mei Sian Chong, Peng Chew Mark Chan, Bee Gek Laura Tay, Noorhazlina Binte Ali and Wee Shiong Lim
- 69 Burden among Family Caregivers of Dementia in the Oldest-Old: An Exploratory Study

Khin Khin Win, Mei Sian Chong, Noorhazlina Ali, Mark Chan and Wee Shiong Lim

77 Screening of Dementia in Portuguese Primary Care: Methodology, Assessment Tools, and Main Results

Laetitia Teixeira, Pedro Machado Dos Santos, Sara Alves, Maria João Azevedo, Mafalda Gomes Duarte, António Leuschner and Constança Paúl

83 Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis: Discrepancy between Clinical, Neuroimaging, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers Criteria in an Italian Cohort of Geriatric Outpatients: A Retrospective Cross-sectional Study Giulia A. M. Dolci, Sarah Damanti, Valeria Scortichini, Alessandro Galli, Paolo D. Rossi, Carlo Abbate, Beatrice Arosio, Daniela Mari, Andrea Arighi, Giorgio G. Fumagalli, Elio Scarpini, Silvia Inglese and Maura Marcucci

NOVEL APPROACHES

- **93** Of Microbes and Minds: A Narrative Review on the Second Brain Aging Riccardo Calvani, Anna Picca, Maria Rita Lo Monaco, Francesco Landi, Roberto Bernabei and Emanuele Marzetti
- 104 Getting Lost Behavior in Patients with Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Cognitive and Anatomical Model
 Chathuri Yatawara, Daryl Renick Lee, Levinia Lim, Juan Zhou and Nagaendran Kandiah
- **113** Big Data and Dementia: Charting the Route Ahead for Research, Ethics, and Policy

Marcello Ienca, Effy Vayena and Alessandro Blasimme





Editorial: Dementia, Frailty and Aging

Wee-Shiong Lim^{1*}, Marco Canevelli² and Matteo Cesari^{3,4}

¹ Department of Geriatric Medicine, Institute of Geriatrics and Active Ageing, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ² Department of Human Neuroscience, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³ UOSD Geriatria, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda - Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Dipartimento di Scienze Cliniche e di Comunità, Università di Milano, Milan, Italy

Keywords: dementia, frailty, aging, population aging, big data

Editorial on the Research Topic

Dementia, Frailty and Aging

Population aging is both a worldwide success story and a worldwide health conundrum, with the increasing age of populations around the world leading to unprecedented challenges (1). According to the United Nations report on World Population Prospects (2017), there is an estimated 962 million people aged 60 years and above who comprise 13% of the global population (2). The beginning of the twenty-first century has seen health systems worldwide struggling to deliver quality healthcare amidst challenges posed by aging populations (3). Traditional medicine and models of care have been premised on the evaluation and treatment of standalone and usually acute diseases occurring in relatively younger individuals. This contrasts with the current reality of multiple, interacting, and often chronic conditions affecting older persons. It is thus necessary to disentangle the pathophysiological mechanisms, clinical manifestations, and inter-relationships of age-related conditions in order to personalize clinical interventions and realign health systems to better address the unmet needs of frail older persons (4, 5).

Against this backdrop, frailty and dementia have emerged as priority areas in both research and clinical settings due to their high prevalence, impact on the individual's quality of life, and public health impact (6–8). These conditions aptly reflect the complexity of age-related pathological conditions, causally underpinned by a myriad of heterogeneous, interacting, and often unclear pathophysiological processes. Indeed, a hallmark of both conditions is the inherent difficulty in differentiating the effects of the normal aging process from the eventual pathophysiological deviations of the underlying disease (9, 10). Their occurrence and trajectories over time are strongly affected by a wide array of factors and determinants that are not confined to single biological systems and/or health domains (10). Moreover, environment and social factors also substantially influence the definition of different phenotypes. This raises the clarion call for a broader, integrated, and holistic approach that is able to more adequately capture the biological, clinical, and psychosocial complexities of frailty and dementia, thus paving the way for improvement in the consequent outcomes (11–13).

The present Research Topic represents a timely addition to the burgeoning body of evidence which aims to provide fresh perspectives in our understanding of the frailty and dementia phenomena occurring with aging. An area of particular interest is the emerging construct of cognitive frailty (CF), which is designed to operatively capture the co-existence of frailty and cognitive impairment in the absence of dementia (14). Using a modified version of the IANA/IAGG criteria (15), Ma et al. reported a 2.7% prevalence of CF in a Chinese older population. Older persons, women, and people living in rural areas were found to be at higher risk of CF. Corroborating the recommendations of the Lancet Commission report (7), depression and hearing impairment were independently associated with CF in elderly individuals with physical frailty. The study by Nyunt et al. explored the physical frailty phenotype in mild cognitive impairment (MCI). When compared with participants with "normal high cognition," there was a higher prevalence of frailty and pre-frailty attributable to low lean mass, slow gait speed, or balance and gait impairment. In their 5-year observational study of 91 subjects with amnestic MCI,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Tzvi Dwolatzky, Rambam Health Care Campus, Israel

> *Correspondence: Wee-Shiong Lim wee_shiong_lim@ttsh.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 24 April 2018 Accepted: 14 May 2018 Published: 29 May 2018

Citation:

Lim W-S, Canevelli M and Cesari M (2018) Editorial: Dementia, Frailty and Aging. Front. Med. 5:168. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00168 Trebbastoni et al. also noted that frailty was associated with increased risk of conversion to Alzheimer's dementia, even in those with high baseline level of cognitive performance.

Four papers in this Research Topic shed further insights to illuminate the knowledge gap in our understanding of the interface between cognitive and physical domains. In their study of 269 elderly individuals with subjective memory complaints, Hooper et al. did not find any significant cross-sectional associations between fatigue and AB load. However, sensitivity analysis revealed a weak association with increased $A\beta$ in the hippocampus in subjects with MCI, thereby providing indirect support for the construct of CF at the early stages of Alzheimer's disease. Chhetri et al. proposed the motoric cognitive risk (MCR) syndrome, characterized by the simultaneous presence of gait disturbances and memory complaints in older adults, as a means to examine the close interactions between cognitive and physical domains and identify individuals at risk of dementia and other age-related adverse outcomes. By summarizing the existing evidence from both human and animal models, Bellelli et al. highlighted the multiple common pathophysiologic mechanisms and pathways of delirium and frailty, to lay out the case for delirium as the cognitive harbinger of a state of frailty in the context of an acute clinical event. This opens the door for further studies to examine the contribution of physical frailty to adverse outcomes in delirium, and conversely, the deleterious impact of delirium on physical frailty (16). Using the examples of frailty and MCI, the review by Canevelli et al. challenged the widelyheld assumptions of these entities as unequivocally prodromal stages of a future disease state by providing a timely reminder of our incomplete understanding of the transitions of clinical atrisk conditions and their potential for clinical improvement and spontaneous reversion.

Dementia is a devastating and debilitating illness that has far-reaching public health, social and economic ramifications. Therefore, the Research Topic submissions also covered pertinent areas in dementia such as caregiving and diagnosis. To keep pace with the projected exponential rise in dementia, it is imperative that we tap upon the "invisible workforce" of family caregivers and understand the factors that predispose to caregiver burden (17). Li et al. confirmed the existence of the unique "worry about performance" (WaP) burden in the multidimensionality of caregiver burden beyond role and personal strain. Unlike other factors, WaP was significantly reported even in early cognitive impairment, suggesting its potential as a possible target for interventions aimed at improving self-efficacy among caregivers in the milder stages of burden (18). In their study examining the rapidly expanding group of caregivers of dementia in oldestold (CDOO), Win et al. reported these were mainly older adult children who experienced significant role and personal strain rather than WaP while caring for their oldest-old family members with more impaired cognitive and physical function. To address the challenges of under-detection of dementia in the primary care setting, Teixeira et al. described a potentially scalable multi-stage strategy for community detection that involved initial screening by health professionals to identify at-risk individuals for more comprehensive evaluation. With the recent release of the NIA-AA Research Framework directed toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease (19), the real-world study of geriatrics outpatients by Dolci et al. highlighted the discrepancy between clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease with cerebrospinal fluid and neuroimaging biomarkers, thereby reiterating the caution against premature and inappropriate usage of biomarker-based research frameworks in general medical practice.

Novel approaches are also suggested in this Research Topic. Reviving a 100-year old idea about a possible role played by gut microbiota in modulating brain morphology and function across the life-course (20), Calvani et al. proposed the fascinating concept of the "second brain aging" which links age-related changes in the gut mircrobiota to neurodegeneration and related conditions (including depression, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease). This raises the tantalizing prospect of developing interventions that target the gut microbiota as part of a comprehensive strategy in dementia prevention and treatment. Yatawara et al. explicated the cognitive-anatomical basis of getting lost behavior in patients with mild Alzheimer's disease. They reported that the top-down modulation deficit is localized to the medial temporal lobe and did not follow the typical mechanism in healthy aging, highlighting the need to target both working memory and visuospatial deficits simultaneously. Lastly, the thoughtful review by Lenca et al. explored the potential of harnessing big data approaches to improve current preventive and predictive models in dementia care and research (e.g., enabling earlier diagnosis, optimizing resource allocation, and delivering individualized treatments tailored to patients). The authors highlighted technical, scientific, ethical, and regulatory challenges and proposed the need for multi-level integrative approaches to chart the route ahead for research, ethics, and policy.

As guest editors for this research topic on frailty, dementia, and aging, we are delighted to commend to you the collection of 14 articles as an important contribution to "evidence-balanced medicine" in the real world of frail older persons (21).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

W-SL, MarC, and MatC conceived the manuscript. W-SL drafted the paper. MatC critically appraised and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the paper.

REFERENCES

- Callahan CM, Foroud T, Saykin AJ, Shekhar A, Hendrie HC. Translational research on aging: clinical epidemiology as a bridge between the sciences. *Transl Res.* (2014) 163:439–45. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2013.09.002
- United Nations report on World Population Prospects. World Population Prospects: The 2017 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables. United Nations DoEaSA, Population Division (2017). Available online at: https://esa. un.org/unpd/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2017_KeyFindings.pdf (accessed September 25, 2017).

- Lim WS, Wong SF, Leong I, Choo P, Pang WS. Forging a frailty-ready healthcare system to meet population ageing. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:1448. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14121448
- Woo J. Designing fit for purpose health and social services for ageing populations. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2017) 14:457. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14050457
- Cesari M, Prince M, Thiyagarajan JA, De Carvalho IA, Bernabei R, Chan P, et al. Frailty: an emerging public health priority. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* (2016) 17:188-92. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.12.016
- Beard JR, Officer A, de Carvalho IA, Sadana R, Pot AM, Michel J-P, et al. The World report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2145-54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00516-4
- Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. *Lancet* (2017) 390:2673– 734. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6
- Dent E, Lien C, Lim WS, Wong WC, Wong CH, Ng TP, et al. The Asia-Pacific clinical practice guidelines for the management of frailty. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* (2017) 18:564-75. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.04.018
- Morley JE, Vellas B, Van Kan GA, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2013) 14:392–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet (2013) 381:752–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9
- Galvin JE. Prevention of Alzheimer's disease: lessons learned and applied. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. (2017) 65:2128-33. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14997
- Yaffe K. Modifiable risk factors and prevention of dementia: what is the latest evidence? *JAMA Intern Med.* (2018) 178:281-2. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.7299
- Walston J, Buta B, Xue Q-L. Frailty screening and interventions: considerations for clinical practice. *Clin Geriatr Med.* (2018) 34:25-38. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2017.09.004
- Canevelli M, Cesari M. Cognitive frailty: far from clinical and research adoption J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2017) 18:816-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.07.004

- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, Van Kan GA, Ousset P-J, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (IANA/IAGG) international consensus group. J Nutr Health Aging (2013) 17:726-34. doi: 10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2
- Chew J, Lim WS, Chong MS, Ding YY, Tay L. Impact of frailty and residual subsyndromal delirium on 1-year functional recovery: a prospective cohort study. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2017) 17:2472-8. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13108
- Gitlin LN, Marx K, Stanley IH, Hodgson N. Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: state-of-the-science and next steps. *Gerontologist* (2015) 55:210-26. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu123
- Lim WS, Cheah WK, Ali N, Han HC, Anthony PV, Chan M, et al. Worry about performance: a unique dimension of caregiver burden. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2014) 26:677-86. doi: 10.1017/S1041610213002445
- Jack CR, Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Dunn B, Haeberlein SB, et al. NIA-AA Research Framework: toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2018) 14:535-62. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018. 02.018.
- Mackowiak PA. Recycling Metchnikoff: probiotics, the intestinal microbiome and the quest for long life. *Front Public Health*. (2013) 1:52. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2013.00052
- 21. Lim WS, Ding Y. Evidence-balanced medicine:"Real" evidence-based medicine in the elderly. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* (2015) **44**:1–5.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lim, Canevelli and Cesari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cognitive Frailty in China: Results from China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study

Lina Ma^{1,2}, Li Zhang^{1,2}, Yaxin Zhang^{1,2}, Yun Li^{1,2}, Zhe Tang^{1,2*} and Piu Chan^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Geriatrics, Beijing Geriatric Healthcare Center, Beijing Institute of Geriatrics, Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ²Key Laboratory on Neurodegenerative Disease of Ministry of Education, Beijing Institute for Brain Disorders, China National Clinical Research Center for Geriatric Disorders, Beijing, China, ³Department of Neurology and Neurobiology, Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Objective: Cognitive frailty (CF) refers to the co-occurrence of physical frailty (PF) and cognitive impairment in persons without dementia. We aimed to explore the prevalence and associated factors of CF in China.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matteo Cesari, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Jagadish K. Chhetri, Gérontopôle-Institute on Aging, Toulouse University Hospital, France Bertrand Fougère, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France

*Correspondence:

Zhe Tang tangzhe@sina.com; Piu Chan pbchan@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 02 October 2017 Published: 20 October 2017

Citation:

Ma L, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Li Y, Tang Z and Chan P (2017) Cognitive Frailty in China: Results from China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study. Front. Med. 4:174. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00174 **Method:** Data were obtained from the China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study. A total of 5,708 community-dwelling older adults without dementia were included. CF was assessed using the Mini–Mental State Examination for the evaluation of cognitive status and the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment-Frailty Index for the evaluation of PF. Participants with both cognitive impairment and PF were classified as having CF. Sociodemographic and clinical history was also collected. Logistic analysis was used to explore the association between the associated factors and CF.

Results: The overall crude prevalence of CF was 3.3% [95% confidence interval (CI) = 3.0-4.0], and the standard prevalence of CF was 2.7% (95% CI = 2.0-3.0). The prevalence of CF was significantly higher in women than men and higher in residents of rural areas than urban areas. Moreover, the prevalence of CF was found to increase with age. Multiple factor analysis showed that depression (OR = 2.462, 95% CI = 1.066-5.687) and hearing impairment (OR = 2.713, 95% CI = 1.114-6.608) were independent associated factors of CF in elderly individuals with PF.

Conclusion: Our results provide the first empirical evidence of CF in China. We have identified several associated factors with CF which should be considered while assessing older adults. More studies in Chinese population with CF are demanded to confirm with our findings.

Keywords: cognitive frailty, elderly, comprehensive geriatric assessment, epidemiology, frailty index

INTRODUCTION

Frailty in older adults is characterized by a nonspecific state of vulnerability, specifically, reduced multisystem physiological reserve, decreased resistance to stressors, and increased risk for adverse health outcomes (1–3). The relationship between physical frailty (PF) and cognitive impairment has been recognized for decades and thought to be connected by their similar pathophysiological

Abbreviations: CF, cognitive frailty; PF, physical frailty; CGA, Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment; FI, frailty index; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

mechanisms (4). There is a frequent coexistence of frailty and cognitive impairment, which also had cumulative effect mortality (5, 6). Hence, demanding the need of a novel entity to discriminate associated risk factors of both PF and cognitive impairment, as well as to provide better prevention and therapy strategies for those frail patients who are prone to cognitive disorders (7). Accordingly, the International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) and the International Association of Gerontology and Geriatrics (IAGG) proposed a new construct "cognitive frailty" (CF) (8), to define a condition characterized by the simultaneous presence of PF and cognitive impairment in the absence of dementia, which might be marked as a promising target for the prevention of age-related disorders (9). In this new concept, PF precedes the onset of cognitive impairment (8, 9), thus, intervention programs targeted to improve frailty may prevent late-life cognitive disorders. Several studies have investigated the concept of CF, and reported the prevalence of CF to be ranging between 10.7 and 40% in clinical settings and 0.9-12.0% in communitybased population (7). A recent study claimed that CF is a precursor of neurodegenerative processes and could be potentially reversed (10). Furthermore, other research reported that CF was a useful predictor of mortality and dementia, even after adjusting for vascular risk factors and depressive symptoms (11).

Accordingly, this new concept poses challenges as well as opportunities for geriatricians. Nonetheless, the validity and utilization of CF in the Chinese population which represents the largest and fastest growing aging population in the world remains unclear. Hence, we aimed to explore the prevalence and associated factors of CF in the Chinese population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Data were obtained from the China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study (CCGAS) (2011–2012) which used a two-step statistical sampling techniques including cluster, stratification, and random selection (12). In the first step, seven cities representing the six main regions of China were selected: Beijing, Xi'an, Harbin, Chengdu, Chongqing, Changsha, and Shanghai. Then, participants from the above seven cities were selected regarding urban-rural areas, age, and gender in the second step. Further details regarding the CCGAS have been reported (12). Finally, 9,694 elderly participants were enrolled including 6,867 elderly adults living in community and 2,827 inpatients. Of the 6,867 community-dwelling older adults, 5,708 of those without a self-history of diagnosed dementia and with Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment-Frailty Index (CGA-FI) and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) data were included. This study was reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The Construct of CF

Cognitive frailty was operationalized using CGA-FI for the evaluation of PF and MMSE for the evaluation of cognitive status. Participants were stratified by educational level to determine thresholds for global cognition. The thresholds for those who were illiterate, or attended at most primary school, middle school, or university were ≤ 17 , ≤ 20 , ≤ 22 , and ≤ 24 , respectively (13). Participants who scored below the threshold value for their education group were recorded as cognitive impairment. As we previously published (14), CGA-FI was measured by 68 parameters, but in the current study the "cognition" variable of FI was excluded, thus 67 parameters from the following five variables remains: demographic characteristics, physical health, physical function, living behavior and social function, and mental health. Further detail on CGA-FI is in Table S1 in Supplementary Material. The FI score was defined as the cumulative sum of the total score of each index divided by 67. PF was defined as $FI \ge 0.25$ (15, 16). Participants positive for both instruments were classified as having CF. Dementia was defined by a reported disease history diagnosed by a doctor. All of the participants were free of dementia.

Sociodemographics

Using face-to-face interviews, we examined the sociodemographic variables, medical conditions, and physical function based on the standard CGA instrument (12). Area of residence was classified into urban and rural. Northern cities included Beijing, Xi'an, and Harbin, and southern cities included Chengdu, Chongqing, Changsha, and Shanghai. Participants were divided into the following five age groups: 60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, and ≥ 80 years. Education status was recorded as illiterate or literate. Participants were also stratified by monthly income: USD < 180 and USD \geq 180. Marital status was listed as married or widowed.

Medical Conditions

Participants were considered to have a medical condition if they had a self-reported history of chronic disease diagnosed by a doctor. Clinical syndromes and geriatric syndromes were also recorded. Functional ability was assessed on the basis of activities of daily living (ADL) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) (17). Participants with one or more impaired ADL or IADL were defined as having a disability. The Geriatric Depression Scale was used to assess depression (18), with a total score ranging 0–30. A score of ≥ 11 typically indicates clinical depression. Comorbidity was defined as having ≥ 2 chronic diseases. A walking speed below the height-adjustment threshold value in 20 m walking test was considered a slow pace. Regular exercise was defined as exercising for ≥ 3 h/week over the past 12 months. We also screened for a history of spontaneous fractures that occurred over the past 2 years and falls that occurred twice or more often in the past year.

Statistical Analysis

EpiData was used to establish the database, input, and automatically verify the data. Statistical analyses were performed by SPSS version 11.5 (Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Count data were expressed as percentages, with standardized rates (weighted values) calculated using the national standard population composition ratio as at the Sixth National Census (2010). The bootstrap confidence interval for the prevalence was estimated based on 1,000 bootstrap samples and was bias-corrected. Chi-square tests were performed to compare percentages. Forward stepwise logistic regression was done to explore the association between the various factors as independent variables and CF as the dependent variable. Adjustments were made for sociodemographic variables and age-related factors. All statistical tests were two-sided and statistical significance was set at a P-value < 0.05.

RESULTS

Figure 1 presents the prevalence of CF in older adults. Of the 5,708 older adults, 187 individuals demonstrated CF, accordingly, the overall crude prevalence and standard prevalence of CF were 3.3% [95% confidence interval (CI) = 3.0-4.0%] and 2.7% (95% CI = 2.0-3.0%), respectively. The prevalence of CF was significantly higher in women and those living in rural areas. Moreover, the prevalence of CF increased with age, with the highest values recorded for participants aged ≥ 80 years (9.8%)



FIGURE 1 | Prevalence of cognitive frailty (CF) in older adults by gender, area, and age. The prevalence of CF among adults aged 60+ in China by China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study, 2011–2012. Data were weighted by the national standard population composition ratio based on the Sixth National Census (2010). The total sample population in the analysis was 5,708.

and the lowest values observed among those aged 60-64 years (1.1%, **Figure 1**).

The effect of sociopsychological factors and physical function on CF are shown in **Table 1**. The prevalence of CF was higher among participants who were illiterate, had a low income, or widowed, and it was also found to be relatively higher among participants who had depression (**Table 1**). We observed a higher prevalence of CF among participants with comorbidities, disabilities, slow walking speed, vision impairment, and hearing impairment. Those who had less exercise and a low body mass index demonstrated a higher prevalence of CF. Participants who reported spontaneous fractures or falls showed a higher prevalence of CF (**Table 1**).

The results of logistic regression models are shown in **Table 2**. In the context of the robust elderly individuals, comorbidity, depression, less exercise, hearing impairment, disability, and falls were independent factors influencing CF. Furthermore, when referred to the elderly individuals with PF, depression and hearing impairment were independently associated with CF.

DISCUSSION

Our results showed that the standard prevalence of CF was 2.7%, and increased with age in the Chinese older population. Women and participants living in rural areas were found to be at higher risk for CF. Currently, owing to different definitions of CF, the prevalence varies from 0.9 to 40% across countries (7, 19–21). In the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies, the estimated prevalence of PF coexisting with cognitive impairment was 1.8%; moreover, the prevalence of pre-frailty and frailty coexisting with cognitive impairment was 10.7% and was associated with more severe functional disability, hospitalization, poor quality of life, and mortality (19). In an Italian study, the prevalence of CF was 4.4% among older adults, and those with CF showed more severe

 TABLE 1 | Effect of sociopsychology factors and physical function on cognitive frailty (CF).

	Total	NC, <i>n</i> (%)	CF, <i>n</i> (%)	Weighted (%)	χ²	Р
Sociopsychology factors						
Education						
Illiterate	1,040	941 (90.5)	99 (9.5)	9.1	156.423	< 0.001
Not illiterate	4,668	4,580 (98.1)	88 (1.9)	1.6		
Monthly income (US\$)						
<180	2,633	2,502 (95.0)	131 (5.0)	4.2	56.035	<0.001
≥180	2,922	2,879 (98.5)	43 (1.5)	1.2		
Marital status						
Married	4,398	4,286 (97.5)	112 (2.5)	2.1	31.065	< 0.001
Widowed	1,306	1,232 (94.3)	74 (5.7)	5.3		
Smoking	1,628	1,573 (96.6)	55 (3.4)	2.4	0.075	0.784
Depression	691	587 (84.9)	104 (15.1)	13.3	343.966	<0.001
Physical function						
Comorbidity	3,249	3,089 (95.1)	160 (4.9)	4.4	64.678	<0.001
Disability	414	292 (70.5)	122 (29.5)	29.1	966.413	<0.001
Slow walking speed	647	616 (95.2)	31 (4.8)	4.2	38.596	< 0.001
Vision impairment	383	338 (88.3)	45 (11.7)	10.6	93.019	< 0.001
Hearing impairment	272	231 (84.9)	41 (15.1)	15.1	125.446	< 0.001
Less exercise	1,210	1,093 (90.3)	117 (9.7)	8	198.067	< 0.001
Fall	252	218 (86.5)	34 (13.5)	12.9	86.831	< 0.001
Fracture	190	179 (94.2)	11 (5.8)	5.2	3.918	0.048
Low body mass index	317	296 (93.4)	21 (6.6)	5.9	11.876	0.001

TABLE 2 | Forward stepwise logistic regression for associated factors with CF.

	Model 1			Model 2			
	OR	95% CI	P value	OR	95% CI	P value	
Age (≥75 years)	4.237	1.955–9.183	<0.001	4.918	1.845–13.107	0.001	
Area (rural)	5.670	2.454-13.099	< 0.001	22.196	8.258-59.659	< 0.001	
Comorbidity	11.761	4.041-34.231	< 0.001	/	/	/	
Depression	11.371	5.302-24.387	< 0.001	2.462	1.066-5.687	0.035	
Less exercise	3.213	1.529-6.754	0.002	/	/	/	
Hearing impairment	3.519	1.410-8.779	0.007	2.713	1.114-6.608	0.028	
Disability	13.418	5.317-33.865	< 0.001	/	/	/	
Fall	6.653	2.651-16.697	< 0.001	/	/	/	

Model 1: Logistic regression for risk factors associated with CF in the robust and CF population. The variables not in the equation were gender, smoking, marital status, education, income, walking speed, vision impairment, low body mass index, and fracture. Adjusted for sociodemographic variables and age-related factors.

Model 2: Logistic regression for risk factors associated with CF in the population with physical frailty. The variables not in the equation were gender, smoking, marital status,

education, income, walking speed, vision impairment, comorbidity, exercise, disability, fall, low body mass index, and fracture. Adjusted for sociodemographic variables and agerelated factors.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; CF, cognitive frailty.

disability than those without frailty (22). Similarly, the findings of our study also showed that older participants with comorbidity, disability, and fall were independently associated with CF.

Past studies have shown PF to be associated with cognitive decline in older adults (23, 24). Compared to the individuals with only cognitive impairment (i.e., without PF), those with CF showed poorer scores on executive and attention tests (25). Furthermore, baseline frailty was found to be strongly associated with subsequent changes in cognition assessed by MMSE (26, 27) and higher risk for non-AD dementia (28). In addition, studies have shown frailty state transitions to be associated with cognitive deterioration in participants with mild to moderate Alzheimer disease (29). Another study reported that PF was a stronger indicator of cognition than age (30).

Hearing impairment is one of the principal causes of chronic disability in older adults (31), and our study showed that old individuals with hearing impairment were independently associated with CF either in robust or frail population. A previous study suggested that hearing impairment to be a prognostic marker of frailty in older age and could identify older persons with adverse health outcomes (31-33). Recently, CF was considered to embody two different manifestations: slow gait and low cognition, which may share a common underlying mechanism (34). Furthermore, Verghese et al. validated a new Motoric Cognitive Risk syndrome, which was defined as the presence of cognitive complaints and slow gait, and found it was associated higher risk of developing dementia (35). Our study also showed that participants with slow gait speed demonstrated a higher prevalence of CF; however, gait speed was not an independent factor per the logistic regression analysis. Nevertheless, other studies found that gait speed was associated with severity of cognitive impairment, after adjusting for age, gender, and age-related factors (36).

We used the CGA-FI to assess for PF in this study, while majority of the other studies used the Fried criteria (11, 19, 21, 22, 25, 34, 37, 38). However, it is noteworthy that in fact, the construct of CF itself is rather controversial, and the past studies on CF implemented non-uniform operational criteria both for assessing PF and cognitive impairment (7). Moreover, the operational definition of PF still remains unresolved (8), which might partially explain the non-uniformity. Although the consensus paper of IANA/IAGG definition of CF has been described by Fried criteria for PF (8), an obvious question emerges: can frailty be defined by FI in the construct of CF? It has not yet fully explored in the literature. Fried criteria and FI are the two most commonly used measurements in the world, and they share common characteristics and complementarity when applied to the Chinese older population (39); moreover, the preliminary results of our study further demonstrated the feasibility of this method in a Chinese population. A previous study reported that using a multi-dimensional FI, both baseline status and within-person changes in frailty were predictive of cognitive trajectories (40); furthermore, this tool was shown to be effective in identifying individuals at high risk for cognitive decline (41). Thus, FI may be a promising instrument for determining the vulnerability of dementia and was also recommended to be used for assessing CF (42). CGA can be used to identify the medical, psychosocial, and functional capabilities of older adults (43), in addition, CGA-FI can predict both cognitive changes and mortality (27); therefore, CGA-FI has applications in frailty measurements in elderly individuals with cognitive impairment.

This is the first study to report the prevalence of CF and the associated factors in China; furthermore, our results show that the CGA-FI is a feasible tool for defining CF. CGA is regularly used as an assessment tool for old individuals. In older adults, most health deficits are known to be associated with late-life cognitive impairment (5). Our study provides a quick and simple method to identify CF in any individual with CGA data; furthermore, this approach allows for rapid diagnosis of CF, such that prevention of and intervention for dementia and disability can be established at an early stage (44). However, these results must be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, we chose only seven cities in China; although our methodology was strong, the small number of cities and participants included may have biased our results. Second, this is a cross-sectional study, further longitudinal studies that incorporate frailty and cognition and randomized controlled trials are needed to provide more information on the cause-and-effect relationship of frailty and cognition, risk factors of CF and the transition to

dementia. Third, this is a study designed for screening tools, so dementia was defined by a reported disease history diagnosed by a doctor, and a lack of some important examinations specific for dementia such as neuroimaging tests and other neuropsychiatric scales, in this perspective, some patients with potential dementia might be included in this population. Besides, the relationship between PF and cognitive impairment was not explored in the study. The existing cognitive decline in this study is uncertain to be driven by the physical domain makes the criteria arbitrary to be defined as CF, which indicates that there is a disparity in our operational construct and the construct recommended by IANA/ IAGG consensus. However, it is worthwhile to note that both the clinical diagnosis of dementia and the identification of nonneurodegenerative cognitive impairment require a comprehensive neuropsychological battery which is hard to apply in busy daily clinical practice. Fourth, only one kind of frailty measurements was used in this study, so further research on the comparison between FI model and Fried model needs to be conducted to confirm with our findings. Additionally, biomedical variables were not included in this study. Last, in spite of the fact that CGA is most evidence-based for detection and severity grade of frailty, it is bounded by the resource-intensive and time-consuming process, thus further simple and more efficient instruments are expected to be developed for daily clinical work (45).

In conclusion, while preliminary, this work contributes to expanding the knowledge that CF may be a promising new concept for the assessment of vulnerability in patients with cognitive impairment, as well as identifying individuals at high risk for negative outcomes. Our study identified that depression and hearing impairment were independent associated factors of CF in elderly individuals with frailty in China, showing the possibility of controlling further cognitive deterioration in a population with PF. Our results shed new light on the identification and related factors for CF and suggest that many health deficits are associated with CF. Therefore, in order to narrow the gap between the hopefully promising concept and the limited evidence from current studies, especially in the situation that CF was still considered to be far away from clinical and research scenario (7), the reliability and predictive validity of the operational definition of CF should be clarified in future studies, as well as the underlying biological characteristics. Prospective studies will be needed to address the early intervention strategies to integrate physical and cognitive function.

REFERENCES

- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56:M146–57. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146
- Morley JE, Vellas B, Abellan van Kan G, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2014) 14:392–7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022.Frailty
- Walston J, Hadley EC, Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Newman AB, Studenski SA, et al. Research agenda for frailty in older adults: toward a better understanding of physiology and etiology: summary from the American Geriatrics Society/National Institute on Aging research conference on frailty in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc (2006) 54:991–1001. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415. 2006.00745.x

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PC and ZT contributed to the design of the work. LM drafted the manuscript and wrote it together with PC, ZT, and YZ. LZ and YL contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data. All the authors contributed to writing the paper and revising it critically and gave final approval of this version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the CCGAS participants and their families for taking part in the study. We acknowledge all the colleagues who participated in the study from the following hospitals: Xuanwu Hospital, Beijing Hospital, Beijing Institute of Geriatrics, General Hospital of PLA, Peking University Third Hospital, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xijing Hospital of The Fourth Military Medical University, The First Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, The Third Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, and Ruijin Hospital of Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the following grants: National Natural Science Foundation of China (81600927), the Ministry of Health Welfare Industry Special Fund (201002011), and Beijing Municipal Health Bureau Research Fund (Jing 17-12).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmed.2017.00174/ full#supplementary-material.

- Aguilar-Navarro SG, Mimenza-Alvarado AJ, Anaya-Escamilla A, Gutiérrez-Robledo LM. Frailty and vascular cognitive impairment: mechanisms behind the link. *Rev Invest Clin* (2016) 68:25–32.
- 5. Searle SD, Rockwood K. Frailty and the risk of cognitive impairment. *Alzheimers Res Ther* (2015) 7:54. doi:10.1186/s13195-015-0140-3
- St. John PD, Tyas SL, Griffith LE, Menec V. The cumulative effect of frailty and cognition on mortality – results of a prospective cohort study. *Int Psychogeriatrics* (2017) 29:535–43. doi:10.1017/S1041610216002088
- 7. Canevelli M, Cesari M. Cognitive frailty: far from clinical and research adoption. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2017) 18(10):816–8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2017.07.004
- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, Abellan Van Kan G, Ousset PJ, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) International Consensus Group. J Nutr Health Aging (2013) 17:726–34. doi:10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2

- 9. Canevelli M, Cesari M. Cognitive frailty: what is still missing? J Nutr Heal Aging (2015) 19:273-5. doi:10.1007/s12603-015-0464-5
- Ruan Q, Yu Z, Chen M, Bao Z, Li J, He W. Cognitive frailty, a novel target for the prevention of elderly dependency. *Ageing Res Rev* (2015) 20:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2014.12.004
- Solfrizzi V, Scafato E, Seripa D, Lozupone M, Imbimbo BP, D'Amato A, et al. Reversible cognitive frailty, dementia, and all-cause mortality. The Italian longitudinal study on aging. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2017) 18:89.e1–89.e8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.10.012
- Ma L, Li Z, Tang Z, Sun F, Diao L, Li J, et al. Prevalence and socio-demographic characteristics of disability in older adults in China: findings from China Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment Study. Arch Gerontol Geriatr (2017) 73:199–203. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2017.07.029
- Zhang M, Katzman R, Salmon D, Jin H, Cai G, Wang Z, et al. The prevalence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease in Shanghai, China: impact of age, gender, and education. *Ann Neurol* (1990) 27:428–37. doi:10.1002/ana.410270412
- Ma L, Zhang L, Tang Z, Sun F, Diao L, Wang J, et al. Use of the frailty index in evaluating the prognosis of older people in Beijing: a cohort study with an 8-year follow-up. Arch Gerontol Geriatr (2016) 64:172–7. doi:10.1016/j. archger.2015.11.002
- Woo J, Zheng Z, Leung J, Chan P. Prevalence of frailty and contributory factors in three Chinese populations with different socioeconomic and healthcare characteristics. *BMC Geriatr* (2015) 15:163. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0160-7
- Zheng Z, Guan S, Ding H, Wang Z, Zhang J, Zhao J, et al. Prevalence and incidence of frailty in community-dwelling older people: Beijing longitudinal study of aging II. J Am Geriatr Soc (2016) 64:1281–6. doi:10.1111/jgs.14135
- Kempen GIJM, Suurmeijer TPBM. The development of a hierarchical polychotomous ADL-IADL Scale for noninstitutionalized elders. *Gerontologist* (1990) 30:497–502. doi:10.1093/geront/30.4.497
- Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, Huakc V, Adfy M, Leirer VO. Development and Validation of a Geriatric Depression Screening Scale: A Preliminary Report. 17 (1983). Available from: http://home.uchicago.edu/~tmurray1/research/ articles/atleastread/developmentandvalidationofageriatricdepressionscreeningscale_apreliminaryreport.pdf
- Feng L, Zin Nyunt MS, Gao Q, Feng L, Yap KB, Ng TP. Cognitive frailty and adverse health outcomes: findings from the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies (SLAS). J Am Med Dir Assoc (2017) 18:252–8. doi:10.1016/j. jamda.2016.09.015
- Shimada H, Makizako H, Doi T, Yoshida D, Tsutsumimoto K, Anan Y, et al. Combined prevalence of frailty and mild cognitive impairment in a population of elderly Japanese people. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2013) 14:518–24. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.010
- Shimada H, Makizako H, Lee S, Doi T, Lee S, Tsutsumimoto K, et al. Impact of cognitive frailty on daily activities in older persons. *J Nutr Health Aging* (2016) 20:729–35. doi:10.1007/s12603-016-0685-2
- Roppolo M, Mulasso A, Rabaglietti E. Cognitive frailty in Italian community-dwelling older adults: prevalence rate and its association with disability. *J Nutr Health Aging* (2016) 21:631–6. doi:10.1007/s12603-016-0828-5
- Fougère B, Daumas M, Lilamand M, Sourdet S, Delrieu J, Vellas B, et al. Association between frailty and cognitive impairment: cross-sectional data from Toulouse frailty day hospital. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2017). doi:10.1016/j. jamda.2017.06.024
- Gale CR, Ritchie SJ, Cooper C, Starr JM, Deary IJ. Cognitive ability in late life and onset of physical frailty: the Lothian birth cohort 1936. J Am Geriatr Soc (2017) 65(6):1289–95. doi:10.1111/jgs.14787
- Delrieu J, Andrieu S, Pahor M, Cantet C, Cesari M, Ousset PJ, et al. Neuropsychological profile of "cognitive frailty" subjects in MAPT Study. *J Prev Alzheimer Dis* (2016) 3:151–9. doi:10.14283/jpad.2016.94
- Alencar MA, Dias JMD, Figueiredo LC, Dias RC. Frailty and cognitive impairment among community-dwelling elderly. Arq Neuropsiquiatr (2013) 71:362–7. doi:10.1590/0004-282X20130039
- Mitnitski A, Fallah N, Rockwood MR, Rockwood K. Transitions in cognitive status in relation to frailty in older adults: a comparison of three frailty measures. J Nutr Health Aging (2011) 15:863–7. doi:10.1007/s12603-011-0066-9
- Gray SL, Anderson ML, Hubbard RA, Lacroix A, Crane PK, McCormick W, et al. Frailty and incident dementia. J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:1083–90. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt013
- 29. Chong MS, Tay L, Chan M, Lim WS, Ye R, Tan EK, et al. Prospective longitudinal study of frailty transitions in a community-dwelling cohort of older

adults with cognitive impairment. BMC Geriatr (2015) 15:175. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0174-1

- 30. Liu T, Wong GH, Luo H, Tang JY, Xu J, Choy JC, et al. Everyday cognitive functioning and global cognitive performance are differentially associated with physical frailty and chronological age in older Chinese men and women. *Aging Ment Health* (2017) 1–6. doi:10.1080/13607863.2017.1320700
- Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Seripa D, Imbimbo BP, Capozzo R, Quaranta N, et al. Agerelated hearing impairment and frailty in Alzheimer's disease: interconnected associations and mechanisms. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2015) 7:113. doi:10.3389/ fnagi.2015.00113
- Kamil RJ, Betz J, Powers BB, Pratt S, Kritchevsky S, Ayonayon HN, et al. Association of hearing impairment with incident frailty and falls in older adults. J Aging Health (2016) 28:644–60. doi:10.1177/0898264315608730
- Lin FR, Ferrucci L. Hearing loss and falls among older adults in the United States. Arch Intern Med (2012) 172:369–71. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2011.728
- Montero-Odasso MM, Barnes B, Speechley M, Muir Hunter SW, Doherty TJ, Duque G, et al. Disentangling cognitive-frailty: results from the gait and brain study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2016) 71:1476–82. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw044
- Verghese J, Wang C, Lipton RB, Holtzer R. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and the risk of dementia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:412–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls191
- McGough EL, Cochrane BB, Pike KC, Logsdon RG, McCurry SM, Teri L. Dimensions of physical frailty and cognitive function in older adults with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med* (2013) 56:329–41. doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2013.02.005
- 37. Feng L, Nyunt MSZ, Gao Q, Feng L, Lee TS, Tsoi T, et al. Physical frailty, cognitive impairment, and the risk of neurocognitive disorder in the Singapore longitudinal ageing studies. J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci (2017) 72:369–75. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw050
- Jha S, Hannu M, Gore K, Chang S, Newton P, Wilhelm K, et al. Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of physical frailty for mortality in patients with advanced heart failure referred for heart transplantation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2016) 35(9):1092–100. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2016.04.008
- Zhu Y, Liu Z, Wang Y, Wang Z, Shi J, Xie X, et al. Agreement between the frailty index and phenotype and their associations with falls and overnight hospitalizations. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* (2016) 66:161–5. doi:10.1016/j. archger.2016.06.004
- 40. Armstrong JJ, Godin J, Launer LJ, White LR, Mitnitski A, Rockwood K, et al. Changes in frailty predict changes in cognition in older men: the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. J Alzheimer Dis (2016) 53:1003–13. doi:10.3233/JAD-151172
- Kelaiditi E, Canevelli M, Andrieu S, Del Campo N, Soto ME, Vellas B, et al. Frailty index and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease: data from the impact of cholinergic treatment use study. J Am Geriatr Soc (2016) 64:1165–70. doi:10.1111/jgs.13956
- Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Barulli MR, Santamato A, Seripa D, Pilotto A, et al. Cognitive frailty: a systematic review of epidemiological and neurobiological evidence of an age-related clinical condition. *Rejuvenation Res* (2015) 18:389–412. doi:10.1089/rej.2014.1637
- Pilotto A, Cella A, Pilotto A, Daragjati J, Veronese N, Musacchio C, et al. Three decades of comprehensive geriatric assessment: evidence coming from different healthcare settings and specific clinical conditions. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2017) 18:192.e1–192.e11. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.11.004
- Vellas B. Integrating frailty into clinical practice to prevent the risk of dependency in the elderly. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser* (2015) 83:99–104. doi:10.1159/000382092
- 45. Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet (2013) 381:752–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

Conflict of Interest Statement: There are no ethical/legal conflicts involved in the article.

The reviewer BF and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Ma, Zhang, Zhang, Li, Tang and Chan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characterisation of Physical Frailty and Associated Physical and Functional Impairments in Mild Cognitive Impairment

Ma Shwe Zin Nyunt¹, Chang Yuan Soh¹, Qi Gao¹, Xinyi Gwee¹, Audrey S. L. Ling¹, Wee Shiong Lim², Tih Shih Lee³, Philip L. K. Yap⁴, Keng Bee Yap⁵ and Tze Pin Ng^{1*}

¹Gerontology Research Programme, Department of Psychological Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ²Department of Geriatric Medicine, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ³Duke Medical School, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ⁴Department of Geriatric Medicine, Khoo Teck Puat Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ⁵Department of Geriatric Medicine, Ng Teng Fong General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

Objective: To characterize the physical frailty phenotype and its associated physical and functional impairments in mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Emanuele Marzetti, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Trebbastoni, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Maturin Tabue-Teguo, University of the French West Indies and Guiana, France

> *Correspondence: Tze Pin Ng pcmngtp@nus.edu.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 25 September 2017 Accepted: 01 December 2017 Published: 18 December 2017

Citation:

Nyunt MSZ, Soh CY, Gao Q, Gwee X, Ling ASL, Lim WS, Lee TS, Yap PLK, Yap KB and Ng TP (2017) Characterisation of Physical Frailty and Associated Physical and Functional Impairments in Mild Cognitive Impairment. Front. Med. 4:230. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00230 **Method:** Participants with MCI (N = 119), normal low cognition (NLC, N = 138), and normal high cognition (NHC, N = 1,681) in the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies (SLAS-2) were compared on the prevalence of physical frailty, low lean body mass, weakness, slow gait, exhaustion and low physical activity, and POMA balance and gait impairment and fall risk.

Results: There were significantly higher prevalence of frailty in MCI (18.5%), than in NLC (8.0%) and NHC (3.9%), and pre-frailty in MCI (54.6%), NLC (52.9%) than in NHC (48.0%). Age, sex, and ethnicity-adjusted OR (95% CI) of association with MCI (versus NHC) for frailty were 4.65 (2.40–9.04) and for pre-frailty, 1.67 (1.07–2.61). Similar significantly elevated prevalence and adjusted ORs of association with MCI were observed for frailty-associated physical and functional impairments. Further adjustment for education, marital status, living status, comorbidities, and GDS significantly reduced the OR estimates. However, the OR estimates remained elevated for frailty: 3.86 (1.83–8.17), low body mass: 1.70 (1.08–2.67), slow gait: 1.84 (1.17–2.89), impaired gait: 4.17 (1.98–8.81), and elevated fall risk 3.42 (1.22–9.53).

Conclusion: Two-thirds of MCI were physically frail or pre-frail, most uniquely due to low lean muscle mass, slow gait speed, or balance and gait impairment. The close associations of frailty and physical and functional impairment with MCI have important implications for improving diagnostic acuity of MCI and targetting interventions among cognitively frail individuals to prevent dementia and disability.

Keywords: mild cognitive impairment, frailty, physical function, gait, strength

INTRODUCTION

Late life cognitive impairment and physical impairment are principal causes of disability, falls, hospitalisation, institutionalisation, and death among the elderly. In elderly persons, chronic disability rather than multi-morbidity is the strongest negative prognostic factor for functionality and survival (1), and in the oldest old, known predictors such as smoking and obesity lose their importance,

14

whereas high disability level, poor physical, and cognitive performance, predict mortality (2). Based on accumulating evidence, it is increasingly appreciated that cognitive and physical impairment in late life are inter-related through shared pathophysiological mechanisms and could probably be manifestations of a single complex phenotype (3).

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and the physical frailty phenotype are early cognitive and physical syndromes preceding the development of dementia and disability among older people. MCI is a transitional state of cognition between normal ageing and dementia that may progress to dementia, remain stable, or reverse to normal cognition over a defined period of time. MCI is defined by subjective or objective evidence of cognitive decline greater than expected for the individual's age and education level but that does not interfere notably with activities of daily life (4). Studies show that older individuals with MCI compared to their counterparts without cognitive impairment performed more poorly not just on tests of neurocognitive performance tasks, but also on tests of complex motor and psychomotor domains tasks (5-7), and exhibited greater gait impairment especially on tests that include motor-cognitive dual tasks (8-12). These motor functional deficiencies in MCI are also present in physical frailty, a syndrome that may also reverse to the robust state or progress to functional disability (13). The physical phenotype of frailty is represented by low levels of lean body mass, muscle strength, gait performance, physical activity (PA), and energy.

Studies suggest that gait and other physical manifestations of the frailty syndrome are associated with cognitive decline and dementia. For example, the presence of weight loss or being underweight is well known to precede the onset of Alzheimer's disease (14), lower grip strength, and extremity motor performance were associated with cognitive decline and decreased risk of MCI, and MCI conversion to AD (7, 15), frailty was associated with incident AD and cognitive decline (14, 15), and low levels of PA was associated with cognitive decline (16).

Some authors have argued that motor functional changes should be considered clinical features of MCI, and complex psychomotor tests such as gait speed may be as useful as cognitive tests in the identification of MCI particularly among elderly patients with less education (17). Converging lines of research and consensus also advocate defining MCI more precisely in terms of cognitive-physical constructs of "cognitive frailty" (the simultaneous presence of both physical frailty and MCI) (18), or the analogous motoric cognitive risk (MCR) syndrome (presence of cognitive complaints and slow gait) (19). Few studies have described the prevalence of frailty and its physical and functional impairments in MCI. The associations of specific physical and functional impairments of frailty with MCI are also unclear.

In this population-based study of community dwelling, older persons in the second Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Study (SLAS-2), we compared the prevalence of the physical frailty syndrome, low lean muscle mass, low muscle strength, slow gait speed, exhaustion, low PA, impaired balance, impaired gait, and elevated fall risk between individuals with MCI and non-MCI individuals with normal (high and low) cognitive functioning. We also examined the effects of psycho-social and health-related factors on these associations. We hypothesise that the prevalence of the physical frailty syndrome and its physical and functional impairments are higher in MCI compared to their cognitively normal counterparts, and this association is independent of psycho-social and health-related factors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

This study was conducted as part of the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies (SLAS), an ongoing prospective cohort observational study of community-dwelling older adults, aged 55 and above. A first wave (SLAS-1) cohort was recruited between 2003 and 2004 from the South-East region of Singapore. A second wave (SLAS-2) cohort was recruited between 2009 and 2011 in the South West and South-Central regions of Singapore. Participants were identified by door-to-door census, which had demographic characteristics similar to the rest of the population. Residents who were severely physically or mentally ill and incapacitated to give informed consent or participate were excluded. The study was approved by the National University of Singapore Institutional Review Board, and all participants signed written informed consent. Detailed descriptions of the methodology in the SLAS cohorts have been previously described (20).

In this study, we used baseline data from the participants of SLAS-2. A total of 3,270 older adults were enrolled at baseline with an estimated response rate of 78%. Trained research nurses and psychologists conducted questionnaire interviews, testing, and assessment to collect an extensive range of sociodemographic and health-related data. These included questionnaire and physical testing of frailty status, and multi-phasic cognitive screening, assessment and diagnosis of neurocognitive disorders. The participants included 2,844 Chinese, 259 Malay, 148 Indian, and 15 other ethnicities. After excluding participants who did not participate in neurocognitive tests, and those with dementia, there were 2,052 participants who were identified as MCI or normal cognition. Among them, 114 did not have complete frailty data. The final study sample thus comprised 1,938 subjects for analysis.

Identification of MCI and Normal Cognition

The participants' cognitive status was determined using a twostage screening and diagnostic assessment process. In the first stage, global cognitive assessments were performed using the MMSE (21), and the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (22), which has been previously validated for use in the multiethnic population of Singapore in English, Malay, and Chinese languages (23, 24). Participants who were screened positive by scoring 26 or below on either the MMSE or MoCA underwent the Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) assessment conducted by trained research nurses, and a comprehensive battery of neurocognitive testing conducted by psychology-trained research assistants, prior to consensus diagnosis of MCI (and dementia) or normal cognition by a panel of geriatricians and psychiatrists, who reviewed all relevant interview, testing, and assessment data. The neurocognitive assessment included tests of memory [Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (25) and Story Memory (26)]; attention [longest span of the digit span subtest, forwards and backwards, from WAIS-III (27)]; visuospatial ability [Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (28) and Clock Reading Test (29)]; language [Boston Naming Test (30)]; executive functioning [Colour Trails Test 1 and 2 (31)]; and the Block Design subtest from the WAIS-III (27).

At a screening interview, a total of 1,681 participants who scored 27 and above on the MMSE and MOCA were denoted as normal (high) cognition (NHC) (32). There were a total of 138 participants who were screened positive on the MMSE or MOCA but were not assessed (N = 60) or provided incomplete or unreliable responses (N = 23) on the neurocognitive testing or the CDR, or did not meet the criteria for diagnosis of MCI or dementia (N = 55). These participants who were not successfully adjudicated as cases of MCI (or dementia) were assigned the status of normal low cognition (NLC). In 119 participants, MCI was defined according to criteria recommended by the MCI Working Group of the European Consortium on Alzheimer's disease (33):

- 1. Personal or informant report of cognitive decline relative to previous abilities during the past year.
- 2. Objective deficit in one or more cognitive domains; defined as a score that was 1.5 SD below age and education adjusted norms (34).
- 3. CDR of 0.5 or Sum of Boxes score less than 3 (35).
- 4. Functional independence on basic activities of daily living (Barthel Index).
- 5. No dementia.

Frailty and Physical Function Measures

Physical frailty was assessed by scores (1 = present, 0 = absent) for five components (shrinking, weakness, slowness, exhaustion, and low PA) proposed by Fried et al. (36) and used in the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS), with the following operational modifications:

- (i) Shrinking was defined by unintentional weight loss of 4 kg or more in the past 6 months, or a body mass index of less than 18.5 kg/m^2 , or calf circumference of 31 cm or less.
- (ii) Weakness was assessed using knee extension strength measured using dominant knee extension, using the average value from three trials in kilograms, standardised on gender and BMI strata.
- (iii) Slowness was assessed by the 6-m fast gait speed test using the average of two measurements, and the lowest quintile values stratified for gender and height to classify participants as slow, based on data in a previous large population-based study (17).
- (iv) Exhaustion was measured as a combined score of three questions from the SF-12 quality of life scale, "Did you have lots of energy?" "Did you feel tired?" (reverse-scored) and, "Did you feel worn out?" (reverse-scored) (37). A score of <10 was used to denote exhaustion.
- (v) Low PA was determined by the total amount of time spent on performing moderate and vigorous activities per week

based on questions in the LASA PA questionnaire (38) that fell below the gender-specific lowest quintile determined in the forerunner SLAS-1 study.

As per the CHS criteria, participants were categorised by their total scores as robust (score = 0), pre-frail (score = 1-2), and frail (score = 3-5).

Falls risk was assessed using the Tinetti performance-oriented mobility assessment (POMA) (39). Balance was assessed using standard scoring criteria (0, 1, or 2) to grade sitting balance, standing balance immediately after arising, turning around, and other manoeuvres (total score 0–16). Gait performance (gait initiation, step length and height, symmetry, continuity, path deviation, trunk sway, and walking stance) by having the subject stand with examiner, walks down hallway or across the room, first at "usual" pace, then back at "rapid, but safe" pace (using usual walking aids), total score (0–12). Falls risk was assessed by total balance and gait scores of <19 = high fall risk, 19–24 = medium fall risk, and 25–28 = low fall risk.

Covariates measured included (i) sociodemographic data including age, gender, and education, living status (live alone), (ii) medical comorbidity (determined from self-reports of a known diagnosis and/or treatment of 14 specific conditions (hypertension, diabetes, high cholesterol, stroke, heart attack, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, cataracts, kidney failure, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, arthritis, hip fracture), and/or other chronic conditions in the past year, and the total number of medical illnesses), (iii) lifestyle including current smoking and daily alcohol drinking, (iv) depressive symptoms [assessed by the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) (40)], (v) disability status assessed by dependency on basic activity of daily living (BADL) (41) and instrumental activities of daily living (42).

Statistical Analyses

The prevalence of frailty and pre-frailty, low lean body mass, weakness, slow gait, exhaustion, low PA, impaired balance, impaired gait, and elevated fall risk were compared between MCI, NLC, and NHC using chi-squared tests of significance, and odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) of association estimated from logistic regression, adjusted for age, sex, and ethnicity. Further adjustment for education, marital status, living status, comorbidities, GDS, and IADL ability were performed to assess the effects of common psycho-social and health-related factors in mediating these associations.

RESULTS

The study participants comprised 119 (6.3%) MCI, 138 (7.2%) NLC (MMSE and MOCA scores <27), and 1,681 (85.5%) NHC (MMSE and MOCA scores \geq 27) (**Table 1**). Among MCI participants, 18.5% were frail, compared to 8.0% among NLC and 3.9% among NHC. The prevalence of pre-frailty was similarly higher in MCI (54.6%) and in NLC (52.9%) than in NHC (48.0%) (**Table 2**). Age, sex, and ethnicity-adjusted OR (95% CI) of association with MCI (versus NHC) for frailty was 4.65 (2.40–9.04) and for pre-frailty was 1.67 (1.07–2.61). In addition, significantly

TABLE 1 Demographic and personal characteristics among mild cognitive
impairment (MCI), normal high cognition (NHC), normal low cognition (NLC)
groups.

Variables (N = 1,938)	N	HCª	N	LC⁵	м	CI	P-value*
Sample N		1,681		138		119	
Age; 55–64	38.8	(653)	23.2	(32)	31.9	(38)	< 0.001
65–74	53.4	(897)	55.8	(77)	46.2	(55)	
≥75	7.8	(131)	21.0	(29)	21.9	(26)	
Male gender	37.8	(636)	33.3	(46)	36.1	(43)	0.55
Chinese ethnicity	91.1	(1,530)	90.6	(125)	80.7	(96)	0.001
Single, divorced, widow	27.4	(460)	57.2	(59)	49.6	(60)	<0.001
Education: none	8.1	(136)	38.4	(53)	43.7	(52)	< 0.001
Primary	41.4	(694)	44.9	(62)	44.5	(53)	
Living status: alone	13.7	(229)	27.5	(38)	19.7	(23)	<0.001
Alcohol: yes	3.4	(57)	2.9	(4)	2.5	(3)	0.85
Smoking: non smoker	80.9	(1,360)	71.7	(99)	75.6	(90)	0.07
Ex-smoker	10.4	(175)	16.7	(23)	14.3	(17)	
Current smoker	8.7	(146)	11.6	(16)	10.1	(12)	
APOE-e4 allele	17.5	(264)	24.8	(29)	15.0	(18)	
MMSE	28.97	±1.14	25.85	±2.98	24.59	±3.50	<0.001
MoCA	27.7	±1.26	21.37	±3.74	19.57	±4.64	<0.001
GDS	0.51	±1.04	1.20	±2.15	1.10	±1.89	< 0.001
Noof	2.16	±1.41	2.61	±1.47	3.1	±1.71	<0.001
comorbidities IADL disability	5.9	(98)	11.0	(15)	25.2	(30)	<0.001

aNHC have MMSE and MOCA scores ≥27.

^bNLC have MMSE and/or MOCA <27, but have no MCI diagnosis.

Figures are % (N) and mean \pm SD.

P-values of significance are derived from Chi square test for categorical variables and ANOVA for continuous variables.

higher prevalence of low lean body mass, weakness, slow gait, exhaustion, low PA, impaired balance, impaired gait, and elevated falls risk were observed in the MCI group than in the NLC and NHC groups (**Table 2**). The age, sex, and ethnicity-adjusted ORs of association with MCI ranged between 1.71 and 6.99 for these factors (**Table 3**).

To determine the effects of psycho-social and health-related factors influencing the observed association, further adjustment for education, marital status, living status, comorbidities, GDS, and IADL ability were performed and found to significantly reduce the OR of association (**Table 3**). However, the OR (95% CI) of association with MCI (versus NHC) remained significantly elevated for frailty: 3.86 (1.83–8.17); low body mass: 1.70 (1.08–2.67); slow gait: 1.84 (1.17–2.89); impaired gait: 4.17 (1.98–8.81); and elevated falls risk: 3.42 (1.22–9.53).

DISCUSSION

This study supports the strong and intimate relationship between cognitive and physical impairment, which are present in both MCI and physical frailty. The relationship may be explained by common underlying pathophysiological factors, which include pathways involved in the development of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, insulin-mediated metabolic disturbances, protein-calorie undernutrition, sex steroids, growth hormones, vitamin D, chronic inflammation, and oxidative stress (3).

In this study, almost two-thirds of community dwelling older adults with MCI manifested the physical syndrome of frailty or pre-frailty, including low lean muscle mass, low muscle strength,

Variables ($N = 1,938$)	NH	с	NL	С	мс		P *
Sample N		1,681		138		119	
Frailty status (global)							
Robust	48.1	(809)	39.1	(54)	26.9	(32)	< 0.001
Pre-frail	48.0	(807)	52.9	(73)	54.6	(65)	
Frail	3.9	(65)	8.0	(11)	18.5	(22)	
Frailty status (domains)							
Shrinking	18.5	(310)	28.3	(39)	33.6	(40)	< 0.001
Slowness	15.0	(252)	21.7	(30)	37.8	(45)	< 0.001
Weakness	11.3	(190)	16.7	(23)	24.4	(29)	< 0.001
Exhaustion	14.3	(241)	12.3	(17)	23.5	(28)	0.017
Low physical activity (PA)	13.1	(220)	16.7	(23)	23.5	(28)	0.004
Impaired balance (POMA \leq 14)	2.9	(48)	6.5	(9)	10.4	(12)	< 0.001
Impaired gait (POMA ≤10)	2.3	(38)	6.5	(9)	14.3	(17)	< 0.001
Medium-high fall risk (POMA ≤24)	1.1	(19)	3.6	(5)	8.7	(10)	< 0.001
Physical function measures							
Frailty scores	0.74	±0.86	0.98	±0.99	1.43	±1.19	< 0.001
Calf circumference	34.41	±3.72	33.67	±4.03	34.02	±5.83	0.07
BMI, kg/m ²	59.89	±10.81	57.16	±10.47	59.45	±12.44	0.018
Gait speed, s	4.66	±1.49	5.25	±1.81	6.14	±2.77	< 0.001
Knee extension, kg	16.40	±6.22	14.14	±6.23	12.93	±4.51	< 0.001
Energy score	12.06	±2.19	11.94	±2.10	11.54	±2.34	0.041
PA level	11.53	±1.91	10.97	±1.48	10.85	±1.41	< 0.001
POMA Balance score	15.86	±0.61	15.77	±0.19	15.68	±0.86	0.004
POMA Gait score	11.87	±0.74	11.70	±0.98	11.41	±1.42	< 0.001
POMA total score	27.73	±1.13	27.47	±1.50	27.10	±1.88	<0.001

TABLE 2 | Physical frailty characteristics among mild cognitive impairment (MCI), normal high cognition (NHC), normal low cognition (NLC) groups.

Figures are % (N) and mean \pm SD.

P-values of significance are derived from Chi square test for categorical variables and ANOVA for continuous variables.

TABLE 3 | Odds ratio of association of physical fraity status and components with cognitive status [mild cognitive impairment (MCI), normal low cognition (NLC), normal high cognition (NHC)].

		Unadjusted		Adjusted: age, sex, ethnicities			Adjusted: age, gender, ethnicity, education, APOE-e4, marital status, living status, comorbidities, GDS, IADL			
		OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	Р
Frailty versus robust	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	2.54	1.26-5.08	0.009	1.47	0.70-3.08	0.31	1.28	0.50-3.26	0.602
	MCI	8.56	4.70–15.57	<0.001	4.65	2.40-9.04	<0.001	3.49	1.47-8.31	0.005
Pre-frail versus robust	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	1.36	0.94-1.95	0.103	1.67	0.80-1.70	0.42	1.02	0.67-1.56	0.929
	MCI	2.04	1.32–3.14	0.001	1.67	1.07-2.61	0.02	1.37	0.85–2.23	0.197
Low body mass	NHC	1			1			1		
(Calf circumference ≤31)	NLC	1.74	1.18-2.57	0.005	1.37	0.91-2.06	0.13	1.28	0.81-2.04	0.294
	MCI	2.24	1.50-3.34	<0.001	1.74	1.14-2.64	0.01	1.58	0.96–2.59	0.071
Low muscle strength	NHC	1			1			1		
5	NLC	1.57	1.0-2.52	0.06	1.21	0.74-1.96	0.45	1.10	0.63-1.92	0.747
	MCI	2.53	1.62-3.95	<0.001	1.79	1.12-2.86	0.02	1.65	0.95–2.87	0.075
Slow gait speed	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	1.58	1.03-2.41	0.04	1.19	0.76-1.85	0.45	0.89	0.53-1.49	0.667
	MCI	3.45	2.33-5.11	<0.001	2.36	1.56–3.58	<0.001	1.68	1.02-2.79	0.042
Impaired gait (POMA) (POMA ≤10)	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	2.35	1.13-4.90	0.02	2.78	1.28-6.02	0.01	1.97	0.78-4.95	0.148
	MCI	3.93	2.03-7.63	<0.001	5.53	2.87-10.65	<0.001	3.71	1.62-8.46	0.002
Impaired balance POMA (POA \leq 16)	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	3.00	1.42-6.34	0.004	1.84	0.86-3.96	0.12	1.36	0.55-3.35	0.507
	MCI	7.17	3.91–13.14	<0.001	2.75	1.35–5.59	0.01	1.90	0.79–4.53	0.149
Medium-high fall risk (POMA \leq 24)	NHC	1			1			1		
. . ,	NLC	3.25	1.20-8.84	0.02	3.17	1.13-8.91	0.03	1.55	0.40-6.03	0.528
	MCI	8.24	3.74–18.16	<0.001	6.99	2.96-16.51	<0.001	3.02	0.95–9.53	0.060
Exhaustion	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	0.84	0.50-1.42	0.52	0.81	0.47-1.38	0.43	0.51	0.26-0.98	0.042
	MCI	1.84	1.18–2.87	0.007	1.73	1.09-2.75	0.02	1.21	0.69-2.12	0.499
Low PA	NHC	1			1			1		
	NLC	1.33	0.83-2.12	0.24	1.14	0.70-1.84	0.60	1.03	0.60-1.77	0.921
	MCI	2.04	1.31-3.19	0.002	1.71	1.07-2.73	0.02	1.29	0.74-2.23	0.371

Adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, education, APOE-e4, marital status, living status, comorbidities, GDS, and IADL ability.

slow gait speed, exhaustion and low PA, as well as balance and gait impairment, which pose elevated risk of falls, in greater proportions compared to their cognitively normal counterparts. Psycho-social and health-related factors did not wholly account for the association, such that frailty, low lean body mass, slow gait speed, gait impairment, and impaired gait and balance measure of elevated falls risk remained independently associated with MCI. The OR estimates suggest a very strong association and appears to be specific for phenotypic measures of low lean body mass, slow gait speed, and gait and balance impairment, but not exhaustion or low PA.

Prior studies have shown that older persons with MCI exhibited greater gait variability especially during dual-tasking walking than cognitively normal controls (8, 9). Walking is a complex activity that involves executive functioning, spatial orientation, navigation, and memory, among other cognitive functions (43). The use of simple measures of gait speed or POMA balance and gait scores may thus complement cognitive tests in the identification of MCI among elderly patients especially those with less education (44). At least one other study have shown that the combination of cognitive complaints and slow gait (MCR syndrome) successfully predict increased risk of cognitive decline and dementia (19). However, it remains unclear which components or combinations of physical frailty and cognitive impairment are most optimal in identifying cognitively frail older persons.

In the years, since the conceptual definition of MCI was first proposed, numerous studies have shown that non-cognitive manifestations such as depressive and neuropsychiatric symptoms (45–47), sensory impairment such as in hearing (48), or smell (49), and subtle IADL impairments involving complex functions (50, 51) are over-represented in MCI significantly more than non-MCI controls, and were able to enhance the ability of MCI to predict future risks of dementia. This is also true of physical functional impairment that co-occurs in MCI. Cases of MCI with concomitant physical frailty may be considered to fulfil the criteria for cognitive frailty (18). Taken together, these findings suggest that the understanding of MCI beyond the conceptual confines of cognitive impairment may help to improve diagnostic acuity and present meaningful targets for interventions among cognitively frail individuals to prevent dementia and disability.

In this regard, the cognitive frailty concept has potential clinical and research advantages in better stratifying the risk profiles of older people for developing dementia and functional disability. Recent studies have shown that the cognitive frailty construct more accurately predict greater risks of cognitive decline and dementia than MCI alone (15, 44, 52, 53). However, it has not been determined whether it is also in fact a more stable construct than MCI, in being less liable to revert to cognitive normal. Another point to note is the prevalence of the cognitive frailty construct. In this study, the prevalence is very low (1.1%) if cases were defined by 22 frail MCI subjects (out of 1,938 participants), but is higher (4.5%) if cases were defined by 65 pre-frail plus 22 frail MCI subjects. It is possible that in this study, the overly restrictive criteria used to define both the cognitive and physical components of this construct may contribute to under-estimating its prevalence, as further discussed below.

The diagnosis of MCI in this study was based on clinical panel consensus review of relevant data according to internationally recommended criteria and is a strength of this study. However, the restrictive criteria for diagnosis of MCI may exclude subjects akin to cases labelled in some studies as "cognitive impairment-no dementia" (CIND). Doubtful cases of MCI were consigned into the category of NLC, a heterogeneous group of subjects, which also included those with below normal global performance on the MMSE or MOCA but who failed to provide supportive cognitive domain or CDR data to merit a MCI diagnosis or otherwise. On close scrutiny, this NLC group appeared to include significantly more participants who were living alone and with higher GDS depression scores, a possible explanation for their failed clinical assessment. The results for NLC showed a pattern of relationship with frailty and its associated physical and functional impairments that was intermediate between cognitive (high) normal and MCI, but with no significantly strong associations with physical functional impairments.

The results for frailty components of exhaustion (fatigue) and low PA were negative. However, this may reflect the limitations of our operationalised measurement of these phenotypic features, and further studies using more sensitive and discriminating instruments are required to ascertain the replicability of these

REFERENCES

- Marengoni A, von Strauss E, Rizzuto D, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. The impact of chronic multimorbidity and disability on functional decline and survival in elderly persons. A community-based, longitudinal study. *J Intern Med* (2009) 265(2):288–95. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.02017.x
- Nybo H, Petersen HC, Gaist D, Jeune B, Andersen K, McGue M, et al. Predictors of mortality in 2,249 nonagenarians – the Danish 1905-cohort survey. J Am Geriatr Soc (2003) 51(10):1365–73. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51453.x
- 3. Panza F, Seripa D, Solfrizzi V, Tortelli R, Greco A, Pilotto A, et al. Targeting cognitive frailty: clinical and neurobiological roadmap for a single

findings. Because of the small numbers, we did not further distinguish MCI participants into amnestic or non-amnestic subtypes. Further studies should investigate the ability of combined cognitive, physical, and functional markers of MCI in predicting future risks of developing dementia.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Human Biomedical Research Act, Singapore Ministry of Health; with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the National University of Singapore IRB.

ROLE OF THE SPONSORS

The sponsors had no role in the conduct of the study or preparation of this manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TN formulated the hypothesis, designed the study, reviewed the data, and revised the manuscript. WL, TL, PY, and KY reviewed clinical data and adjudicated on MCI diagnosis. GQ performed the data preparation. MN analysed the data. CYS reviewed the literature, drafted and revised the manuscript; all authors participated in the study design and data collection, reviewed the results and manuscript, and approved the manuscript submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the following voluntary welfare organisations for their support of the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies: Geylang East Home for the Aged, Presbyterian Community Services, Thye Hua Kwan Moral Society (Moral Neighbourhood Links), Yuhua Neighbourhood Link, Henderson Senior Citizens' Home, NTUC Eldercare Co-op Ltd., Thong Kheng Seniors Activity Centre (Queenstown Centre), and Redhill Moral Seniors Activity Centre.

FUNDING

The study was supported by research grants from the Biomedical Research Council, Agency for Science, Technology, and Research (No. 03/1/21/17/214), and the National Medical Research Council (08/1/21/19/567).

complex phenotype. J Alzheimers Dis (2015) 47(4):793–813. doi:10.3233/ JAD-150358

- Gauthier S, Reisberg B, Zaudig M, Petersen RC, Ritchie K, Broich K, et al. Mild cognitive impairment. *Lancet* (2006) 367(9518):1262–70. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(06)68542-5
- Kluger A, Gianutsos JG, Golomb J, Ferris SH, George AE, Franssen E, et al. Patterns of motor impairment in normal aging, mild cognitive decline, and early Alzheimer's disease. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci (1997) 52:28–39. doi:10.1093/geronb/52B.1.P28
- 6. McGough EL, Kelly VE, Logsdon RG, McCurry SM, Cochrane BB, Engel JM, et al. Associations between physical performance and executive function

in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: gait speed and the timed "up & go" test. *Phys Ther* (2011) 91:1198-207. doi:10.2522/ptj.20100372

- Aggarwal NT, Wilson RS, Beck TL, Bienias JL, Bennett DA. Motor dysfunction in mild cognitive impairment and the risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* (2006) 63:1763–9. doi:10.1001/archneur.63.12.1763
- McGough EL, Cochrane BB, Pike KC, Logsdon RG, McCurry SM, Teri L. Dimensions of physical frailty and cognitive function in older adults with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med* (2013) 56:329–41. doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2013.02.005
- Fitzpatrick AL, Buchanan CK, Nahin RL, DeKosky ST, Atkinson HH, Carlson MC, et al. Associations of gait speed and other measures of physical function with cognition in a healthy cohort of elderly persons. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2007) 62(11):1244–51. doi:10.1093/gerona/62. 11.1244
- Montero-Odasso M, Muir SW, Speechley M. Dual-task complexity affects gait in people with mild cognitive impairment: the interplay between gait variability, dual tasking, and risk of falls. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2012) 93(2):293–9. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2011.08.026
- Doi T, Makizako H, Shimada H, Yoshida D, Ito K, Kato T, et al. Brain atrophy and trunk stability during dual-task walking among older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2012) 67(7):790–5. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr214
- Hooghiemstra AM, Ramakers IHGB, Sistermans N, Pijnenburg YAL, Aalten P, Hamel REG, et al. 4C Study Group. Gait speed and grip strength reflect cognitive impairment and are modestly related to incident cognitive decline in memory clinic patients with subjective cognitive decline and mild cognitive impairment: findings from the 4C Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2017) 72(6):846–54. doi:10.1093/gerona/glx003
- Ng TP, Feng L, Nyunt MS, Feng L, Niti M, Tan BY, et al. Nutritional, physical, cognitive, and combination interventions and frailty reversal among older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Med* (2015) 128(11):1225–36. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.06.017
- Wolf-Klein GP, Silverstone FA. Weight loss in Alzheimer's disease: an international review of the literature. *Int Psychogeriatr* (1994) 6(2):135–42. doi:10.1017/S1041610294001705
- Buchman AS, Boyle PA, Wilson RS, Tang Y, Bennett DA. Frailty is associated with incident Alzheimer's disease and cognitive decline in the elderly. *Psychosom Med* (2007) 69:483–9. doi:10.1097/psy.0b013e318068de1d
- Yaffe K, Barnes D, Nevitt M, Lui LY, Covinsky K. A prospective study of physical activity and cognitive decline in elderly women: women who walk. Arch Intern Med (2001) 161(14):1703–8. doi:10.1001/archinte.161. 14.1703
- Kluger A, Gianutsos JG, Golomb J, Wagner A Jr, Wagner D, Scheurich S. Clinical features of MCI: motor changes. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2008) 20:32–9. doi:10.1017/S1041610207006461
- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, Van Kan GA, Ousset PJ, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (IANA/IAGG) international consensus group. J Nutr Health Aging (2013) 17(9):726–34. doi:10.1007/ s12603-013-0367-2
- Verghese J, Wang C, Lipton RB, Holtzer R. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and the risk of dementia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68(4):412–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls191
- Ng TP, Feng L, Nyunt MSZ, Larbi A, Yap KB. Frailty in older persons: multisystem risk factors and the frailty risk index (FRI). J Am Med Dir Assoc (2014) 15(9):635–42. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.03.008
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res* (1975) 12(3):189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2005) 53(4):695–9. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Ng TP, Niti M, Chiam PC, Kua EH. Ethnic differences in cognitive performance on mini-mental state examination in Asians. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2007) 15(2):130–9. doi:10.1097/01.JGP.0000235710.17450.9a
- Ng TP, Feng L, Lim WS, Chng MS, Lee TS, Tsoi T, et al. Montreal Cognitive Assessment for screening mild cognitive impairment: variations in test performance and scores by education in Singapore. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2015) 39:176–85. doi:10.1159/000368827
- Lezak MD. Neuropsychological Assessment. USA: Oxford University Press (2004).

- Yeo D, Gabriel C, Chen C, Lee S, Loenneker T, Wong M. Pilot validation of a customized neuropsychological battery in elderly Singaporeans. *Neurol J South East Asia* (1997) 2:123.
- Wechsler D. WAIS-III: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third Edition Administration and Scoring Manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation/Harcourt Brace (1997).
- Benedict HRB. Brief Visuospatial Memory Test–Revised Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc (1997).
- Schmidtke K, Olbrich S. The clock reading test: validation of an instrument for the diagnosis of dementia and disorders of visuo-spatial cognition. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2007) 19(2):307–21. doi:10.1017/S104161020600456X
- Cheung RW, Cheung MC, Chan AS. Confrontation naming in Chinese patients with left, right or bilateral brain damage. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2004) 10(1):46–53. doi:10.1017/S1355617704101069
- Satz P, Uchiyama CL, White T. Color Trail Test: Professional Manual. Odessa: Psychological Assessment Resources (1996).
- Feng L, Chong MS, Lim WS, Ng TP. The modified mini-mental state examination test: normative data for Singapore Chinese older adults and its performance in detecting early cognitive impairment. *Singapore Med J* (2012) 53(7):458–62.
- Portet F, Ousset PJ, Visser PJ, Frisoni GB, Nobili F, Scheltens P, et al. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in medical practice: a critical review of the concept and new diagnostic procedure. Report of the MCI working group of the European Consortium on Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2006) 77(6):714–8. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2005.085332
- Lee CK, Collinson SL, Feng L, Ng TP. Preliminary normative neuropsychological data for an elderly Chinese population. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2012) 26(2):321–34. doi:10.1080/13854046.2011.652180
- O'Bryant SE, Waring SC, Cullum CM, Hall J, Lacritz L, Massman PJ, et al. Staging dementia using clinical dementia rating scale sum of boxes scores: a Texas Alzheimer's research consortium study. *Arch Neurol* (2008) 65:1091–5. doi:10.1001/archneur.65.8.1091
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56(3):146–57. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146
- Ware JE, Keller SD, Kosinski M. SF-12: How to Score the SF-12 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric (1998).
- Siebeling L, Wiebers S, Beem L, Puhan M, ter Riet G. Validity and reproducibility of a physical activity questionnaire for elderly. *Clin Epidemiol* (2012) 4:171–80. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S30848
- Tinetti ME. Performance-oriented assessment of mobility problems in elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc (1986) 34(2):119–26. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1986. tb05480.x
- Nyunt MSZ, Jin AZ, Fones CSL, Ng TP. Criterion-based validity and reliability of the Geriatric Depression Screening Scale (GDS-15) in a large validation sample of community-living Asian older adults. *Aging Ment Health* (2009) 13(3):376–82. doi:10.1080/13607860902861027
- Ng TP, Niti M, Chiam PC, Kua EH. Prevalence and correlates of functional disability in multiethnic elderly Singaporeans. JAm Geriatr Soc (2006) 54:21–9. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00533.x
- Niti M, Chiam PC, Kua EH, Ng TP. Physical and cognitive domains of the instrumental activities of daily living: validation in a multiethnic population of Asian older adults. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2006) 61(7):726–35. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.7.726
- Watson NL, Rosano C, Boudreau RM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Sutton-Tyrrell K, et al. Executive function, memory, and gait speed decline in well-functioning older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2010) 65(10):1093–100. doi:10.1093/ gerona/glq111
- 44. Feng L, Nyunt MS, Gao Q, Feng L, Lee TS, Tsoi T, et al. Physical frailty, cognitive impairment, and the risk of neurocognitive disorder in the Singapore longitudinal ageing studies. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2017) 72(3):369–75. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw050
- Stella F, Radanovic M, Balthazar ML, Canineu PR, de Souza LC, Forlenza OV. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in the prodromal stages of dementia. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2014) 27(3):230–5. doi:10.1097/YCO.0000000000000000
- Van der Mussele S, Mariën P, Saerens J, Somers N, Goeman J, De Deyn PP, et al. Behavioral syndromes in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis (2014) 38(2):319–29. doi:10.3233/JAD-130596
- Forrester SN, Gallo JJ, Smith GS, Leoutsakos JM. Patterns of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment and risk of dementia. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2016) 24(2):117–25. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2015.05.007

- Heywood R, Gao Q, Nyunt MSZ, Feng L, Chong MS, Lim WS, et al. Hearing loss and risk of mild cognitive impairment and dementia: findings from the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Study. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2017) 43(5–6):259–68. doi:10.1159/000464281
- Roberts RO, Christianson TJ, Kremers WK, Mielke MM, Machulda MM, Vassilaki M, et al. Association between olfactory dysfunction and amnestic mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease dementia. *JAMA Neurol* (2016) 73(1):93–101. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.2952
- Lindbergh CA, Dishman RK, Miller LS. Functional disability in mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2016) 26(2):129–59. doi:10.1007/s11065-016-9321-5
- Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, Hausner L, Bullock R, Connelly PJ, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review. *Alzheimers Res Ther* (2015) 7(1):17. doi:10.1186/ s13195-015-0099-0
- 52. Avila-Funes JA, Amieva H, Barberger-Gateau P, Le Goff M, Raoux N, Ritchie K, et al. Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the

phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: the three-city study. J Am Geriatr Soc (2009) 57:453–61. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.02136.x

 Samper-Ternent R, Al Snih S, Raji MA, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Relationship between frailty and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2008) 56:1845–52. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01947.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Nyunt, Soh, Gao, Gwee, Ling, Lim, Lee, Yap, Yap and Ng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Frailty on the Risk of Conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease: Evidences from a 5-Year Observational Study

Alessandro Trebbastoni^{*}, Marco Canevelli, Fabrizia D'Antonio, Letizia Imbriano, Livia Podda, Lidia Rendace, Alessandra Campanelli, Valentina Celano, Giuseppe Bruno and Carlo de Lena

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Emanuele Marzetti, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario Agostino Gemelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giulia Grande, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden Philipe De Souto Barreto, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France

*Correspondence: Alessandro Trebbastoni alessandro.trebbastoni@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 03 October 2017 Published: 23 October 2017

Citation:

Trebbastoni A, Canevelli M, D'Antonio F, Imbriano L, Podda L, Rendace L, Campanelli A, Celano V, Bruno G and de Lena C (2017) The Impact of Frailty on the Risk of Conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease: Evidences from a 5-Year Observational Study. Front. Med. 4:178. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00178 The frailty construct has increasingly been adopted in the field of cognitive disorders. The aim of the present study was to measure frailty in a cohort of individuals with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and to explore whether frailty measures may consent to predict the risk of conversion to dementia. We retrospectively reviewed the clinical charts of outpatients with amnesic MCI (aMCI) consecutively recruited at our Department, and followed-up for 5 years. Individual frailty status was measured by means of a frailty index (FI) consisting of 39 deficits (including signs, symptoms, diagnoses, and disabilities). Univariate analyses were used to compare the socio-demographic and clinical characteristics between subjects converting or not converting to probable Alzheimer's disease (AD) dementia over the follow-up. Risk for conversion to AD dementia was assessed using Cox regression models. Ninety-one subjects with aMCI (mean age 72.7, SD 7.1 years; women 49.5%) were consecutively recruited over a period of 12 months. Low levels of frailty were documented in the sample (mean FI score 10.0, SD 5.3). A statistically significant correlation between age and FI was observed. Overall, 58 participants converted to AD dementia over time. The Cox regression analysis showed that age (HR: 1.04, 95% CI: 1.00-1.08), male sex (HR: 0.52, 95% CI: 0.30-0.91), Mini-Mental State Examination score (HR: 0.85, 95% CI: 0.77–0.94), and FI (HR: 1.11, 95% CI: 1.05–1.18) were all significantly associated with the probability of MCI conversion. Individual's frailty status may increase the risk of conversion from a condition of MCI to overt AD dementia. The adoption of constructs comprehensively reflecting the biological decline of the aging subject may add useful estimates and information in the clinical approach to cognitive disorders.

Keywords: mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, dementia, frailty, aging

INTRODUCTION

Frailty has been conceptualized as "a medical syndrome with multiple causes and contributors that is characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function that increases an individual's vulnerability for developing increased dependency and/or death" (1). This construct has increasingly been adopted in order to capture the biological decline of the aging individual

and his/her risk profile for negative health-related outcomes (2). Moreover, it is growingly acquiring public health relevance as it may support the realignment of models of care to the changing needs of our aging populations (3).

In these last years, the relationship between frailty and cognition has triggered special interest. The contribution of cognitive skills and capacities to the individual's vulnerability and resiliency has more consistently been considered and recognized (4). Cross-sectional analyses have repeatedly shown that frail individuals have lower cognitive performance compared with non-frail persons (5, 6). Accordingly, several longitudinal studies have documented a higher risk of incident cognitive impairment and dementia among frail subjects (5). More recently, frailty indexes (FIs) have been found to predict poorer outcomes (i.e., mortality, institutionalization, faster cognitive worsening) in populations of patients already exhibiting overt dementing conditions (7, 8). However, to our knowledge, no study has yet explored the impact of the individual frailty status on the clinical trajectories over time of subjects with milder cognitive deficits.

The aim of the present study was to measure frailty in a cohort of individuals with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and to explore whether frailty measures may consent to predict the risk of conversion to dementia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Setting and Participants

The present study was conducted at the Department of Neurology and Psychiatry of the "Sapienza" University of Rome (Italy). We retrospectively reviewed the clinical charts of outpatients with amnesic MCI (aMCI) consecutively recruited at our Department between April 2011 and April 2012 and followed up with clinical and neuropsychological evaluations (at least twice a year) for 5 years.

Amnesic MCI was defined according to the International Working Group criteria (9). To be included, subjects should have: (1) a self-reported cognitive concern confirmed by the caregiver; (2) the evidence of a lower performance in the memory domain or in the memory and other cognitive domains; (3) the complete preservation of independence in functional abilities; and (4) at least two clinical and neuropsychological assessments per year over an observation period of 5 years. Probable Alzheimer's disease (AD) dementia was diagnosed according to the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association criteria (10). A comprehensive neuropsychological assessment was performed in order to define aMCI and dementia and to evaluate cognitive changes over time. The test battery included the following standardized tests: Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (11, 12), Babcock Story Recall Test (13), Corsi Block-Tapping Test (13, 14), Digit Span Test (14), Visual Search Matrix Test (13), Boston Naming Test (11, 15), Verbal Semantic Fluency Test (11, 13), Verbal Phonemic Fluency Tests (11), Clock Drawing Test (16), Frontal Assessment Battery (17), Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (18), and Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (19).

The cohort was divided in two groups of subjects based on the outcome of cognitive disturbances at the end of the observation period: (1) "MCI converters": exhibiting a clinical progression

toward a probable AD dementia and (2) "MCI non-converters": whose cognitive and functional abilities either remained stable or improved during the follow-up.

Patients and caregivers (or legal guardians when necessary) provided written informed consent for allowing the utilization of the collected data for research purposes (as required by the local Ethics Committee). Data used in the present analyses were retrieved from medical charts where information was recorded as part of the standard clinical routine. In particular, comorbidities were defined on the basis of: (a) self-reports concerning previous diagnoses and/or laboratory findings and/or (b) available medical documents and/or (c) available medical prescriptions.

Socio-Demographic and Clinical Variables

Socio-demographic (i.e., age, sex, and education) and clinical (i.e., comorbidities, physical and neurological examination, concomitant therapies, duration of cognitive symptoms) data were abstracted by the clinical charts of participants. Measures of global cognitive performance, assessed through the MMSE were also collected.

Frailty Assessment

Frailty was measured by means of a FI, generated following a standard procedure (20) by computing 39 age-related, multidimensional deficits (including signs, symptoms, diagnoses, and disabilities) retrospectively resumed by the clinical charts (**Table 1**). Each item included in the FI was coded so that a value of 0 indicated the absence of the deficit and a value of 1 its presence. The FI was calculated as the ratio between the number of deficits presented by the individual and the number of considered deficits (i.e., 39) multiplied per 100 (in order to better show its statistical properties). Thus, the FI potentially ranged between 0 (no deficit) and 100 (all deficits).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Science for Mac (version 21, IBM Corporation, New York, NY, USA). Univariate analyses were conducted to compare the baseline data between "MCI converters" and "MCI non-converters." Cox regression models were performed to measure the associations between the variables identified as significant or at borderline level of statistic significance in the univariate analyses and time to develop AD dementia, controlling for sex and age of participants. Hazard ratios with relative 95% confidence intervals were estimated. Sensitivity analyses stratified for MMSE scores were also conducted. Spearman's correlations were used to assess the strength and direction of the relationship between age and FI. Statistic level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

One hundred thirty-two subjects were consecutively diagnosed with aMCI between April 2011 and April 2012 at our Department. The retrospective analysis showed that 109 of them were followedup for the next 5 years. Nevertheless, only 91 subjects (women 49.5%) received two or more clinical and neuropsychological evaluations per year and were, thus, finally considered for the TABLE 1 | Items included in the computation of the 39-item frailty index.

TADLE	
1.	Hypertension
2.	Dyslipidemia
3.	Diabetes
4.	History of TIA
5.	History of stroke
6.	Ischemic heart disease
7.	Arrhythmia
8.	Chronic heart failure
9.	Gastric disorder
10.	Intestinal disorder
11.	Thyroid disease
12.	Cancer
13.	Arthritis
14.	Osteoporosis
15.	COPD
16.	Renal failure
17.	Cirrhosis
18.	Hematologic disease
19.	Peripheral artery disease
20.	Hearing impairment
21.	Vision impairment
22.	Parkinsonism
23.	Focal neurological signs
24.	Peripheral neuropathy
25.	Vascular encephalopathy (neuroimaging)
26.	Obesity (BMI \geq 30)
27.	Underweight (BMI < 18.5)
28.	Depression
29.	Anxiety
30.	Sleep disorders
31.	Irritability
32.	Language disturbances
33.	Spatiotemporal disorientation
34.	Dizziness
35.	Falls
36.	Balance disorder
37.	Involuntary weight loss (≥4.5 kg in the last 6 months)
38.	Urinary incontinence
39.	Mobility disability (inability to walk 400 m)
	h

BMI, body max index; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; TIA, transient ischemic attack.

present analyses (**Figure 1**; **Table 2**). Participants had a mean age of 72.7 (SD 7.1) years and a mean educational level of 7.7 (SD 3.6) years. MMSE values at the baseline (mean 25.4, SD 2.8) indicated a globally preserved cognitive functioning. Low levels of frailty were documented in the sample (mean FI score 10.0, SD 5.3). Accordingly, none of the subjects resulted as frail [i.e., FI score ≥ 25.0 (8)]. A statistically significant correlation between age and FI was observed (Spearman's r = 0.31; p < 0.01) (**Figure 2A**).

Over a follow-up of 5 years, 58 subjects converted from MCI to probable AD dementia, whereas 33 did not exhibit a clinical worsening. At the basal evaluation, "MCI converters" were older, more severely cognitive impaired, and exhibited a higher prevalence of diabetes compared to "MCI non-converters" (**Table 2**). Moreover, subjects converting to dementia had significantly higher mean scores at the FI (11.6, SD 5.3 vs. 7.3, SD 4.1; p < 0.001), indicating greater levels of frailty (**Table 2** and **Figure 2B**).

The Cox regression model, adjusted for age and sex, showed that increasing age, male sex, lower MMSE scores, and higher FI scores were all significantly associated with an increased probability of



FIGURE 1 | How chart of the study. One hundred thirty-two amnesic MCI (aMCI) patients were initially enrolled. Forty-one participants were retrospectively excluded (23 resulted were lost to follow-up; 18 did not undergo two or more clinical and neuropsychological assessments per year). Data from 91 aMCI subjects were finally considered for the present analyses.

TABLE 2 | Baseline sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the sample according to MCI outcomes.

	Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) converters (<i>n</i> = 58)	MCI non- converters (n = 33)	p-Value
Age (years)	74.4 ± 4.9	69.7 ± 9.2	<0.01
Sex (women)	56.9	36.4	0.08
Education time (years)	7.3 ± 3.6	8.5 ± 3.4	0.13
MCI subtype			0.71
Single-domain aMCI	41.4	45.5	
Multiple-domain aMCI	58.6	54.5	
Hypertension	50.0	39.4	0.33
Dyslipidemia	34.5	33.3	0.91
Diabetes	12.1	0.0	0.04
Ischemic heart disease	13.8	9.1	0.51
Stroke	0.0	3.0	0.18
TIA	3.4	3.0	0.91
Chronic renal failure	0.0	3.0	0.18
COPD	0.0	3.0	0.18
Depression	41.4	42.4	0.92
Anxiety	24.1	18.2	0.51
Duration of cognitive	25.8 ± 13.0	21.6 ± 11.6	0.12
disturbances (months)			
MMSE	24.7 ± 3.0	26.7 ± 1.9	≤0.001
Frailty index	11.6 ± 5.3	7.3 ± 4.1	≤0.001

Data are expressed as % or mean \pm SD

aMCI, amnesic mild cognitive impairment; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; MMSE, Mini–Mental State Examination; TIA, transient ischemic attack.

MCI conversion (**Table 3**). The positive association between FI and the risk of conversion was also confirmed when restricting the analyses to only those subjects exhibiting normal MMSE scores



 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 3}}\xspace | \ensuremath{\mathsf{Cox}}\xspace$ regression analysis of factors predicting MCI conversion to AD dementia.

	HR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -Value
Sex (M)	0.52	0.30-0.91	0.02
Age	1.04	1.00-1.08	0.05
MMSE	0.85	0.77-0.94	<0.01
Frailty index	1.11	1.05-1.18	<0.001

p-Values were obtained from Wald χ^2 tests, degrees of freedom = 1.

CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

(i.e., \geq 24) (HR: 1.20; 95% CI: 1.05–1.19; *p* < 0.001) or the highest level of cognitive performance (i.e., MMSE \geq 27, upper quartile of the distribution) (HR: 1.20; 95% CI: 1.05–1.19; *p* < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study exploring the impact of the individual's frailty status and biological decline on the risk of conversion from MCI to dementia. Overall, frailty levels, measured through a FI, resulted to be strongly associated with the risk of cognitive and functional worsening. In fact, subjects with higher FI scores exhibited a significantly increased risk of developing future AD dementia.

Nowadays, special attention is being focused on the possibility of identifying the clinical factors and laboratory findings consenting to early/timely detect those subjects at increased risk of dementia. In this scenario, MCI has increasingly been considered as the optimal phase to explore the clinical and pathophysiological modifications anticipating the onset of overt dementing syndromes (21). To date, most of studies on the conversion of MCI have been concentrated on the contribution of crude socio-demographic (e.g., sex, age, and educational level) and clinical (e.g., comorbidities, neuropsychiatric symptoms) variables, mostly exploring the predictive value of findings and measures individually referring to a specific individual's health domain (e.g., neuropsychological functions, functional abilities, neuroimaging abnormalities, genetic traits) (22). Nevertheless, existing models of prediction of MCI progression have been shown to have several limitations, including poor discrimination and low positive predictive values (22). Accordingly, the adoption of novel approaches, more properly accounting for the clinical and biological heterogeneity of older people at risk for cognitive decline, has repeatedly been solicited (23).

In this context, the introduction of constructs more broadly reflecting the individual's frailty status and his/her biological aging may open promising scenarios in the field. This approach may facilitate to multidimensionally capture the pathophysiological complexity of cognitive disorders and neurodegenerative conditions. Moreover, it may consent to more holistically consider the overall health status of the aging individual experiencing the onset of cognitive disturbances, thus not neglecting the multiple and variegate aspects (from sleep disorders to depression, from nutritional deficiencies to polypharmacy) potentially contributing to their occurrence and influencing their phenotypic expression (24). As a proof, in our study, beside the well-established impact of age and baseline cognitive functioning (i.e., MMSE scores), the accumulation of clinical/biological deficits (captured by the FI) significantly influenced the risk of AD dementia. Specifically, FI scores influenced the overall risk of MCI conversion more than age, a well-established risk factor for cognitive decline and dementia. It is noteworthy that the discriminative capacity of the FI was observed despite the cohort being composed exclusively by robust subjects, and was confirmed also among those participants exhibiting the best levels of cognitive performance. These findings are in line with that obtained in cohorts of patients already exhibiting dementing conditions, with frailty measures predicting cognitive outcomes and trajectories (8).

More in particular, our results confirm that the FI may provide useful information when approaching individuals with cognitive

disturbances. This model is also easy-to-adopt, being potentially applicable (even retrospectively) from existing datasets and available clinical information. Its use will be even more simplified by the increasing use of electronic medical records (25). In parallel, it can be directly implemented in the clinical practice without requiring changes in the routine/standard approach, not requiring the adoption of specific tests, tools, and *ad hoc* questionnaires, potentially resulting in costly and time-consuming procedures (24).

The present study has some limitations worth to be mentioned. In particular, the small sample size does not consent to draw firm conclusions on the topic. The study population was composed by highly selected MCI subjects attending a university memory clinic, thus with potentially issues in terms of external validity. Moreover, we only focused on the conversion of aMCI to AD dementia, thus not considering the outcomes of different MCI subtypes and the progression toward different dementing conditions.

In conclusions, frailty may significantly increase the individual risk of conversion from a condition of MCI to overt AD dementia. The adoption of constructs comprehensively reflecting the biological decline of the aging subject may add useful estimates and information to those provided by monodimensional variables and traditional cognitive evaluations. In this context, models of frailty (such as the FI) may be easily and promisingly introduced

REFERENCES

- Morley JE, Vellas B, van Kan GA, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2013) 14(6):392–7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet (2013) 381(9868):752–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9
- Cesari M, Prince M, Thiyagarajan JA, De Carvalho IA, Bernabei R, Chan P, et al. Frailty: an emerging public health priority. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2016) 17:188–92. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.12.016
- Canevelli M, Troili F, Bruno G. Reasoning about frailty in neurology: neurobiological correlates and clinical perspectives. *J Frailty Aging* (2014) 3(1):18–20. doi:10.14283/jfa.2014.4
- Robertson DA, Savva GM, Kenny RA. Frailty and cognitive impairment a review of the evidence and causal mechanisms. *Ageing Res Rev* (2013) 12(4):840–51. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2013.06.004
- Canevelli M, Cesari M, van Kan GA. Frailty and cognitive decline: how do they relate? *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2015) 18(1):43–50. doi:10.1097/ MCO.000000000000133
- Kelaiditi E, Andrieu S, Cantet C, Vellas B, Cesari M; ICTUS/DSA Group. Frailty index and incident mortality, hospitalization, and institutionalization in Alzheimer's disease: data from the ICTUS study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2016) 71:543–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv137
- Kelaiditi E, Canevelli M, Andrieu S, Del Campo N, Soto ME, Vellas B, et al. Frailty index and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease: data from the impact of cholinergic treatment use study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2016) 64(6):1165–70. doi:10.1111/jgs.13956
- Winblad B, Palmer K, Kivipelto M, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L, Wahlund L-O, et al. Mild cognitive impairment – beyond controversies, towards a consensus: report of the International Working Group on Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J Intern Med* (2004) 256(3):240–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01380.x
- McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR, Kawas CH, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* (2011) 7(3):263–9. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005

in the neurological practice with the aim of improving both clinical and research standards.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All the data used in the analyses were exclusively retrieved from medical charts where information was recorded as part of the standard clinical routine. The patients and their caregivers (or legal guardians when necessary) provided written informed consent for allowing the utilization of the collected data for research purposes in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The local Ethics Committee, "Comitato Etico Sapienza," approved the protocol.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AT and MC conceived and designed the work, performed the literature search, and wrote the manuscript. LI, LP, and LR collected the neuropsychological data. FD, AC, and VC collected the clinical data. GB and CL participated to the critical appraisal of the available evidence on the topic.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all individuals who contributed to this study, especially our patients.

- Novelli G, Papagno C, Capitani E, Laiacona M, Cappa S, Vallar G. Tre test clinici di ricerca e produzione lessicale. Taratura su soggetti normali. Arch Psicol Neurol Psichiatr (1996) 47:477–506.
- Carlesimo GA, Caltagirone C, Gainotti G. The mental deterioration battery: normative data, diagnostic reliability and qualitative analyses of cognitive impairment. The group for the standardization of the mental deterioration battery. *Eur Neurol* (1996) 36(6):378–84. doi:10.1159/000117297
- 13. Spinnler H, Tognoni G. Standardizzazione e taratura italiana di test neuropsicologici. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) 8:1–120.
- Orsini A, Grossi D, Capitani E, Laiacona M, Papagno C, Vallar G. Verbal and spatial immediate memory span: normative data from 1355 adults and 1112 children. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) 8(6):539–48. doi:10.1007/ BF02333660
- Van Gorp WG, Satz P, Kiersch ME, Henry R. Normative data on the Boston Naming Test for a group of normal older adults. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (1986) 8(6):702–5. doi:10.1080/01688638608405189
- Caffarra P, Gardini S, Zonato F, Concari L, Dieci F, Copelli S, et al. Italian norms for the Freedman version of the Clock Drawing Test. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2011) 33(9):982–8. doi:10.1080/13803395.2011.589373
- Appollonio I, Leone M, Isella V, Piamarta F, Consoli T, Villa ML, et al. The frontal assessment battery (FAB): normative values in an Italian population sample. *Neurol Sci* (2005) 26(2):108–16. doi:10.1007/s10072-005-0443-4
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res (1975) 12(3):189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Morris JC. The clinical dementia rating (CDR): current version and scoring rules. *Neurology* (1993) 43(11):2412–4. doi:10.1212/WNL.43.11.2412-a
- Searle SD, Mitnitski A, Gahbauer EA, Gill TM, Rockwood K. A standard procedure for creating a frailty index. *BMC Geriatr* (2008) 8:24. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-8-24
- Albert MS, DeKosky ST, Dickson D, Dubois B, Feldman HH, Fox NC, et al. The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* (2011) 7(3):270–9. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008

- Langa KM, Levine DA. The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment: a clinical review. JAMA (2014) 312(23):2551-61. doi:10.1001/ jama.2014.13806
- 23. Brayne C, Davis D. Making Alzheimer's and dementia research fit for populations. *Lancet* (2012) 380(9851):1441–3. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61803-0
- Canevelli M, Cesari M, Remiddi F, Trebbastoni A, Quarata F, Vico C, et al. Promoting the assessment of frailty in the clinical approach to cognitive disorders. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2017) 9:36. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2017.00036
- Clegg A, Bates C, Young J, Ryan R, Nichols L, Ann Teale E, et al. Development and validation of an electronic frailty index using routine primary care electronic health record data. *Age Ageing* (2016) 45(3):353–60. doi:10.1093/ ageing/afw039

Conflict of Interest Statement: This research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Trebbastoni, Canevelli, D'Antonio, Imbriano, Podda, Rendace, Campanelli, Celano, Bruno and de Lena. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cross-sectional Associations of Fatigue with Cerebral β-Amyloid in Older Adults at Risk of Dementia

Claudie Hooper^{1*}, Philipe De Souto Barreto^{1,2}, Nicola Coley^{2,3}, Matteo Cesari^{1,2}, Pierre Payoux^{4,5}, Anne Sophie Salabert^{4,5}, Sandrine Andrieu^{1,2,3} and Bruno Vellas^{1,2} for the MAPT/DSA Study Group

¹ Gérontopôle, Department of Geriatrics, CHU Toulouse, Purpan University Hospital, Toulouse, France, ²UMR1027 INSERM, Université de Toulouse III Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France, ³Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, CHU Toulouse, Toulouse, France, ⁴UMR 1214, Toulouse Neuroimaging Center, University of Toulouse III, Toulouse, France, ⁵Department of Nuclear Medicine, CHU Toulouse, Toulouse, France

Fatigue is a common symptom in the elderly and has also been associated with impaired cognition in older adults. Hence, we sought to explore the cross-sectional relationship between fatigue and cerebral β -amyloid (A β) in 269 elderly individuals reporting subjective memory complaints from the Multidomain Alzheimer Preventive Trial. Standard uptake value ratios (SUVRs) were generated by [¹⁸F] florbetapir positron emission tomography (PET) using the cerebellum as a reference. Cortical-to-cerebellar SUVRs (cortical-SUVRs) were obtained using the mean signal from the frontal cortex, temporal cortex, parietal cortex, precuneus, anterior cingulate, and posterior cingulate. Other brain regions independently assessed were the anterior cingulate, anterior putamen, caudate, hippocampus, medial orbitofrontal cortex, occipital cortex, parietal cortex, pons, posterior cingulate, posterior putamen, precuneus, semioval center, and temporal cortex. Fatigue was defined according to two questions retrieved from the Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression scale. Chronic fatigue was defined as meeting fatigue criteria at two consecutive clinical visits 6 months apart between study baseline and 1 year (visits were performed at baseline, 6 months and 1 year then annually). Cross-sectional associations between fatigue variables and cerebral AB were explored using fully adjusted multiple linear regression models. We found no statistically significant cross-sectional associations between fatigue assessed at the clinical visit closest to PET and Aβ in any brain region. Similarly, chronic fatigue was not significantly associated with AB load. Sensitivity analysis in subjects with a Clinical Dementia Rating of 0.5 showed that fatigue reported at the clinical visit closest to PET was, however, weakly associated with increased A_β in the hippocampus (B-coefficient: 0.07, 95% CI: 0.01, 0.12, p = 0.016). These preliminary results suggest that fatigue might be associated with $A\beta$ in brain regions associated with Alzheimer's disease in subjects in the early stages of disease.

Keywords: fatigue, β -amyloid, Alzheimer's disease, frailty, cognition

INTRODUCTION

Fatigue is the sense of persistent general tiredness and exerts a significant negative impact on health status (1). It is a common symptom in older adults and has been suggested to serve as a clinically relevant biomarker for pathological aging (2). Fatigue is specifically associated with physical frailty (2, 3) and cognitive frailty, where physical frailty presents with cognitive impairments (4, 5).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wee Shiong Lim, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore

Reviewed by:

Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Liang-Yu Chen, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Claudie Hooper claudie28@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 24 August 2017 Accepted: 29 September 2017 Published: 06 November 2017

Citation:

Hooper C, De Souto Barreto P, Coley N, Cesari M, Payoux P, Salabert AS, Andrieu S and Vellas B (2017) Cross-sectional Associations of Fatigue with Cerebral β-Amyloid in Older Adults at Risk of Dementia. Front. Med. 4:173. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00173

28

Research into fatigue and Alzheimer's disease (AD), the most common form of dementia in the elderly (6), is limited. However, fatigue has been cross-sectionally associated with brain atrophy and compromised cognition in cognitively normal older adults (7) and longitudinally with increased risk of cognitive decline in older adults without dementia (8). Fatigue has also been more frequently reported in patients with dementia at 3-year follow-up (9) and fatigue is a symptom of depression, a condition that often co-presents with dementia (10, 11).

In accordance with the amyloid cascade hypothesis of AD, β -amyloid (A β) is thought to be the main driver of AD pathology culminating in neurofibrillary tangle formation, which in turn precipitates neuronal loss and cognitive impairments (12, 13). It has been suggested that fatigue might occur as a result of depleted physiological reserves (14), and fatigue has been associated with increased oxidative stress (15). Moreover, frailty is associated with pro-inflammatory changes (16-18), but due to the biological complexity of the frailty phenotype specific associations with its fatigue component are difficult to distinguish. It seems plausible, therefore, that fatigue might lead to alterations in homeostasis leading to secondary increases in A_β deposition especially considering that oxidative stress and inflammation fuel amyloidogenesis (19, 20). Furthermore, polypharmacy and conditions prevalent in the elderly such as anemia and sleep apnea are associated with fatigue (21-25). Sleep apnea has been associated with increased cerebral A β (26) and iron deficiency leads to alterations in the expression of genes involved in amyloidogenesis (27). Moreover, polypharmacy is a risk factor for cognitive impairment (28), which potentially might manifest through Aβ-dependent mechanisms. Hence, in this study, we sought to explore the cross-sectional associations between fatigue and cerebral Aβ in older adults reporting subjective memory complaints. We hypothesized that fatigue would be associated with increased cerebral Aβ load.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Multidomain Alzheimer Preventive Trial (MAPT): Standard Protocol Approvals, Registrations, and Ethics

Data were obtained from a [18F] florbetapir positron emission tomography (PET) study carried out as part of the Multidomain Alzheimer Preventive Trial (MAPT), which was a large phase III, multicentre, randomized, placebo-controlled trial (29) (registration: NCT00672685). The trial had a four-arm design comprising a placebo group and three treatment groups; omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (n-3 PUFA) supplementation, multidomain intervention (involving nutritional and exercise counseling and cognitive training), and n-3 PUFA supplementation plus multidomain intervention. The trial was designed to assess the efficacy of the interventions in slowing cognitive decline in older adults at risk of dementia (n = 1,680) (29). In the main analysis of MAPT, no significant effects of any of the interventions were found on the composite cognitive score compared to placebo after adjustment for multiple testing (30). Both the MAPT and [¹⁸F] florbetapir PET study were approved by the ethics committee in Toulouse (CPP SOOM II) and written consent was obtained from all participants.

Participants

A total of 271 subjects participated in the MAPT-[18F] florbetapir ancillary study. At inclusion, participants were communitydwelling, men and women without dementia, aged \geq 70, and who met at least one of the following criteria: spontaneous memory complaints, limitation in executing ≥ 1 Instrumental Activity of Daily Living or slow gait speed (<0.8 meters/sec). Two participants were excluded because they developed dementia at the clinical assessment closest to PET [Clinical Dementia Rating $(CDR) \ge 1$]. Thus, a total of 269 subjects were included in the analyses described here. The participants of the main MAPT study not assessed for cerebral AB load were similar to the participants in the PET sub-study in terms of age at baseline (main MAPT study: 75.9 ± 4.5 years, PET sub-study: 75.2 ± 4.2 years), sex (main MAPT study: 65.6% female, PET sub-study: 60.2% female) and cognition at baseline measured as mini mental state examination test score (main MAPT study: 28.0 ± 1.6 , PET substudy: 28.3 ± 1.5).

[¹⁸F] Florbetapir PET

PET-scans were performed once during MAPT in volunteers using [18F] florbetapir as previously described (29, 31). All data acquisitions were begun 50 min after injection of a mean of 4 MBq/kg weight of [18F]-Florbetapir. Radiochemical purity of ^{[18}F]-Florbetapir was always superior to 99.5%. Standard uptake value ratios (SUVRs) were generated from semi-automated quantitative analysis using the cerebellum as a reference. Cortical-to-cerebellar SUVRs (cortical-SUVRs) were obtained using the mean signal from the following cortical regions: frontal, temporal, parietal, precuneus, anterior cingulate, and posterior cingulate as previously described (32). Other brain regions independently assessed were the: anterior cingulate, anterior putamen, caudate, hippocampus, medial orbitofrontal cortex, occipital cortex, parietal cortex, pons, posterior cingulate, posterior putamen, precuneus, semioval center, and temporal cortex. A quality control based on semi-quantification process was also performed. The median and interquartile range (IQR) for the time interval between baseline and PET-scan assessment was 487.5 days (IQR: 349-728) and 3.7% (10 out of 269) of subjects received a PET-scan at study baseline.

Fatigue

Fatigue was defined according to the following two questions retrieved from the Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression scale: (a) I felt that everything I did was an effort, (b) I could not get going. The question is asked "How often in the last week did you feel this way?" and subjects score their responses: 0 = rarely or none of the time (<1 day), 1 = some or a little of the time (1–2 days), 2 = a moderate amount of the time (3–4 days), 3 = most of the time. Subjects answering 2 or 3 to either of these questions were designated as fatigued otherwise subjects were classed as non-fatigued. Subjects were classed as having chronic fatigue if answering 2 or 3 to either of the questions at two consecutive visits between study baseline and 1 year (visits were performed at

baseline, 6 months, and 1 year after which they were performed annually) otherwise subjects were deemed non-chronically fatigued. The adopted definition of fatigue is commonly used to define the "exhaustion" criterion in the field of frailty (3).

Confounding Variables

On the basis of data availability and the literature on dementia (33), we selected the following confounders: age at PET-scan assessment, gender, educational level, cognitive status assessed at the clinical visit closest to PET-scan (CDR: scores 0 or 0.5), MAPT group allocation (four groups: placebo, multidomain intervention, n-3 PUFA supplementation and multidomain intervention + n-3 PUFA supplementation), depressive symptoms assessed closed to PET-scan (Geriatric Depression Scale: scores 0–30) and Apolipoprotein E ε 4 (ApoE ε 4) genotype (carriers of at least one ε 4 allele versus non-carriers).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics are presented as median (IQR) or absolute values/percentages as appropriate. After completing analysis of the primary hypotheses in MAPT (30), we performed post hoc analyses using multiple linear regression models to explore the cross-sectional relationships between fatigue and cerebral Aβ load (measured as SUVR). Clinical and demographic characteristics were compared between the participants deemed as non-fatigued or fatigued (with fatigue assessed at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan) using chi squared tests for categorical variables and Wilcoxon rank sum tests for continuous variables. We ran multiple linear regression analysis to explore the cross-sectional relationship between fatigue at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan and cortical-SUVR and region specific SUVR (13 regions described above) adjusting for all confounders. Sensitivity analysis was performed in subjects with a CDR score of 0.5 as this sub-group represents those more likely to develop AD (34). We also ran multiple linear regression analysis to explore the cross-sectional relationship between chronic fatigue and cortical-SUVR and regional SUVR (13 regions) adjusting for all confounders. There was no correction for multiple comparisons due to the exploratory nature of this study: p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using Stata version 14 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX, USA).

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Clinical and demographic characteristics of the study participants are shown in **Table 1**. The median age of the participants was approximately 75 years and around 60% of the subjects were female and approximately half of the subjects had a CDR score of 0.5. Participants exhibited a high educational level and approximately 30% of the subjects were ApoE ε 4 carriers. There were no statistically significant differences between subjects classed as non-fatigued or fatigued (with fatigue assessed at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan). A total of 42 participants out of 269 (15.6%) were classified as fatigued and of these 42.9% (18 out of 42) were A β positive using a threshold of mean cortical-SUVR \geq 1.17

TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics.

Variables	Non-fatigued subjects (n = 227)	Fatigued subjects (n = 42)	<i>p</i> -Value
	75 (72–79)	76 (73–79)	0.434
Age, years Sex, women (%)	134 (59.0%)	28 (66.7%)	0.353
Education (%)	134 (39.070)	20 (00.7 70)	0.190
No diploma or primary school certificate	54 (24.1%)	14 (34.1%)	
Secondary education no high- school diploma	72 (32.1%)	7 (17.1%)	
High-school diploma	31 (13.8%)	8 (19.5%)	
Higher diploma	67 (29.9%)	12 (29.3%)	
Group allocation (%)			0.550
Multidomain intervention	57 (28.6%)	11 (26.2%)	
n-3 PUFA supplementation	48 (21.1%)	12 (28.6%)	
Multidomain intervention and n-3	65 (28.6%)	8 (19.0%)	
PUFA supplementation Placebo	EZ (OE 10/)	11 (00 00/)	
	57 (25.1%)	11 (26.2%)	0.000
% of CDR 0.5 (%)	108 (47.6%)	23 (54.7%)	0.392
ApoE ε4 carriers (%) ^a Cortical-SUVR	53 (26.8%) 1.1 (1.0–1.3)	12 (32.4%) 1.1 (1.1–1.3)	0.480 0.927

Age and CDR score closest to PET-scan are presented. Data are expressed as median (interquartile range) or as absolute values/percentages. Clinical and demographic characteristics were compared between the participants deemed as non-fatigued or fatigued (with fatigue assessed at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan) using chi squared tests for categorical variables and Wilcoxon rank sum tests for continuous variables.

ApoE, apolipoprotein E; CDR, clinical dementia rating; n-3 PUFA, omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid; SUVR, standard uptake ratio values. $^{P}ApoE \ e4$ status available for n = 235.

(31, 35). A total of 26 participants out of 269 (9.7%) were classified as having chronic fatigue and of these 38.5% (10 out of 26) were A β positive.

Exploration of the Relationship between Fatigue and Cerebral $\mbox{A}\beta$

There were no statistically significant cross-sectional associations of fatigue at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan with cortical or region specific A β load after adjustment for all confounders (**Table 2**). Sensitivity analysis performed in subjects with a CDR score of 0.5, however, showed a weak positive association between fatigue reported at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan and A β load in the hippocampus (**Table 3**). Chronic fatigue was not significantly associated with cortical A β or A β found in any other brain region after adjustment for all confounders (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we did not find any significant cross-sectional associations between fatigue (assessed closest to PET-scan examination or chronic) and cortical or region specific A β load in our total study population. However, sensitivity analysis in subjects with a CDR of 0.5 showed that fatigue reported closest to PET-scan was associated with increased A β load specifically in the hippocampus.

Why fatigue might be specifically associated with hippocampal A β pathology in subjects at increased risk of AD (CDR = 0.5) requires further research attention. However, there is evidence that fatigue, modeled in rats through the induction of sleep TABLE 2 | Multiple linear regressions examining the cross-sectional associations between fatigue at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan and cerebral β-amyloid load.

β-amyloid load	Unadju	sted model ($n = 269$)			Adjusted model ($n = 231$)
	B-coeff.	95% CI	p-Value	B-coeff.	95% CI	<i>p</i> -Value
Cortical-SUVR	-0.01	-0.06, 0.05	0.800	-0.04	-0.10, 0.02	0.184
SUVR by brain region;						
Anterior cingulate	-0.01	-0.08, 0.06	0.832	-0.06	-0.14, 0.02	0.140
Anterior putamen	-0.02	-0.12, 0.08	0.683	-0.05	-0.17, 0.06	0.367
Caudate	0.05	-0.06, 0.16	0.344	0.04	-0.09, 0.17	0.532
Hippocampus	0.02	-0.02, 0.06	0.263	0.04	-0.00, 0.08	0.071
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	-0.00	-0.05, 0.04	0.939	-0.02	-0.07, 0.03	0.494
Occipital cortex	-0.02	-0.08, 0.04	0.553	-0.06	-0.13, 0.01	0.073
Parietal cortex	-0.03	-0.09, 0.03	0.339	-0.06	-0.13, 0.01	0.080
Pons	-0.01	-0.05, 0.04	0.702	-0.00	-0.06, 0.05	0.896
Posterior cingulate	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.975	-0.03	-0.10, 0.04	0.362
Posterior putamen	-0.01	-0.09, 0.07	0.727	-0.02	-0.11, 0.07	0.667
Precuneus	-0.00	-0.08, 0.08	0.964	-0.05	-0.13, 0.03	0.245
Semioval center	0.02	-0.03, 0.08	0.424	0.02	-0.04, 0.09	0.507
Temporal cortex	-0.00	-0.06, 0.05	0.891	-0.03	-0.09, 0.02	0.253

The adjusted model contained fewer subjects due to missing data on confounders.

B-coeff, B-coefficient; CI, confidence intervals; p, probability; SUVR, standard uptake ratio values.

TABLE 3 | Multiple linear regressions examining the cross-sectional associations between fatigue at the clinical exam closest to PET-scan and cerebral β-amyloid load in subjects with a CDR score of 0.5.

β-amyloid load	Unac	djusted model (n = 13	31)	A	Adjusted model ($n = 113$	3)
	B-coeff.	95% CI	p-Value	B-coeff.	95% CI	<i>p</i> -Value
Cortical-SUVR	-0.01	-0.09, 0.07	0.829	-0.03	-0.12, 0.05	0.438
SUVR by brain region;						
Anterior cingulate	0.01	-0.10, 0.11	0.922	-0.03	-0.15, 0.09	0.597
Anterior putamen	-0.01	-0.15, 0.13	0.869	-0.05	-0.21, 0.12	0.585
Caudate	0.08	-0.07, 0.24	0.276	0.11	-0.06, 0.29	0.204
Hippocampus	0.04	-0.01, 0.09	0.106	0.07	0.01, 0.12	0.016
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.974	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.973
Occipital cortex	-0.01	-0.10, 0.08	0.750	-0.05	-0.15, 0.04	0.265
Parietal cortex	-0.05	-0.14, 0.03	0.241	-0.08	-0.16, 0.01	0.085
Pons	0.01	-0.06, 0.07	0.802	0.01	-0.06, 0.08	0.762
Posterior cingulate	-0.01	-0.09, 0.08	0.824	-0.04	-0.13, 0.05	0.426
Posterior putamen	-0.01	-0.11, 0.09	0.810	-0.02	-0.14, 0.09	0.693
Precuneus	-0.00	-0.12, 0.11	0.958	-0.04	-0.17, 0.08	0.496
Semioval center	0.04	-0.03, 0.12	0.249	0.06	-0.02, 0.15	0.147
Temporal cortex	0.00	-0.07, 0.08	0.904	-0.02	-0.10, 0.06	0.688

The adjusted model contained fewer subjects due to missing data on confounders.

B-coeff, B-coefficient; CI, confidence intervals; p, probability; SUVR, standard uptake ratio values.

deprivation, reduces hippocampal as well as cortical dendritic spines (36) and inhibits long-term potentiation and hippocampal dependent learning tasks (37). Thus, it might be that fatigue also modulates cell signaling cascades to promote amyloidogenesis specifically in the hippocampus. In line with this, in mouse models of AD, acute sleep deprivation is associated with increased levels of interstitial brain levels of A β , whereas chronic sleep deprivation has been associated with increased A β plaques (38). Increased brain A β load has also been cross-sectionally associated with poor sleep (39) and longer sleep latency (time taken to fall asleep) (40) in human subjects. Oxidative stress is associated with fatigue (15) and pro-inflammatory mediators such as interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein have been associated with frailty

(which includes fatigue in the phenotype) (16, 18); therefore such signalling intermediates might promote fatigue-induced amyloidogenesis at the molecular level (19, 20). Interestingly, fatigue has also been associated with compromised cognition in older adults without dementia (7, 8). With this in mind, fatigue might modulate cognition *via* $A\beta$ -dependent mechanisms in human subjects with early AD. More research is needed to verify the links between fatigue and $A\beta$ deposition, particularly to rule out the possibility that increased $A\beta$ in the brain might precipitate fatigue. A better understanding of the biological basis of fatigue would facilitate such studies.

The strengths of the current study are the large sample size with PET $[^{18}\text{F}]$ florbetapir imaging data and the simultaneous

β-amyloid load	Unadjusted model ($n = 269$)			Adjusted model ($n = 231$)		
	B-coeff.	95% CI	p-Value	B-coeff.	95% CI	<i>p</i> -Value
Cortical-SUVR	-0.01	-0.08, 0.06	0.854	-0.03	-0.10, 0.05	0.452
SUVR by brain region;						
Anterior cingulate	-0.01	-0.10, 0.07	0.760	-0.05	-0.14, 0.04	0.293
Anterior putamen	0.02	-0.10, 0.15	0.736	0.01	-0.13, 0.14	0.922
Caudate	0.02	-0.11, 0.16	0.714	0.02	-0.13, 0.17	0.798
Hippocampus	-0.01	-0.06, 0.03	0.518	-0.01	-0.06, 0.04	0.677
Medial orbitofrontal cortex	-0.01	-0.07, 0.04	0.687	-0.02	-0.08, 0.04	0.433
Occipital cortex	-0.01	-0.09, 0.06	0.756	-0.04	-0.12, 0.04	0.286
Parietal cortex	0.00	-0.07, 0.08	0.994	-0.00	-0.08, 0.07	0.903
Pons	-0.02	-0.08, 0.03	0.425	-0.02	-0.08, 0.04	0.464
Posterior cingulate	-0.01	-0.09, 0.06	0.716	-0.04	-0.12, 0.04	0.384
Posterior putamen	-0.00	-0.10, 0.10	0.967	0.01	-0.10, 0.12	0.920
Precuneus	0.01	-0.09, 0.10	0.857	-0.02	-0.12, 0.08	0.639
Semioval center	-0.00	-0.07, 0.07	0.943	-0.01	-0.09, 0.07	0.847
Temporal cortex	-0.01	-0.07, 0.06	0.773	-0.03	-0.10, 0.04	0.379

TABLE 4 | Multiple linear regressions examining the cross-sectional associations between chronic fatigue and cerebral β-amyloid load.

The adjusted model contained fewer subjects due to missing data on confounders.

B-coeff, B-coefficient; CI, confidence intervals; p, probability; SUVR, standard uptake ratio values.

availability of successive fatigue measurements over time enabling the creation of a chronic fatigue variable. Nevertheless, there are some limitations. The main limitation of this study is that it is a secondary analysis of the MAPT imaging sub-study; thus, the study was not specifically powered to address our hypothesis on the association of fatigue with increased cerebral AB load. The cross-sectional nature (due to lack of longitudinal imaging data) precluded the examination of the relationship between fatigue and A^β temporally. Furthermore, it should be noted that PET-scans were performed throughout the three year period of MAPT, so the study was not of a true cross-sectional nature. Moreover, although used by others (2, 41) as a measure of fatigue, the self-reported fatigue variable used here was derived from a questionnaire designed to measure depression and as such may not robustly capture the physiological component of fatigue but rather focus on the psychological element. There was also no data available on other diseases that might contribute to fatigue such as anemia, sleep apnea, or cancer.

In conclusion, we have shown here that fatigue might be associated with increased $A\beta$ in the hippocampus specifically in subjects with an augmented risk of AD. Further research is required to confirm our preliminary findings. A longitudinal study examining the temporal association between fatigue and $A\beta$ would provide more evidence as to whether fatigue might modulate cerebral $A\beta$ levels.

MAPT/DSA GROUP REFERS TO

MAPT Study Group Principal Investigator

Bruno Vellas (Toulouse); *Coordination:* Sophie Guyonnet; *Project leader*: Isabelle Carrié; *CRA:* Lauréane Brigitte; *Investigators:* Catherine Faisant, Françoise Lala, Julien Delrieu, Hélène Villars; *Psychologists:* Emeline Combrouze, Carole Badufle, Audrey Zueras; *Methodology, statistical analysis and data management:*

Sandrine Andrieu, Christelle Cantet, Christophe Morin; *Multidomain group:* Gabor Abellan Van Kan, Charlotte Dupuy, Yves Rolland (physical and nutritional components), Céline Caillaud, Pierre-Jean Ousset (cognitive component), Françoise Lala (preventive consultation), Bertrand Fougère (Toulouse). The cognitive component was designed in collaboration with Sherry Willis from the University of Seattle, and Sylvie Belleville, Brigitte Gilbert and Francine Fontaine from the University of Montreal.

Coinvestigators in Associated Centers

Jean-François Dartigues, Isabelle Marcet, Fleur Delva, Alexandra Foubert, Sandrine Cerda (Bordeaux); Marie-Noëlle-Cuffi, Corinne Costes (Castres); Olivier Rouaud, Patrick Manckoundia, Valérie Quipourt, Sophie Marilier, Evelyne Franon (Dijon); Lawrence Bories, Marie-Laure Pader, Marie-France Basset, Bruno Lapoujade, Valérie Faure, Michael Li Yung Tong, Christine Malick-Loiseau, Evelyne Cazaban-Campistron (Foix); Françoise Desclaux, Colette Blatge (Lavaur); Thierry Dantoine, Cécile Laubarie-Mouret, Isabelle Saulnier, Jean-Pierre Clément, Marie-Agnès Picat, Laurence Bernard-Bourzeix, Stéphanie Willebois, Iléana Désormais, Noëlle Cardinaud (Limoges); Marc Bonnefoy, Pierre Livet, Pascale Rebaudet, Claire Gédéon, Catherine Burdet, Flavien Terracol (Lyon), Alain Pesce, Stéphanie Roth, Sylvie Chaillou, Sandrine Louchart (Monaco); Kristelle Sudres, Nicolas Lebrun, Nadège Barro-Belaygues (Montauban); Jacques Touchon, Karim Bennys, Audrey Gabelle, Aurélia Romano, Lynda Touati, Cécilia Marelli, Cécile Pays (Montpellier); Philippe Robert, Franck Le Duff, Claire Gervais, Sébastien Gonfrier (Nice); Yannick Gasnier and Serge Bordes, Danièle Begorre, Christian Carpuat, Khaled Khales, Jean-François Lefebvre, Samira Misbah El Idrissi, Pierre Skolil, Jean-Pierre Salles (Tarbes).

MRI Group

Carole Dufouil (Bordeaux), Stéphane Lehéricy, Marie Chupin, Jean-François Mangin, Ali Bouhayia (Paris); Michèle Allard

(Bordeaux); Frédéric Ricolfi (Dijon); Dominique Dubois (Foix); Marie Paule Bonceour Martel (Limoges); François Cotton (Lyon); Alain Bonafé (Montpellier); Stéphane Chanalet (Nice); Françoise Hugon (Tarbes); Fabrice Bonneville, Christophe Cognard, François Chollet (Toulouse).

PET-Scans Group

Pierre Payoux, Thierry Voisin, Julien Delrieu, Sophie Peiffer, Anne Hitzel, (Toulouse); Michèle Allard (Bordeaux); Michel Zanca (Montpellier); Jacques Monteil (Limoges); Jacques Darcourt (Nice).

Medico-Economics Group

Laurent Molinier, Hélène Derumeaux, Nadège Costa (Toulouse).

Biological Sample Collection

Christian Vincent, Bertrand Perret, Claire Vinel (Toulouse).

Safety Management

Pascale Olivier-Abbal.

DSA Group

Sandrine Andrieu, Christelle Cantet, Nicola Coley.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Toulouse ethics commitee (CPP SOOM II) with

REFERENCES

- Moreh E, Jacobs JM, Stessman J. Fatigue, function, and mortality in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2010) 65(8):887–95. doi:10.1093/gerona/ glq064
- Zengarini E, Ruggiero C, Mecocci P, Vellas B, Cesari M. Fatigue as a clinical sign of biological aging: exploratory analyses from the MINDED project. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2016) 16(4):533–4. doi:10.1111/ggi.12555
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56(3):M146–56. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146
- Fougère B, Delrieu J, Del Campo N, Soriano G, Sourdet S, Vellas B. Cognitive frailty: mechanisms, tools to measure, prevention and controversy. *Clin Geriatr Med* (2017) 33(3):339–55. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2017.03.001
- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, van Kan GA, Ousset P-J, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) international consensus group. J Nutr Health Aging (2013) 17(9):726–34. doi:10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2
- Kumfor F, Halliday GM, Piguet O. Clinical aspects of Alzheimer's disease. Adv Neurobiol (2017) 15:31–53. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57193-5_2
- Carvalho DZ, St Louis EK, Boeve BF, Mielke MM, Przybelski SA, Knopman DS, et al. Excessive daytime sleepiness and fatigue may indicate accelerated brain aging in cognitively normal late middle-aged and older adults. *Sleep Med* (2017) 32:236–43. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2016.08.023
- Lin F, Chen D-G, Vance DE, Ball KK, Mapstone M. Longitudinal relationships between subjective fatigue, cognitive function, and everyday functioning in old age. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2013) 25(2):275–85. doi:10.1017/S1041610212001718
- Verdelho A, Hénon H, Lebert F, Pasquier F, Leys D. Depressive symptoms after stroke and relationship with dementia: a three-year follow-up study. *Neurology* (2004) 62(6):905–11. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000115107.66957.8C
- Rubin EH, Veiel LL, Kinscherf DA, Morris JC, Storandt M. Clinically significant depressive symptoms and very mild to mild dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2001) 16(7):694–701. doi:10.1002/gps.408

written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CH was responsible for data analysis and writing the manuscript. PB supervised the data analysis and was involved in the critical appraisal of the manuscript. NC was involved in data analysis and critical appraisal of the manuscript. PP and AS performed the [¹⁸F] florbetapir PET. SA, MC, and BV were involved in study design and critical appraisal of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The MAPT study was supported by grants from the Gérontopôle of Toulouse, the French Ministry of Health (PHRC 2008, 2009), Pierre Fabre Research Institute (manufacturer of the omega 3 supplement), Exhonit Therapeutics SA, Avid Radiopharmaceuticals Inc. and in part by a grant from the French National Agency for Research called "Investissements d'Avenir" no. ANR-11-LABX-0018-01. The promotion of this study was supported by the University Hospital Center of Toulouse. The data sharing activity was supported by the Association Monegasque pour la Recherche sur la maladie d'Alzheimer (AMPA) and the UMR 1027 Unit INSERM-University of Toulouse III. Sponsor's role: None.

- 11. Bennett S, Thomas AJ. Depression and dementia: cause, consequence or coincidence? *Maturitas* (2014) 79(2):184–90. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.009
- Hardy J, Allsop D. Amyloid deposition as the central event in the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (1991) 12(10):383–8. doi:10.1016/0165-6147(91)90609-V
- Hardy JA, Higgins GA. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science (1992) 256(5054):184–5. doi:10.1126/science.1566067
- Zengarini E, Ruggiero C, Pérez-Zepeda MU, Hoogendijk EO, Vellas B, Mecocci P, et al. Fatigue: relevance and implications in the aging population. *Exp Gerontol* (2015) 70:78–83. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2015.07.011
- Fukuda S, Nojima J, Motoki Y, Yamaguti K, Nakatomi Y, Okawa N, et al. A potential biomarker for fatigue: oxidative stress and anti-oxidative activity. *Biol Psychol* (2016) 118:88–93. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2016.05.005
- Leng S, Chaves P, Koenig K, Walston J. Serum interleukin-6 and hemoglobin as physiological correlates in the geriatric syndrome of frailty: a pilot study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2002) 50(7):1268–71. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50315.x
- Walston J, McBurnie MA, Newman A, Tracy RP, Kop WJ, Hirsch CH, et al. Frailty and activation of the inflammation and coagulation systems with and without clinical comorbidities: results from the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Arch Intern Med* (2002) 162(20):2333–41. doi:10.1001/archinte.162. 20.2333
- Langmann GA, Perera S, Ferchak MA, Nace DA, Resnick NM, Greenspan SL. Inflammatory markers and frailty in long-term care residents. J Am Geriatr Soc (2017) 65(8):1777–83. doi:10.1111/jgs.14876
- Tönnies E, Trushina E. Oxidative stress, synaptic dysfunction, and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis (2017) 57(4):1105–21. doi:10.3233/JAD-161088
- Lee JW, Lee YK, Yuk DY, Choi DY, Ban SB, Oh KW, et al. Neuro-inflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide causes cognitive impairment through enhancement of beta-amyloid generation. *J Neuroinflammation* (2008) 5:37. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-5-37
- Patterson AJ, Brown WJ, Powers JR, Roberts DC. Iron deficiency, general health and fatigue: results from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. *Qual Life Res* (2000) 9(5):491–7. doi:10.1023/A:1008978114650

- Aapro MS, Cella D, Zagari M. Age, anemia, and fatigue. Semin Oncol (2002) 29(3 Suppl 8):55–9. doi:10.1053/sonc.2002.33534
- Kim SA, Koo BB, Kim DE, Hwangbo Y, Yang KI. Factors affecting fatigue severity in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Clin Respir J* (2017). doi:10.1111/crj.12682
- Leng Y, McEvoy CT, Allen IE, Yaffe K. Association of sleep-disordered breathing with cognitive function and risk of cognitive impairment: a systematic review meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol* (2017). doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.2180
- 25. Zlott DA, Byrne M. Mechanisms by which pharmacologic agents may contribute to fatigue. *PM R* (2010) 2(5):451–5. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.04.018
- Yun C-H, Lee H-Y, Lee SK, Kim H, Seo HS, Bang SA, et al. Amyloid burden in obstructive sleep apnea. J Alzheimers Dis (2017) 59(1):21–9. doi:10.3233/ JAD-161047
- Carlson ES, Magid R, Petryk A, Georgieff MK. Iron deficiency alters expression of genes implicated in Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. *Brain Res* (2008) 1237:75–83. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2008.07.109
- Silay K, Yalcin A, Akinci S, Gursoy FG, Sener Dede D. Charlson comorbidity index, inappropriate medication use and cognitive impairment: Bermuda Triangle. *Wien Klin Wochenschr* (2017). doi:10.1007/s00508-017-1253-4
- 29. Vellas B, Carrie I, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Touchon J, Dantoine T, Dartigues JF, et al. MAPT study: a multidomain approach for preventing Alzheimer's disease: design and baseline data. *J Prev Alzheimers Dis* (2014) 1(1):13–22.
- Andrieu S, Guyonnet S, Coley N, Cantet C, Bonnefoy M, Bordes S, et al. Effect of long-term omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation with or without multidomain intervention on cognitive function in elderly adults with memory complaints (MAPT): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2017) 16(5):377–89. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30040-6
- 31. Del Campo N, Payoux P, Djilali A, Delrieu J, Hoogendijk EO, Rolland Y, et al. Relationship of regional brain β -amyloid to gait speed. *Neurology* (2016) 86(1):36–43. doi:10.1212/WNL.0000000002235
- 32. Joshi AD, Pontecorvo MJ, Clark CM, Carpenter AP, Jennings DL, Sadowsky CH, et al. Performance characteristics of amyloid PET with florbetapir F 18 in patients with Alzheimer's disease and cognitively normal subjects. *J Nucl Med* (2012) 53(3):378–84. doi:10.2967/jnumed.111.090340
- Alzheimer's Association. 2016 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement (2016) 12(4):459–509. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2016.03.001
- Morris JC, Storandt M, Miller JP, McKeel DW, Price JL, Rubin EH, et al. Mild cognitive impairment represents early-stage Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* (2001) 58(3):397–405. doi:10.1001/archneur.58.3.397

- 35. Fleisher AS, Chen K, Liu X, Roontiva A, Thiyyagura P, Ayutyanont N, et al. Using positron emission tomography and florbetapir F18 to image cortical amyloid in patients with mild cognitive impairment or dementia due to Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol (2011) 68(11):1404–11. doi:10.1001/ archneurol.2011.150
- Chen J-R, Wang T-J, Huang H-Y, Chen L-J, Huang Y-S, Wang Y-J, et al. Fatigue reversibly reduced cortical and hippocampal dendritic spines concurrent with compromise of motor endurance and spatial memory. *Neuroscience* (2009) 161(4):1104–13. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.04.022
- McDermott CM, LaHoste GJ, Chen C, Musto A, Bazan NG, Magee JC. Sleep deprivation causes behavioral, synaptic, and membrane excitability alterations in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci (2003) 23(29):9687–95.
- Kang J-E, Lim MM, Bateman RJ, Lee JJ, Smyth LP, Cirrito JR, et al. Amyloidbeta dynamics are regulated by orexin and the sleep-wake cycle. *Science* (2009) 326(5955):1005–7. doi:10.1126/science.1180962
- Sprecher KE, Bendlin BB, Racine AM, Okonkwo OC, Christian BT, Koscik RL, et al. Amyloid burden is associated with self-reported sleep in nondemented late middle-aged adults. *Neurobiol Aging* (2015) 36(9):2568–76. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2015.05.004
- Brown BM, Rainey-Smith SR, Villemagne VL, Weinborn M, Bucks RS, Sohrabi HR, et al. The Relationship between Sleep Quality and Brain Amyloid Burden. Sleep (2016) 39(5):1063–8. doi:10.5665/sleep.5756
- 41. Vestergaard S, Nayfield SG, Patel KV, Eldadah B, Cesari M, Ferrucci L, et al. Fatigue in a representative population of older persons and its association with functional impairment, functional limitation, and disability. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2009) 64(1):76–82. doi:10.1093/gerona/gln017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Hooper, De Souto Barreto, Coley, Cesari, Payoux, Salabert, Andrieu and Vellas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Motoric Cognitive Risk Syndrome: Predictor of Dementia and Age-Related Negative Outcomes

Jagadish K. Chhetri^{1*}, Piu Chan², Bruno Vellas^{1,3} and Matteo Cesari^{1,3}

¹ Gérontopôle, Department of Geriatrics, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, ² Department of Neurobiology, Geriatrics, and Neurology, Beijing Institute of Geriatrics, Xuanwu Hospital of Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ³INSERM UMR 1027, University of Toulouse III Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France

Cognitive disorders represent a leading cause of disability in the aging population, of which dementia has the highest global burden. Early signs of dementia such as slow gait and memory complaints are known to present well before the overt manifestation of the disease. Motoric cognitive risk (MCR) syndrome characterized by the simultaneous presence of gait disturbances and memory complaints in older subjects has been proposed to study the close interactions between the physical and cognitive domains as well as a possible approach to identify individuals at increased risk of dementia. In addition, studies have shown MCR as a predictor of other negative outcomes in older adults, including disability, falls and death. However, the concept of MCR is still in its early stage and approach to the syndrome is still not well established. This review aims to put together the various aspects of MCR syndrome including its pathophysiology, diagnosis, epidemiology, and relationship with other geriatric conditions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Emanuele Marzetti. Fondazione Policlinico Universitario Agostino Gemelli, Italv

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Pasqualetti, University of Pisa, Italy Angelo Carfi, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Italy

*Correspondence:

Jagadish K. Chhetri chhetri jk@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 23 August 2017 Accepted: 20 September 2017 Published: 25 October 2017

Citation:

Chhetri JK, Chan P, Vellas B and Cesari M (2017) Motoric Cognitive Risk Syndrome: Predictor of Dementia and Age-Related Negative Outcomes. Front. Med. 4:166. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00166

Keywords: dementia, motoric cognitive risk, gait, cognition, subjective memory complaint, geriatric disorders

INTRODUCTION

Older adults are known to have decreased functional capacity (e.g., sensory, cognitive, physical), which makes them vulnerable to adverse events such as disability, dependency, falls, or even death (1-5). Poor mobility of lower limbs with aging is one of the most commonly presented form of physical limitation in older individuals (6). Several studies have shown gait speed to predict major health-related events in older adults (6-8). Similarly, decline in memory is another common form of cognitive limitation associated with increase in age, which might potentially progress to dementia (9, 10). Furthermore, evidences from past studies have shown coexistence of cognitive decline and gait abnormality (that might be of musculoskeletal or neuro-sensory-motor etiology) to be a common condition in older adults (3, 11, 12). Besides, these functional limitations are known to be the major causes of disability and dependency in older adults (7, 11, 13, 14).

Growing body of evidence suggests that simultaneous presence of cognitive complaints with reduced gait speed may indicate early signs of dementia (presenting decades before actual presentation of cognitive impairment) (15-20). Unfortunately, very little is known about how the actual interaction between the cognitive and physical domain (such as which domain triggers the other, or time-point of initiation) occurs with the phenomenon of aging. Intuitively, an entity that captures both physical and cognitive functional status of an aging individual could reflect a more implicit functional status of the individual. Moreover, such entity would aid researchers to better understand the interaction between cognition and physical domains in aging individuals who are at high-risk of dementia and other geriatric disorders.
In this review, we discuss on a novel concept described as motoric cognitive risk (MCR) syndrome that captures the state of concomitant presence of gait disturbances and cognitive decline in older adults (20). Studies have shown MCR to be an effective tool in predicting various geriatric conditions such as dementia (19), falls (21), disability (22), and mortality (1).

GAIT AND COGNITION IN OLDER ADULTS

Gait: Walking is a very common activity of daily living, which at a glance appears to be an entirely unsophisticated automated motor task. However, maintaining of normal gait is a much complex process requiring intact multisystem (nervous, sensory, musculoskeletal, cardiorespiratory) function and coordination (3, 16, 17). With increase in age, the parameters of gait (velocity, stride length, swing time) are affected as a result of disturbances in either of the musculoskeletal functions, locomotor function, balance, postural reflexes, sensory function and sensorimotor integration, and cardiorespiratory functions (23), resulting abnormal gait.

At present, gait speed or gait velocity has increasingly been implemented in clinical settings to evaluate functional status in older subjects and even to predict adverse events (1, 18, 21, 22, 24). In addition, slow gait speed is thought to be a sensitive marker of cognitive decline with aging (18, 25-28). However, the methods and cut-off values for assessment of gait in older subjects is known to vary widely. Moreover, every cut-point might be arbitrary because the relationship between gait speed and risk of negative outcomes follows a linear trend. Nevertheless, gait speed less than 0.8 m/s over a 4-m track is one of the most commonly used cut-points to assess gait speed in older subjects (29). The cut-point has been suggested to predict adverse events in older adults by the International Academy on Nutrition and Aging task force (29) and recommended for further clinical investigation by the European consensus on sarcopenia (30). On the other hand, the concept of "dis-mobility" describes a much slower gait speed of less than 0.6 m/s to be a relevant cut-point suitable for improving clinical care, research, and regulatory approval of treatments to improve mobility in older adults (31). Gait abnormalities have been identified from early neurological studies and subclassified as unsteady, ataxic, frontal, parkinsonian, neuropathic, hemiparetic, or spastic (23, 32) depending upon the nature of the disturbances that should be properly identified by physicians while assessing older adults.

Cognition: Cognition relates to the functioning processes of the brain, which tends to change with age (33). Cognitive functions such as attention, intelligence, memory, processing speed, and executive function are known to decline with increase in age with varying degree between individuals (34), which could affect the overall functioning of an individual including gait. This alteration in cognition with aging has been associated primarily with decline in brain gray and white matter volume (35), brain hippocampus volume (36), and deposition of protein beta-amyloid in brain [a primary marker of Alzheimer's disease (AD)] (37). Factors such as cardiovascular diseases (and associated risk factors), genetics, low level of education and depression have been identified as major contributing factors for cognitive

decline (38), which could simultaneously influence the overall physical functioning. Assessment scales such as clinical dementia rating (CDR) (39), Mini-Mental State Examination (40), and other forms of dementia screening questionnaire have been widely used to assess overall cognitive status of older adults.

Link between Gait and Cognition

As discussed before, gait is a sequel of multifactorial and multisystem coordination, but primarily the result of neuromuscular interaction capacity of an individual. Anatomically speaking, brain frontal subcortical circuits predominantly mediate gait (41). Executive function (3, 42) and attention (42-44) have been suggested to be the primary cognitive processes associated. However, the frontal lobe itself is vulnerable to age-related changes (42), which could alter gait speed and cognition in older adults. In addition, declination or improvement in executive function and attention over time was found to effect gait progression (speed) in older adults (17, 27, 42). Increased brain subcortical white matter hyper-intensities (leukoaraiosis) (45) and decrease in cerebellar gray matter volume (46) and hippocampal volumes (47) were found to be associated with reduced gait speed. This overlap between the brain areas controlling gait and cognition explains the relationship between slow gait and dementia pathologies. Furthermore, a dual-task methodology termed as "walking while talking" was developed for making the gait speed assessment more challenging and included the evaluation of cognition (48-50). The participant's change in motor performance during dual-task was observed suggesting requirement of additional cognitive resources to maintain multisystem coordination, which might be difficult to achieve for older individuals with cognitive limitation, leading to detrimental effects such as falls. Besides, a recent meta-analysis has shown evidences of brain structure to be associated with muscle structure and function (51), showing the consequential association between these domains, which could alter gait function.

Factors Associated

Physical limitations and cognitive decline have been suggested to present bidirectional relationship (3, 17, 52). These conditions most likely share the common risk factors and pathways such as chronic inflammation, hormonal pathways, lifestyle factors, and even genetic pathway (11, 53–57).

Low-grade chronic inflammation or "inflamm-aging" might be the primary biological pathway shared by gait and cognition in older individuals (58–62). Atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory condition in older adults is known to promote cardiovascular dysfunction that could increase functional loss (both cognitive and physical) in aged individuals (61, 63, 64). Furthermore, chronic inflammation is found to directly impact the central nervous system (e.g., neurofibrillary tangles, amyloid plaques) of older adults (65–67) and promote cardiovascular risk factors (59, 61, 68, 69). Increased serum C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and plasma tumor necrosis factor- α are the inflammatory markers associated with decrease in total brain volume (58, 65, 70, 71) that could affect cognition and gait simultaneously.

Cardiovascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia) are known to enhance incidences of cerebral

ischemia affecting the periventricular white matter (64, 72, 73). As explained before, brain white matter plays an important role in the control of gait and cognitive processing and responsible for executive function (45, 64, 73). Similarly, other conditions such as neurodegeneration (e.g., in Parkinson's disease) in older adults is well known to impact both cognition and motoric functions (74).

Needless to elaborate, nutritional factor is a key component to influence physical function in humans. Besides, abundant studies have shown that the deficiency of nutritional factors may affect both cognition and physical functions in older adults (53, 54, 75, 76). Similarly, physical exercise is another factor that is well known to influence both cognition and physical limitations in older adults (77–80). Functional decline in older adults is also known to be influenced by hormonal alteration (such as downregulation of insulin-like growth factor) with aging (81) and genetic factors such as apolipoprotein-E4 (APOE-4 genotype) (55, 56).

MCR SYNDROME

Motoric cognitive risk syndrome is defined as a condition characterized by slowness of gait in the presence of subjective cognitive complaint in older adults without any form of dementia or mobility disability (1, 18–22). The theory that slowness of gait coexisting with cognitive decline might be an early sign of dementia, which has been used in this novel entity, potentially resembling a pre-dementia syndrome (18, 19, 22) (**Figure 1**).

The following four criteria have been proposed to be met for the diagnosis of MCR (although the use of scales was not uniform in prior studies—**Table 1**) (1, 18–22): (1) presence of subjective cognitive complaints, assessed using standardized questionnaire (e.g., CDR, GDS, or AD screening questionnaire), (2) presence of slow gait: defined as velocity one SD or more below age- and sex-appropriate mean values, (3) preserved mobility, and (4) absence of dementia.



Study	Setting	z	Age		Asses	Assessment of diagnostic criteria	
				Cognitive complaints	Slow gait	Preserved mobility	Absence of dementia
Verghese et al. (19)	S	997	≥70 years	CERAD questionnaire	Instrumented walkway (GAITRite)	Preserved ADL assessed by a scale developed for assessing function in community-residing older adults (82) + clinician's interviews	NI-WSD
Verghese et al. (83)	MC	26,802	≥60 years	Self-report cognitive questionnaire, GDS*, GDS and AD8, IADL	Instrumented walkway (GAITRite)/ timed walk (over 4, 6, 8, 9, 10 feet)	Exclusion of mobility disability (nability to ambulate with or without assistive devices)	Olinical diagnosis/DSM-IV and III R
Verghese et al. (84)	MC	3,128	≥60 years	Self-report	Instrumented walkway (GAITRite)/ timed walk	Exclusion of mobility disability (inability to ambulate with or without assistive devices)	BIMC, MMSE
Allali et al. (85)	S	314	≥65 years	CDR/GDS*/AD8	Instrumented walkway (GAITRite)	Preserved ADL (82)	Olinical and neuropsychological information
Doi et al. (86)	CS	9,683	≥65 years	GDS*	Timed walk (over 6.4 m)	Independent in basic ADL	MMSE
Slow gait = one SD or more below age- and sex-appropriate mean values established in the same cohort. CS, community setting, MC, multiple cohorts, N, number of subjects, CERAD, Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease questionnaire; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; GDS, "Do you feel you have more problen with memory than most?" A positive response ("yes") on the question was used to define subjective memory complaints; DSM-fill/IV R), Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (revised third or fourth edition criteria).	more below a MC, multiple t?" A positive	ge- and si cohorts; i response	ex-appropriate N, number of s ("yes") on the u	Slow gait = one SD or more below age- and sex-appropriate mean values established in the same cohort. CS. community setting: MC, multiple cohorts: N, number of subjects; CERAD, Consortium to Establish a F with memory than most?" A positive response ("yes") on the question was used to define subjective memo	s same cohort. 5 Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Dises bjective memory complaints; DSM-III/IV R	Siow gait = one SD or more below age- and sex-appropriate mean values established in the same cohort. Siow gait = one SD or more below age- and sex-appropriate mean values established in the same cohort. CS, community setting; MC, multiple cohorts; N, number of subjects; CERAD, Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease questionnaire; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; GDS, "Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most?" A positive response ("yes") on the question was used to define subjective memory complaints; DSM-fII/IV R), Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (revised third or fourth edition criteria);	el you have more problems or fourth edition criteria);

Motoric cognitive risk was found to have a prevalence ranging from 2 to 18% (83, 84, 86, 87). A multi-country (17 countries worldwide) study showed an overall pooled prevalence of almost 10% (83). These studies have shown MCR to have a higher prevalence and incidence in older age irrespective of gender. Based on the current availability of data, cross country comparison lowest prevalence of 2% was found in the United Kingdom and Australian cohort, and higher prevalence of 15% in Indian cohort and the highest prevalence of 16–18% was found in French population (83, 84, 86, 87). Factors such as stroke, diabetes, obesity, depression, and seden-

MCR Syndrome

Factors such as stroke, diabetes, obesity, depression, and sedentariness have been found to be associated with high risk of MCR in older adults (85, 86). Additional studies in much diverse sociodemographic settings are required for confirming the global burden of the condition and accordingly identify the associated risk factors.

MCR Syndrome As a Predictor Of Dementia

Relevant links between cognition and gait have been established earlier. Older adults with cognitive impairment are known to have slower pace (26). Verghese and colleagues in the early 2000 implicated that presence of neurological gait in older adults could predict the risk of dementia (18). However, predictive capacity of MCR with regards to subtypes of dementia was found to be different according to study cohort. In the Einstein Aging Study, MCR was found to be highly prevalent with age and was a strong predictor of vascular dementia (VaD) (19). Older subjects with MCR were found to be at more than 3-folds risk [hazard ratio (HR) = 3.27] of future dementia (except AD) and particularly over 12-folds risk (HR = 12.81) of VaD. However, slow gait was the only gait parameter used which might have decreased the predictive validity of MCR.

In another multi-country study, MCR predicted dementia in multiple cohorts as well as pooled sample, with risks ranging from 1.79- to 2.10-folds (83). Interestingly, MCR was found to be associated with increased risk of AD in two cohorts of the study with 2.21- and 1.97-folds risk, while very few cases of VaD dementia were present in the cohort. However, the cohorts were limited to only 17 countries; therefore, the predictive strength cannot represent for all at-risk subjects [as the primary criteria of MCR cognitive complaint and slow gait can vary demographically (88)], and not to forget the major risk factors that have varied demographic distribution. Additionally, information on APOE-4 genotype [that is known to impact progression of dementia (55)] was not included on this multi-country study, which could have further strengthened the validity of MCR dementia predictive capacity.

Interestingly, a retrospective study in Japanese older population has further elaborated the relation between MCR and dementia (89). The authors have reported the rate of conversion to dementia was 119.8/1,000 persons per year in MCR population, while the non-MCR group was 102.5/1,000 persons per year (OR = 1.38). Slow gait and low scores in executive function tests were found to be predictive of higher rate of conversion to dementia.

Falls

A very high frequency of falls (32–42% per year) in older people over 70 years has been estimated (90), which could result in many detrimental effects including disability or death (91, 92).

Chhetri et al.

As discussed earlier, maintaining a normal well-balanced gait requires an efficient integration of motoric, cognitive, and psychological function (3, 5, 16, 17) and the inability to maintain a normal gait could result in falls. Impairment in cognitive domains such as executive function, attention, processing speed, and memory is known to increase the risks of falls. However, agerelated loss in white matter integrity is thought to be one of the key mechanisms affecting the cognitive domain responsible (57, 93). Thus, from our explanations earlier, we could expect MCR to be a sensitive predictor of falls in older adults.

A study by Callisaya and colleagues with a combined five large cohorts across three countries found subjects with MCR to be at 44% at high risk of falls in pooled analysis (21). The study showed that slow gait [risk ratio (RR) = 1.30] and memory complaints (RR = 1.25) were also individually associated with increased risk of falls. Whereas, exclusion of MCR case in the study showed a slight decreased association of slow gait (RR = 1.25) and memory complaints (RR = 1.17) with falls. Even after adjustments for previous falls, MCR was significantly associated with falls (RR = 1.29) and multiple falls (RR = 1.37) in pooled analysis. No doubt, the results from the study show MCR to be an effective risk screening tool for falls, as the associations observed were relatively stronger. However, due to different criteria/procedures used for diagnosis of MCR and falls, heterogeneity was present in the pooled analysis.

Disability

Very few studies discussing the associations of MCR and disability are available. However, it can be expected that older individuals with coexisting memory decline and physical limitation are likely to be disabled (or lose independency) if not provided with proper medical attention at an early phase. A very recent study involving 4,235 Japanese older adults (mean age of 72 years) has suggested MCR to be able to predict risk for disability (HR = 1.69) (22). The diagnostic criterion for disability was here regarded as certification by long-term care insurance. Nevertheless, the study has provided some perspectives for future studies, which could implement a more clinical diagnostic method for disability. The findings from this study have verified that individuals with slow gait and cognitive impairment are at high risk of disability, and more studies are demanded to confirm the findings.

Death

As discussed earlier, maintaining intact gait is a complex process requiring multisystem/multifunction coordination, therefore could represent a person's holistic level of healthiness. Studies have shown gait speed to be a very strong predictor of survival (8) and cognitive impairment is also known to predict mortality (94). MCR involves both cognition and gait, has a high prevalence (83, 84, 86, 87), is known to predict falls (21), dementia (18, 19, 22), and therefore could be a more sensitive predictor of death.

A study by Ayers and Verghese (1) including 11,867 participants from three different cohorts found MCR at baseline was associated with increased overall mortality (HR = 1.69) and increased risk of death even after adjustments for gait and memory test scores (HR = 1.19). The results from the study showed MCR to be a predictor of 2 years mortality, but MCR death predictive capacity in dementia subjects was found to be insignificant. However, it should be noted that the included cohorts of the study were from Europe and United states; therefore, results from the study cannot be interpreted as the global mortality predictive capacity of MCR. Moreover, the study population were community dwelling older adults, who tend to be in better shape compared to the institutionalized. As the study was a population-based study cases of diagnosed dementia could have been underreported, which could have underestimated the prediction of mortality in diagnosed dementia subjects.

THE PARADOX OF MCR SYNDROME

An existing paradox of the MCR is whether to consider it as a condition to treat or a mere matter for research purposes? As discussed above, MCR was found to predict wide spectrum of abnormalities in older adults (1, 19, 21, 22) and has a high prevalence ranging up to 18% (83, 84, 86, 87). For these reasons, attention on further approach of this novel syndrome is necessary. Although past studies have stressed on the versatility of diagnosing MCR (20), the clinical approach of the syndrome is vague. In the clinical scenario, we could only attempt to investigate the underlying pathologies of the condition and treat them in traditional manner (that requires various medical tests, despite of considering MCR easy to diagnose), which might require more resources and perhaps even create additional confusion in clinicians. On the other hand, if we consider it as screening tool to identify the at-risk population for the abnormalities it can predict, various effective tools for the purpose already exist (with prior extensive studies involving different sociodemographic population settings). In this context, MCR might be more suitable as a research entity to exclusively investigate the interactions between the physical and cognitive domains (which is not well understood yet) in older population with high risk of conditions that can be predicted by it. Furthermore, these understandings could enable us to design preventive strategies to ameliorate many geriatric conditions including dementia.

CONCLUSION

In summary, with population aging, the burden of cognitive disorders such as dementia is still escalating. Frequent coexistence of physical limitation and cognitive decline occur in aging individuals, leading to many detrimental effects. MCR includes the evaluation of potential precursors of physical limitation (i.e., gait speed) and cognitive decline (i.e., subjective memory complaints) in order to predict multiple age-related conditions including dementia. Future perspective of MCR might be as a research tool to particularly investigate the relationship between physical and cognitive domain in older adults, further elucidate our understanding of the interaction between these two domains. Results from such studies could facilitate in designing more effective preventive intervention strategies against dementia and other age-related negative outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC: manuscript preparation and drafting; all authors: conception and design, critical revision, and approvement for final version.

REFERENCES

- Ayers E, Verghese J. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and risk of mortality in older adults. *Alzheimers Dement* (2016) 12:556–64. doi:10.1016/j. jalz.2015.08.167
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet Lond Engl (2013) 381:752–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12) 62167-9
- Cohen JA, Verghese J, Zwerling JL. Cognition and gait in older people. Maturitas (2016) 93:73–7. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.05.005
- Rantanen T. Muscle strength, disability and mortality. Scand J Med Sci Sports (2003) 13:3–8. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0838.2003.00298.x
- Rosso AL, Studenski SA, Chen WG, Aizenstein HJ, Alexander NB, Bennett DA, et al. Aging, the central nervous system, and mobility. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:1379–86. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt089
- Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, Salive ME, Wallace RB. Lowerextremity function in persons over the age of 70 years as a predictor of subsequent disability. N Engl J Med (1995) 332:556–61. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199503023320902
- Perera S, Patel KV, Rosano C, Rubin SM, Satterfield S, Harris T, et al. Gait speed predicts incident disability: a pooled analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2016) 71:63–71. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv126
- Studenski S, Perera S, Patel K, Rosano C, Faulkner K, Inzitari M, et al. Gait speed and survival in older adults. *JAMA* (2011) 305:50–8. doi:10.1001/ jama.2010.1923
- Jonker C, Geerlings MI, Schmand B. Are memory complaints predictive for dementia? A review of clinical and population-based studies. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2000) 15:983–91. doi:10.1002/1099-1166(200011) 15:11<983::AID-GPS238>3.0.CO;2-5
- Reid LM, Maclullich AMJ. Subjective memory complaints and cognitive impairment in older people. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2006) 22:471–85. doi:10.1159/000096295
- Boyle PA, Buchman AS, Wilson RS, Leurgans SE, Bennett DA. Physical frailty is associated with incident mild cognitive impairment in community-based older persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2010) 58:248–55. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02671.x
- Robertson DA, Savva GM, Kenny RA. Frailty and cognitive impairment

 a review of the evidence and causal mechanisms. *Ageing Res Rev* (2013) 12:840–51. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2013.06.004
- Lindbergh CA, Dishman RK, Miller LS. Functional disability in mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2016) 26:129–59. doi:10.1007/s11065-016-9321-5
- Artero S, Touchon J, Ritchie K. Disability and mild cognitive impairment: a longitudinal population-based study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2001) 16:1092–7. doi:10.1002/gps.477
- Prince M, Bryce R, Ferri C. World Alzheimer Report 2011: The Benefits of Early Diagnosis and Intervention. Alzheimer's Disease International (2011). Available from: https://www.alz.co.uk/research/world-report-2011
- de Borges SM, Radanovic M, Forlenza OV. Correlation between functional mobility and cognitive performance in older adults with cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn* (2016):1–10. doi:10. 1080/13825585.2016.1258035
- Martin KL, Blizzard L, Wood AG, Srikanth V, Thomson R, Sanders LM, et al. Cognitive function, gait, and gait variability in older people: a population-based study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:726–32. doi:10.1093/ gerona/gls224
- Verghese J, Lipton RB, Hall CB, Kuslansky G, Katz MJ, Buschke H. Abnormality of gait as a predictor of non-Alzheimer's dementia. N Engl J Med (2002) 347:1761–8. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020441
- Verghese J, Wang C, Lipton RB, Holtzer R. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and the risk of dementia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:412–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls191
- Ayers E, Verghese J. Diagnosing motoric cognitive risk syndrome to predict progression to dementia. *Neurodegener Dis Manag* (2014) 4:339–42. doi:10.2217/nmt.14.39
- Callisaya ML, Ayers E, Barzilai N, Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Lipton RB, et al. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome and falls risk: a multi-center study. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2016) 53:1043–52. doi:10.3233/JAD-160230

- Doi T, Shimada H, Makizako H, Tsutsumimoto K, Verghese J, Suzuki T. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome: association with incident dementia and disability. J Alzheimers Dis (2017) 59:77–84. doi:10.3233/JAD-170195
- Pirker W, Katzenschlager R. Gait disorders in adults and the elderly: a clinical guide. Wien Klin Wochenschr (2017) 129:81–95. doi:10.1007/ s00508-016-1096-4
- Toba K. [The guideline for comprehensive geriatric assessment]. Nihon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi Jpn J Geriatr (2005) 42:177–80. doi:10.3143/geriatrics.42.177
- Dumurgier J, Artaud F, Touraine C, Rouaud O, Tavernier B, Dufouil C, et al. Gait speed and decline in gait speed as predictors of incident dementia. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2017) 72:655–61. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw110
- 26. Hooghiemstra AM, Ramakers IHGB, Sistermans N, Pijnenburg YAL, Aalten P, Hamel REG, et al. Gait speed and grip strength reflect cognitive impairment and are modestly related to incident cognitive decline in memory clinic patients with subjective cognitive decline and mild cognitive impairment: findings from the 4c study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2017) 72:846–54. doi:10.1093/gerona/glx003
- Callisaya ML, Blizzard CL, Wood AG, Thrift AG, Wardill T, Srikanth VK. Longitudinal relationships between cognitive decline and gait slowing: the tasmanian study of cognition and gait. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2015) 70:1226–32. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv066
- Mielke MM, Roberts RO, Savica R, Cha R, Drubach DI, Christianson T, et al. Assessing the temporal relationship between cognition and gait: slow gait predicts cognitive decline in the Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:929–37. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls256
- 29. Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Beauchet O, Bonnefoy M, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *J Nutr Health Aging* (2009) 13:881–9. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age Ageing* (2010) 39:412–23. doi:10.1093/ageing/afq034
- Cummings SR, Studenski S, Ferrucci L. A diagnosis of dismobility giving mobility clinical visibility: a Mobility Working Group recommendation. *JAMA* (2014) 311:2061–2. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.3033
- Sudarsky L. Geriatrics: gait disorders in the elderly. N Engl J Med (1990) 322:1441–6. doi:10.1056/NEJM199005173222007
- Salthouse T. Consequences of age-related cognitive declines. Annu Rev Psychol (2012) 63:201–26. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100328
- Wisdom NM, Mignogna J, Collins RL. Variability in Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-IV subtest performance across age. Arch Clin Neuropsychol (2012) 27:389–97. doi:10.1093/arclin/acs041
- Salat DH, Kaye JA, Janowsky JS. Prefrontal gray and white matter volumes in healthy aging and Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* (1999) 56:338–44. doi:10.1001/archneur.56.3.338
- Raz N, Rodrigue KM, Head D, Kennedy KM, Acker JD. Differential aging of the medial temporal lobe: a study of a five-year change. *Neurology* (2004) 62:433–8. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000106466.09835.46
- Rodrigue KM, Kennedy KM, Park DC. Beta-amyloid deposition and the aging brain. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2009) 19:436–50. doi:10.1007/s11065-009-9118-x
- Baumgart M, Snyder HM, Carrillo MC, Fazio S, Kim H, Johns H. Summary of the evidence on modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia: a population-based perspective. *Alzheimers Dement J* (2015) 11:718–26. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2015.05.016
- Hughes CP, Berg L, Danziger WL, Coben LA, Martin RL. A new clinical scale for the staging of dementia. *Br J Psychiatry* (1982) 140:566–72. doi:10.1192/ bjp.140.6.566
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res (1975) 12:189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Holtzer R, Verghese J, Xue X, Lipton RB. Cognitive processes related to gait velocity: results from the Einstein Aging Study. *Neuropsychology* (2006) 20:215–23. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.20.2.215
- Yogev-Seligmann G, Hausdorff JM, Giladi N. The role of executive function and attention in gait. *Mov Disord* (2008) 23:329–42; quiz 472. doi:10.1002/ mds.21720

- Parihar R, Mahoney JR, Verghese J. Relationship of gait and cognition in the elderly. *Curr Transl Geriatr Exp Gerontol Rep* (2013) 2. doi:10.1007/ s13670-013-0052-7
- Chen HC, Schultz AB, Ashton-Miller JA, Giordani B, Alexander NB, Guire KE. Stepping over obstacles: dividing attention impairs performance of old more than young adults. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (1996) 51:M116–22. doi:10.1093/gerona/51A.3.M116
- Smith EE, O'Donnell M, Dagenais G, Lear SA, Wielgosz A, Sharma M, et al. Early cerebral small vessel disease and brain volume, cognition, and gait. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 77:251–61. doi:10.1002/ana.24320
- 46. Nadkarni NK, Nunley KA, Aizenstein H, Harris TB, Yaffe K, Satterfield S, et al. Association between cerebellar gray matter volumes, gait speed, and information-processing ability in older adults enrolled in the Health ABC study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2014) 69:996–1003. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt151
- Ezzati A, Katz MJ, Lipton ML, Lipton RB, Verghese J. The association of brain structure with gait velocity in older adults: a quantitative volumetric analysis of brain MRI. *Neuroradiology* (2015) 57:851–61. doi:10.1007/s00234-015-1536-2
- Beurskens R, Bock O. Age-related deficits of dual-task walking: a review. Neural Plast (2012) 2012:131608. doi:10.1155/2012/131608
- Holtzer R, Mahoney JR, Izzetoglu M, Izzetoglu K, Onaral B, Verghese J. fNIRS study of walking and walking while talking in young and old individuals. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2011) 66:879–87. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr068
- Camicioli R, Howieson D, Lehman S, Kaye J. Talking while walking: the effect of a dual task in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* (1997) 48:955–8. doi:10.1212/WNL.48.4.955
- Kilgour AHM, Todd OM, Starr JM. A systematic review of the evidence that brain structure is related to muscle structure and their relationship to brain and muscle function in humans over the lifecourse. *BMC Geriatr* (2014) 14:85. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-85
- Morley JE, Morris JC, Berg-Weger M, Borson S, Carpenter BD, Del Campo N, et al. Brain health: the importance of recognizing cognitive impairment: an IAGG consensus conference. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2015) 16:731–9. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.06.017
- Atkinson HH, Rosano C, Simonsick EM, Williamson JD, Davis C, Ambrosius WT, et al. Cognitive function, gait speed decline, and comorbidities: the health, aging and body composition study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2007) 62:844–50. doi:10.1093/gerona/62.8.844
- Vandewoude M, Barberger-Gateau P, Cederholm T, Mecocci P, Salvà A, Sergi G, et al. Healthy brain ageing and cognition: nutritional factors. *Eur Geriatr Med* (2016) 7:77–85. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2015.12.005
- El Haj M, Antoine P, Amouyel P, Lambert J-C, Pasquier F, Kapogiannis D. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) ε4 and episodic memory decline in Alzheimer's disease: a review. Ageing Res Rev (2016) 27:15–22. doi:10.1016/j.arr. 2016.02.002
- Doi T, Shimada H, Makizako H, Tsutsumimoto K, Uemura K, Suzuki T. Apolipoprotein E genotype and physical function among older people with mild cognitive impairment. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2015) 15:422–7. doi:10.1111/ ggi.12291
- Liu Y, Chan JSY, Yan JH. Neuropsychological mechanisms of falls in older adults. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2014) 6:64. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00064
- Bruunsgaard H, Pedersen M, Pedersen BK. Aging and proinflammatory cytokines. *Curr Opin Hematol* (2001) 8:131–6. doi:10.1097/ 00062752-200105000-00001
- Franceschi C, Garagnani P, Vitale G, Capri M, Salvioli S. Inflammaging and "Garb-aging". *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28:199–212. doi:10.1016/j. tem.2016.09.005
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann NY Acad Sci* (2000) 908:244–54. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Theuma P, Fonseca VA. Inflammation and emerging risk factors in diabetes mellitus and atherosclerosis. *Curr Diab Rep* (2003) 3:248–54. doi:10.1007/ s11892-003-0072-3
- Fougère B, Boulanger E, Nourhashémi F, Guyonnet S, Cesari M. Chronic inflammation: accelerator of biological aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2017) 72:1218–25. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw240
- Taleb S. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. Arch Cardiovasc Dis (2016) 109:708–15. doi:10.1016/j.acvd.2016.04.002
- 64. Santos CY, Snyder PJ, Wu W-C, Zhang M, Echeverria A, Alber J. Pathophysiologic relationship between Alzheimer's disease, cerebrovascular

disease, and cardiovascular risk: a review and synthesis. *Alzheimers Dement* (2017) 7:69–87. doi:10.1016/j.dadm.2017.01.005

- Zhang F, Jiang L. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat (2015) 11:243–56. doi:10.2147/NDT.S75546
- Lee J-K, Tran T, Tansey MG. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2009) 4:419–29. doi:10.1007/s11481-009-9176-0
- Koyama A, O'Brien J, Weuve J, Blacker D, Metti AL, Yaffe K. The role of peripheral inflammatory markers in dementia and Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2013) 68:433–40. doi:10.1093/ gerona/gls187
- Lopez-Candales A, Hernández Burgos PM, Hernandez-Suarez DF, Harris D. Linking chronic inflammation with cardiovascular disease: from normal aging to the metabolic syndrome. J Nat Sci (2017) 3(4):e341.
- Oishi Y, Manabe I. Macrophages in age-related chronic inflammatory diseases. NPJ Aging Mech Dis (2016) 2:16018. doi:10.1038/npjamd.2016.18
- Cesari M, Penninx BWJH, Pahor M, Lauretani F, Corsi AM, Rhys Williams G, et al. Inflammatory markers and physical performance in older persons: the InCHIANTI study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2004) 59:242–8. doi:10.1093/ gerona/59.3.M242
- Verghese J, Holtzer R, Oh-Park M, Derby CA, Lipton RB, Wang C. Inflammatory markers and gait speed decline in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2011) 66:1083–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr099
- Solfrizzi V, Panza F, Colacicco AM, D'Introno A, Capurso C, Torres F, et al. Vascular risk factors, incidence of MCI, and rates of progression to dementia. *Neurology* (2004) 63:1882–91. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000144281.38555.E3
- van Gijn J. Leukoaraiosis and vascular dementia. Neurology (1998) 51:S3–8. doi:10.1212/WNL.51.3_Suppl_3.S3
- Domellöf ME, Elgh E, Forsgren L. The relation between cognition and motor dysfunction in drug-naive newly diagnosed patients with Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2011) 26:2183–9. doi:10.1002/mds.23814
- Vauzour D, Camprubi-Robles M, Miquel-Kergoat S, Andres-Lacueva C, Bánáti D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Nutrition for the ageing brain: towards evidence for an optimal diet. *Ageing Res Rev* (2017) 35:222–40. doi:10.1016/j. arr.2016.09.010
- Dionyssiotis Y, Chhetri JK, Piotrowicz K, Gueye T, Sánchez E. Impact of nutrition for rehabilitation of older patients: report on the 1st EICA-ESPRM-EUGMS train the trainers course. *Eur Geriatr Med* (2017) 8:183–90. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2016.11.011
- Martone AM, Marzetti E, Calvani R, Picca A, Tosato M, Santoro L, et al. Exercise and protein intake: a synergistic approach against sarcopenia. *Biomed Res Int* (2017) 2017:2672435. doi:10.1155/2017/2672435
- Lambert CP, Wright NR, Finck BN, Villareal DT. Exercise but not diet-induced weight loss decreases skeletal muscle inflammatory gene expression in frail obese elderly persons. *J Appl Physiol* (2008) 105:473–8. doi:10.1152/ japplphysiol.00006.2008
- Silva RB, Aldoradin-Cabeza H, Eslick GD, Phu S, Duque G. The effect of physical exercise on frail older persons: a systematic review. *J Frailty Aging* (2017) 6:91–6. doi:10.14283/jfa.2017.7
- Koščak Tivadar B. Physical activity improves cognition: possible explanations. Biogerontology (2017) 18:477–83. doi:10.1007/s10522-017-9708-6
- Wrigley S, Arafa D, Tropea D. Insulin-like growth factor 1: at the crossroads of brain development and aging. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2017) 11:14. doi:10.3389/ fncel.2017.00014
- Gill TM, Allore HG, Holford TR, Guo Z. Hospitalization, restricted activity, and the development of disability among older persons. *JAMA* (2004) 292:2115–24. doi:10.1001/jama.292.17.2115
- Verghese J, Annweiler C, Ayers E, Barzilai N, Beauchet O, Bennett DA, et al. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome: multicountry prevalence and dementia risk. *Neurology* (2014) 83:718–26. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000000717
- Verghese J, Ayers E, Barzilai N, Bennett DA, Buchman AS, Holtzer R, et al. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome: multicenter incidence study. *Neurology* (2014) 83:2278–84. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000001084
- Allali G, Ayers EI, Verghese J. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome subtypes and cognitive profiles. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2016) 71:378–84. doi:10.1093/ gerona/glv092
- Doi T, Verghese J, Shimada H, Makizako H, Tsutsumimoto K, Hotta R, et al. Motoric cognitive risk syndrome: prevalence and risk factors in Japanese seniors. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2015) 16:1103.e21–5. doi:10.1016/j. jamda.2015.09.003

- Sekhon H, Allali G, Launay CP, Chabot J, Beauchet O. The spectrum of pre-dementia stages: cognitive profile of motoric cognitive risk syndrome and relationship with mild cognitive impairment. *Eur J Neurol* (2017) 24:1047–54. doi:10.1111/ene.13331
- Sosa AL, Albanese E, Stephan BCM, Dewey M, Acosta D, Ferri CP, et al. Prevalence, distribution, and impact of mild cognitive impairment in Latin America, China, and India: a 10/66 population-based study. *PLoS Med* (2012) 9:e1001170. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001170
- Kumai K, Meguro K, Kasai M, Nakamura K, Nakatsuka M. Neuroepidemiologic and neurobehavioral characteristics of motoric cognitive risk syndrome in an old-old population: the Kurihara project. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra* (2016) 6:176–82. doi:10.1159/000445539
- Falls_prevention7March.pdf. (2017). Available from: http://www.who.int/ ageing/publications/Falls_prevention7March.pdf
- Gill TM, Murphy TE, Gahbauer EA, Allore HG. Association of injurious falls with disability outcomes and nursing home admissions in community-living older persons. *Am J Epidemiol* (2013) 178:418–25. doi:10.1093/aje/kws554
- Spaniolas K, Cheng JD, Gestring ML, Sangosanya A, Stassen NA, Bankey PE. Ground level falls are associated with significant mortality in elderly patients. *J Trauma* (2010) 69:821–5. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3181efc6c6

- Lord SR, Clark RD, Webster IW. Physiological factors associated with falls in an elderly population. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (1991) 39:1194–200. doi:10.111 1/j.1532-5415.1991.tb03574.x
- 94. Gussekloo J, Westendorp RG, Remarque EJ, Lagaay AM, Heeren TJ, Knook DL. Impact of mild cognitive impairment on survival in very elderly people: cohort study. *BMJ* (1997) 315:1053–4. doi:10.1136/bmj.315. 7115.1053

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AC and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Chhetri, Chan, Vellas and Cesari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Is Delirium the Cognitive Harbinger of Frailty in Older Adults? A Review about the Existing Evidence

Giuseppe Bellelli^{1,2*}, Rosamaria Moresco^{2,3}, Paola Panina-Bordignon⁴, Beatrice Arosio⁵, Cecilia Gelfi⁶, Alessandro Morandi⁷ and Matteo Cesari⁸

¹ Geriatric Unit, San Gerardo Hospital, Monza, Italy, ²School of Medicine and Surgery, University Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy, ³National Research Council (CNR), Nuclear Medicine Department, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ⁴San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ⁵Geriatric Unit, Department of Medical Sciences and Community Health, University of Milano, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda, Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ⁶Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, University of Milano, Segrate, Italy, ⁷Department of Rehabilitation and Aged Care, Casa di Cura "Ancelle della Carità", Fondazione Teresa Camplani, Cremona, Italy, ⁸Geriatric Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca 'Granda, Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Emanuele Marzetti, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario Agostino Gemelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alice Laudisio, Università Campus Bio-Medico, Italy Luis Miguel Gutierrez Robledo, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

> *Correspondence: Giuseppe Bellelli giuseppe.bellelli@unimib.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 17 August 2017 Accepted: 20 October 2017 Published: 08 November 2017

Citation:

Bellelli G, Moresco R, Panina-Bordignon P, Arosio B, Gelfi C, Morandi A and Cesari M (2017) Is Delirium the Cognitive Harbinger of Frailty in Older Adults? A Review about the Existing Evidence. Front. Med. 4:188. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00188 Frailty is a clinical syndrome defined by the age-related depletion of the individual's homeostatic reserves, determining an increased susceptibility to stressors and disproportionate exposure to negative health changes. The physiological systems that are involved in the determination of frailty are mutually interrelated, so that when decline starts in a given system, implications may also regard the other systems. Indeed, it has been shown that the number of abnormal systems is more predictive of frailty than those of the abnormalities in any particular system. Delirium is a transient neurocognitive disorder. characterized by an acute onset and fluctuating course, inattention, cognitive dysfunction, and behavioral abnormalities, that complicates one out of five hospital admissions. Delirium is independently associated with the same negative outcomes of frailty and, like frailty, its pathogenesis is usually multifactorial, depending on complex inter-relationships between predisposing and precipitating factors. By definition, a somatic cause should be identified, or at least suspected, to diagnose delirium. Delirium and frailty potentially share multiple pathophysiologic mechanisms and pathways, meaning that they could be thought of as the two sides to the same coin. This review aims at summarizing the existing evidence, referring both to human and animal models, to postulate that delirium may represent the cognitive harbinger of a state of frailty in older persons experiencing an acute clinical event.

Keywords: frailty, delirium, older adults, review of literature pathophysiology, geriatric syndromes

INTRODUCTION

Although frailty and delirium are intuitively associated, a clear taxonomy of their biological and clinical relationship has not provided yet in geriatric medicine.

For many years, age has been considered as one of the most powerful predictors of mortality and adverse outcomes in older people. However, growing empirical evidence and several scientific publications have clearly shown that "chronological age" is not able *per se* to capture with sufficient accuracy the extreme heterogeneity of the health status in older persons (1, 2). In order to promote a measure more focused on the individual's functions and biology, the concept of frailty has received special attention over the past years. In fact, frailty has been indicated as a condition which may accurately capture the homeostatic reserves of the organism and, as such, improve the assessment of the risk profile. In other words, frailty might represent the new criterion for defining the individual as (biologically) old and replace the obsolete age concept (2). Interestingly, this change of paradigm might also support a more person-tailored approach in the design of clinical interventions.

According to a commonly accepted definition, frailty is defined as a medical syndrome characterized by a decrease of functional reserve capacities, diminished strength, and endurance. The consequence of this increased vulnerability is that a frail person is more prone than a non-frail to develop negative health-related outcomes, including decline in functional and motor performance, prolonged length of hospital stay, institutionalization, rehospitalization, and mortality (2-4). Frailty might thus be considered as the complex biological background on which multiple protective and disruptive factors interact in the determination of the clinical manifestations and negative outcomes (2, 4). From a pathophysiological perspective, it is well accepted that the physiological systems which are involved in the determination of frailty, including brain, endocrine system, immune system, and skeletal muscle, are mutually interrelated, so that when decline starts in a given system, implications may also regard the others. To support this, it has shown that the number of abnormal systems is more predictive of frailty than are the abnormalities in any particular system (4). Recently, to explore the mechanistic relationship between aging, frailty, and mortality, Rutenberg et al. developed a computational model in which possible health attributes are represented by the nodes of a complex network, with the connection showing a scale-free distribution (1). Each node can be either damaged (i.e., a deficit) or undamaged. The most connected nodes are the mortality nodes; the next most connected nodes are frailty nodes that broadly correspond to clinically or biologically significant health characteristics. According to this model, individuals die when mortality nodes are highly damaged. Nodes are damaged randomly reflecting environmental influences, intrinsic features, and their interactions (5). Through interactions, the rate of damage of an individual node increases as more of its connected neighbors are damaged. This model can explain why frail individuals are at higher risk of vulnerability and mortality than robust ones, and facilitates the initial understanding of the factors influencing the health trajectories of older individuals (1).

Delirium is a transient neurocognitive disorder, characterized by an acute onset and fluctuating course, inattention, cognitive dysfunction, and behavioral abnormalities, which develops in association with another underlying medical condition (6). Sometimes, though not invariably, delirium presents with behavioral disturbances, including sleep-wake cycle disruption, psychotic symptoms, and agitation (7). It has been shown that delirium complicates about one out of five hospital admissions (8, 9), representing a clear burden for the patient as well as for public health. Like frailty, delirium is independently associated with a number of negative outcomes, including increased length of hospital stay, elevated healthcare costs, accelerated cognitive impairment, delayed or limited recovery of functional decline, increased risk of institutionalization, and mortality (10–14). In addition, delirium may cause patient and caregiver's emotional distress (15, 16). Although a single factor can cause it (e.g., infections), its pathogenesis is usually multifactorial (10), depending on complex inter-relationships between predisposing and precipitating factors acting on the substratum of biological vulnerability (i.e., frailty). According to this view, delirium can thus be regarded as a clinical consequence of frailty in older persons experiencing stressful events. It is also important to mention that frailty and delirium are expected to rise in their prevalence in the next years, largely due to global aging of the populations worldwide.

In this review, we will summarize the existing evidence on the relationship between the two conditions (i.e., frailty and delirium), referring both to human and animal models.

COMMONALITIES AND DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FRAILTY AND DELIRIUM

Frailty and delirium share several commonalities but also have specific differences (Table 1). Both should be considered as multifactorial health conditions, characterized by multiple risk factors and causation which are not necessarily specific to a given organ system failure. This notion is indirectly confirmed by a growing body of evidence, from cardiology (17, 18) to infectious disease medicine (19, 20), from oncology (21, 22) to anesthesiology (23, 24), that these two conditions have a crucial role in clinical and research areas. Both frailty and delirium share many commonalities. In particular, they are both predictive of several negative health-related outcomes, most of which might be prevented by applying adapted and personalized interventions. A common biological substratum between the two conditions can also be suggested, possibly involving inflammation, endocrine and vascular systems, and oxidative stress (25). However, since both frailty and delirium find their biological roots in the aging process, it might be hypothesized that the same mechanisms responsible for the aging of the individual may become the causes of the conditions of interest when abnormally enhanced/ stimulated by negative (endogenous or exogenous) stressors.

At the same time, frailty and delirium also differ in many aspects. Frailty is the long-term result of a decline in the homeostatic individual's capacity across multiple physiological systems and it is usually considered as the endpoint of the progressive activity of corrosion exerted by chronic diseases during the normal aging process. On the contrary, delirium is an acute condition that occurs in response to a stressor (generally a medical problem) that may have a relatively rapid resolution, though sometimes it can persist weeks or even months. Delirium can be thought as an acute brain failure, reflecting the interaction between a predisposing factor (i.e., brain vulnerability) and one or more precipitating factor (i.e., the noxious insults), in which the brain is not able to compensate. Frailty may thus represent the ideal pabulum for the development of delirium, and delirium, on its side, may represent the clinical manifestation of underlying frailty in a patient suffering from an acute decompensation.

The relationship between frailty and delirium is even more complicated than above depicted. From a clinical perspective,

TABLE 1 | Commonalities and differences between delirium and frailty.

Criteria	Delirium	Frailty
Definition	Neuropsychiatric syndrome characterized by acute and fluctuating deterioration in cognition, which develops in association with underlying medical conditions	Long-term clinical condition characterized by decrease of functional reserves, increasing vulnerability towards endogenous/exogenous stressors
Features	Inattention, thought disorders, impaired arousal, and behavioral abnormalities	Reduced homeostatic reserves due to age-related accumulation of deficits. Major physical features are characterized by malnutrition, abnormal energy expenditure, mobility impairment, and weakness
Prevalence	Delirium occurs in one in five hospitalized patients. Although less frequently, it can also occur in patients at home. Its prevalence is expected to rise in next years, due to the progressive ageing of population	About 10% of older community-dwellers have frailty, rising to between a quarter and a half of those aged over 85 years. The prevalence of frailty is expected to rise in next years, due to the progressive aging of the population
Time course	Acute onset (hours or days) with fluctuation in severity and duration; most cases are transient, resolving after a few days, but some persist for weeks or months	Chronic; in most cases, it is a progressive and irreversible disorder if adequate interventions are not applied
Pathophysiology	Inflamm-aging and immune-senescence are prerequisite for its onset. Hypothesized pathophysiologic mechanisms include inflammation, oxidative stress, neuroendocrine dysfunction, and circadian dysregulation	Inflamm-aging, immune- senescence, and endocrine dysfunction represent the cornerstones for the frailty biology
Impact on cognitive domain	Delirium is a strong predictor of new-onset dementia and acceleration of existing cognitive decline	Frailty, even when considered as a mere physical condition, is capable of substantially affect cognitive function. A bidirectional relationship between frailty and cognitive impairment has been demonstrated
Impact on functional domain	Delirium may affect mobility, especially in patients with increased pre-delirium vulnerability. It can also affect long-term functional performances	After exposure to endogenous/exogenous stressors, frailty may negatively affect the capacity to recover and regain or maintain functional independence

frailty cannot be considered exclusively a pure disorder of function, though the criteria that are currently used for its definition may suggest. Indeed, there is empirical evidence that isolating physical from cognitive performance is really challenging in several cases. Some researchers have even proposed the terms of "cognitive frailty" and "reversible cognitive frailty" to describe heterogeneous cognitive conditions characterized by the simultaneous presence of both physical frailty and cognitive impairment (26). It is noteworthy that these concepts nest the idea of a reversible condition, the characteristic of dynamic mechanisms linking the physical and cognitive domains. The demonstration that cognitive impairment might reverse over time has been provided by a recent systematic review, showing that mild cognitive impairment (MCI) can return to normality with 8% reversion rate in clinical-based studies and 25% rate in population-based studies. The frequency of reversion from MCI to normality further increases to 26% when considering only studies of better quality (27).

Similar to what occurs for frailty, even delirium cannot be regarded only as an isolated mental disorder but there is evidence that it affects motor function as well. A study by Bellelli et al. compared four groups of 15 patients [with delirium alone, with dementia alone, with delirium superimposed on dementia (DSD), and with neither delirium nor dementia], finding that the mechanisms leading to the onset of delirium can also worsen motor performance (11). Other studies indirectly support such hypothesis, showing that delirium can complicate the functional recovery after adverse clinical events (13, 28). The reasons underlying this phenomenon are under study. It is possible that delirium causes motor fluctuations due to the disrupture of key central neurotransmitters (for example, related to attentive and executive functions) leading to an inability in planning and sustaining movement (11). According to Rockwood, it can also be hypothesized that the mobility impairment accompanying delirium is a reflection of the whole-system failure. Indeed, when complex systems collapse, their failure follows a cascade where highest order functions decline first. As such, the mobility impairment occurring in the course of delirium may represent a sign of a complex system close to failure. The more critical the individual's health status is before the delirium onset, the higher will then be the likelihood that delirium will lead to mobility impairment (29).

Under a broad viewpoint, frailty reflects the life-long accumulation of deficits, thus defining the more or less state of vulnerability of the individual. Such (more or less overt) accentuated susceptibility to stressors represents the biological background where delirium might find its onset. In an optimal scenario, frailty should be detected in order to take adequate preventive countermeasures for avoiding the onset of its negative outcomes (including delirium). Nevertheless, delirium might become the condition making clinically evident for the first time a previously unknown/overlooked substratum of frailty.

REVIEW OF STUDIES ON FRAILTY AND DELIRIUM IN HUMANS

To date, only few studies have specifically focused on the relationship between frailty and delirium in older people, and even less have assessed if frailty is a predictor of delirium. In a prospective observational study in 133 elective cardiac surgery patients, frailty was assessed using three different methods, i.e., a Modified Fried Criteria (MFC), the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB), and a 35-itemFrailty Index (FI).

The primary exposure variable was postoperative delirium, assessed using the Confusion Assessment Method (CAM) (30). A proportion of patients ranging from 35.3 to 66.2% were frail, according to the method used to define it, and 18% had postoperative delirium. After adjusting for covariates, the presence of frailty resulted in a threefold to eightfold increase in risk of postoperative delirium, independent of the severity of the cardiac disease. In another study (31), carried out in 89 patients who underwent trans-catheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI), frailty was assessed by clinical judgment and as a summary score from baseline components, including the score assigned for Mini-Mental State Examination; Basic Activities of Daily Living; Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; Mini Nutritional Assessment, and impaired mobility. Delirium was assessed according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV). Again, frailty predicted delirium onset and conferred additional value in the prediction of mortality after TAVI but only when frailty was assessed by subjective clinical judgment. On the contrary, such association was not found when frailty was assessed using the summary score. A third small study of older non-cardiac surgical patients evaluated whether a preoperative frailty score was an independent predictor of postoperative delirium. One-third of patients were frail and 25% developed postoperative delirium. In the multivariable logistic regression, frailty score (odds ratio = 1.84; 95% confidence interval = 1.07-3.1; P = 0.028) was independently associated with the development of postoperative delirium. More recently, in a prospective cohort of older patients admitted to a specialized delirium unit, Chew et al. assessed frailty with a 20-item index derived using items from a comprehensive geriatric assessment and delirium using the CAM (32). The authors also measured the residual subsyndromal delirium (RSSD) before discharge from the unit by using the Delirium Rating Scale-Revised-98 severity score. The functional status was measured the modified Barthel Index on admission and 12 months post-delirium. In a logistic regression model, independent predictors of RSSD were as follows: frailty (OR 4.1, 95% CI 2.1-8.2, P < 0.001), the severity of delirium symptoms on admission (OR 1.2, 95% CI 1.1-1.2), and a preexisting dementia (OR 4.2, 95% CI 2.0-8.6) (32). Interestingly, RSSD significantly mediated the effect of baseline frailty status on functional recovery at 12 months (32).

Other studies have assessed whether the coexistence of frailty and delirium is associated with an increased risk of death (33), or if delirium was associated with higher levels of frailty, in both studies finding that it was the case (34). However, other studies did not find a significant relationship between these two conditions (35–37).

Differences in the methods used to assess frailty and delirium as well as the selected populations and the length of follow-up can explain the heterogeneity in the study results. Taken together, the data from these studies suggest that further research is urgently needed to understand the complex relationship between frailty and delirium.

A further point is whether delirium may predispose itself to frailty. Indeed, several studies have demonstrated that delirium may be a risk factor for not only for dementia or a worsening of a preexisting dementia (14, 38), but also for subsequent functional impairment (12, 13, 39). Patients with persistent delirium are also less likely to regain activity of daily living function in comparison with non-delirious patients (40, 41). Moreover, when delirium is superimposed on dementia (which may represent itself a marker of pre-existing frailty), the risk to die in the middle short term is overall increased (42). It can be therefore hypothesized that the persistent or residual effects of delirium may delay or even hamper cognitive and functional recovery, ultimately resulting in new or increasing frailty and long-term disability and institutionalization (25). Future studies should better clarify this point.

COMMON BIOMARKERS AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS OF FRAILTY AND DELIRIUM

A premise is required before describing the pathophysiological mechanisms proposed for both frailty and delirium. With aging, a number of changes occur in several interrelated physiological systems, one of the most important being the immune system. The changes in the immune system that occurs with aging are termed "immunosenescence" and may be defined as an age-associated decline in immune function that includes increased susceptibility to infections, reduced vaccination responses, and increased risk of chronic inflammatory diseases. Immunosenescence occurs in parallel with inflamm-aging, i.e., the increased presence of a low-grade chronic systemic inflammatory state typical of older age (43, 44). Inflamm-aging is characterized by increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines [e.g., interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), C-reactive protein (CRP)] and reduced concentrations of anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-10, IL-1RA) (43). A variety of tissues (e.g., adipose tissue, muscle), organs (e.g., brain, liver), systems (e.g., immune system), and ecosystems (e.g., gut microbiota) of the body may contribute in a different manner to the onset and progression of inflamm-aging (45). Immunosenescence and inflamm-aging are particularly relevant for the pathophysiology of both delirium and frailty.

The exact pathophysiological mechanisms of delirium are not completely understood. A recent review by Maldonado suggests that at least five mechanisms are involved in delirium pathophysiology, including neuronal aging, neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, neuroendocrine dysregulation, and circadian dysregulation (46). In this review, we will focus exclusively on the three mechanisms which are thought to be more relevant for a common understanding of both delirium and frailty pathophysiology.

The neuroinflammatory hypothesis of delirium proposes that an acute peripheral inflammatory trigger (either infective, surgical, or traumatic) can provoke the activation of brain parenchymal cells, leading to an overexpression of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators in the brain parenchyma, neuronal, and synaptic dysfunction and subsequent cognitive and behavioral symptoms of delirium (47). Importantly, brain is able to constantly monitor the presence of peripheral inflammation and how, upon exposure to specific stimuli, individuals may react to illness with a "sickness behavior," i.e., a constellation of non-specific physiologic and behavioral signs and symptoms, including fever, malaise, fatigue, anorexia, lethargy, social withdrawal, and depressed mood (48, 49). According to the neuroinflammatory hypothesis, delirium may thus represent the CNS manifestation of a systemic disease, with an overproduction of cytokines that provoke a chain reaction in the neuronal cells of the brain (47). The immune signals and cytokines may enter the brain through two pathways (i.e., the neural pathway and the humoral pathway) where they determine the release of other proinflammatory cytokines by macrophage-like cells expressing toll-like receptors. In the neural pathway, the cytokines may activate primary afferent nerves, such as the vagus, and enter the brain through saturable transport system. In the humoral pathway, cytokines enter the brain at the level of the choroid plexus and the circumventricular organs. When enter the brain, cytokines may activate microglial cells. Microglial cells are the resident macrophages of the CNS and represent the 5-10% of all CNS cells. In the healthy brain, these are in a quiescent state, but, when they detect injured CNS cells or invading pathogens, they are able to adopt a specific phenotype with an amoeboid morphology. Phenotype modifications lead to further secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, and the expression of different cell surface receptors. With immunesenescence, microglial cells are characterized by an exaggerated proinflammatory response, acquiring a phenotype of primed less ramification, and reducing their chemotactic, phagocytic, and regulatory functions. A primed microglial phenotype is present also in chronic neurodegenerative processes where microglia cells lost their supportive role in neuroplasticity, thus favoring cognitive decline and synaptic dysfunction (50-53). Several studies, in patients of surgical and medical hospital wards, have shown that delirium is associated with significantly higher circulating levels of these inflammatory markers in comparison with non-delirium (54, 55). Importantly, cytokines can disrupt the neurotransmitter system balance, leading to reduced acetylcholine release (56) and decreased cholinesterase activity (57) and can activate the microglial cells, provoking an inflammatory response which can interfere with the connection and transmission functions of synapses (58, 59).

The oxidative stress hypothesis proposes that a number of physiologic and pathological events, such as tissue damage, hypoxia, illness, and infections, may lead to increased oxygen consumption, decreased oxygen availability, and reduced cerebral oxidative metabolism, which in turn may provoke cerebral dysfunction and associated cognitive and behavioral symptoms of delirium (47). Abnormal oxidative stress has been found in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery and in intensive care unit patients (60, 61). In one of these studies, Seaman has also shown that poor oxygenation is associated with cerebral dysfunction. Among a cohort of 101 patients, the authors assessed three measures of oxygenation (hemoglobin, hematocrit, pulse oximetry) and two measures of oxidative stress (sepsis, pneumonia), finding that indicators of oxidative dysfunction were more common in those who developed more frequently delirium, and this was not linked to illness severity (60). Pericytes may also be a potential target of interest in this framework. The pericytes are specific cells located at the abluminal side of the brain and muscular capillaries, which have the potential to express the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and generate

reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS) (62). These studies suggest that pericytes, under specific circumstances such as an increased inflammatory status, may not only increase the production of iNOS and RONS but also by behaving as immune cells they are able to enhance the inflammatory response (63). Taken together, these data suggest that an increased oxidative stress at vascular level and in the brain parenchyma may predispose and underlie delirium development, with potential interaction between inflammation and oxidative stress.

The neuroendocrine hypothesis proposes that delirium reflects a reaction to acute stress. It is commonly accepted that stress can activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: stressors activate the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus resulting in the release of corticotrophin-releasing hormone, which acts on the pituitary gland, releasing adrenocorticotrophic hormone, which promotes glucorticoid release from the adrenal gland (47). Under normal circumstances, glucorticoids act to help the body in coping with the demands imposed by stress exposure, but there is evidence demonstrating that glucorticoids secreted during stress can have deleterious effects in the brain, inducing delirium and cognitive dysfunction (64, 65). Current evidence also suggests that the highly catabolic glucorticoids induce a general metabolic vulnerability in brain neurons and thus compromise their ability to survive various toxic insults (66), indirectly suggesting that the effect of increased glucorticoid secretion may be not always reversible.

The pathophysiology of frailty is complex too. With aging, the muscle undergoes several changes in its structure and composition, which are in part related to both immunosenescence and inflamm-aging. For example, proteomic studies in senescent mice have reported an increase of iron load and changes in redox homeostasis, associated with a severe loss of muscle function and loss of satellite cell recruitment (67). Importantly, these changes appear to occur in parallel with biochemical, morphological, and functional changes including a decrease of myelinated and unmyelinated fibers, ballooning, splitting, and enfolding of myelinated fibers (68) and decreased axonal neurofilaments (69). Other studies have confirmed that metabolic and structural changes are common between muscle and nerve, suggesting that both tissues may share a common signaling associated with muscle and nerve decline (67, 70). Furthermore, a release of metabolites, amino acids, and a dysregulation of myokine signaling seem to be related to "inflamm-aging" (44) with increased cytokine release.

The imbalance in the cytokine network may influence frailty either directly by promoting protein degradation or indirectly by affecting important metabolic pathways (71). A recent metaanalysis including 32 cross-sectional studies and 23,910 older subjects has shown that frailty and pre-frailty (i.e., a condition which is thought to be intermediate between the normal and the frailty status) are associated with significantly higher than normal serum inflammatory parameters, including CRP, IL-6, white blood cell, and fibrinogen levels (72). In other studies, frailty was associated also with lower serum levels of IL-12 and IL-23, two interleukins that are able to modulate the production of other interleukins (i.e., IL-17 and IL-22) in lymphocytes as well as the rapid recruitment of neutrophils in stressful conditions (73). Importantly, these changes in inflammatory patterns are consistent in frail individuals across various geographical regions and are associated with a decreased muscle strength, resistance to physical exercise and walking distance as determined by the 6-min walking test (74).

Cytokines dysregulation is also related to the lack of response to some hormones and anabolic factors (75), which typically underlie frailty development (75). These hormones include the dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S), testosterone, cortisol, and insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). The DHEA, in particular, plays an important role in the maintenance of muscle mass (76) and both increased cortisol serum levels and an increased cortisol: DHEA-S ratios in the serum are associated with a decline in individual's functional performance (77). Interestingly, the cortisol serum levels are elevated in frail individuals as compared with non-frail individuals, and are associated with both an increased muscle breakdown rate (78) and loss of bone density (79). The same role seems to be exerted by IGF-1 that is related to the maintenance of muscle mass structure and muscle strength by the way to inhibit apoptosis and to lower the oxidative stress in muscle (80).

In addition to the above-depicted mechanisms, it has recently been shown that body composition might play a dual role as source of inflammatory stimulus (through endocrine secretion of pro-inflammatory adipokines) (81) and target of the negative effects (i.e., induction of catabolic, apoptosis, autophagic muscular pathways) (82). This is of particular importance since sarcopenia (i.e., a loss of muscle mass and strength and/or reduced physical performance) is a key component of frailty, if not its central biological substrate (83). In this context, IL-6 was identified as being produced by immune cells as well as by muscle and adipose tissue, as also suggested by the fact that its expression acutely increases during muscle contraction. In addition, IL-6 induces insulin resistance which suppresses activity of various intrinsic and extrinsic modulators of muscle synthesis (84). Another prosarcopenic effect of inflammation is related to the generation of cortisol within tissues. Cortisol is profoundly catabolic and can be synthesized from inactive cortisone by the actions of the enzyme 11 β -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 (11 β -HSD1). The activity of the (11 β -HSD1) increases with age and is induced by cytokines, including TNF- α and IL-6. Interestingly, IL-6 has been indicated as a cytokine for gerontologists due to its contribution in the pathogenesis in multiple age-related conditions (83).

REVIEW OF STUDIES ON FRAILTY AND DELIRIUM IN ANIMALS

Preclinical animal models may be of particular importance for the study of both frailty and delirium, given the absence of neuropathological studies in humans on these two conditions (**Figure 1**).

Animal models for delirium are substantially based on the neuroinflammatory hypothesis of delirium. A recent review by Hoogland et al. discuss the studies with animal experiments related to the effects of systemic inflammation on the microglial and inflammatory response in the brain (85). The authors identified 51 studies of which the majority was performed in mice (n = 30) or in rats (n = 19). Despite heterogeneity in the outcomes measures and in the methods used to assess microglial activation, these studies clearly showed that peripheral inflammatory stimuli can cause microglial activation. The authors also observed distinct differences in microglial activation between systemic stimulation with (supranatural doses) LPS and live or heat-killed bacteria (85). Another systematic review included not



only studies with inflammatory challenge but also studies based on the effect of surgery (86). The effect of acute administration of bacterial endotoxin was reported in 29 comparative studies on normal animals (24 LPS and 5 Escherichia coli bacterial), 3 studies on progeroid model (Ercc1 mutant mouse deficient in DNA repair and the SAMP8 mouse, characterized by overproduction of amyloid precursor protein and oxidative damage), and 14 studies on disease models related with delirium (ME7 prion disease mice, Tg2576, 3_Tg, and APPswe Tg Alzheimer's mice, Parkinson disease, basal forebrain cholinergic lesions) (87-89). Furthermore, the effects of different surgery procedures, such as clamping of the upper mesenteric artery, hepatectomy, laparotomy, splenectomy, and appendectomy, reported in 13 comparative studies were also included (10 in mice; 3 in rats) (90). It was found that, in a comparison of adult with young animals, acute peripheral challenges in old animals induce a highest inflammatory response. In particular, studies found that ageing was associated with (a) higher circulating (IL6, TNF- α , and IL10) and brain (IL1b, IL6, TNF- α) cytokines levels or transcripts, (b) increased activated microglia cells and astrocytes, and (c) sickness behavior and reduced cognitive skills with reduced performance at different tests including those evaluating to anxiety, attention or cognition, or activity (fear conditioning, water maze, novel object recognition, attentional set-shifting, social exploratory, general activity, or locomotor test). Considering the effect of surgery, the majority of studies reported an increase of brain proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1b, TNF-a, IL-6). Activation of microglia or astrocytes, increase of neuronal apoptosis, and loss of neuronal dendritic spine were also reported in some studies, confirming a tight link between primed microglial cells and neuronal plasticity (91). It should also be considered that neurodegeneration (or the presence of progeroid genetic defects) may anticipate the exaggerated inflammatory response that it is associated with a more rapid cognitive decline and disease progression. Administration of low doses of LPS (100 µg/kg) in ME7 animals, for example, induced transient working memory deficits with increased and prolonged transcription of inflammatory mediators in the brain. Results of these studies indicate that preexisting synaptic loss and microglial priming are predisposing factors for acute cognitive impairments provoked by systemic inflammation. In the same animal model, the peripheral administration of a single proinflammatory cytokine, like TNF- α in pre-symptomatic phase, is able to produce an exaggerated sickness behavior response but not neuronal death, synaptic loss, or hyperphosphorylation of tau. In a recent study, a fluctuating course of cognitive dysfunction was also reported in ME7 mice injected with 0.1 mg/kg LPS. LPS precipitated severe and fluctuating cognitive deficits in 16-week ME7 with a lower incidence or no deficits in 12-week ME7 and controls, respectively. Fluctuating impairments were associated with progressive thalamic synaptic loss and axonal pathology (14, 92).

Another relevant finding for delirium was obtained in a mouse model of lesioned basal forebrain cholinergic system, based on the administration of ribosomal toxin saporin linked to the p75 neurotrophin receptor. In this model, cognitive deficits induced by systemic LPS are restored by donepezil. However, in this model no signs of increased brain inflammation were detected, suggesting that factor other than primed microglial cells may be involved in the development of cognitive dysfunction and that neuronal vulnerability may represent predisposing factor to peripheral inflammation associated cognitive impairment (87).

Various tools for the assessment of frailty have been developed in mice, based on the assessment tools used in humans (93). Parks et al. proposed a preclinical frailty Index scale based on the assessment of deficits in activity skills, body composition, metabolic status, and vascular system (94). Whitehead and colleagues developed a mouse Clinical Frailty Index (mouse-CFI) assessment tool based on a 31 different impairments and deficits (95) and Liu et al. developed the Mouse Frailty Phenotype (MTP) scale, including grip strength, speed in walking, physical activity, and endurance (96). These tools have demonstrated to be consistent in frailty assessment in that (a) their scores increase in severity with aging in both male and female; (b) the increase in score severity which is observed with aging is similar to that observed in humans; and (c) the age-associated changes in myocytes are more prominent in animals with elevated frailty scores than in others. In a recent study (97), the mouse-MTP scale and the mouse-CFI were compared in a group of mice aged 23-24 months. Using the first tool, none of the mice was classified as frail. On the contrary, the second tool classified 16.6% of mice as frail. As indicated by the authors, similar difference in estimating the true incidence of frailty can be found when the frailty phenotype model and the frailty index tools are compared in humans: indeed, 6-16% of older adults (70-85 years old) are defined as frail with the phenotype-model tool and 22-32% with the FI (65 years and older) (98, 99). Despite the different sensitivity between the tools, however, both are able to detect frailty at preclinical level (93). Based on the known association between physical activity and frailty, Gomez-Cabrera et al. proposed physical inactivity as a mouse model of frailty (100). They adapted to animals the frailty phenotype developed for human and defined a score (the Valentia score for frailty evaluation) to be used in mice. Scores were calculated on the basis of five different components, such as weight loss (change in body weight), weakness (grip strength), poor endurance and slowness (incremental treadmill test), and low activity level (motor coordination), and were expressed with frailty scores similar to these defined for human being. Sedentary and wheel runner animals were compared in longitudinal study until the age of 28 months. Results of the study indicate that sedentary animals become frail as they get older whereas lifelong spontaneous exercise signicantly retards the onset of frailty.

Another animal model for frailty is the IL-10 (tm/tm) mouse developed by Walston (101). The lack of the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10) makes this animal more susceptible to the activation of inflammatory pathway activation. With aging, this mouse shows higher than normal levels of circulating IL-6, reduced muscular strength, impaired skeletal muscle ATP kinetics and cardio-vascular functions, and increased expression of gene associated with the regulation mitochondrial function and apoptosis (102).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

There is initial evidence that frailty and delirium might share common pathophysiological links and are strictly interrelated from a clinical perspective. Altered inflammatory status is clearly involved in the pathophysiology of both frailty and delirium. Muscle and adipocytes may be a source of inflammatory stimulus (through endocrine secretion of pro-inflammatory adipokines) and also a target of the negative effects (i.e., induction of catabolic, apoptosis, autophagic muscular pathways) (81, 82). The inflammatory markers produced at the muscle and adipocytes level, on one side, may enter the brain through neural and/or humoral pathways, priming microglia and other neuronal cells of the brain that react with overexpression of cytokines. The primed microglia are able, under these conditions, to promote neuronal dysfunction leading to cognitive and behavioral symptoms of delirium (85).

Another pathophysiological link may be at vascular level. Pericytes are spatially isolated contractile cells on capillaries and venules throughout the body, which are designated to control cerebral blood flow physiologically, and to limit blood flow after ischemia. In skeletal muscle, pericytes are located at the interstitium, where they can express typical markers associated with capillaries. Pericytes have also adipogenic and myogenic properties, contributing to muscle fat generation and lipotoxicity. It could be hypothesized that an exaggerated activation of these cells leads to increased inflammatory response and nitrosative stress in the muscle, thus contributing to sarcopenia, a key feature of frailty. At the brain level, pericytes may contribute to enhance the inflammatory response under specific circumstances, which may represent both a predisposing and a precipitating factor for delirium occurrence in frail subjects. Pericyte alterations may also be responsible for increased permeability of the blood brain barrier microvascular endothelium, which in turn may lead to an overexpression of inflammatory markers in the brain and overactivation of microglial cells (103). Indeed, it has been demonstrated an upregulation of proteins in the cerebrospinal fluid of delirious patients within clusters related to inflammation, protease inhibitors, chromogranins/secretogranins and apolipoproteins, triggered by infections, metabolic problems

REFERENCES

- Rutenberg AD, Mitnitski AB, Farrell SG, Rockwood K. Unifying aging and frailty through complex dynamical networks. *Exp Gerontol* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.exger.2017.08.027
- Cesari M, Marzetti E, Thiem U, Pérez-Zepeda MU, Abellan Van Kan G, Landi F, et al. The geriatric management of frailty as paradigm of "The end of the disease era". *Eur J Intern Med* (2016) 31:11–4. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2016.03.005
- Morley JE, Vellas B, van Kan GA, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2013) 14(6):392–7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet (2013) 381(9868):752–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9
- Jazwinski SM, Kim S. Metabolic and genetic markers of biological age. Front Genet (2017) 8:64. doi:10.3389/fgene.2017.00064
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. Fifth ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).
- Meagher DJ, Leonard M, Donnelly S, Conroy M, Saunders J, Trzepacz PT. A comparison of neuropsychiatric and cognitive profiles in delirium, dementia, comorbid delirium-dementia and cognitively intact controls. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2010) 81(8):876–81. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009. 200956
- 8. Bellelli G, Morandi A, Di Santo SG, Mazzone A, Cherubini A, Mossello E, et al. "Delirium Day": a nationwide point prevalence study of delirium in older

and adverse drug reactions (104). Increased oxidative stress and neuroendocrine abnormalities may also occur at both levels (i.e., at the body and brain levels), igniting a chain of reactions that include overexpression of cytokines and other inflammatory markers.

The review also suggests that the complex relationship between frailty and delirium should be thought as a dynamic and continuous cross-talk between the body and the brain. Future studies should therefore try to identify biomarkers specific for body cells and brain in frail individuals with delirium. An excellent example of the cross-talk between muscle and brain should be represented by the Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). BDNF is strongly expressed in the brain (105), where it regulates neuronal development, synaptic plasticity, and influence memory (106) but it is also expressed in skeletal muscle, where it contributes to fat oxidation and modulates myogenesis inducing satellite cell activation and skeletal muscle regeneration (107, 108).

From a clinical perspective, frailty may be considered a risk factor for delirium, although full evidence is still lacking, and delirious individuals may be regarded by default as frail individuals. Moreover, delirium may be viewed, in some cases (e.g., when it persists for long time) as a precipitating factor for worsening frailty. Specific attention will therefore be paid by clinicians both on frailty assessment, since it may allow to anticipate delirium occurrence and to the systematic screening of delirium since it may help identifying individuals at risk of subsequent worsen of frailty.

With regard to animal models, future research is needed to identify a panel of biomarkers that should be relevant both in humans with delirium and in mouse models of frailty, specifically challenged with triggers causing delirium, in order to explore new pathophysiological pathways.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors drafted and reviewed the manuscript.

hospitalized patients using an easy standardized diagnostic tool. BMC Med (2016) 14(1):106. doi:10.1186/s12916-016-0649-8

- Pendlebury ST, Lovett NG, Smith SC, Dutta N, Bendon C, Lloyd-Lavery A, et al. Observational, longitudinal study of delirium in consecutive unselected acute medical admissions: age-specific rates and associated factors, mortality and re-admission. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5(11):e007808. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2015-007808
- Inouye SK, Westendorp RG, Saczynski JS. Delirium in elderly people. Lancet (2014) 383(9920):911–22. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60688-1
- Bellelli G, Speciale S, Morghen S, Torpilliesi T, Turco R, Trabucchi M. Are fluctuations in motor performance a diagnostic sign of delirium? *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2011) 12(8):578–83. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2010.04.010
- 12. Guerini F, Frisoni G, Morghen S, Speciale S, Bellelli G, Trabucchi M. Clinical instability as a predictor of negative outcomes among elderly patients admitted to a rehabilitation ward. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2010) 11(6):443–8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2009.10.005
- Morandi A, Davis D, Fick D, Turco R, Boustani M, Lucchi E, et al. Delirium superimposed on dementia strongly predicts worse outcomes in older rehabilitation inpatients. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2014) 15(5):349–54. doi:10.1016/ j.jamda.2013.12.084
- Davis DH, Skelly DT, Murray C, Hennessy E, Bowen J, Norton S, et al. Worsening cognitive impairment and neurodegenerative pathology progressively increase risk for delirium. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2015) 23(4):403–15. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2014.08.005

- Morandi A, Lucchi E, Turco R, Morghen S, Guerini F, Santi R, et al. Delirium superimposed on dementia: a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of informal caregivers and health care staff experience. *J Psychosom Res* (2015) 79(4):272–80. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.06.012
- Morandi A, Lucchi E, Turco R, Morghen S, Guerini F, Santi R, et al. Delirium superimposed on dementia: a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of patient experience. J Psychosom Res (2015) 79(4):281–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores. 2015.07.010
- Afilalo J, Kim S, O'Brien S, Brennan JM, Edwards FH, Mack MJ, et al. Gait speed and operative mortality in older adults following cardiac surgery. JAMA Cardiol (2016) 1(3):314–21. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2016.0316
- Liao Y, Flaherty JH, Yue J, Wang Y, Deng C, Chen L. The incidence of delirium after cardiac surgery in the elderly: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* (2017) 7(3):e014726. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014726
- Brothers TD, Kirkland S, Guaraldi G, Falutz J, Theou O, Johnston BL, et al. Frailty in people aging with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. *J Infect Dis* (2014) 210(8):1170–9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu258
- Berman P, Hogan DB, Fox RA. The atypical presentation of infection in old age. Age Ageing (1987) 16(4):201–7. doi:10.1093/ageing/16.4.201
- Jeong YM, Lee E, Kim KI, Chung JE, In Park H, Lee BK, et al. Association of pre-operative medication use with post-operative delirium in surgical oncology patients receiving comprehensive geriatric assessment. *BMC Geriatr* (2016) 16:134. doi:10.1186/s12877-016-0311-5
- Balducci L. Frailty: a common pathway in aging and cancer. *Interdiscip Top Gerontol* (2013) 38:61–72. doi:10.1159/000343586
- 23. Winter A, Steurer MP, Dullenkopf A. Postoperative delirium assessed by post anesthesia care unit staff utilizing the Nursing Delirium Screening Scale: a prospective observational study of 1000 patients in a single Swiss institution. *BMC Anesthesiol* (2015) 15:184. doi:10.1186/s12871-015-0168-8
- Hubbard RE, Story DA. Patient frailty: the elephant in the operating room. *Anaesthesia* (2014) 69(Suppl 1):26–34. doi:10.1111/anae.12490
- Quinlan N, Marcantonio ER, Inouye SK, Gill TM, Kamholz B, Rudolph JL. Vulnerability: the crossroads of frailty and delirium. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2011) 59(Suppl 2):S262–8. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03674.x
- Solfrizzi V, Scafato E, Seripa D, Lozupone M, Imbimbo BP, D'Amato A, et al. Reversible cognitive frailty, dementia, and all-cause mortality. The Italian Longitudinal Study on Aging. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2017) 18(1):89.e1–e8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.10.012
- Canevelli M, Grande G, Lacorte E, Quarchioni E, Cesari M, Mariani C, et al. Spontaneous reversion of mild cognitive impairment to normal cognition: a systematic review of literature and meta-analysis. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2016) 17(10):943–8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.020
- Adamis D, Treloar A, Gregson N, Macdonald AJ, Martin FC. Delirium and the functional recovery of older medical inpatients after acute illness: the significance of biological factors. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* (2011) 52(3):276–80. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2010.04.006
- Rockwood K, Rockwood MR, Andrew MK, Mitnitski A. Reliability of the hierarchical assessment of balance and mobility in frail older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2008) 56(7):1213–7. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01773.x
- Jung P, Pereira MA, Hiebert B, Song X, Rockwood K, Tangri N, et al. The impact of frailty on postoperative delirium in cardiac surgery patients. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* (2015) 149(3):869–75.e1–2. doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.10.118
- Assmann P, Kievit P, van der Wulp K, Verkroost M, Noyez L, Bor H, et al. Frailty is associated with delirium and mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Open Heart* (2016) 3(2):e000478. doi:10.1136/ openhrt-2016-000478
- Chew J, Lim WS, Chong MS, Ding YY, Tay L. Impact of frailty and residual subsyndromal delirium on 1-year functional recovery: a prospective cohort study. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2017). doi:10.1111/ggi.13108
- Nguyen TN, Cumming RG, Hilmer SN. The impact of frailty on mortality, length of stay and re-hospitalisation in older patients with atrial fibrillation. *Heart Lung Circ* (2016) 25(6):551–7. doi:10.1016/j.hlc.2015.12.002
- Eeles EM, White SV, O'Mahony SM, Bayer AJ, Hubbard RE. The impact of frailty and delirium on mortality in older inpatients. *Age Ageing* (2012) 41(3):412–6. doi:10.1093/ageing/afs021
- 35. Hempenius L, Slaets JP, van Asselt DZ, Schukking J, de Bock GH, Wiggers T, et al. Interventions to prevent postoperative delirium in elderly cancer patients should be targeted at those undergoing nonsuperficial surgery with

special attention to the cognitive impaired patients. *Eur J Surg Oncol* (2015) 41(1):28–33. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2014.04.006

- 36. Joosten E, Demuynck M, Detroyer E, Milisen K. Prevalence of frailty and its ability to predict in hospital delirium, falls, and 6-month mortality in hospitalized older patients. *BMC Geriatr* (2014) 14:1. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-1
- Pol RA, van Leeuwen BL, Visser L, Izaks GJ, van den Dungen JJ, Tielliu IF, et al. Standardised frailty indicator as predictor for postoperative delirium after vascular surgery: a prospective cohort study. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2011) 42(6):824–30. doi:10.1016/j.ejvs.2011.07.006
- Davis DH, Muniz Terrera G, Keage H, Rahkonen T, Oinas M, Matthews FE, et al. Delirium is a strong risk factor for dementia in the oldest-old: a population-based cohort study. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 9):2809–16. doi:10.1093/ brain/aws190
- Quinlan N, Rudolph JL. Postoperative delirium and functional decline after noncardiac surgery. J Am Geriatr Soc (2011) 59(Suppl 2):S301–4. doi:10.1111/ j.1532-5415.2011.03679.x
- Kiely DK, Jones RN, Bergmann MA, Murphy KM, Orav EJ, Marcantonio ER. Association between delirium resolution and functional recovery among newly admitted postacute facility patients. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2006) 61(2):204–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/61.2.204
- Speciale S, Bellelli G, Lucchi E, Trabucchi M. Delirium and functional recovery in elderly patients. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2007) 62(1):107–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/62.1.107 author reply 108
- Bellelli G, Speciale S, Barisione E, Trabucchi M. Delirium subtypes and 1-year mortality among elderly patients discharged from a post-acute rehabilitation facility. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2007) 62(10):1182–3. doi:10.1093/ gerona/62.10.1182
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2000) 908:244–54. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Franceschi C, Campisi J. Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2014) 69(Suppl 1):S4–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu057
- Cevenini E, Caruso C, Candore G, Capri M, Nuzzo D, Duro G, et al. Agerelated inflammation: the contribution of different organs, tissues and systems. How to face it for therapeutic approaches. *Curr Pharm Des* (2010) 16(6):609–18. doi:10.2174/138161210790883840
- Maldonado JR. Acute brain failure: pathophysiology, diagnosis, management, and sequelae of delirium. Crit Care Clin (2017) 33(3):461–519. doi:10.1016/ j.ccc.2017.03.013
- Maldonado JR. Neuropathogenesis of delirium: review of current etiologic theories and common pathways. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2013) 21(12): 1190–222. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2013.09.005
- Dantzer R. [Neurotropic effects of cytokines: at the limits of immunology and neurobiology]. *Pathol Biol (Paris)* (1994) 42(9):826–9.
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW. From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2008) 9(1):46–56. doi:10.1038/nrn2297
- Besedovsky HO, del Rey A. Central and peripheral cytokines mediate immune-brain connectivity. *Neurochem Res* (2011) 36(1):1–6. doi:10.1007/ s11064-010-0252-x
- Cunningham C, Campion S, Lunnon K, Murray CL, Woods JF, Deacon RM, et al. Systemic inflammation induces acute behavioral and cognitive changes and accelerates neurodegenerative disease. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 65(4): 304–12. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.07.024
- Perry VH, Newman TA, Cunningham C. The impact of systemic infection on the progression of neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2003) 4(2):103–12. doi:10.1038/nrn1032
- Teeling JL, Perry VH. Systemic infection and inflammation in acute CNS injury and chronic neurodegeneration: underlying mechanisms. *Neuroscience* (2009) 158(3):1062–73. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.07.031
- Beloosesky Y, Hendel D, Weiss A, Hershkovitz A, Grinblat J, Pirotsky A, et al. Cytokines and C-reactive protein production in hip-fracture-operated elderly patients. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2007) 62(4):420–6. doi:10.1093/ gerona/62.4.420
- de Rooij SE, van Munster BC, Korevaar JC, Levi M. Cytokines and acute phase response in delirium. J Psychosom Res (2007) 62(5):521–5. doi:10.1016/ j.jpsychores.2006.11.013

- Rudolph JL, Ramlawi B, Kuchel GA, McElhaney JE, Xie D, Sellke FW, et al. Chemokines are associated with delirium after cardiac surgery. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2008) 63(2):184–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/63.2.184
- Cerejeira J, Nogueira V, Luís P, Vaz-Serra A, Mukaetova-Ladinska EB. The cholinergic system and inflammation: common pathways in delirium pathophysiology. J Am Geriatr Soc (2012) 60(4):669–75. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415. 2011.03883.x
- Huat TJ, Khan AA, Pati S, Mustafa Z, Abdullah JM, Jaafar H. IGF-1 enhances cell proliferation and survival during early differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to neural progenitor-like cells. *BMC Neurosci* (2014) 15:91. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-15-91
- Shcheglovitov A, Shcheglovitova O, Yazawa M, Portmann T, Shu R, Sebastiano V, et al. SHANK3 and IGF1 restore synaptic deficits in neurons from 22q13 deletion syndrome patients. *Nature* (2013) 503(7475):267–71. doi:10.1038/nature12618
- Seaman JS, Schillerstrom J, Carroll D, Brown TM. Impaired oxidative metabolism precipitates delirium: a study of 101 ICU patients. *Psychosomatics* (2006) 47(1):56–61. doi:10.1176/appi.psy.47.1.56
- Schoen J, Meyerrose J, Paarmann H, Heringlake M, Hueppe M, Berger KU. Preoperative regional cerebral oxygen saturation is a predictor of postoperative delirium in on-pump cardiac surgery patients: a prospective observational trial. *Crit Care* (2011) 15(5):R218. doi:10.1186/cc10454
- Pieper C, Marek JJ, Unterberg M, Schwerdtle T, Galla HJ. Brain capillary pericytes contribute to the immune defense in response to cytokines or LPS in vitro. *Brain Res* (2014) 1550:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.004
- Kovac A, Erickson MA, Banks WA. Brain microvascular pericytes are immunoactive in culture: cytokine, chemokine, nitric oxide, and LRP-1 expression in response to lipopolysaccharide. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:139. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-139
- 64. Sapolsky RM. Stress, glucocorticoids, and damage to the nervous system: the current state of confusion. *Stress* (1996) 1(1):1–19. doi:10.3109/10253899609001092
- O'Keeffe ST, Devlin JG. Delirium and the dexamethasone suppression test in the elderly. *Neuropsychobiology* (1994) 30(4):153–6. doi:10.1159/000119154
- Sapolsky RM, Pulsinelli WA. Glucocorticoids potentiate ischemic injury to neurons: therapeutic implications. *Science* (1985) 229(4720):1397–400. doi:10.1126/science.4035356
- Capitanio D, Vasso M, De Palma S, Fania C, Torretta E, Cammarata FP, et al. Specific protein changes contribute to the differential muscle mass loss during ageing. *Proteomics* (2016) 16(4):645–56. doi:10.1002/pmic.201500395
- Melcangi RC, Magnaghi V, Cavarretta I, Martini L, Piva F. Age-induced decrease of glycoprotein Po and myelin basic protein gene expression in the rat sciatic nerve. Repair by steroid derivatives. *Neuroscience* (1998) 85(2):569–78. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(97)00628-3
- Parhad IM, Scott JN, Cellars LA, Bains JS, Krekoski CA, Clark AW. Axonal atrophy in aging is associated with a decline in neurofilament gene expression. *J Neurosci Res* (1995) 41(3):355–66. doi:10.1002/jnr.490410308
- Gonzalez-Freire M, de Cabo R, Studenski SA, Ferrucci L. The neuromuscular junction: aging at the crossroad between nerves and muscle. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2014) 6:208. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00208
- Lang PO, Michel JP, Zekry D. Frailty syndrome: a transitional state in a dynamic process. *Gerontology* (2009) 55(5):539–49. doi:10.1159/000211949
- 72. Soysal P, Stubbs B, Lucato P, Luchini C, Solmi M, Peluso R, et al. Inflammation and frailty in the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Res Rev* (2016) 31:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2016.08.006
- Viña J, Tarazona-Santabalbina FJ, Pérez-Ros P, Martínez-Arnau FM, Borras C, Olaso-Gonzalez G, et al. Biology of frailty: modulation of ageing genes and its importance to prevent age-associated loss of function. *Mol Aspects Med* (2016) 50:88–108. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2016.04.005
- Broekhuizen R, Wouters EF, Creutzberg EC, Schols AM. Raised CRP levels mark metabolic and functional impairment in advanced COPD. *Thorax* (2006) 61(1):17–22. doi:10.1136/thx.2005.041996
- O'Connor JC, McCusker RH, Strle K, Johnson RW, Dantzer R, Kelley KW. Regulation of IGF-I function by proinflammatory cytokines: at the interface of immunology and endocrinology. *Cell Immunol* (2008) 252(1–2):91–110. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2007.09.010
- Leng SX, Yang H, Walston JD. Decreased cell proliferation and altered cytokine production in frail older adults. *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2004) 16(3): 249–52. doi:10.1007/BF03327392

- 77. Berkman LF, Seeman TE, Albert M, Blazer D, Kahn R, Mohs R, et al. High, usual and impaired functioning in community-dwelling older men and women: findings from the MacArthur Foundation Research Network on Successful Aging. *J Clin Epidemiol* (1993) 46(10):1129–40. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(93)90112-E
- Seene T, Alev K. Effect of glucocorticoids on the turnover rate of actin and myosin heavy and light chains on different types of skeletal muscle fibres. *J Steroid Biochem* (1985) 22(6):767–71. doi:10.1016/0022-4731(85)90284-5
- Mussolino ME. Depression and hip fracture risk: the NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. *Public Health Rep* (2005) 120(1):71–5. doi:10.1177/ 003335490512000112
- Arvat E, Broglio F, Ghigo E. Insulin-Like growth factor I: implications in aging. Drugs Aging (2000) 16(1):29–40. doi:10.2165/00002512-200016010-00003
- Prins JB. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 16(4):639–51. doi:10.1053/beem.2002.0222
- Marzetti E, Calvani R, Cesari M, Buford TW, Lorenzi M, Behnke BJ, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction and sarcopenia of aging: from signaling pathways to clinical trials. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2013) 45(10):2288–301. doi:10.1016/ j.biocel.2013.06.024
- Cesari M, Landi F, Calvani R, Cherubini A, Di Bari M, Kortebein P, et al. Rationale for a preliminary operational definition of physical frailty and sarcopenia in the SPRINTT trial. *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2017) 29:81–8. doi:10.1007/ s40520-016-0716-1
- Wilson D, Jackson T, Sapey E, Lord JM. Frailty and sarcopenia: the potential role of an aged immune system. *Ageing Res Rev* (2017) 36:1–10. doi:10.1016/ j.arr.2017.01.006
- Hoogland IC, Houbolt C, van Westerloo DJ, van Gool WA, van de Beek D. Systemic inflammation and microglial activation: systematic review of animal experiments. *J Neuroinflammation* (2015) 12:114. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0332-6
- Schreuder L, Eggen BJ, Biber K, Schoemaker RG, Laman JD, de Rooij SE. Pathophysiological and behavioral effects of systemic inflammation in aged and diseased rodents with relevance to delirium: a systematic review. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 62:362–81. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2017.01.010
- Field RH, Gossen A, Cunningham C. Prior pathology in the basal forebrain cholinergic system predisposes to inflammation-induced working memory deficits: reconciling inflammatory and cholinergic hypotheses of delirium. *J Neurosci* (2012) 32(18):6288–94. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4673-11.2012
- Raj DD, Jaarsma D, Holtman IR, Olah M, Ferreira FM, Schaafsma W, et al. Priming of microglia in a DNA-repair deficient model of accelerated aging. *Neurobiol Aging* (2014) 35(9):2147–60. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2014.03.025
- Tha KK, Okuma Y, Miyazaki H, Murayama T, Uehara T, Hatakeyama R, et al. Changes in expressions of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1beta, TNF-alpha and IL-6 in the brain of senescence accelerated mouse (SAM) P8. *Brain Res* (2000) 885(1):25–31. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02883-3
- Barrientos RM, Frank MG, Hein AM, Higgins EA, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, et al. Time course of hippocampal IL-1 beta and memory consolidation impairments in aging rats following peripheral infection. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23(1):46–54. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.002
- Li Z, Ma L, Kulesskaya N, Võikar V, Tian L. Microglia are polarized to M1 type in high-anxiety inbred mice in response to lipopolysaccharide challenge. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 38:237–48. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.02.008
- Murray CL, Skelly DT, Cunningham C. Exacerbation of CNS inflammation and neurodegeneration by systemic LPS treatment is independent of circulating IL-1β and IL-6. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:50. doi:10.1186/ 1742-2094-8-50
- Kane AE, Hilmer SN, Mach J, Mitchell SJ, de Cabo R, Howlett SE. Animal models of frailty: current applications in clinical research. *Clin Interv Aging* (2016) 11:1519–29. doi:10.2147/CIA.S105714
- Parks RJ, Fares E, Macdonald JK, Ernst MC, Sinal CJ, Rockwood K, et al. A procedure for creating a frailty index based on deficit accumulation in aging mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2012) 67(3):217–27. doi:10.1093/ gerona/glr193
- 95. Whitehead JC, Hildebrand BA, Sun M, Rockwood MR, Rose RA, Rockwood K, et al. A clinical frailty index in aging mice: comparisons with frailty index data in humans. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2014) 69(6):621–32. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt136

- Liu H, Graber TG, Ferguson-Stegall L, Thompson LV. Clinically relevant frailty index for mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2014) 69(12):1485–91. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt188
- Kane AE, Huizer-Pajkos A, Mach J, Mitchell SJ, de Cabo R, Le Couteur DG, et al. A comparison of two mouse frailty assessment tools. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2017) 72(7):904–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glx009
- Collard RM, Boter H, Schoevers RA, Oude Voshaar RC. Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. JAm Geriatr Soc (2012) 60(8):1487–92. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04054.x
- Cigolle CT, Ofstedal MB, Tian Z, Blaum CS. Comparing models of frailty: the Health and Retirement Study. J Am Geriatr Soc (2009) 57(5):830–9. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02225.x
- 100. Gomez-Cabrera MC, Garcia-Valles R, Rodriguez-Mañas L, Garcia-Garcia FJ, Olaso-Gonzalez G, Salvador-Pascual A, et al. A New Frailty Score for experimental animals based on the clinical phenotype: inactivity as a model of frailty. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2017) 72(7):885–91. doi:10.1093/ gerona/glw337
- 101. Walston J, Fedarko N, Yang H, Leng S, Beamer B, Espinoza S, et al. The physical and biological characterization of a frail mouse model. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2008) 63(4):391–8. doi:10.1093/gerona/ 63.4.391
- 102. Akki A, Yang H, Gupta A, Chacko VP, Yano T, Leppo MK, et al. Skeletal muscle ATP kinetics are impaired in frail mice. *Age (Dordr)* (2014) 36(1): 21–30. doi:10.1007/s11357-013-9540-0
- 103. Rigor RR, Beard RS, Litovka OP, Yuan SY. Interleukin-1β-induced barrier dysfunction is signaled through PKC-θ in human brain microvascular endothelium. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2012) 302(10):C1513–22. doi:10.1152/ ajpcell.00371.2011

- Poljak A, Hill M, Hall RJ, MacLullich AM, Raftery MJ, Tai J, et al. Quantitative proteomics of delirium cerebrospinal fluid. *Transl Psychiatry* (2014) 4:e477. doi:10.1038/tp.2014.114
- Huang EJ, Reichardt LF. Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci (2001) 24:677–736. doi:10.1146/annurev. neuro.24.1.677
- 106. Wisse BE, Schwartz MW. The skinny on neurotrophins. *Nat Neurosci* (2003) 6(7):655-6. doi:10.1038/nn0703-655
- 107. Matthews VB, Aström MB, Chan MH, Bruce CR, Krabbe KS, Prelovsek O, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is produced by skeletal muscle cells in response to contraction and enhances fat oxidation *via* activation of AMPactivated protein kinase. *Diabetologia* (2009) 52(7):1409–18. doi:10.1007/ s00125-009-1364-1
- Omura T, Omura K, Tedeschi A, Riva P, Painter MW, Rojas L, et al. Robust axonal regeneration occurs in the injured CAST/Ei Mouse CNS. *Neuron* (2015) 86(5):1215–27. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Bellelli, Moresco, Panina-Bordignon, Arosio, Gelfi, Morandi and Cesari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Spontaneous Reversion of Clinical Conditions Measuring the Risk Profile of the Individual: From Frailty to Mild Cognitive Impairment

Marco Canevelli^{1*}, Giuseppe Bruno¹, Francesca Remiddi¹, Carlo Vico¹, Eleonora Lacorte², Nicola Vanacore² and Matteo Cesari^{3,4}

¹ Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ²National Center for Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, National Institute of Health, Rome, Italy, ³Gérontopôle, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Toulouse, Toulouse, France, ⁴Université de Toulouse III Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Emanuele Marzetti, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario Agostino Gemelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Alice Laudisio, Università Campus Bio-Medico, Italv

> ***Correspondence:** Marco Canevelli marco.canevelli@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 30 August 2017 Accepted: 12 October 2017 Published: 30 October 2017

Citation:

Canevelli M, Bruno G, Remiddi F, Vico C, Lacorte E, Vanacore N and Cesari M (2017) Spontaneous Reversion of Clinical Conditions Measuring the Risk Profile of the Individual: From Frailty to Mild Cognitive Impairment. Front. Med. 4:184. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00184 The number of people living with disabilities worldwide is rapidly growing due to a longer life expectancy and the subsequent increasing burden of chronic diseases. The need of developing and implementing effective strategies aimed at delaying or preventing disability has been repeatedly underlined and is currently the main focus of several health-care policies. In this scenario, a special attention is addressed to the identification of specific clinical conditions measuring the risk profile of the individual of developing an overt disability and other negative outcomes. These risk profiles can indeed become promising targets for developing and implementing preventive interventions. When the disabling cascade is fully established, in fact, the reversing/attenuating the process becomes more challenging. However, the exact nature of these relatively new constructs is not yet sufficiently clear, and several related issues remain poorly explored. In particular, these entities tend to be considered as unequivocally prodromal stages of a future disease, neglecting and underestimating their fluctuations/transitions over time and their potential to clinically improve/revert. This unbalanced judgment did probably contribute to an ambiguous and biased use of these conditions. Considering them as an early stage of an unavoidable future disease, in fact, determined a tendency to start a targeted intervention as if in presence of the disease itself, with the subsequent risk of over-diagnosis and over-treatment. In the present article, we discuss the dynamics underlying the reversion from a clinical at-risk condition to normality and its implications, specifically focusing on the examples of frailty and mild cognitive impairment.

Keywords: disability, frailty, mild cognitive impairment, reversion, trajectories, prevention, public health

INTRODUCTION

Populations are rapidly aging worldwide as result of a longer life expectancy (1). Such progressive increase in longevity is the sign of major scientific and societal accomplishments (2). However, the longer life expectancy is associated with an increased prevalence of chronic diseases and disabling conditions (3). The number of people living with some form of disability is, in fact, globally growing (4). In this scenario, the identification and implementation of effective strategies aimed at delaying or preventing disability is the main focus of many health-care policies (1, 5).

The early identification and targeting of specific clinical profiles that could potentially serve as targets for preventive actions against disabilities and other negative outcomes has, reasonably and not surprisingly, focused the interest of both research and public health. In fact, once any disabling condition is fully established, the possibilities of functional improvement result drastically reduced.

Several clinical conditions measuring the risk profile of the individual have recently been proposed in different fields of research. Some of these are also gradually acquiring some relevance in the clinical setting (6–9). However, a number of aspects related to these constructs still do not focus enough attention, thus risking to remain poorly explored, to cause misunderstandings, and to be the target of disputable interventions. In particular, these entities are frequently considered as prodromal stages, within a unidirectional pathway toward subsequent disabilities. This approach mistakenly overlooks the possible fluctuations/transitions of the risk profile over time, and do not adequately consider the potential for spontaneous clinical improvement/remission. Such "inverse" trajectories, though commonly observed in routine clinical practice, are often underestimated, thus leading to unbalanced and biased consideration of these conditions.

In the present review, we present and discuss available evidence on the spontaneous reversion to normality from two of the most frequently studied and adopted at-risk conditions, namely frailty and mild cognitive impairment (MCI). Although they have been differently conceived and refer to different functions/domains of the individual, both these constructs have been developed in order to capture and measure the risk of developing poor healthrelated outcomes. This parallelism allows to address some of the issues potentially arising from such "anticipatory" approach to disabling conditions (i.e., disability and dementia in these cases).

Reversion of MCI

Mild cognitive impairment is defined as an objective impairment of cognitive abilities that does not affect the subject's functional independence (9). It is often considered as an intermediate stage in the progression from normal cognitive functioning to dementia (10). To date, the scientific and clinical interest on this construct has mostly been due to its being a condition increasing the risk of developing overt dementia. Subjects with MCI, in fact, show an annual rate of progression to dementia ranging from 5 to 15%, depending on the setting and the considered operational definitions (11). Within this framework, MCI may be considered as a promising clinical condition to identify early signs of a possible progression to dementia and thus design *ad hoc* preventive interventions.

However, MCI does not necessarily convert to dementia, but can potentially follow other trajectories over time (12) (Figure 1). The majority of subjects with MCI does not experience a worsening of cognition over time, but tends to remain clinically stable. Population-based studies have actually shown that "stability" might be the most common pattern after a diagnosis of MCI, occurring in 37-67% of the overall cases (12). The limited length of follow-up adopted by available studies on the topic, however, does not allow to draw conclusions on the actual length of this plateau. Anyway, an adequate description of MCI should not omit considering the absence of a conversion to cognitive decline. Moreover, an increasing number of longitudinal data show that a relevant proportion of subjects with MCI may even revert to normal cognition. Two systematic reviews and meta-analyses have recently been carried out to estimate the rate of "reversion" from MCI to normality (13, 14). A first review considered 25 longitudinal studies (published from 1999-2015) enrolling subjects with MCI with a follow-up equal or longer than 2 years (13). An overall 18% (95%CI 14-22%) reversion rate from MCI to normal cognition was observed. In particular, estimates significantly varied according to study setting, with an 8% (95%CI 4-11%) reversion rate in clinical-based studies, and a 25% (95%CI 19-30%) rate in population-based ones. When considering only studies meeting higher quality standards (reported in Table 1), the frequency of reversion further increased to 26%. Consistently,



Reference	Setting	n	Sex (%F)	Mean age	Follow-up (years)	MCI definition	Reversion (%)
Grande et al. (15)	С	374	60.2	75.1 ± 6.9	2.7 ± 2.1	IWG	5.6
Roberts et al. (16)	Р	534	44.6	na	5.1	IWG	37.6
Sachdev et al. (17)	Р	320	51.1	11.5 ± 0.8^{a}	1.9 ± 0.1	IWG	20.6
Manly et al. (18)	Р	564	68.0	76.5 ± 1.3^{a}	5	Mayo Clinic	30.1
Pérès et al. (19)	Р	285	57.2	na	2	Mayo Clinic	21.4
Larrieu et al. (20)	Р	58	na	na	2	Mayo Clinic	41.4

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of available observational studies meeting high quality standards addressing the spontaneous reversion of mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

Modified from Ref. (13).

C, clinical-based study; P, population-based study; na, not available; IWG, International Working Group criteria for MCI; Mayo, Mayo Clinic criteria for MCI.

^aWeighted mean values.

In the present table, we report the six studies of "better quality," defined using the Quality in Prognostic Studies tool (21), included in a previous meta-analysis on the topic (13).

high rates of reversion (31% in the community setting and 14% in the clinical setting) were also documented by a second systematic review, which did not apply restrictions based on the length of follow-up, and only included studies adopting the Mayo Clinic criteria to define amnestic MCI (14).

Despite such high rates of reversion, research on the identification of potential factors associated with a favorable trajectory of MCI is still lacking. Evidence from the few available studies indicates that genetic traits (i.e., absence of APOE ε 4 alleles), sociodemographic factors (i.e., younger age and higher educational level), clinical features (i.e., greater degree of non-neurological comorbidities), functional independence (i.e., better scores on functional tests), the subtype of MCI (i.e., single-domain nonamnesic), the global cognitive performance (i.e., higher scores at the cognitive tests), and neuroimaging findings (i.e., larger hippocampal volumes) may positively influence the probability of reversion (12, 15, 17, 22).

Another aspect in this field that has not yet been adequately explored is the cognitive stability of subjects reverting from MCI to a normal cognitive function. In the Pittsburgh Cardiovascular Health Study-Cognition Study, a relevant heterogeneity was observed in the clinical course of "reverters." Some of the participants remained stable within the normal cognition range, but other reconverted to MCI or even progressed to dementia (23). Consistently, another study found that subjects with MCI who reverted to normal cognition were still at an increased risk of developing dementia later in time when compared to cognitively normal subjects (16).

An additional point that needs to be further investigated is whether the adoption of biomarkers reflecting in vivo the occurrence of neuropathological modifications may improve the differentiation of the heterogeneous MCI trajectories. Some specific biomarkers might possibly support a better discrimination of MCI cases and help identifying those with a higher probability of progressing to dementia or reverting to normal cognition. Research, however, has been primarily focused on identifying biomarkers associated with a negative outcome (i.e., progression to dementia), largely ignoring those potentially predicting a reversion to normality. It is very likely that these latter cannot be exhaustively found in pathophysiological mechanisms responsible for the onset of the disease, but they may worth the opening of a novel axe of research. In fact, there are reports of clinical reversion to normality among subjects with MCI clearly exhibiting the traditional neuropathological abnormalities (i.e.,

amyloid deposition) suggestive of an underlying neurodegeneration (24).

Reversion of Frailty

Frailty is defined as "a medical syndrome with multiple causes and contributors that is characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function that increases an individual's vulnerability for developing increased dependency and/or death" (5). It is also considered as a marker of biological aging and increasingly indicated as a condition of public health interest (25).

To date, frailty has frequently been approached as a pre-disability state (26) and as a condition increasing the risk of adverse health-related outcomes (e.g., falls, functional loss, hospitalization, institutionalization, death) in the elderly (6). Similarly to MCI, much of the interest toward this construct has been due to its ability to predict subsequent negative events. Several studies, however, have proven the dynamic nature of frailty, with frail individuals either worsening or improving over time and showing multiple and bidirectional health "transitions" (6). Again, the potential of frailty for spontaneous clinical remission has, to date, been rarely investigated.

The group of observational studies that have, so far, addressed the spontaneous reversion of frailty are described in Table 2 (27-33). Only articles published on PubMed, from inception to July 2017, or retrieved from the bibliographies of pertaining studies were considered for the present purposes. Available evidence mostly comes from population-based studies enrolling representative samples of community-dwelling older people, with sample sizes ranging from 122 (29) to 15,776 (31) participants, and time spans of observation varying from 1 (29) to 6.4 years (32). One study specifically investigated the transitions of frailty among subjects with cognitive disorders (29). All the studies defined frailty using modified versions of the phenotype proposed by Fried and colleagues (34), which differentiates the specific conditions of robustness, pre-frailty, and frailty. Relevant rates of spontaneous reversion were observed across the available studies, with 13.8 (33) to 44.6% (30) of frail participants reverting to pre-frailty or robustness. One study estimated the possibility of reversion over time using data from three follow-up visits (33). It documented a time-dependent reduction in the probability of favorable transitions. In the overwhelming majority of cases, the most common positive trajectory was toward a pre-frail status rather than to robustness.

TABLE 2 | Characteristics of available observational studies addressing the spontaneous reversion of frailty.

Reference	Setting	n	Sex (%F)	Mean age	Follow-up (years)	Frailty prevalence (%)	Frailty definition	Reversion (%)
Trevisan et al. (27)	Р	3,099	59.7	74.4 ± 7.3	4.4	7.6	mFP	28.2
Jamsen et al. (28)	Р	1,705	0.0	76 (median)	2	Na	mFP	Overall transitions to prefailty/
		1,366	0.0	78 (median)	2–5	Na		robustness: 17.4
Chong et al. (29)	С	122	59.4	75.4 ± 7.2	1.0	41.0	mFP	32.0
Lee et al. (30)	Р	3,427	43.7	74.0 ± 1.6^{a}	2.0	7.9	mFP	44.6
Borrat-Besson et al. (31)	Р	15,776	na	na	4.0	6.1	mFP	38.9
Espinoza et al. (32)	Р	597	55.1	69.6 ± 3.4	6.4	9.3	mFP	28.8
Gill et al. (33)	Р	754	64.6	78.4 ± 5.3	1.5	25.7	mFP	23.0
		679	65.1	79.7 ± 5.2	1.5–3	31.8		17.9
		626	66.3	81.0 ± 5.1	3-4.5	36.7		13.8

C, clinical-based study; P, population-based study; mFP, modified Frailty Phenotype; na, not available. *Weighted mean values.

Research on the factors associated to or predicting a spontaneous reversion from frailty are still inconclusive. Results from available studies on possible sex differences are conflicting. Some studies, in fact, reported higher reversion rates among women (27, 30), other studies failed to show any significant association between gender and reversion rates, and one study reported that men were more likely to improve (31). Other determinants that were studied as possible predictors of reversion from frailty are younger age (only in women), higher educational levels, living alone, low-to-moderate alcohol consumption, being overweight, and practicing regular physical activity (27, 30, 31). One study found no association between the overall number of medications and burden of anticholinergic drugs, and the progression/regression from frailty over time (28). As for MCI, no consistent data are available describing the long-term trajectories of frail subjects having experienced a spontaneous clinical improvement.

DISCUSSION

Considering available evidence, reversion should be seen as a quite common outcome of clinical conditions measuring the risk profile of the individual such as MCI and frailty. Knowing that these at-risk profiles have the potential to spontaneously regress, a more balanced and cautious attitude should be adopted when approaching these entities both in clinical and in research settings.

Widening the knowledge on the phenomenon of reversion, within the preventive management of disabling conditions, may have important practical implications. The possibility of identifying those subjects that are more likely to show a positive outcome, in fact, may allow to better allocate health-care resources in the heterogeneous population of aging individuals (35). Moreover, it may prevent possible negative consequences arising from the (mis)diagnosis of a potentially disabling conditions (e.g., discrimination, stigmatization, over-medicalization) (13). Finally, it may improve the design of clinical trials and the interpretation of their results. For example, excluding subjects whose cognitive function or frailty levels are unlikely to decline over time may increase the effect size of potentially effective interventions. As of today, this point seems of crucial interest, considering that nearly 180 RCTs are currently recruiting subjects with frailty and/or MCI worldwide (source: www.clinicaltrials.gov; search updated in August 2017).

Several hypotheses may be proposed to explain the observed remission of the considered at-risk conditions (13). First, it may simply be due to the wrong classification of subjects participating in the studies, with either normal individuals misdiagnosed as frail/MCI at enrollment, or with frail/MCI subjects misclassified as normal at the end of the observation period. According to this hypothesis, the spontaneous remission of the considered conditions might be explained by the weakness of the adopted definitions and diagnostic tools adopted. At the same time, the intrinsic tendency of these entities-that define a risk and not a nosological condition-to fluctuate over time and exhibit unstable courses cannot be ignored. This aspect is strongly related to the multiple factors (e.g., nutritional deficits, affective disorders, cerebrovascular events, sleep disorders, social issues) that can be at the basis of their clinical manifestations. Thus, among the large number of individuals at risk (due to frailty or MCI), there will undoubtedly be a subgroup with the features leading to unavoidable further decline, but there will also be a group, labeled as having a "positive" risk profile, who will not necessarily follow a negative trajectory, and is simply categorized as at risk due to a temporary/reversible condition and/or to a mistake in the evaluation process. The correct definition of these aspects is extremely relevant in terms of public health. The current trend is to extend the boundaries of clinical interventions to at-risk conditions, without adequately considering the possibility of spontaneous reversion, and this is unsustainable in terms of a health economics, because it exponentially increases the number of "individuals to treat."

Overall, these considerations underline the limits arising from attempting to approach age-related disabling conditions using the traditional medical approach based on a stand-alone disease model. The prevention of clinical conditions cannot meet the same standards and follow the methodologies applied in the treatment of diseases. Defining new conditions to treat does not mean carrying out effective preventive actions. The prevention of age-related conditions requires the adoption of a more naturalistic approach to older subjects, thus should be focused on identifying the trajectories of their functions rather than on a punctual assessment of (arbitrary and categorical) entities. The complexity of health conditions in older age and of age-related disorders might be better approached by adopting measures reflecting the trajectories of personal capacities and abilities, and identifying the interaction between the intrinsic characteristics of each subject and his/her environment (1). This model may better support the personalization of care and the implementation of person-tailored interventions. Special attention should also be devoted to those events or variables that may constitute "switching factors" along the individual's trajectories, thus positively or negatively modifying the direction of functional and clinical changes over time.

In conclusion, considering their unstable and potentially bidirectional course, MCI, frailty and other similar risk profiles associated with disabling conditions should not be framed into nosological conditions nor considered as prodromal phases

REFERENCES

- Beard JR, Officer A, de Carvalho IA, Sadana R, Pot AM, Michel JP, et al. The World Report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. *Lancet* (2016) 387(10033):2145–54. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15) 00516-4
- Beard JR, Bloom DE. Towards a comprehensive public health response to population ageing. *Lancet* (2015) 385(9968):658–61. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (14)61461-6
- Chatterji S, Byles J, Cutler D, Seeman T, Verdes E. Health, functioning, and disability in older adults – present status and future implications. *Lancet* (2015) 385(9967):563–75. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8
- WHO. World Report on Disability. WHO (2017). Available from: http://www. who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/report/en/
- Morley JE, Vellas B, van Kan GA, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2013) 14(6):392–7. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet (2013) 381(9868):752–62. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9
- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, van Kan GA, Ousset PJ, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) International Consensus Group. J Nutr Health Aging (2013) 17(9):726–34. doi:10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2
- Jessen F, Amariglio RE, van Boxtel M, Breteler M, Ceccaldi M, Chételat G, et al. A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* (2014) 10(6):844–52. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.01.001
- Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG, Kokmen E. Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Arch Neurol* (1999) 56(3):303–8. doi:10.1001/archneur.56.3.303
- Petersen RC, Caracciolo B, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L. Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *J Intern Med* (2014) 275(3):214–28. doi:10.1111/joim.12190
- Petersen RC. Clinical practice. Mild cognitive impairment. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(23):2227–34. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp0910237
- Pandya SY, Clem MA, Silva LM, Woon FL. Does mild cognitive impairment always lead to dementia? A review. J Neurol Sci (2016) 369:57–62. doi:10.1016/ j.jns.2016.07.055
- Canevelli M, Grande G, Lacorte E, Quarchioni E, Cesari M, Mariani C, et al. Spontaneous reversion of mild cognitive impairment to normal cognition: a systematic review of literature and meta-analysis. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2016) 17(10):943–8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.020
- Malek-Ahmadi M. Reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal cognition: a meta-analysis. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* (2016) 30(4):324–30. doi:10.1097/WAD.00000000000145

of an unavoidable subsequent disease. They should be more adequately approached as the heterogeneous at-risk conditions they were originally designed to be. Such more balanced perspective will allow to reduce the risk of over-diagnosis and over-treatment, and to improve the clinical and research standards in this field. Moreover, the progressive adoption of longitudinal constructs that are more precise at reflecting the complex functioning of aging people and at overcoming the weaknesses of traditional categorical frameworks should be promoted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MCa and MCe designed the study and wrote the manuscript. FR, CV, and EL participated in the review of the literature. GB and NV contributed to the discussion of the available evidence on the topic. All the authors were involved in drafting the manuscript.

- Grande G, Cucumo V, Cova I, Ghiretti R, Maggiore L, Lacorte E, et al. Reversible mild cognitive impairment: the role of comorbidities at baseline evaluation. J Alzheimers Dis (2016) 51(1):57–67. doi:10.3233/JAD-150786
- Roberts RO, Knopman DS, Mielke MM, Cha RH, Pankratz VS, Christianson TJH, et al. Higher risk of progression to dementia in mild cognitive impairment cases who revert to normal. *Neurology* (2014) 82(4):317–25. doi:10.1212/WNL. 00000000000055
- Sachdev PS, Lipnicki DM, Crawford J, Reppermund S, Kochan NA, Trollor JN, et al. Factors predicting reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal cognitive functioning: a population-based study. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(3):e59649. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059649
- Manly JJ, Tang M-X, Schupf N, Stern Y, Vonsattel J-PG, Mayeux R. Frequency and course of mild cognitive impairment in a multiethnic community. *Ann Neurol* (2008) 63(4):494–506. doi:10.1002/ana.21326
- Pérès K, Chrysostome V, Fabrigoule C, Orgogozo JM, Dartigues JF, Barberger-Gateau P. Restriction in complex activities of daily living in MCI: impact on outcome. *Neurology* (2006) 67(3):461–6. doi:10.1212/01.wnl. 0000228228.70065.f1
- Larrieu S, Letenneur L, Orgogozo JM, Fabrigoule C, Amieva H, Le Carret N, et al. Incidence and outcome of mild cognitive impairment in a population-based prospective cohort. *Neurology* (2002) 59(10):1594–9. doi:10.1212/01.WNL. 0000034176.07159.F8
- Hayden JA, Côté P, Bombardier C. Evaluation of the quality of prognosis studies in systematic reviews. *Ann Intern Med* (2006) 144(6):427–37. doi:10.7326/ 0003-4819-144-6-200603210-00010
- Koepsell TD, Monsell SE. Reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal or near-normal cognition: risk factors and prognosis. *Neurology* (2012) 79(15):1591–8. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826e26b7
- Lopez OL, Becker JT, Chang Y-F, Sweet RA, DeKosky ST, Gach MH, et al. Incidence of mild cognitive impairment in the Pittsburgh Cardiovascular Health Study-Cognition Study. *Neurology* (2012) 79(15):1599–606. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31826e25f0
- Doraiswamy PM, Sperling RA, Johnson K, Reiman EM, Wong TZ, Sabbagh MN, et al. Florbetapir F 18 amyloid PET and 36-month cognitive decline: a prospective multicenter study. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(9):1044–51. doi:10.1038/ mp.2014.9
- Cesari M, Prince M, Thiyagarajan JA, De Carvalho IA, Bernabei R, Chan P, et al. Frailty: an emerging public health priority. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2016) 17(3):188–92. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.12.016
- Ferrucci L, Cavazzini C, Corsi A, Bartali B, Russo CR, Lauretani F, et al. Biomarkers of frailty in older persons. J Endocrinol Invest (2002) 25(10 Suppl):10–5.
- Trevisan C, Veronese N, Maggi S, Baggio G, Toffanello ED, Zambon S, et al. Factors influencing transitions between frailty states in elderly adults: the Progetto Veneto Anziani Longitudinal Study. J Am Geriatr Soc (2017) 65(1):179–84. doi:10.1111/jgs.14515

- Jamsen KM, Bell JS, Hilmer SN, Kirkpatrick CMJ, Ilomäki J, Le Couteur D, et al. Effects of changes in number of medications and drug burden index exposure on transitions between frailty states and death: the Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project Cohort Study. J Am Geriatr Soc (2016) 64(1):89–95. doi:10.1111/jgs.13877
- Chong MS, Tay L, Chan M, Lim WS, Ye R, Tan EK, et al. Prospective longitudinal study of frailty transitions in a community-dwelling cohort of older adults with cognitive impairment. *BMC Geriatr* (2015) 15:175. doi:10.1186/ s12877-015-0174-1
- Lee JS, Auyeung TW, Leung J, Kwok T, Woo J. Transitions in frailty states among community-living older adults and their associated factors. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2014) 15(4):281–6. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.12.002
- Borrat-Besson C, Ryser V, Wernii B. Transition between frailty states a European comparison. In: Börsch-Supan A, Brandt M, Litwin H, Weber G, editors. Active Ageing and Solidarity between Generations in Europe – First Results from SHARE after the Economic Crisis. Germany: De Gruyter (2013). p. 175–86.
- 32. Espinoza SE, Jung I, Hazuda H. Frailty transitions in the San Antonio Longitudinal Study of Aging. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2012) 60(4):652–60. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03882.x
- Gill TM, Gahbauer EA, Allore HG, Han L. Transitions between frailty states among community-living older persons. *Arch Intern Med* (2006) 166(4): 418–23. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.4.418

- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56(3):M146–56. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146
- Canevelli M, Blasimme A, Vanacore N, Bruno G, Cesari M. From evidence to action: promoting a multidimensional approach to mild cognitive impairment. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2015) 16(8):710-1. doi:10.1016/ j.jamda.2015.04.013

Conflict of Interest Statement: MCe has received honoraria for presentations at scientific meetings and/or research funding from Nestlé and Pfizer. He is involved in the coordination of an Innovative Medicines Initiative-funded project [including partners from the European Federation Pharmaceutical Industries and Associates (Sanofi, Novartis, Servier, GSK, Lilly)]. The other authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Copyright © 2017 Canevelli, Bruno, Remiddi, Vico, Lacorte, Vanacore and Cesari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Worry About Caregiving Performance: A Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Ruijie Li^{1,2}, Mei Sian Chong³, Peng Chew Mark Chan^{4,5}, Bee Gek Laura Tay⁶, Noorhazlina Binte Ali^{4,5} and Wee Shiong Lim^{4,5}*

¹ Health Services and Outcomes Research, National Healthcare Group, Singapore, Singapore, ²Biostatistics and Health Informatics Department, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ³Geriatric Education and Research Institute, Singapore, Singapore, ⁴Cognition and Memory Disorders Service, Department of Geriatric Medicine, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ⁵Institute of Geriatrics and Active Ageing, National Healthcare Group, Singapore, Singapore, ⁶Sengkang Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

Recent studies on the Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) support the existence of a unique factor, worry about caregiving performance (WaP), beyond role and personal strain. Our current study aims to confirm the existence of WaP within the multidimensionality of ZBI and to determine if predictors of WaP differ from the role and personal strain. We performed confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) on 466 caregiver-patient dyads to compare between one-factor (total score), two-factor (role/personal strain), three-factor (role/personal strain and WaP), and four-factor models (role strain split into two factors). We conducted linear regression analyses to explore the relationships between different ZBI factors with socio-demographic and disease characteristics, and investigated the stage-dependent differences between WaP with role and personal strain by dyadic relationship. The four-factor structure that incorporated WaP and split role strain into two factors yielded the best fit. Linear regression analyses reveal that different variables significantly predict WaP (adult child caregiver and Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q) severity) from role/personal strain (adult child caregiver, instrumental activities of daily living, and NPI-Q distress). Unlike other factors, WaP was significantly endorsed in early cognitive impairment. Among spouses, WaP remained low across Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) stages until a sharp rise in CDR 3; adult child and sibling caregivers experience a gradual rise throughout the stages. Our results affirm the existence of WaP as a unique factor. Future research should explore the potential of WaP as a possible intervention target to improve self-efficacy in the milder stages of burden.

Keywords: Zarit Burden Interview, caregivers, dementia, dimensions, factor analysis

INTRODUCTION

Dementia is a disease that is frequently associated with significant caregiving burden. One of the most widely used instruments to quantify caregiving burden is the Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) (1). The ZBI has been validated in different populations and has been shown to be invariant across different educational levels and gender (2). The degree of caregiving burden has traditionally been assessed using pre-defined cutoffs on the ZBI total score, essentially constituting a unidimensional approach (3, 4). Subsequent studies have since pointed toward caregiving burden as a multidimensional

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maw Pin Tan, University of Malaya, Malaysia

Reviewed by:

Tien K. Khoo, Griffith University, Australia Akin Ojagbemi, University of Ibadan, Nigeria

*Correspondence: Wee Shiong Lim wee_shiong_lim@ttsh.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 25 September 2017 Accepted: 08 March 2018 Published: 22 March 2018

Citation:

Li R, Chong MS, Chan PCM, Tay BGL, Ali NB and Lim WS (2018) Worry About Caregiving Performance: A Confirmatory Factor Analysis. Front. Med. 5:79. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00079 construct. The seminal study by Whitlatch and colleagues was the first to outline the dual-factor structure of role and personal strain as distinct constructs measured by the ZBI (5). Role strain refers to how the caregiving role is in conflict with other roles that the caregiver has to manage while personal strain refers to how the caregiving experience is personally stressful. Subsequent studies have built upon the general structure of role and personal strain and partially replicated the factor structure (6-10). This partial replication across diverse populations with cultural and societal differences (11) raises the possibility of a latent dimension beyond the general structure of role and personal strain.

Of note, a factor has consistently emerged in recent studies, known variously as: "self-criticism" (9, 10, 12), "guilt"(13–15), "feelings of inadequacy" (16, 17), and "worry about performance" (7, 8). This factor highlights a distinct dimension of burden describing caregiver concerns about doing more (item 20) and doing a better job (item 21), either in isolation or in combination with other items (3). It represents a conceptual continuum of a negative aspect of caregiving arising from self-appraisal of caregiving performance (18), ranging from milder degrees of "inadequacy" and "worry" to "self-criticism" and "guilt" on the severe end. The low correlation with other factors and total ZBI score, consistency of items 20 and 21 co-occurring in same factor, and its conceptual consistency across the continuum of selfappraisal of caregiving performance corroborate the existence of this unique construct within the ZBI.

This provided the basis for our earlier proposal that there are three key dimensions that underpin ZBI-defined burden, namely role strain, personal strain, and the unique factor comprising items 20 and 21, which we termed worry about caregiving performance (WaP) (3). Using exploratory factor analysis in a multiethnic Chinese predominant Asian context, we demonstrated the presence of the unique factor WaP above and beyond role and personal strain (8). In addition, our factor solutions outlined two possible components of "role strain" comprising "role strain (demands)" and "role strain (control)." These findings are consistent with the broader literature that reports the multidimensionality of ZBI beyond the dual-factor structure, which was originally proposed by Whitlatch and colleagues (5). The number of ZBI factors reported in these studies ranged from three to five, suggesting that additional factors beyond the three core components may represent variants of either role or personal strain. In support of this, a recent study in an Asian Chinese population similarly reported an optimal four-factor structure comprising two factors of role strain (captivity and loss of control), and one factor each of personal strain and self-criticism (items 20 and 21) (9).

The relationship between WaP with various socio-demographic and diseases characteristics is hitherto not well understood. Unlike role strain and personal strain, stressors of functional impairment and neuropsychiatric symptoms do not predict WaP (3, 8, 13). Previous studies reported younger age of caregiver as a major predictor of WaP and a significant elevation of scores in the mild stage (3, 8, 13). This suggests that the inverse relationship of age with WaP is indicative of higher levels of WaP burden among adult children relative to spousal and other caregivers (19). The influence of relationship with care recipient on the variation of WaP across the severity spectrum of cognitive impairment remains to be elucidated (8). Earlier studies also focused on the impact of severity of neuropsychiatric symptoms rather than the resultant distress from these symptoms (3, 13).

This provided the impetus for our current follow-up study in a separate cohort of predominantly Chinese multiethnic Asian population attending a memory clinic. Our primary objective was to determine if WaP is a unique factor that exists within the ZBI, and whether splitting role strain into two factors contributes to a better model fit as opposed to keeping it intact as one factor. The secondary objective was to explore the relationships of the various factors of ZBI in relation to socio-demographic variables and disease characteristics, and how relationship with care recipient (adult children, spouse and sibling) can influence the factor scores across the severity spectrum of cognitive impairment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This is a cross-sectional study of 466 caregiver-patient dyads of community-dwelling older adults with cognitive complaints presenting for the first time to the Memory Clinic, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore, from January 2010 to December 2011. The study was approved by the institutional review board of the National Healthcare Group.

We included caregiver-patient dyads who fulfilled the following criteria: (1) patients who were aged 55 years and above with a Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) (20) global score of >0 and a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia; (2) community-dwelling patients who were not residing in an assisted living facility or nursing home; (3) primary caregiver of the patient, defined as the family member above 21 years of age who was most involved in the provision of day-to-day care and who was familiar with the patient's medical and social condition. We excluded the following categories of caregivers: (1) nonfamily members (e.g., domestic helper, friend); (2) inability to converse fluently in English or Mandarin; (3) refusal to fill out the ZBI. Among 784 caregiver-patient dyads presenting for the first time to the memory clinic over the 2-year period, 466 caregiverpatient dyads were recruited based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Assessment

Details of the evaluative approach at the memory clinic have been previously described (21). All MCI and dementia subjects in this study underwent detailed semi-structured clinical evaluation, as well as relevant laboratory investigations and neuroimaging to exclude potentially reversible causes of cognitive impairment. Standardized neuropsychological assessment was performed on all MCI subjects. A consensus meeting was conducted to determine the diagnosis, etiology, and staging of cognitive impairment based on inputs from the multi-disciplinary team comprising physicians, nurse clinicians, and psychologists.

The severity of cognitive impairment was staged using the CDR (20). A CDR of 0 indicates no cognitive impairment; 0.5 indicates either MCI or very mild dementia; and 1, 2, and 3 indicate mild, moderate, and severe dementia, respectively. Convergent validity

of the CDR to discriminate milder stages of dementia has been demonstrated locally (22). Our operational definition of the MCI subgroup in accordance with the International Working Group criteria has been previously described (21). Dementia was diagnosed according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (23). The dementia etiologic subgroups of Alzheimer's disease (AD), vascular dementia (VD) and mixed dementia were made using standardized criteria such as National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders & Stroke—Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) (24) and National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke— Association Internationale pour la Recherche et l'Enseignement en Neurosciences (NINDS-AIREN) (25).

Measurements and Instruments

We collected socio-demographic characteristics of the patients and caregivers such as age, gender, ethnicity, level of education, family relationship (spouse, adult children, sibling, or others), and living situation (with or apart from patient). Cognition was assessed using the Chinese Mini Mental Status Examination (CMMSE), which has been validated locally (26). This version has modifications made to the original instrument to ensure its relevance locally. This modified instrument has a total score of 28 with lower scores indicating lower cognitive abilities.

Functional assessment consisted of the Modified Barthel Index (MBI) (27) and the Lawton scale (28). The MBI measures the degree of independence in 10 self-care tasks. It is scored 0 to 100 with a higher score indicating greater independence in basic activities of daily living (BADL). The Lawton scale measures the degree of independence in more complex instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) such as housekeeping, shopping, handling finances, and meal preparation. Patients were scored 0 to 23 with higher scores indicating greater independence.

Neuropsychiatric symptoms were assessed using the Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q) (29). The two components of the NPI-Q, severity and distress, were scored 0 to 3 and 0 to 5, respectively. Severity is an indication of seriousness and distress is an indication of the stress experienced by the caregiver for a symptom or area of concern. Both the severity and distress scores were used as they reflect different perspectives in relation to caregiving burden from the patient and caregiver, respectively.

Caregiver burden was measured using the Zarit Caregiver Burden (ZBI), which is a self-administered 22-item instrument for caregivers (1). The questions are scored on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 0 to 4 corresponding to "never," "rarely," "sometimes," "quite frequently," and "nearly always." Individual items are summated to yield a maximum possible score of 88, with higher scores indicating greater burden. For caregivers who were unable to comprehend the English version, a validated Chinese version was used instead (30). The validation of the Chinese version included back-translation procedures which ensured that both versions are being interpreted similarly. This mitigates concerns of the threats to internal validity in the use of both languages.

Statistical Analysis

We made comparisons of model fits between five different factor models of ZBI derived from literature and previous work, such as (1) unidimensional model (all items); (2) two-factor model comprising role strain (items 1, 4, 5, 8, 9, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, and 21) and personal strain (items 2, 3, 6, 11, 12, and 13) (5); (3) three-factor model adapted from Cheah and colleagues (8), comprising a single role strain factor (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 11, 12, 14, 13, 15, 16, 17, and 18), a personal strain factor (items 5, 6, 9, 10, 19, and 22) and WaP (items 20, 21); (4) four-factor model following the original four factors of Cheah and colleagues (8), namely role strain due to demands of care (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 11, 12, and 14), role strain secondary to loss of control over the situation (items 13, 15, 16, 17, and 18), personal strain and worry about performance and (5) four-factor model by Cheng and colleagues (9) comprising captivity (items 11, 12, 13 and 14), loss of control (items 16, 17 and 19), personal strain (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10), and self-criticism (items 20 and 21).

We included item 22 ("Overall, how burdened do you feel in caring for your relative?") in the analysis. Several prior studies opted not to include this item (9, 12, 15, 17, 31, 32) while others did (6–8, 13, 33, 34). The studies that included item 22 cited its global nature and high correlation with other factors of the ZBI as a reason to exclude it from analysis. While item 22 theoretically represents an overall perception of burden by the caregivers, caregivers may interpret it differently and align their answer closer to one of the latent factors. This is evident from its loading on the personal strain factor in our prior study (8). To be conceptually aligned with these prior results, we elected to retain item 22 in the analyses.

We conducted confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to determine if the presence of WaP (models 3-5) improves the model fit compared with total ZBI score (model 1) and role/personal strain (model 2). CFA was also used to assess if splitting role strain into two factors (models 4 and 5) is superior to retaining it as one factor (model 3). Robust weighted least squares were used as the estimator for the CFA as the ZBI is an ordinal scale. We used different indices to compare the fit of the four models: γ^2 , root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), non-normed fit index (NNFI), and comparative fit index (CFI). We used the criteria proposed by Hu and Bentler (35) to determine a good fit, namely RMSEA (<0.06), SRMR (<0.08), NNFI (>0.95), and CFI (>0.95). In addition, we compared all the models against the one-factor model using χ^2 difference tests as the one-factor model is nested within all models with more than one factor.

From the best fitting model, factor scores for each factor were computed for use in the subsequent analyses. We computed correlations between the factors to determine how they relate to each other. We also performed multiple linear regression analyses to explore the relationships between ZBI total and factor scores with the candidate predictor variables MBI, Lawton IADL, NPI-Q severity, NPI-Q distress, and CMMSE. These variables were chosen based on previous work (3) with three modifications. First, we included both scales of the NPI-Q to better understand the differential impact of symptom severity versus resultant distress on caregiver burden. Second, we included the CDR stage of the patient to determine if disease severity had any bearing on the level of burden on the caregivers. Third, we substituted caregiver age with "relationship with patient" due to strong collinearity between these two variables, assessed using generalized variance inflation factors and correlation matrices. We chose to include "relationship with patient" in the final model as we wanted to ascertain whether our previous finding of a relationship between younger age and caregiving burden could be explained by different dyadic relationship with the care recipient (3). To further clarify this relationship, we investigated the profile of each factor score across CDR score ranges, stratified by dyadic relationship. CDR was used as it is a uniform gauge of the severity of dementia in general (36).

All analyses were conducted using R 3.1.2 and Mplus 7. Descriptive statistics were used to describe our sample. Mean and standard deviation values were computed for continuous variables, and frequencies were computed for categorical variables. For inferential statistics, the *p*-value threshold considered significant was set at 0.05. Missing data and some sociodemographic variables were present in the ZBI. For the ZBI, we imputed the seven cases with one missing data point per case with the median of each question. The median was used to retain the ordinal nature and interpretability of the scale used in the ZBI. For socio-demographic variables, the 63 cases with missing data were not significantly different in all measures reported in the study (*p* > 0.05) and hence were excluded from regression analyses.

RESULTS

Characteristics of Caregivers and Patients

Four-hundred sixty-six caregiver-patients dyads were included in the study (Table 1). Caregivers had a mean age of 53.8 years (SD = 13.5) and were predominantly Chinese female with an average of 11 years of formal education (SD = 4.5). Most of the caregivers were adult children (61.4%) followed by spouses (26.6%). The patients had a mean age of 76.4 years (SD = 7.4), were predominantly female Chinese with an average of 4.9 years of formal education (SD = 4.7). Compared with adult children caregivers, sibling caregivers tended to be older [age, mean (SD): 47.43 (8.70) vs. 64.63 (9.07)] and mainly females (65.73 vs. 87.50%). Most of the patients were diagnosed with AD (53.2%) followed by other forms of dementia (i.e., not VD or mixed dementia) (21.1%). The majority (44.2%) had mild dementia (CDR 1.0), followed by moderate dementia (CDR 2.0) (27.3%). The mean total ZBI score was 24.9 (SD = 17.4), and the mean factor z-scores were -0.003 (SD = 0.978), -0.008 (SD = 0.976), 0.002 (SD = 0.957), and 0.024 (SD = 0.859) for personal strain, role strain (control), role strain (demands), and WaP, respectively.

CFA of ZBI

The χ^2 difference tests were all significant, suggesting that models with more than one factor fit the data better than the one-factor model. **Table 2** shows the fit indices used to determine the best fit among the four factor models. RMSEA, NNFI, and CFI do not fit the criteria for a good fit for all five models. For SRMR, all

TABLE 1 | Sample characteristics (n = 466).

Age in years	76.4 (7.4)
Female gender, n (%)	275 (59.0)
Education level in years	4.9 (4.7)
Ethnic Group, n (%)	1.0 (1.1)
Chinese	417 (89.5)
Malay	14 (3.0)
Indian	29 (6.2)
Others	6 (1.3)
Disease characteristics	- (-)
Global CDR score, n (%)	
CDR 0.5 (MCI)	58 (12.4)
CDR 0.5 (very mild dementia)	60 (12.9)
CDR 1.0 (mild dementia)	206 (44.2)
CDR 2.0 (moderate dementia)	127 (27.3)
CDR 3.0 (severe dementia)	15 (3.2)
Dementia types, n (%) ^a	
AD	217 (53.2)
VD	79 (19.4)
Mixed AD/VD	26 (6.4)
Others	86 (21.1)
CMMSE (range 0–28)	16.6 (6.1)
BADL (range 0–100)	92.9 (36.4)
IADL (range 0–23)	12.2 (5.9)
NPI-Q	
Severity (range 0–36)	5.6 (5.0)
Distress (range 0–60)	5.9 (7.3)
Caregiver characteristics	
Age in years	53.8 (13.5)
Female gender, n (%)	287 (61.6)
Education level in years	11 (4.5)
Relationship with patient, n (%)	
Spouse	124 (26.6)
Adult children	286 (61.4)
Sibling	8 (1.7)
Others	48 (10.3)
Living with patient, n (%)	351 (75.3)
ZBI score (range 0–88)	24.9 (17.4

an = 408, excluding MCl cases.

Mean (SD) unless otherwise stated.

AD, Alzheimer's dementia; BADL, Basic Activities of Daily Living; CDR, Clinical Dementia Rating; CMMSE, Chinese Mini Mental Status Examination; IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; NPI-Q, Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire; VD, Vascular dementia; ZBI, Zarit Burden Interview.

the models fit the criteria for a good fit with the exception of the one-factor model. In making the comparison to determine if the presence of WaP improved model fit, we noted that NNFI for factor models without WaP was lower than models with WaP. This is of particular significance as NNFI penalizes models for greater complexity and the factor models with WaP are more complex than the factor models without WaP.

We also compared the three- and four-factor models from our previous work to determine if splitting role strain into two factors is better than keeping it as one. The fit indices unanimously indicate that the four-factor models were superior in fit to the three-factor model although the differences were quite small. In view of the better explanatory power of the four-factor model, we opted to use the four-factor model for further analyses. **Table 3** shows the standardized factor loadings and standard errors of the four-factor model.

TABLE 2 | CFA fit indices.

	df	χ^2		RMSEA	SRMR	NNFI	CFI
1 factor (Zarit and Zarit, 1982) (37)	209	1849.888	***	0.130	0.080	0.863	0.876
2 factor (Whitlatch et al., 1991) (5)	134	1543.840	***	0.150	0.087	0.844	0.864
3 factor (Cheah et al., 2012) (8)	206	1018.985	***	0.092	0.065	0.931	0.939
4 factor (Cheah et al., 2012) (8)	203	969.183	***	0.090	0.063	0.934	0.942
4 factor (Cheng et al., 2014) (9)	129	689.290	***	0.097	0.061	0.938	0.948

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

CFA, confirmatory factor analysis; CFI, Comparative Fit Index; df, degrees of freedom; NNFI, Non-normed Fit Index; RMSEA, Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; SRMR, Standardized Root Mean Square Residual.

TABLE 3 | Standardized factor loadings and standard errors for the four-factor

 Zarit Burden Interview model (8).

Items	Role strain (control)	Role strain (demands)	Personal strain	Worry about caregiving performance	SE
101	0.587				0.032
102	0.822				0.017
103	0.834				0.016
104	0.640				0.033
107	0.611				0.030
108	0.718				0.026
11	0.846				0.017
112	0.859				0.016
14	0.656				0.029
113		0.779			0.028
115		0.660			0.031
116		0.835			0.021
17		0.881			0.018
118		0.796			0.023
105			0.709		0.027
106			0.733		0.026
109			0.826		0.017
110			0.811		0.021
119			0.716		0.026
122			0.852		0.016
120				0.957	0.028
121				0.807	0.029

Correlations

Correlation analysis was performed using the four factors as reported by Cheah and colleagues (8) (**Table 4**). WaP correlated only moderately with the other three factors (r = 0.572-0.588, p < 0.001) and total ZBI (r = 0.624, p < 0.001), unlike the high correlation seen among the other factor scores (r = 0.956-0.991, p < 0.001).

Predictors of Different Factors of ZBI

Linear regressions conducted on ZBI total and factor scores were all significant (p < 0.05), with the WaP model having a much lower adjusted R^2 (0.091) compared to the other models (0.251–0.283) (**Table 5**). Significant predictors for total ZBI, role strain (demands), role strain (confidence), and personal strain are relationship (adult child), IADL and NPI-Q distress, compared with relationship (adult child) and NPI-Q severity for WaP. Notably, IADL and NPI-Q distress were significantly associated with all factors of the ZBI except for WaP; the reverse was true for NPI-Q severity. BADL, CMMSE, caregiver gender, co-residence, and severity of dementia (relative to MCI as reference group) did not predict total ZBI or factor scores.

Relationship Across Disease Severity by Different Dyadic Relationships

WaP exhibits a unique trajectory across the CDR stages by different dyadic relationships when compared with the other three factors (**Figure 1**). A limitation of the plot is the lack of data points for MCI and CDR 3 for the "sibling as caregiver" plot. In all three dyadic relationships, WaP had the highest score in MCI and CDR 0.5 dementia. Among adult child and sibling caregivers, WaP showed only a modest increase moving across the CDR stages, in contrast to the much steeper increase with increasing dementia severity for the other three factors. Among spousal caregivers, WaP remains relatively stable from MCI to CDR 2, unlike the general trend of increase for the other factors; all four factors exhibit a corresponding steep rise moving from CDR 2 to 3 stages.

DISCUSSION

Our study adds to the growing body of evidence that supports the existence of WaP as a distinct dimension of caregiving burden, and thus corroborates our earlier proposal that the three key dimensions of role strain, personal strain, and WaP underpin the multidimensionality of ZBI-defined burden. It also supports splitting role strain into two factors given the superior model fit. In addition, the regression analysis furthered our understanding of the predictors of WaP by highlighting the differential impact of NPI-Q distress relative to NPI-severity, and affirming the influence of dyadic relationship in previously reported observations of an inverse age relationship with WaP. To our knowledge, this is also the first study to demonstrate how WaP trends differently across the CDR stages for different dyadic relationships compared to the other three factors.

Comparisons of the models within a CFA framework provided the first piece of evidence that WaP is a distinct dimension of caregiving burden. While the majority of fit indices suggest that the data did not have a good fit with the various competing models, there is a consistent trend of superior fit indices in all models that incorporated WaP. Second, the weaker correlation of WaP with total ZBI score and the other factors supports that WaP measures a distinct domain when compared to role and personal strain. Third, in regression analysis, the WaP model has a much lower R^2 and yielded predictors that differ from the more "conventional" predictors of role and personal strain. Fourth, WaP exhibits a

	Role strain (demands)	Role strain (control)	Personal strain	Worry about performance	ZBI total
Role strain (demands)		***	***	***	***
Role strain (control)	0.966		***	***	***
Personal strain	0.990	0.991		***	***
Worry about performance	0.572	0.588	0.587		***
ZBI total	0.956	0.960	0.966	0.624	

TABLE 4 | Correlation matrix between factors and total ZBI score and Cronbach's a

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

ZBI, Zarit Burden Interview.

distinct trajectory across the different stages of cognitive impairment for different dyadic relationships. Taken together, the above evidence strongly supports the construct validity of WaP as a distinct dimension within ZBI-defined burden.

The CFA also provides evidence that splitting role strain into two factors contributes to a better model fit as opposed to keeping it intact as one factor. While the improvement in fit indices may be slight, earlier studies suggest that the items assigned to the two factors of role strain are qualitatively different (8, 9). One role strain factor assesses the demands of care imposed on the caregiver while the other role strain factor assesses the amount of confidence and control over situations imposed by the caregiving role (8). Thus, both factors relate to distinct aspects of the role of a caregiver, differentiating them from personal strain and WaP factors.

In our regression analyses, we also explicated the discordance in earlier studies regarding the influence of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) on WaP (8, 9). Specifically, we found that NPI-Q distress was a significant predictor for both role and personal strain, while NPI-Q severity was a significant predictor for WaP. This difference suggests that different mechanisms possibly drive the different factors of caregiving burden. For role and personal strain, the appraisal of how each neuropsychiatric symptom is distressing possibly relates more to the amount of effort the caregiver has to put in to properly assume the role and manage their own psychological well-being (38). In contrast, for WaP, the caregiver may associate the severity of neuropsychiatric symptoms as a reflection of how well one is performing as a caregiver, thus resulting in burden arising from worry about one's caregiving performance (3, 18). These results suggest the importance of managing both the severity and distress from BPSD to address different aspects of caregiving burden.

While the difference in general burden levels between the adult child and spouse is well documented (39), this study is the first to investigate the stage-dependent differences between WaP and other factor scores by dyadic relationship. Our results affirm the findings of earlier studies that unlike the other factors, WaP is significantly endorsed even in the milder stages of cognitive impairment (3, 8). Investigation of the interaction between dyadic relationship and stage of cognitive impairment further reveals that WaP increased only slightly in CDR 2–3 among adult children/sibling caregivers, unlike spousal caregivers where WaP remained relatively stable until the steep rise in CDR 3. This suggests a differential pattern of self-appraisal of caregiving performance between the two groups. Among adult

children caregivers, WaP may represent in the milder stages of cognitive impairment worry and anxiety about caregiving performance in relation to the strong sense of obligation on assuming the caregiving role, which can progress to more complicated feelings associated with caregiving such as selfcriticism and inadequacy if left unaddressed (3, 17). In contrast, among spousal caregivers, the sharp rise of WaP in CDR 3 may herald the onset of guilt in conjunction with overall caregiver stress arising from decompensated coping mechanisms due to increased care demands from functional needs or behavioral disturbances (3, 13). This corresponds to earlier findings that WaP interacts with personal strain to increase total ZBI in higher burden states (3).

Our results raise the intriguing question about the possible relationship between WaP with mastery and self-efficacy beliefs among caregivers. Self-efficacy refers to an individual's assessment of his or her ability to perform specific activities and achieve a desired outcome (40). Whereas the related concept of mastery refers to a global assessment (41), self-efficacy pertains to beliefs about one's competence to successfully perform discrete or specific tasks. Self-efficacy beliefs influence the initiation and maintenance of effort in demanding situations, and may vary across specific activities of caregiving such as performing ADLs, handling problem behaviors, and use of community support services (42). Self-efficacy has been found to predict caregiver burden and depressive symptoms (43, 44); it also mediates the influence of social support on caregiver well-being, as well as the response to skill-building psychoeducational intervention programs (45, 46). An understanding of the natural history of WaP and how it interacts with selfefficacy may provide useful insights about potential interventional strategies. For instance, caregivers with milder degrees of WaP burden and low self-efficacy may benefit from specific intervention programs to equip them with the necessary coping skills, thereby increasing the sense of self-efficacy and mastery and averting the slippery slope to more negative appraisals of one's caregiving performance that may result in guilt, overall caregiver stress, and ultimately burnout (47). Future studies should explore whether WaP, akin to the more established factors of role and personal strain, can be amenable to intervention if detected early (48, 49). This is especially salient in light of the findings that WaP, unlike the other dimensions, occurs early in MCI and CDR 0.5 dementia (8), and in the trajectory of multidimensional ZBI burden (14).

Taken together, our results corroborate WaP as a unique factor that is distinct from role or personal strain. We

		Total ZBI	8		Ro	Role strain (demands)	emands)		ŭ	Role strain (control)	ontrol)			Personal strain	train		Worr	Worry about performance	formance
Regression	q	e	p-Value	ne	q	ę	p-Value	ø	q	g	p-Value	e	q	ę	p-Value	ne	q	g	p-Value
Relationship with care recipient (reference: spouse)	t (reference	es spouse)																	
Adult child	0.207	0.126	0.023	*	0.245	0.123	0.029	*	0.316	0.161	0.005	**	0.284	0.142	0.012	*	0.329	0.184	0.003
Sibling	0.509	0.092	0.048	*	0.506	0.075	0.112		0.693	0.104	0.029	*	0.631	0.093	0.049	*	-0.062	-0.010	0.845
Others	0.085	0.016	0.726		0.086	0.014	0.772		0.032	0.005	0.915		0.053	0.008	0.860		0.172	0:030	0.562
Caregiver gender (reference: female)	emale)																		
Male	-0.007	-0.004	0.918		-0.032	-0.016	0.716		0.002	0.001	0.986		-0.014	-0.007	0.874		-0.081	-0.045	0.359
Living with care recipient (reference: no)	rence: no)																		
Yes	0.022	0.012	0.796		0.039	0.017	0.714		0.025	0.011	0.812		0.025	0.011	0.813		-0.151	-0.071	0.158
Caregiver education	-0.010	-0.061	0.244		-0.008	-0.039	0.457		-0.016	-0.080	0.134		-0.012	-0.060	0.258		-0.002	-0.011	0.853
BADL (0-100)	-0.001	-0.026	0.581		-0.001	-0.023	0.638		0.000	-0.013	0.792		0.000	-0.013	0.794		0.001	0.057	0.288
IADL (0-23)	-0.017	-0.129	0.031	*	-0.028	-0.175	0.004	**	-0.025	-0.156	0.011	*	-0.025	-0.159	0.009	**	0.003	0.021	0.756
NPI-Q severity (0-36)	0.011	0.071	0.407		0.007	0.040	0.647		0.014	0.077	0.375		0.010	0.055	0.522		0.032	0.189	0.049
NPI-Q distress (0–60)	0.035	0.336	0.000	***	0.042	0.323	0.000	***	0.037	0.289	0.001	***	0.041	0.321	0.000	***	0.001	0.009	0.924
CMMSE (0-28)	0.004	0:030	0.635		0.006	0.037	0.565		0.005	0.034	0.606		0.006	0.037	0.567		-0.002	-0.011	0.875
CDR [Reference: CDR 0.5 (MCI)]	[0																		
CDR 0.5 (very mild dementia)	-0.081	-0.035	0.550		-0.121	-0.043	0.469		-0.076	-0.027	0.650		-0.099	-0.035	0.557		0.240	0.095	0.151
CDR 1.0 (mild dementia)	0.060	0.039	0.610		0.059	0.031	0.686		0.081	0.044	0.576		0.069	0.037	0.637		0.160	0.094	0.272
CDR 2.0 (moderate dementia)	0.198	0.114	0.205		0.198	0.094	0.304		0.172	0.083	0.370		0.185	0.088	0.340		0.326	0.173	060.0
CDR 3.0 (severe dementia)	0.438	0.092	0.114		0.541	0.094	0.114		0.418	0.074	0.220		0.514	0.089	0.136		0.441	0.085	0.196
Adjusted R ²	0.285		0.000	***	0.262		0.000	***	0.248		0.000	***	0.260		000	***	0.091		0.000

basic activities of daily living; IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; NPI-Q, Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.</p>
BADL, basic activities of daily living; conceptualize WaP as part of a broader concept of self-appraisal of caregiving performance that encompasses both positive and negative valences (3, 18). Rather than a yes/no dichotomous phenomenon, WaP is likely to represent a continuum that ranges from more positive aspects of conscientious and wanting to do better, through intermediate degrees of inadequacy and self-criticism, to guilt and shame at the negative end of the extreme. However, given that it only has two items, it is inherently an unreliable factor and a decision needs to be made to either remove it from the ZBI or to expand it (9, 50). Taking into account the insights that WaP can confer, especially when viewed in relation to stage of disease, nature of the dyadic relationship, interaction with role strain and possibly self-efficacy in influencing overall burden, we argue that the information provided by WaP in enhancing our understanding of the caregiving burden phenomena would be too rich to ignore (3, 13, 50). In support of this, a recent study of the 12-item ZBI in Hong Kong Chinese dementia caregiver found Bédard's twofactor model of personal strain and role strain to be inadequate, and that the best fit was obtained with a three-factor model that also included "self-criticism" comprising items 20 and 21 (10). Acknowledging the need for brevity in a clinical instrument, our approach may be the first to expand the number of items to better delineate the WaP construct before employing item-reduction strategies to only retain items that show good psychometric properties.

Some limitations are worth noting. While the cross-sectional design is adequate in validating the four-factor model in a fresh sample, novel findings such as the difference across CDR stages for different dyadic relationships need to be interpreted with caution and preferably replicated in longitudinal studies. The lack of comprehensive data across the spectrum of cognitive impairment in the sibling group also limits interpretability. In addition, the small R^2 for the regression models suggests that there are other unaccounted-for factors that affect the variance of total ZBI and its dimensions in the models. For instance, information on socioeconomic factors such as financial status, whether one or more caregivers were involved and the degree of social support from other family caregivers, as well as variability in and access to healthcare services and community support, are potentially important factors that can mediate burden. Also, our study population of "middle-old" patients in a predominantly Chinese multiethnic population in an Asian country may limit the generalizability of our findings to the "oldest-old" (51) and other sociocultural context; nonetheless, the coherence with other studies across different cultures that demonstrated WaP to be a distinct factor supports that WaP is possibly a phenomenon that is applicable across different cultures. Finally, to retain the representativeness of our sample relative to the naturalistic multiethnic setting of Singapore, we elected to retain the Malay and Indian participants in our study. Similarly, to avoid selecting a skewed population of more highly educated English-speaking caregivers, we employed both English and Chinese versions of the ZBI so that the subset of non-English-speaking caregivers would not be excluded. We were mindful to utilize a rigorously validated version of the ZBI (30) and believe that this would also improve the external validity of our results in other multiethnic societies.



In conclusion, our study supports the findings of earlier studies that WaP is a distinct dimension of caregiving burden in addition to role and personal strain in the multidimensional of ZBI-defined burden. The four-factor structure that splits role strain into two factors yielded the best fit. WaP is predicted by NPI-severity and adult child relationship, but not NPI-distress or physical function. Understanding how WaP trends across the CDR stages for different dyadic relationships can fuel future research to explore the potential of WaP as a possible intervention target in the milder stages of burden if detected early. Moving forward, we therefore recommend an expansion of items in WaP and that future studies examine burden as a multidimensional construct beyond the total score to incorporate role strain, personal strain, and WaP. More research is also needed to understand the impact on caregiver burden of subjective presenting complaint and objective primary domain of cognitive involvement, and whether this can help to delineate subsets of WaP.

REFERENCES

- Zarit SH, Reever KE, Bach-Peterson J. Relatives of the impaired elderly: correlates of feelings of burden. *Gerontologist* (1980) 20(6):649–55. doi:10.1093/ geront/20.6.649
- Lin C-Y, Ku L-JE, Pakpour AH. Measurement invariance across educational levels and gender in 12-item Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) on caregivers of people with dementia. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2017) 29(11):1841–8. doi:10.1017/ S1041610217001417
- Lim WS, Cheah WK, Ali N, Han HC, Anthony PV, Chan M, et al. Worry about performance: a unique dimension of caregiver burden. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2014) 26(04):677–86. doi:10.1017/S1041610213002445
- Lau S, Chong MS, Ali N, Chan M, Chua KC, Lim WS. Caregiver burden. Alz Dis Assoc Disord (2015) 29(4):338–46. doi:10.1097/WAD.0000000000000085
- 5. Whitlatch CJ, Zarit SH, von Eye A. Efficacy of interventions with caregivers: a reanalysis. *Gerontologist* (1991) 31(1):9–14. doi:10.1093/geront/31.1.9
- Hébert R, Bravo G, Préville M. Reliability, validity and reference values of the Zarit burden interview for assessing informal caregivers of communitydwelling older persons with dementia. *Can J Aging* (2000) 19(04):494–507. doi:10.1017/S0714980800012484

ETHICS STATEMENT

As this study involved the retrospective review of medical records of patients attending the Memory clinic as part of a registered database, waiver of informed consent was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Healthcare Group.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RL was responsible for data analysis and writing the manuscript. WL supervised the data analysis and was involved in the critical appraisal of the manuscript. MC, PC, BT and NA were involved in study design and critical appraisal of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge the help of Ms Tengku Mohd K. Shariffah Mahanum in the data collection process.

- Leggett AN, Zarit S, Taylor A, Galvin JE. Stress and burden among caregivers of patients with lewy body dementia. *Gerontologist* (2010) 51(1):76–85. doi:10.1093/geront/gnq055
- Cheah WK, Han HC, Chong MS, Anthony PV, Lim WS. Multidimensionality of the Zarit Burden Interview across the severity spectrum of cognitive impairment: an Asian perspective. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2012) 24(11):1846–54. doi:10.1017/S104161021200110X
- Cheng ST, Kwok T, Lam LC. Dimensionality of burden in Alzheimer caregivers: confirmatory factor analysis and correlates of the Zarit Burden Interview. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2014) 26(9):1455–63. doi:10.1017/ S104161021400101X
- Tang JY, Ho AH, Luo H, Wong GH, Lau BH, Lum TY, et al. Validating a Cantonese short version of the Zarit Burden Interview (CZBI-Short) for dementia caregivers. *Aging Ment Health* (2016) 20(9):996–1001. doi:10.1080/ 13607863.2015.1047323
- Knight BG, Sayegh P. Cultural values and caregiving: the updated sociocultural stress and coping model. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci (2009) 65B(1):5–13. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbp096
- Knight BG, Fox LS, Chou C-P. Factor structure of the burden interview. J Clin Geropsychol (2000) 6(4):249–58. doi:10.1023/A:1009530711710

- Ankri J, Andrieu S, Beaufils B, Grand A, Henrard JC. Beyond the global score of the Zarit Burden Interview: useful dimensions for clinicians. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatr* (2005) 20(3):254–60. doi:10.1002/gps.1275
- Li D, Hu N, Yu Y, Zhou A, Li F, Jia J. Trajectories of multidimensional caregiver burden in Chinese informal caregivers for dementia: evidence from exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of the Zarit burden interview. J Alz Dis (2017) 59:1317–25. doi:10.3233/JAD-170172
- Turró-Garriga O, Garre-Olmo J, Vilalta-Franch J, Conde-Sala JL, Gracia Blanco M, López-Pousa S. Burden associated with the presence of anosognosia in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatr* (2013) 28(3):291–7. doi:10.1002/ gps.3824
- Ko K-T, Yip P-K, Liu S-I, Huang C-R. Chinese version of the Zarit Caregiver Burden Interview: a validation study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatr* (2008) 16(6): 513–8. doi:10.1097/JGP.0b013e318167ae5b
- Lai DWL. Validation of the Zarit Burden Interview for Chinese Canadian caregivers. Soc Work Res (2007) 31(1):45–53. doi:10.1093/swr/31.1.45
- Lawton MP, Kleban MH, Moss M, Rovine M, Glicksman A. Measuring caregiving appraisal. J Gerontol (1989) 44(3):61–71. doi:10.1093/ geronj/44.3.P61
- Liu J, Bern-Klug M. "I should be doing more for my parent:" Chinese adult children's worry about performance in providing care for their oldest-old parents. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2016) 28(2):303–15. doi:10.1017/S1041610215001726
- Morris JC. The clinical dementia rating (CDR): current version and scoring rules. *Neurology* (1993) 43(11):2412.
- Chan M, Tay L, Chong MS. Amnestic mild cognitive impairment and early Alzheimer's disease in an Asian memory clinic – evidence for a clinical spectrum. *Dem Geriatr Cog Disord Extra* (2011) 1(1):113–23. doi:10.1159/ 000327519
- Lim WS, Chin JJ, Lam CK, Lim Pi PJ, Sahadevan S. Clinical dementia rating. *Alz Dis Assoc Disord* (2005) 19(3):135–42. doi:10.1097/01.wad.0000174991. 60709.36
- 23. American Psychiatric Association Task Force on DSM-IV. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR).* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- 24. McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM. Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group* under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* (1984) 34(7):939. doi:10.1212/WNL.34.7.939
- Roman GC, Tatemichi TK, Erkinjuntti T, Cummings JL, Masdeu JC, Garcia JH, et al. Vascular dementia: diagnostic criteria for research studies: report of the NINDS-AIREN International Workshop. *Neurology* (1993) 43(2):250. doi:10.1212/WNL43.2.250
- Sahadevan S, Tan NJL, Tan T, Tan S. Cognitive testing of elderly Chinese people in Singapore: influence of education and age on normative scores. *Age Ageing* (1997) 26(6):481–6. doi:10.1093/ageing/26.6.481
- Shah S, Vanclay F, Cooper B. Improving the sensitivity of the Barthel Index for stroke rehabilitation. J Clin Epidemiol (1989) 42(8):703–9. doi:10.1016/ 0895-4356(89)90065-6
- Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist* (1969) 9(3 Pt 1):179–86. doi:10.1093/geront/9.3_Part_1.179
- Kaufer DI, Cummings JL, Ketchel P, Smith V, MacMillan A, Shelley T, et al. Validation of the NPI-Q, a brief clinical form of the Neuropsychiatric Inventory. J Neuropsychiatr Clin Neurosci (2000) 12(2):233–9. doi:10.1176/ jnp.12.2.233
- Chan TSF, Lam LCW, Chiu HFK. Validation of the Chinese version of the Zarit Burden Interview. *Hong Kong J Psychiatr* (2005) 15(1):9–14.
- Bédard M, Molloy DW, Squire L, Dubois S, Lever JA, O'Donnell M. The Zarit Burden Interview. *Gerontologist* (2001) 41(5):652–7. doi:10.1093/geront/ 41.5.652
- Lu L, Wang L, Yang X, Feng Q. Zarit Caregiver Burden Interview: development, reliability and validity of the Chinese version. *Psychiatr Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63(6):730–4. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.02019.x
- Chattat R, Cortesi V, Izzicupo F, Del Re ML, Sgarbi C, Fabbo A, et al. The Italian version of the Zarit Burden Interview: a validation study. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2010) 23(05):797–805. doi:10.1017/S1041610210002218

- Springate BA, Tremont G. Dimensions of caregiver burden in dementia: impact of demographic, mood, and care recipient variables. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatr* (2014) 22(3):294–300. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2012.09.006
- 35. Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Eq Model* (1999) 6(1):1–55. doi:10.1080/10705519909540118
- Lim WS, Chong MS, Sahadevan S. Utility of the clinical dementia rating in Asian populations. *Clin Med Res* (2007) 5(1):61–70. doi:10.3121/cmr.2007.693
- 37. Zarit J, Zarit S. Measurement of burden and social support. *Paper Presented at the Meeting of the Gerontological Society of America*. San Diego (1982).
- Kramer BJ. Differential predictors of strain and gain among husbands caring for wives with dementia. *Gerontologist* (1997) 37(2):239–49. doi:10.1093/ geront/37.2.239
- Pinquart M, Sörensen S. Spouses, adult children, and children-in-law as caregivers of older adults: a meta-analytic comparison. *Psychol Aging* (2011) 26(1):1–14. doi:10.1037/a0021863
- Bandura A, editor. Exercise of personal and collective efficacy in changing societies. Self-Efficacy in Changing Societies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1995). p. 1–45.
- Pearlin LI, Mullan JT, Semple SJ, Skaff MM. Caregiving and the stress process: an overview of concepts and their measures. *Gerontologist* (1990) 30(5):583–94. doi:10.1093/geront/30.5.583
- Gitlin LN, Corcoran M, Winter L, Boyce A, Hauck WW. A randomized, controlled trial of a home environmental intervention. *Gerontologist* (2001) 41(1):4–14. doi:10.1093/geront/41.1.4
- Fortinsky RH, Kercher K, Burant CJ. Measurement and correlates of family caregiver self-efficacy for managing dementia. *Aging Ment Health* (2002) 6(2):153–60. doi:10.1080/13607860220126763
- 44. Steffen AM, McKibbin C, Zeiss AM, Gallagher-Thompson D, Bandura A. The revised scale for caregiving self-efficacy: reliability and validity studies. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci (2002) 57(1):74–86. doi:10.1093/ geronb/57.1.P74
- Au A, Lai M-K, Lau K-M, Pan P-C, Lam L, Thompson L, et al. Social support and well-being in dementia family caregivers: the mediating role of self-efficacy. *Aging Ment Health* (2009) 13(5):761–8. doi:10.1080/13607860902918223
- Rabinowitz YG, Mausbach BT, Coon DW, Depp C, Thompson LW, Gallagher-Thompson D. The moderating effect of self-efficacy on intervention response in women family caregivers of older adults with dementia. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatr* (2006) 14(8):642–9. doi:10.1097/01.JGP.0000192496.73673.e5
- Huis in het Veld JG, Verkaik R, Mistiaen P, van Meijel B, Francke AL. The effectiveness of interventions in supporting self-management of informal caregivers of people with dementia; a systematic meta review. *BMC Geriat* (2015) 15(1):147. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0145-6
- Gitlin LN, Marx K, Stanley IH, Hodgson N. Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: state-of-the-science and next steps. *Gerontologist* (2015) 55(2):210–26. doi:10.1093/geront/gnu123
- Sörensen S, Pinquart M, Duberstein P. How effective are interventions with caregivers? An updated meta-analysis. *Gerontologist* (2002) 42:356–72. doi:10.1093/geront/42.3.356
- Lin C-Y, Wang J-D, Pai M-C, Ku L-JE. Measuring burden in dementia caregivers: confirmatory factor analysis for short forms of the Zarit Burden Interview. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* (2017) 68:8–13. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2016.08.005
- Win KK, Chong MS, Ali N, Chan M, Lim WS. Burden among family caregivers of dementia in the oldest old: an exploratory study. *Front Med* (2017) 4:205. doi:10.3389/fmed.2017.00205

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Li, Chong, Chan, Tay, Ali and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Burden among Family Caregivers of Dementia in the Oldest-Old: An Exploratory Study

Khin Khin Win^{1,2*}, Mei Sian Chong³, Noorhazlina Ali^{1,2}, Mark Chan^{1,2} and Wee Shiong Lim^{1,2}

¹ Department of Geriatric Medicine, Tan Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH), Singapore, Singapore, ²Institute of Geriatrics and Active Ageing, Tan Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH), Singapore, Singapore, ³Geriatric Education and Research Institute (GERI), Singapore, Singapore

Background: With >85 years, the fastest growing age segment in developed countries, dementia in the oldest-old is projected to increase exponentially. Being older, caregivers of dementia in oldest-old (CDOO) may experience unique challenges compared with younger-age groups. Thus, we aim to explore demographic characteristics and burden pattern among CDOO.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeremy M. Jacobs, Hadassah Medical Center, Israel

Reviewed by:

Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Liang-Yu Chen, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Khin Khin Win khin_win_khin@ttsh.com.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 01 September 2017 Accepted: 06 November 2017 Published: 22 November 2017

Citation:

Win KK, Chong MS, Ali N, Chan M and Lim WS (2017) Burden among Family Caregivers of Dementia in the Oldest-Old: An Exploratory Study. Front. Med. 4:205. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00205 Methods: We studied 458 family caregiver-patient dyads attending an outpatient memory clinic. We classified patients into three age-groups: <75, 75–84, and ≥85 years. We measured caregiver burden using the Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) 4-factor structure described by Cheah et al. (1). We compared care recipient characteristics, caregiver demographics, and ZBI total/factors scores between the three age-groups, and performed 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to ascertain the effect of age-group by disease severity interaction.

Results: Oldest-old care recipients were more impaired in cognitive function and instrumental ADL; there was no difference in behavior and basic ADL. Compared with the other two age-groups, CDOO were older (mean age: 50.4 vs 55.5 vs 56.8 years, P < 0.01), and overwhelmingly adult children (85.9%) as opposed to spouses (5.3%). CDOO also had higher ZBI total score, role strain, and personal strain (all P < 0.05). However, there was no difference in worry about performance scores. 2-way ANOVA did not reveal significant age-group by disease severity interaction for ZBI total and factor scores, although distinctive differences were seen between role/personal strain with worry about performance in mild cognitive impairment and very mild dementia.

Conclusion: Our study highlighted that CDOO were mainly older adult children who experienced significant role and personal strain independent of disease severity while caring for their family member with more impaired cognitive and physical function. These results pave the way for targeted interventions to address the unique burden faced by this rapidly growing group of caregivers.

Keywords: dementia, oldest-old, caregiver burden, Zarit Burden Interview, dimensions

INTRODUCTION

Globally, the oldest-old population, variously defined as 80 or 85 years and older, has emerged as the fastest growing age segment, especially in developed countries. The oldest-old population is projected to increase 151 percent between 2005 and 2030, far outstripping the 21 percent increase for those under age 65 and 104 percent increase for those aged 54 years and above (2). In line with this worldwide trend, the prevalence of the oldest-old population in Singapore has grown exponentially from 4,500 in 1980 to over 27,800 in 2009 (3).

The prevalence of age-associated diseases such as dementia is expected to mirror this worrying global demographic trend of population aging, such that growth of dementia in the oldest-old (DOO) is expected to exhibit a corresponding exponential rise that far outstrips other age groups. Recent studies support this assertion that the oldest-old represents the fastest growing population with dementia. The WiSE study (4) conducted in Singapore in 2013 showed that the prevalence of dementia was 10% in the elderly population above 60 years of age and the likelihood of dementia for those 85 years and above were 18.4 times higher compared to those aged 60–74 years. A systematic review and metaanalysis on the global prevalence of dementia reported that 18.7% of those between 85 and 89 years and 35.4% of those above 90 years of age in the South East Asian regions were estimated to be affected by dementia (5).

This increase in DOO coincides with a dramatic decline in the potential support ratio, namely persons aged 20–64 per person aged 65 or older. Population projections for Singapore predict that the potential support ratio will drop from 5.7 in 2015 to around 2.1 by 2030, with similar declines expected in most countries worldwide (6). Because the growth in health-care professionals trained in dementia care is unlikely to keep pace with this burgeoning demand, it is anticipated that the responsibility of caring for persons with DOO will increasingly fall upon informal family caregivers such as spouses, children, grandchildren, siblings, or other relatives. As family is expected to be the primary source of care going forward, especially in Asian populations, understanding the potential challenges faced by family caregivers of dementia in oldest-old (CDOO) is, therefore, of great salience and importance.

Caregivers of dementia in oldest-old are expected to be older in age and are likely burdened with more concerns such as health issues, family commitments, or financial constraint compared to their younger counterparts. Furthermore, persons with DOO are likely to require higher care needs, such that the caregiving role can have deleterious impact on one's physical and psychological well-being. Despite this, the majority of research in caregivers in dementia focuses on the younger old, and there is limited literature that specifically pertains to CDOO and the caregiving burden that they may experience relative to the younger-old age group. For instance, the study by Liu et al. among Chinese adult children taking care of their oldest-old parents was limited to care recipients who were relatively cognitively well and did not require much assistance in their activities of daily living (7). More recently, Liu et al. reported that Chinese adult children experience strain from worry about performance when providing care for their oldest-old parents (8). These results suggest that CDOO may face unique challenges in their caregiving role, particularly in Asian populations that are often heavily influenced by notions of filial piety and obligatory care (9, 10).

In light of this, it is imperative that the study of caregiver strain in DOO is approached from a multidimensional perspective as opposed to solely assessing the total burden score, constituting what is effectively a unidimensional approach. Caregivers with an identical score may express difference aspects of burden (11); while one may be affected by physical demands of care recipients, other may be worried about his caregiving performance (9). Recent studies suggest that the different dimensions of caregiver burden as measured by the Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) among Chinese informal caregivers for dementia exhibit different trajectories across the severity of dementia (12). Thus, using the validated 4-facture structure proposed by Cheah et al. (1), we aim to describe care recipient and caregiver characteristics, as well as caregiver burden, in DOO compared to young-old (below 75 years old) and middle-old (75-84 years old) individuals with dementia. Our secondary objective is to compare the burden pattern across the spectrum of disease severity among the three age-groups.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This is a cross sectional study involving 458 caregiver-patient dyads of community dwelling older adults who were referred to the Memory Clinic, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore from January 2010 to December 2011. The Memory Clinic is a tertiary referral clinic within the Department of Geriatric Medicine that receives referrals from polyclinics, family physicians, other restructured hospitals, and other departments within Tan Tock Seng Hospital. Patients are referred for assessment of cognitive and memory difficulties as well as behavioral issues without significant functional limitations. The annual attendance at the Memory clinic in 2010 and 2011 were 500 and 943 new cases, respectively.

Our inclusion criteria were: (1) patients aged 55 years and older with a Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) global score of >0 and with a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia (13); (2) presence of a primary caregiver, defined as the family member who was most involved in the provision of daily care and familiar with the patient's social and medical status; (3) completion of the 22-item ZBI questionnaire. We excluded caregivers who were non-family members (for example, domestic helpers or friends), unable to understand the Chinese or English language, or unable to complete the ZBI questionnaire. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Healthcare Group. As this study involved the retrospective review of medical records of patients attending the Memory clinic as part of a registered database (TTSH/2008-0027), waiver of informed consent was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Healthcare Group.

Assessment

All participants underwent standardized assessment by a geriatrician and nurse clinician, blood investigations, neuroimaging and whenever relevant, psychometric assessment. A consensus meeting was conducted to determine the diagnosis, etiology, and staging of cognitive impairment based upon multi-disciplinary inputs from the physician, nurse clinicians, and psychologist. Dementia was diagnosed based on the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV) criteria, and etiology classified using published international criteria for dementia, as previously described (11). MCI was diagnosed using the revised Petersen criteria (14). The severity of cognitive impairment was rated using the locally validated clinical dementia rating scale (CDR) (15). CDR 0 indicates no cognitive impairment; CDR 0.5 designates either MCI or very mild dementia; and CDRs 1, 2, and 3 indicate mild, moderate, and severe dementia, respectively (16).

Measurements and Instruments

We collected baseline demographic data of care recipients and their caregivers, including age, gender, ethnicity, and educational level. We also collected information on caregiver characteristics such as relationship and co-residence with care recipients.

We assessed cognitive performance using the locally validated Chinese Mini-Mental State Examination (total score of 28) (17). Functional status was assessed using the modified Barthel Index (score 0–100) (18) and Lawton instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) (score 0–23) (19). Neuropsychiatric symptoms were assessed using the Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q); severity (20) and carer distress scores (21) were computed separately. These assessments form part of the routine clinical evaluation for all patients attending the Memory Clinic and are routinely gathered and documented in the files.

Caregiver burden was assessed using the 22-item ZBI questionnaire, which was administered either in English or Chinese. Each item was scored on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 = "never" to 4 = "nearly always," yielding a total score ranging from 0 to 88. We used the 4-factor structure reported by Cheah et al., which accounted for 62.2% of the variance with good internal consistency (1): (1) factor 1: role strain from demands of care and social impact on caregiver (40.6% of variance); (2) factor 2: role strain from lack of confidence or control over the situation (9.7% of variance); (3) factor 3: personal strain due to psychological impact on caregiver (6.4% of variance); and (4) factor 4: worry about caregiving performance (5.6% of variance).

Statistical Analysis

We performed descriptive and analytical statistics using SPSS (version 21.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). All tests were 2-sided and the level of significance set at 0.05. We categorized caregiver-patient dyads into three groups based upon the age of the care recipient: young-old (aged below 75 years), middle-old (aged between 75 and 84 years), and oldest-old (aged 85 years and above). We compared the characteristics of care recipients and caregivers between the three age groups, as well as ZBI total and factor scores stratified by relationship with care recipient. We conducted X^2 test for categorical variables and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with *post hoc* comparison corrected for the Turkey HSD test was used for continuous variables. We further performed two-way ANOVA to ascertain the effect

of age group by disease severity interaction on caregiver burden (ZBI total and individual factor scores).

RESULTS

Characteristics of Caregiver-Patient Dyads

Our final sample of 458 caregiver-patient dyads was predominantly of Chinese ethnicity (**Table 1**). The mean age of care recipients was 76.5 years (SD 7.4 years) with 59% of female gender. Alzheimer's dementia was the major etiology (46.7%), followed by other dementias (i.e., not vascular dementia nor mixed dementia) (18.6%), vascular dementia (17%), and mixed dementia (6.1%). About half of the recipients were rated CDR 1 (44.3%) followed

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of caregiver and care recipient dyads.

	Care recipients	Caregivers
	<i>n</i> = 458	n = 458
Demographics		
Age	76.5 ± 7.4	53.8 ± 13.5
Female gender, n (%)	270 (59)	287 (62.7)
Ethnicity, n (%)		
Chinese	409 (89.3)	
Malay	29 (6.3)	
Indian	14 (3.1)	
Others	6 (1.3)	
Years of formal education	4.8 ± 4.6	11 ± 4.5
Relationship with care recipients, n (%)	_	_
Spouse		139 (30.3)
Adult children		295 (64.5)
Others		20 (4.4)
Living with care recipient, n (%)		351 (76.6)
Disease characteristics		· · · · ·
Dementia type, n (%)		
Alzheimer's dementia	214 (46.7)	
Vascular dementia	78 (17)	
Mixed dementia	28 (6.1)	
Others	85 (18.6)	
Global CDR score, n (%)	00 (10.0)	
CDR 0.5 (mild cognitive impairment)	55 (12)	
CDR 0.5 (very mild dementia)	58 (12.7)	
CDR 1 (mild dementia)	203 (44.3)	
CDR 2 (moderate dementia)	127 (27.7)	
CDR 3 (severe dementia)	15 (3.3)	
CMMSE (range 0–28)	16.6 ± 6	
BADL (range 0–100)	92.8 ± 36.7	
IADL (range 0–23)	12.1 ± 5.9	
Behavioral symptoms	12.1 ± 0.9	
NPI-Q severity (range 0–36)	56 5	
NPI-Q distress (range 0–50)	5.6 ± 5	5.8 ± 7.2
		5.0 ± 1.2
Caregiver burden-ZBI scores	05.0 17.4	
Total ZBI (range 0–88)	25.0 ± 17.4	
Factor 1 (range 0–36)	12.1 ± 8	
Factor 2 (range 0–20)	3.7 ± 4.3	
Factor 3 (range 0–24)	6.2 ± 5.3	
Factor 4 (range 0–8)	3.1 ± 2.4	

Mean (SD) unless otherwise stated.

BADL, Barthel index of Basic Activities of Daily Living; CDR, clinical dementia rating; CMMSE, Chinese Mini Mental Status Examination; IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; NPI-Q, Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire; ZBI, Zarit Burden Interview.
by CDR 2 (27.7%), CDR 0.5 dementia (12.7%), and MCI (12%) and CDR 3 (3.3%).

The mean age of caregivers was 53.6 years (SD 13.5 years) and majority were daughters (42.4%), followed by spouses (30.3%) and sons (22.1%). The majority of caregivers (76.6%) resided with the care recipient. The NPI-Q severity and distress mean scores were 5.6 (SD 5), and 5.8 (SD 7.2), respectively. The mean ZBI scores are: total ZBI, 25 (SD 17.4); factor 1, 12.1 (SD 8); factor 2, 3.7 (SD 4.3); factor 3, 6.2 (SD 5.3); and factor 4, 3.1 (SD 2.4), respectively.

Care Recipient Characteristics

There was no difference in gender or ethnicity across the age groups (**Table 2**). Compared with the other two age-groups, care recipients with DOO are older (P < 0.01), more likely to be female (P < 0.05), and have lower educational level (P < 0.01).

	Young-old	Middle-old	Oldest-old	P-value
	<75 years	75-84 years	≥85 years	
	<i>n</i> = 155	<i>n</i> = 246	n = 57	
Age of care recipients	68.5 ± 5	78.9 ± 2.7^{a}	$88 \pm 2.7^{\rm b,c}$	<0.01
Female gender, <i>n</i> (%) Ethnicity, <i>n</i> (%)	90 (58.1)	136 (55.3)	44 (77.2)	0.01
Chinese	137 (88.4)	221 (89.8)	51 (89.5)	0.56
Malay	13 (8.4)	15 (6.1)	1 (1.8)	
Indian	4 (2.6)	5 (2)	5 (8.8)	
Others	1 (0.6)	5 (2)	0 (0)	
Years of formal education	5.8 ± 4.7	4.6 ± 4.7^{a}	$3.4 \pm 4.6^{\circ}$	<0.01
Primary diagnosis, n (%)				0.626
Alzheimer's dementia	66 (51.6)	121 (53.8)	27 (51.9)	
Vascular dementia	23 (18)	42 (18.7)	13 (25)	
Mixed dementia	13 (10.2)	13 (5.8)	2 (3.8)	
Others	26 (20.3)	49 (21.8)	10 (19.2)	
Global CDR score	2.7 ± 1.1	3.1 ± 0.9^{a}	3.3 ± 1.0 ^b	<0.001
Clinical staging, n (%)				0.004
Mild cognitive impairment	28 (18.1)	22 (8.9)	5 (8.8)	
Very mild dementia	25 (16.1)	27 (11)	6 (10.5)	
Mild dementia	68 (43.9)	116 (47.2)	19 (33.3)	
Moderate dementia	29 (18.7)	75 (30.5)	23 (40.4)	
Severe dementia	5 (3.2)	6 (2.4)	4 (7)	
CDR sum of boxes	5.4 ± 3.9	6.4 ± 3.8^{a}	$8.03 \pm 4.7^{b,c}$	<0.01
Cognitive status				
CMMSE (0-28)	17.8 ± 6.3	16.1 ± 5.7^{a}	15 ± 6.4^{b}	0.003
Functional status				
BADL (0-100)	93.6 ± 13.6	91.2 ± 16.3	97.7 ± 96.3	0.461
IADL (0-23)	13.9 ± 5.8	11.7 ± 5.6^{a}	8.7 ± 5.4 ^{b,c}	<0.001
Behavioral symptoms				
NPI-Q severity score (0–36)	5.6 ± 5.1	5.5 ± 4.9	5.6 ± 5.3	0.943
NPI-Q carer distress score (0–60)	5.7 ± 7	5.6 ± 3	6.7 ± 8.7	0.78

Values are reported as mean \pm SD or frequency (%) unless otherwise stated. Post hoc comparison with Turkey HSD test (P < 0.05).

^aYoung-old vs middle-old.

^bYoung-old vs oldest-old.

BADL, Barthel index of Basic Activities of Daily Living; CDR, Clinical Dementia Rating; CMMSE, Chinese Mini Mental Status Examination; IADL, Instrumental Activities of Daily Living; NPI-Q, Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire. Alzheimer's disease was the predominant etiologic diagnosis for all three groups. Care recipients in the young-old groups was more likely to present at earlier stages such as MCI (18.1%) or CDR 0.5–1 dementia (60%); in contrast, close to half (47.4%) of DOO patients presented with CDR 2–3 moderate-to-severe dementia. DOO patients also scored lower on the CMMSE (P = 0.003) and were more impaired in IADL (P < 0.01) although less impaired in BADL. Though the NPI-Q severity score was similar across the three age groups, NPI-Q carer distress score was higher in the DOO group.

Caregiver Characteristics and Burden

Compared with the younger-old age groups, CDOO were older in age (P < 0.01), and were mainly adult children (daughters followed by the sons) or others, compared with spouses and daughters in the younger-old age groups (**Tables 3** and 4). When caregiver age was stratified by relationship, adult–child CDOO were older compared with the other two age groups. Spousal CDOO also tended to be older compared with the young-old age group (72.0 vs 64.6 years), although the converse was true for non-spousal non-children CDOO (58.0 vs 47.6 years).

In addition, CDOO expressed higher caregiver stress with higher total ZBI, role strain/demands, role strain/control, and personal strain (all *P*-value P < 0.05). In contrast, there was no difference in worry about performance across the three groups. When stratified by relationship, spousal CDOO endorsed higher ZBI total score and all factor scores with the exception of worry about performance; however, these results were not statistically significant, possibly due to small numbers (N = 3) in the spousal CDOO group. For adult–child CDOO, there is also a trend for

TABLE 3 | Comparison of caregiver characteristics.

	Young-old	Middle-old	Oldest-old	P-value
	<75 years	75–84 years	≥85 years	
	<i>N</i> = 155	<i>n</i> = 246	n = 57	
Age, overall group	50.4 ± 14.3	55.2 ± 13.4^{a}	56.8 ± 10 ^b	<0.01
Spouse	64.6 ± 7.1	72.9 ± 8.1^{a}	72.0 ± 9.6	<0.01
Daughters	40.0 ± 7.5	48.9 ± 5.5^{a}	$56.5 \pm 7.1^{b,c}$	<0.01
Sons	39.4 ± 8	48.3 ± 6.5^{a}	$57.5 \pm 6.2^{b,c}$	<0.01
Others	58.0 ± 0	46.6 ± 21.4	47.6 ± 20	0.783
Female gender, n (%)	96 (64.4)	152 (67.9)	39 (69.6)	0.707
Relationship with care				<0.01
recipient, n (%)				
Spouse	65 (42.8)	71 (29)	3 (5.3)	
Daughters	55 (36.2)	105 (42.9)	34 (59.6)	
Sons	30 (19.7)	56 (22.9)	15 (26.3)	
Others	2 (1.3)	13 (5.3)	5 (8.8)	
Living with care recipient, n (%)	129 (86)	181 (79.7)	41 (73.2)	0.087
Years of formal education	11.1 ± 4.8	10.8 ± 4.5	11.2 ± 4.2	0.889

Values are reported as mean \pm SD or frequency (%) unless otherwise stated. Post hoc comparison with Turkey HSD test (P < 0.05).

^aYoung-old vs middle-old.

^bYoung-old vs oldest-old.

°Middle-old vs oldest-old.

[°]Middle-old vs oldest-old.

TABLE 4 | Comparison of Zarit Burden Interview (ZBI) total and factor scores across the three age groups stratified by relationship.

All subjects	Young-old	Middle-old	Oldest-old	P-value
	<75 years	75–84 years	≥85 years	
	n = 155	n = 246	N = 57	
Total ZBI (range 0–88)	22.9 ± 16.8	25.1 ± 17.1	30.5 ± 19.2^{a}	0.017
Factor 1 (0-36)	11 ± 7.9	12.2 ± 7.9	14.3 ± 8.3^{a}	0.025
Factor 2 (0–20)	3.2 ± 3.9	3.7 ± 4.2	$5.2 \pm 5.1^{a,b}$	0.008
Factor 3 (0–24)	5.7 ± 5.1	6.1 ± 5.2	$7.9 \pm 5.8^{a,b}$	0.018
Factor 4 (0-8)	3 ± 2.5	3.2 ± 2.3	3.1 ± 2.4	0.876
Spouses	N = 65	<i>n</i> = 71	<i>n</i> = 3	
Total ZBI (range 0–88)	20.8 ± 16.3	19.7 ± 18.2	35 ± 20.3	0.324
Factor 1 (0-36)	10.6 ± 8	10.2 ± 8.3	17.3 ± 8.5	0.328
Factor 2 (0–20)	2.4 ± 3	2.8 ± 4.1	5.6 ± 6	0.319
Factor 3 (0–24)	5.1 ± 5	4.5 ± 5.3	9.3 ± 5.7	0.268
Factor 4 (0-8)	2.6 ± 2.9	2.2 ± 2.5	2.6 ± 2.3	0.576
Daughters	N = 55	<i>n</i> = 105	n = 34	
Total ZBI (range 0–88)	24.5 ± 16	27.9 ± 16.3	30.1 ± 19	0.277
Factor 1 (0-36)	11.8 ± 7.9	13.3 ± 7.5	14.3 ± 8.3	0.276
Factor 2 (0–20)	3.3 ± 3.5	4.1 ± 4.2	5.3 ± 5.1	0.092
Factor 3 (0–24)	5.9 ± 5.1	6.8 ± 5.1	7.5 ± 5.9	0.356
Factor 4 (0–8)	3.6 ± 2.3	3.7 ± 2.2	3.1 ± 2.3	0.379
Sons	N = 30	n = 56	<i>n</i> = 15	
Total ZBI (range 0–88)	24.7 ± 17.4	27.01 ± 16.1	31.8 ± 21	0.429
Factor 1 (0-36)	10.6 ± 7.2	12.8 ± 7.7	14.5 ± 9	0.252
Factor 2 (0–20)	4.4 ± 5	4 ± 4.2	5.5 ± 5.8	0.557
Factor 3 (0–24)	6.4 ± 4.9	6.6 ± 4.8	9.1 ± 6.1	0.204
Factor 4 (0-8)	3.3 ± 2.0	3.7 ± 2.0	2.8 ± 2.5	0.339

Post hoc comparison with Turkey HSD test (P < 0.05).

^aYoung-old vs oldest-old.

^bMiddle-old vs oldest-old.

higher total, role strain, and person strain scores, albeit not statistically significant. In contrast, worry about performance was lowest in CDOO compared with the other two age groups. Adult-son CDOO also showed higher factor three scores (psychological impact from caregiving) than adult-daughter CDOO though this difference was not statistically significant by independent sample *t*-test.

Effect of Disease Severity on Caregiver Burden

Two-way ANOVA revealed that there was no statistically significant interaction between age group and disease severity for ZBI total and factor scores. Examination of the graphical plots yielded interesting insights about how the trend of burden scores across disease severity for DOO differs from the younger-old age groups. For instance, ZBI total score was highly endorsed among CDOO in MCI and very mild dementia and progressively increased with disease severity to merge with the curves for the other age groups (**Figure 1A**). A comparable trend was noted for factors 1–3. In contrast, for factor 4, a reverse pattern was noted with CDOO endorsing the lowest score in the MCI stage (**Figure 1B**). Factor 4 scores subsequently increased with dementia severity to merge with the curves for the other two groups.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to shed light on the unique challenges faced by caregivers of the oldest-old care recipients with dementia, who tend to present at more severe stages of dementia and are more cognitively and functionally impaired. An earlier Chinese study of oldest-old caregivers was limited to care recipients who were cognitively well and required less assistance in basic and IADL (7, 8). An added strength of our study is the use of a multidimensional approach to illuminate the pattern of caregiver burden by relationship and across the severity of cognitive impairment. Our results reveal that CDOO are older and typically an older adult-child or a younger non-spousal/ non-child family member. Compared with their counterparts looking after the middle-old and young-old age groups, CDOO experience higher caregiver burden in the domains of role strain and personal strain but not worry about performance, even in the earliest stages of MCI and very mild dementia.

Our study affirmed the fact that relative to caregivers looking after the younger-old with dementia, CDOO experienced greater overall burden, increased demands, and lack of control over situation leading to role strain, and the psychological impact of personal strain. Notably, CDOO endorsed higher stress from behavioral symptoms even with comparable severity of behavioral symptoms, alluding to how the strain of caregiving may have affected their appraisal of the stress arising from behavioral symptoms. As individuals with dementia survive into the oldest-old age group, the fewer the number of spouses who remain as the primary caregiver and the more likely that older adult children take over this role. In a predominantly Chinese Asian society such as ours, adult-child CDOO may be thrusted into the caregiving role as there are social expectations to care for elderly family members, and filial piety is a core value in Chinese culture. Being generally older and approaching the age of retirement, adult-child CDOO may struggle even more if they have not yet made adequate arrangements for their jobs, their families, and post retirement financial security, or have concomitant health issues. Pearlin et al. reported that two types of role conflicts may appear in adult-child caregivers: one is the conflict between the caregiver role and the roles in their nuclear family, such as spouse and parent; the other one is the conflict between the caregiver role and their roles in the workplace, such as employer or employee (22). Zhan also reported that caregivers who assisted with mostly instrumental care reported greater levels of emotional and relational frustration (23). It is, therefore, not surprising that adult-child CDOO who are often unprepared for their transition into the caregiving role with increased demands of providing assistance in instrumental ADL and physical care and coping with dementia behaviors, experience the resultant emotional and relational strain arising from the caregiving role.

Our study also highlighted the differences in burden pattern among spousal and adult-child CDOO. Both groups endorsed endorsed higher ZBI total score and factor 1–3, although the scores are higher in spousal than adult-child CDOO. This observed trend might be due to factors such as closer relationship of spouses with care recipients (24), co-residence with



care recipients, and concomitant health and physical ailments, leading to a greater degree of perceived stress when providing long-term care (25). Comparing between the children relationships, adult-son CDOO endorsed higher factor 3 score compared to their daughter counterparts. This may be attributable to the psychological impact arising from risk of role overload from conflicting responsibilities. Because sons are generally more esteemed than daughters in more traditional Chinese families, adult-son CDOO may be expected to play a leading role in care provision for their aged parents, and this in turn can create psychological strain if they feel sandwiched between this caregiving role on top of their work and family commitments (11, 26).

In addition, our study identified that the higher overall burden among CDOO is accounted for by role and personal strain. Contrary to the findings of Liu et al. (8) that the adultchild caregiver experience significant burden from worry about performance, the adult-child CDOO (both daughters and sons) in our study paradoxically experience lower worry about performance compared with the younger-old age groups. Worry about performance is self-appraisal of their caregiving performance, which encompasses both positive and negative valences (27). On the positive end, caregivers may have positive perceptive of their capability to take good care of their family member with dementia. Conversely, worry about performance may signify negative feelings of inadequacy and self-criticism leading to guilt and shame (9). It is, therefore, important to consider the difference in context between the two studies when interpreting the seemingly discrepant findings. Liu et al. (8) examined elders who were cognitively well and required less assistance in basic and IADL, hence their adult-child caregivers would naturally "worry" how they can take better care of their parents to maintain the overall good health. In contrast, our study involved oldest-old care recipients who present at more advanced stages of dementia with increased physical and emotional care needs. Having to juggle multiple competing stressors such as personal health, family commitments, and financial issues on top of their caregiving role, adult-child CDOO not surprisingly experience role and personal strain while having a lower predilection for worry about performance stress. Our results, therefore, corroborate the findings of Lim et al. that in the context of dementia, younger age is the most important predictor of worry about performance stress even amongst adult-child caregivers (9).

Indeed, caring of frail elderly individuals with dementia can be challenging causing both physical and mental health problems in caregivers, yet, the responsibilities of caring for DOO will still fall upon the informal caregivers. So, it is vital to provide caregiver support interventions to reduce the burden faced by CDOO. Support at the individual level can be beneficial in reducing physical and psychological burden of caregiving. Interventions such as creating network for caregiver support, respite care arrangement, counseling on coping abilities and financial support can reduce caregiving burden and improve caregiving abilities in this vulnerable group of DOO patient–caregiver dyads.

Several limitations are worth highlighting. First, because this is a cross sectional study, reverse causality cannot be excluded.

Further longitudinal studies will be required to affirm the findings. Second, our study sample of oldest-old care recipients is relatively small; hence the results of our exploratory study need to be further verified in larger study populations. Third, our study population of patients with milder severity of dementia of predominantly Chinese Asian ethnicity may limit the generalizability of our findings to other socio-cultural context. Fourth, we excluded friends or employed caregivers who may experience different patterns of burden compared to family caregivers. Future studies should examine the impact on psychological well-being by examining outcomes such as depression, anxiety, and quality of life. Finally, we did not collect data on certain variables that can influence the severity of caregiver stress and burden pattern, such as the duration of caregiving and the number of caregivers who are involved in the care.

In summary, our study demonstrated the unique burden faced by the caregivers of the oldest-old with dementia, who were mainly older adult children experiencing significant role and personal strain but not worry about performance from looking after their family members with more impaired cognition and physical function. Although this unique pattern of caregiver burden is generally independent of disease severity, overall burden, role strain, and personal strain are already high in the early stages of cognitive impairment, and increases further as the disease progresses. The results of our exploratory study provide insight, which paves the way to address the unique burden faced by this vulnerable group of caregivers through individualized interventions that target coping resources and stressors to increase caregiving mastery, which acts as a buffer against the deleterious impact of role and personal strain from the caregiving role (28).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Healthcare Group. As this study involved the retrospective review of medical records of patients attending the Memory clinic as part of a registered database (TTSH/2008-0027), waiver of informed consent was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Healthcare Group.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KW conducted the study, carried out the statistical analysis, and wrote the manuscript. MC, NA, and MC supported the development of study design and methodology, and reviewed the manuscript. WL designed the study and supported the writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the doctors and nurse clinicians of the Cognition and Memory Disorders Service, Department of Geriatric Medicine, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, for their substantial contribution in data acquisition.

- Cheah WK, Han HC, Chong MS, Anthony PV, Lim WS. Multidimensionality of the Zarit Burden Interview across the severity spectrum of cognitive impairment: an Asian perspective. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2012) 24(11):1846–54. doi:10.1017/S104161021200110X
- Dobriansky PT, Suzman RM, Hodes RJ. Why Population Aging Matters: A Global Perspective. Washington, DC: National Institute on Ageing, National Institutes of Health, US Department of Health and Human Service, US Department of State (Publication no.07–6134) (2007).
- State of Elderly in Singapore; 2008/2009 Report. Available from: https:// www.duke-nus.edu.sg/care/wp-content/uploads/State-of-the-Elderly_ Release-1.pdf
- Subramaniam M, Chong SA, Vaingankar JA, Abdin E, Chua BY, Chua HC, et al. Prevalence of dementia in people aged 60 years and above: results from the WiSE study. J Alzheimers Dis (2015) 45(4):1127–38. doi:10.3233/ JAD-142769
- Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Alzheimer Dement* (2013) 9(1):63–75. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007
- Raftery AE, Li N, Ševčíková H, Gerland P, Heilig GK. Bayesian probabilistic population projections for all countries. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(35):13915–21. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211452109
- Liu J, Guo M, Bern-Klug M. Economic stress among adult-child caregivers of the oldest old in China: the importance of contextual factors. J Cross Cult Gerontol (2013) 28(4):465–79. doi:10.1007/s10823-013-9216-3
- Liu J, Bern-Klug M. "I should be doing more for my parent." Chinese adult children's worry about performance in providing care for their oldest-old parents. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2016) 28(2):303–15. doi:10.1017/S1041610215001726
- Lim WS, Cheah WK, Ali N, Han HC, Anthony PV, Chan M, et al. Worry about performance: a unique dimension of caregiver burden. *Int Psycho*geriatr (2014) 26(4):677–86. doi:10.1017/S1041610213002445
- Lim HA, Tan JY, Chua J, Yoong RK, Lim SE, Kua EH, et al. Quality of life of family caregivers of cancer patients in Singapore and globally. *Singapore Med* J (2017) 58(5):258. doi:10.11622/smedj.2016083
- Lau S, Chong MS, Ali N, Chan M, Chua KC, Lim WS. Caregiver burden. Looking beyond the unidimensional total score. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* (2015) 29(4):338–46. doi:10.1097/WAD.00000000000085
- Li D, Hu N, Yu Y, Zhou A, Li F, Jia J. Trajectories of multidimensional caregiver burden in Chinese Informal Caregivers for Dementia: evidence from exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of the Zarit Burden Interview. *J Alzheimer Dis* (2017) 59(4):1317–25. doi:10.3233/JAD-170172
- Morris JC. The Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR): current version and scoring rules. *Neurology* (1993) 43:2412–14. doi:10.1212/WNL.43.11.2412-a
- Chan M, Tay L, Chong MS. Amnestic mild cognitive impairment and early Alzheimer's disease in an Asian memory clinic–evidence for a clinical spectrum. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra* (2011) 1(1):113–23. doi:10.1159/000327519
- Lim WS, Chin JJ, Lam CK, Lim PI, Sahadevan S. Clinical dementia rating: experience of a multi-racial Asian population. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* (2005) 19(3):135–42. doi:10.1097/01.wad.0000174991.60709.36

- Lim WS, Chong MS, Sahadevan S. Utility of the clinical dementia rating in Asian populations. *Clin Med Res* (2007) 5(1):61–70. doi:10.3121/cmr. 2007.693
- Sahadevan S, Tan NJ, Chan SP. Diagnostic performance of two mental status tests in the older Chinese: influence of education and age on cut-off values. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2000) 15(3):234–41. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1099-1166(200003)15:3<234::AID-GPS99>3.0.CO;2-G
- Wade DT, Collin C. The Barthel ADL Index: a standard measure of physical disability? Int Disabil Stud (1988) 10(2):64–7. doi:10.3109/09638288809164105
- Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Nurs Res* (1970) 19(3):278. doi:10.1097/00006199-197005000-00029
- Cummings JL. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Assessing psychopathology in dementia patients. *Neurology* (1997) 48(5 Suppl 6):10S–6S. doi:10.1212/ WNL.48.5_Suppl_6.10S
- Kaufer DI, Cummings JL, Christine D, Bray T, Castellon S, Masterman D, et al. Assessing the impact of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: the Neuropsychiatric Inventory Caregiver Distress Scale. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (1998) 46(2):210–5. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1998.tb02542.x
- Pearlin LI, Mullan JT, Semple SJ, Skaff MM. Caregiving and the stress process: an overview of concepts and their measures. *Gerontologist* (1990) 30(5):583–94. doi:10.1093/geront/30.5.583
- Zhan HJ. Social-economic context of parent care: explaining Chinese caregivers' psychological and emotional well-being. J Gerontol Soc Work (2005) 45(4):83–100. doi:10.1300/J083v45n04_06
- Cantor MH. Strain among caregivers: a study of experience in the United States. *Gerontologist* (1983) 23(6):597–604. doi:10.1093/geront/23.6.597
- Pinquart M, Sörensen S. Spouses, adult children, and children-in-law as caregivers of older adults: a meta-analytic comparison. *Psychol Aging* (2011) 26(1):1–14. doi:10.1037/a0021863
- Sörensen S, Duberstein P, Gill D, Pinquart M. Dementia care: mental health effects, intervention strategies, and clinical implications. *Lancet Neurol* (2006) 5(11):961–73. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70599-3
- Lawton MP, Kleban MH, Moss M, Rovine M, Glicksman A. Measuring caregiving appraisal. *J Gerontol* (1989) 44(3):61–71. doi:10.1093/geronj/ 44.3.P61
- Pioli MF. Global and caregiving mastery as moderators in the caregiving stress process. *Aging Ment Health* (2010) 14(5):603–12. doi:10.1080/ 13607860903586193

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Win, Chong, Ali, Chan and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Screening of Dementia in Portuguese Primary Care: Methodology, Assessment Tools, and Main Results

Laetitia Teixeira^{1,2,3*}, Pedro Machado Dos Santos^{1,2}, Sara Alves¹, Maria João Azevedo^{1,2}, Mafalda Gomes Duarte^{1,2}, António Leuschner^{1,4} and Constança Paúl^{1,2}

¹ UNIFAI, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal, ² CINTESIS, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal, ³ EPIUnit, Instituto de Saúde Pública, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal, ⁴ Hospital Magalhães, Porto, Portugal

The objectives of this article are as follows: (1) to describe the assessment protocol used to outline people with probable dementia in Primary Health Care; (2) to show the methodological design and procedure to obtain a representative sample of patients with probable dementia; and (3) to report the main characteristics of the sample collected in the context of the study "Characteristics and needs of people with probable dementia." The study protocol was based on the "Community Assessment of Risk and Treatment Strategies (CARTS) Program" and is composed by a set of instruments that allow the assessment of older adults with probable dementia in several areas (health, psychological, functionality, and other). Descriptive analysis was used to characterize the final sample (n = 436). The study protocol as well as the methodological procedure to obtain the referral of research participants and data collection on the condition of people with probable dementia in Primary Health Care proved to be a valuable tool to obtain a sample of patients distributed by the full range of probable dementia in a large geographical area. Results may allocate the design of care pathways for old people with cognitive disorders to prevent, delay impairment, and/or optimize quality of life of patients.

Keywords: caregivers, cognitive decline, dementia, old people, primary care

INTRODUCTION

The Portuguese Census 2011 (1) showed that in Portugal 19.1% of the total population (n = 2,010,064) was aged 65 or plus. According some projections, this population will increase, with the group age 80 + reaching the 15% in 2060 (2).

Presently little information is known in Portugal about the needs of the old people with probable dementia and their informal caregivers. Nunes et al. (3) estimated that the prevalence of cognitive impairment and dementia in Portuguese people living in the north of the country were 16.8 and 2.1% in rural areas, and 12 and 2.7% in urban areas, respectively; the majority of the reported cases were related with cerebrovascular diseases and vascular risk factors (48%). A more recent study (4) revealed that the prevalence of dementia/Alzheimer's disease was 5.91% in the Portuguese population with 60 or more years old. Considering the international context, the prevalence of dementia estimated by the World Health Organization (WHO) in South Europe increases with age, varying between 0.026% for individuals aged 65–69 years and 0.324% for those aged 85+ years (5). In addition, it will be expected an increase in the number of people with dementia, doubling by 2030 and tripling by 2050. These numbers have a high impact in the quality of life of the people and in the economy of the families and communities, representing one of the highest challenges/priorities of public health offices/professionals.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matteo Cesari, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Philipe De Souto Barreto, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Marco Inzitari, Parc Sanitari Pere Virgili, Spain

*Correspondence:

Laetitia Teixeira Icteixeira@icbas.up.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 26 July 2017 Accepted: 27 October 2017 Published: 13 November 2017

Citation:

Teixeira L, Dos Santos PM, Alves S, Azevedo MJ, Duarte MG, Leuschner A and Paúl C (2017) Screening of Dementia in Portuguese Primary Care: Methodology, Assessment Tools, and Main Results. Front. Med. 4:197. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00197

77

Early detection of probable dementia is very important, and it appears to be under diagnosed by general practitioners (GPs). Nevertheless, GPs are well positioned to notice the possible cognitive decline of their patients and can be a major potential source for increasing the rate of case detection [e.g., Ref. (6, 7)]. In a Finnish population based study, Lopponen et al. (8) found less than 50% of the patients with dementia with a diagnosis documented in primary care; the existence of diagnosis increased in more advanced stages of dementia.

High levels of poverty need to be considered in the topic of dementia (9–11) and must be addressed together with cultural aspects in the Portuguese context, namely, the low educational levels. This cross-sectional study has a main objective to draw a physical and mental health profile of the old people with dementia living in the north of Portugal and to understand their risk situation to further planning adequate responses and services for this specific population.

The main objectives of this article are as follows: (1) to describe the assessment protocol used to outline people with probable dementia in Primary Health Care; (2) to show the methodological design and procedure to obtain a representative sample of patients with probable dementia; and (3) to report the main characteristics of the sample collected in the context of the study "Characteristics and needs of people with probable dementia."

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The population of this study was defined as Portuguese people with 65 years and over, living in the community in the geographical area covered by the Portuguese North Regional Health Authority (ARS North) with mental health concerns. The geographical area is composed by 86 municipalities, which are organized in 24 Associations of Health Centres (ACES). The inclusion criteria were as follows: (a) outpatient of a health-care units integrated in an ACES covered by the ARS North and (b) age 65 or + years old. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (a) patient not using a primary health-care unit covered by the ARS North; (b) age less than 65 years old; (c) living in nursing home, hospital or psychiatric institution; and (d) absence of memory concerns [patients classified in stage 1 of the Global Deterioration Scale (GDS) (12, 13)].

Sample

Based on the distribution of Portuguese population with 65+ years old (1) and on the prevalence of dementia in the Western Europe predicted by the WHO (5), an estimate of Portuguese population with dementia by age groups is presented in **Table 1**. The sample size, calculated for each age group, was considered as 1% of the estimated population with dementia. 572 participants with probable dementia compose the final sample. **Table 1** the sample size calculation (total and by age group) according the prevalence of dementia.

Measures

The study protocol was based on the "Community Assessment of Risk and Treatment Strategies (CARTS) Program" developed in the University College Cork, Ireland (14). The study protocol includes instruments divided in three main parts: Part A: assessment of the patient with probable dementia; Part B: assessment of the patient with probable dementia by the health professional (GP or nurse); Part C: evaluation of the informal caregiver of the patient with probable dementia (if available). **Table 2** resumes the domains evaluated and the instruments used in each part of the study protocol.

Mini-Mental State Examination (15, 16) is widely used for cognitive decline screening and is composed by 19 questions divided in 6 domains. The final score vary between 0 and 30. GDS (12, 13) is used to classify individuals with cognitive decline according to a scale of seven points: 1. Without cognitive decline; 2. Very mild cognitive decline; 3. Mild cognitive decline; 4. Moderate cognitive decline; 5. Moderately severe cognitive decline; 6. Severe cognitive decline; and 7. Very severe cognitive decline. AB Clinician Depression Screen (17) is a brief version of the Geriatric Depression Scale and is composed by five dichotomist questions (yes/no). The final score vary between 0 and 5, and individuals with a score equal or higher to 3 present high probability of depression. Timed "Up and Go" (18) is a simple test used to assess a person's mobility, using the time that a person takes to rise from a chair, walk 3 m, turn around, walk back to the chair, and sit down. Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (19, 20) is a five-step screening tool to identify adults at risk of malnutrition or obese. The final score vary between 0 and 6, considering three categories: 0. Low risk; 1. Moderate risk; and ≥2. High risk. Short-Form Mini Nutritional Assessment (21, 22) is a valid nutrition screening and assessment tool that can identify patients who are malnourished or at risk of malnutrition and consist in six questions. The score vary between 0 and 14 and a score equal or higher to 11 is indicator of possible malnutrition. Bedside Swallow Assessment allows the evaluation of swallowing after sitting the people in a right posture and asking the person to drink 30 ml of water. Three criteria were recorded and the final score of the test corresponds to the number of observed criteria: 1. No criteria; 2. Presence of 1 criterion; 3. Presence of 2 or more criteria. Handgrip strength is evaluated using a dynamometer considering four attempts, two in each hand. The final score correspond to the mean of the highest values. Exhaustion is evaluation considering a dichotomy

TABLE 1 | Sample size calculation (total and by age group) according the prevalence of dementia.

	65–69 years	70–74 years	75–79 years	80–84 years	85+ years	Total
Population	180,352	150,687	136,275	97,113	72,399	636,826
Prevalence of dementia	0.026	0.043	0.074	0.129	0.324	-
Estimated population with dementia Final sample (1%)	4,689 47	6,480 65	10,084 101	12,528 125	23,457 235	57,238 572

. . .

TABLE 2 | Study protocol: domains and instruments used in each part.

Part A				
A1. Sociodemographic questionnaire	Sex Age Education level Profession Marital status Household Residence context Type of residence	Infrastructures accessibilities Formal care Informal care Use of health services Medication Health subsystem Health expenditures		
A2. Cognition	Mini-Mental State Ex Global Deterioration			
A3. Depression	AB Clinician Depress	sion Screen (ABCDS) (17)		
A4. Biobehavioral aspects	Timed "Up and Go" (18) Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (19, 20) Short-Form Mini-Nutritional Assessment (21, 22) Bedside Swallow Assessment Handgrip strength Exhaustion Physical activity Tobacco and alcohol consumption Whispered Voice Test (23) Snellen Test (24)			
Part B				
B1. Physical health	Older Americans Re	sources and Services (25, 26)		
B2. Adverse events	The Community Ass	essment of Risk Tool (14)		
Part C				
C1. Caregiver burden	Caregiver Burden So	core (27)		
C2. Depression	ABCDS (17)			
C3. Mental health	Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (28, 29)			

question (yes/no) "In the last month, do you feel that you had very little energy to do the things you wanted to do?" Physical activity frequency evaluated using a four-point question: 1. >1/week; 2. 1/week; 3. 1-3/month; and 4. Almost never or never. Alcohol and tobacco consumption evaluated considering a set of questions about quantity, duration, and type. Whispered Voice Test (23) evaluate the audition and Snellen Test (24) the vision The physical health dimension of the Older Americans Resources and Services (25, 26) comprises a checklist of 16 diagnoses. The Community Assessment of Risk Tool-CART (14) evaluates the perceived risk of three adverse events: institutionalization, hospitalization and death. Caregiver Burden Score (27) assess the caregiver burden and score vary between 0 and 30. Score equal or higher to 15 is indicator of burden. Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (28, 29) is a brief version of the Neuropsychiatric Inventory and allows the evaluation of psychopathology in dementia and its repercussion on the caregiver's overload. For each symptom, it evaluates the presence (yes/no), severity (1. Low; 2. Moderate; and 3. Severe) and caregiver distress (0. Not at all; 1. Minimally; 2. Mildly; 3. Moderately; 4. Severely; and 5. Very severely or extremely).

Ethical Procedure

The study was submitted to the ethical committee of the ARS North—procedure number 6/2014 and approved at 7 January

2014. All the participants signed the informed consent form that was developed according the Declaration of Helsinki.

Data Collection

The data collection started in 2014 January and ended in 2016 April. **Figure 1** shows the data collection's flowchart.

The first step consisted in the contact with the 24 ACES to obtain the authorization to do the study. All ACES had accepted to participate.

The second step consisted in contacting at least two healthcare units of each ACES with health professionals presenting interest in participating in the study. The health professional had as main responsibility filling in the screening instrument regarding the identification of people at risk of adverse health outcomes, namely, mental health concerns. The instrument used was the Risk Instrument for Screening in the Community (30), which is a new risk instrument for screening of old people. Based on the information about the patient, the health professional classified the patient in three different domains (mental health, ADLs, and physical/medical health) in a perceived risk scale (from 1. Minimum risk to 5. Extreme risk) for the following three adverse events: hospitalization, institutionalization, and death. All health professional involved in this step received training to use this instrument by the investigators and the sessions took place in the health-care unit facilities. In this screnning, 55 health-care units were enrolled, with the participation of 285 health professionals who filled 7,298 valid screenings.

In the third step, and based on this screening and considering only patients with mental health concerns (n = 2,734), the sample was calculated using the stratified probability sampling method, considering sex, age groups, and ACES as strata. The technique used to extract patients for the sample was the lottery technique. Each patient with mental health concerns received a random number. The patients who received the higher numbers were invited to participate in the study, until all planned quotas were completed.

The health-care office contacted the selected patients, explaining the purpose of the study; if the patients agreed to participate they were further referred to the research team. In a second moment, the interviewers contacted the patients to schedule the interviews according to their availability. A limit of four contacts was fixed until a patient was withdrawn. In these situations, if available, another patient with similar conditions of the previous one was selected, according the sampling method described earlier.

The majority of the interviews were done in the health-care units (79.6%), in an appropriate local where confidentiality was guaranteed. If it was impossible to do the interview in the health-care unit, the interviews were completed at patients' home (19.9%). The main reason for the interviews to take place at home was the incapacity of the patient due to being bedridden or presenting low mobility. In the first moment of the interview, the patient was informed about the conditions of participation in the study, with the opportunity to clarify doubts. In order to formalize the interest of the patient in participating in the study, a personal Informative Consent was signed. If the patient did not have cognitive capacity, the signature of the consent was required to his/her legal representative.



The study protocol took on average 45 min to complete. If the informal caregiver was present, the interviewer asked him/her to fill the Part C. After the interview, the health professional (GP or nurse) complete the Part B.

Regular meetings occur between the interviewers and the coordinator of the study with the purpose of supervising and monitoring of the data collection. The planning of data collection, the discussion of cases and the analysis of problems related with the scoring of the scales included in the study protocol were the main aspects discussed in the meetings.

The final sample comprised 436 patients with probable dementia. The ratio of execution was 76.2%. The observed differences between the expected and collected samples are associated with some constrains related with the data collection, namely, difficulties/mistakes in the referral of cases and the high number of refuses to participate in the study (**Figure 1**).

Statistical Analysis

Given the presence of non-response related with the data collection, some groups were over- or underrepresented. A weighting adjustment procedure was implemented considering the projections of the population distributed by sex and age groups for 2012 (2). Descriptive analysis of the final weighted sample was performed to obtain a sociodemographic description of this population.

RESULTS

The sociodemographic characteristics of the sample (N = 436) are presented in **Table 3**. The sample included mostly women (58.7%). The mean age was 75.2 years old (SD = 7.2 years old). The education level with higher representation was primary level (1–4 years), and a relevant percentage of the sample was illiterate (21.0%). Sixty-one percent were married/living with partner, 93.3% had children and

ABLE 3 Sociodemographic characteristics of the sample.

Sociodemographic characteristics	N	%
Sex	436	
Male		41.3
Female		58.7
Age	436	
Years, mean (SD)		75.2 (7.2)
Education level	434	
Illiterate		21.0
1–4 years		69.7
5–6 years		4.5
7–9 years		2.1
10–12 years		1.9
>12 years		0.8
Marital status	435	
Single		5.9
Married/lived with partner		60.9
Separated/divorced		4.5
Widowed		28.7
Children	316	
No		6.7
Yes		93.3
n, mean (SD)		3.4 (2.3)
Grandchildren	242	
No		16.2
Yes		83.8
n, mean (SD)		3.9 (3.6)
Living arrangement	432	
Alone		15.7
Partner		62.9
Children		33.6
Other relative		21.2
Other		1.1
Context	416	
Rural		47.9
Urban		52.1



83.8% had grandchildren. The majority of the patients lived with a spouse or partner, with an expressive percentage living alone (15.7%). The distribution of people by urban/rural contexts was balanced (52.1% in urban areas and 47.9% in rural areas).

The distribution of the sample according to the stage of the GDS scale is presented in **Figure 2**. Forty-three percent of the sample was classified with mild cognitive decline, followed by 29.5% classified as very mild cognitive decline, and 13.3% as

moderate cognitive decline. The most severe stages included 14% of the sample, with the stage "very severe cognitive decline" reaching 5.4%. In the group of people evaluated by the GP (N = 249), 39% had a formal diagnosis of dementia.

CONCLUSION

The research design covering a large geographical area and the high participation of GPs in pre-screening patients from where the random sample was extracted are the main strengths of this study. The participation rate of GPs in the second phase of patients' assessment is the major limitation. The complex methodological process to obtain data on probable dementia patients in primary care, described earlier reflects the difficulty to tackle dementia in Primary Health-Care Services. Nevertheless, this procedure may configure a pathway of care that ultimately saves time and financial resources to GPs, preventing the comprehensive assessment of older patients that are not at risk of developing dementia.

The study protocol proved to be a valuable tool for a comprehensive assessment to identify patients and characterize their health needs and staging the cognitive decline. Based on GDS, the distribution of patients by different levels of probable dementia corroborate the findings of Lopponen et al. (8) and Prince et al. (31) for developed countries.

The enrollment of the primary health-care team and of the primary caregivers in the research facilitates the access to relevant data and mobilizes attention of professionals and family to an under diagnosis and under treated disease that leaves patients and carers helplessness.

It is barely feasible or adequate to assess every old adult for cognitive decline and we know that dementia seems to be reducing its prevalence at least in UK (32). Selecting people with mental health concern before sampling appears to be a good methodological approach to arrive to a clear distribution of patients across different stages of probable dementia. This will contribute to design effective pathways of care for people with cognitive decline. Mobilizing and training GPs and other primary care professionals will foster referral of patients to customized bundles of care, leading to a global and effective plan for dementia.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was submitted to the ethical committee of the ARS North—procedure number 6/2014 and approved at 7 January 2014. All the participants signed the informed consent form that was developed according the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LT and CP conceived the research project design, wrote the manuscript, and conducted the data analysis. PS and AL contributed in the project conception and reviewed the manuscript. SA, MA, and MD were enrolled in the data collection and revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by National Funds through the General Health Directorate of the Portuguese Ministry of Health.

REFERENCES

- 1. INE. Censos 2011 Resultados Definitivos-Portugal. Lisboa, Portugal: Instituto Nacional de Estatística, IP (2012).
- INE. Projecções de população residente em Portugal 2008–2060. Lisboa: Instituto Nacional de Estatística (2009).
- Nunes T, Fragata I, Ribeiro F, Palma T, Maroco J, Cannas J, et al. The outcome of elderly patients with cognitive complaints but normal neuropsychological tests. J Alzheimer Dis (2010) 19:137–45. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-1210
- Santana I, Farinha F, Freitas S, Rodrigues V, Carvalho Á. The epidemiology of dementia and Alzheimer disease in Portugal: estimations of prevalence and treatment-costs. *Acta Méd Port* (2015) 28:182–8. doi:10.20344/amp.6025
- 5. WHO. Dementia. A Public Health Priority. United Kingdom: WHO (2012).
- Ólafsdóttir M, Skoog I, Marcusson J. Detection of dementia in primary care: the Linköping study. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2000) 11:223–9. doi:10.1159/000017241
- Valcour VG, Masaki KH, Curb JD, Blanchette PL. The detection of dementia in the primary care setting. *Arch Intern Med* (2000) 160:2964–8. doi:10.1001/ archinte.160.19.2964
- Lopponen M, Raiha I, Isoaho R, Vahlberg T, Kivela S-L. Diagnosing cognitive impairment and dementia in primary health care: a more active approach is needed. *Age Ageing* (2003) 32:606–12. doi:10.1093/ageing/afg097
- Caamaño-Isorna F, Corral M, Montes-Martínez A, Takkouche B. Education and dementia: a meta-analytic study. *Neuroepidemiology* (2006) 26:226–32. doi:10.1159/000093378
- Kalaria RN, Maestre GE, Arizaga R, Friedland RP, Galasko D, Hall K, et al. Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in developing countries: prevalence, management, and risk factors. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7:812–26. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70169-8
- Sharp ES, Gatz M. The relationship between education and dementia an updated systematic review. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* (2011) 25:289. doi:10.1097/WAD.0b013e318211c83c
- 12. Grupo de Estudos de Envelhecimento Cerebral e Demência, GEECD. *Escalas e testes na demência.* 2nd ed. Lisboa: Novartis (2008).
- Reisberg B, Ferris SH, de Leon MJ, Crook T. The global deterioration scale for assessment of primary degenerative dementia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1982) 139(9):1136–9.
- O'Caoimh R, Healy E, Connell EO, Gao Y, Molloy DW. The community assessment of risk tool, (CART): investigation of inter-rater reliability for a new instrument measuring risk of adverse outcomes in community dwelling older adults. *Ir J Med Sci* (2012) 181(Suppl 7):227. doi:10.1007/s11845-012-0842-5
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res (1975) 12:189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Guerreiro M, Silva AP, Botelho MA, Leitão O, Castro-Caldas A, Garcia C. Adaptação à população portuguesa da tradução do Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE). *Rev Port Neurol* (1994) 1:9–10.
- Molloy DW, Standish TI, Dubois S, Cunje A. A short screen for depression: the AB clinician depression screen (ABCDS). *Int Psychogeriatr* (2006) 18:481–92. doi:10.1017/S1041610205003078
- Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "up & go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (1991) 39:142–8. doi:10.1111/ j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x
- Elia M. Screening for Malnutrition: A Multidisciplinary Responsibility. Development and Use of the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool ('MUST') for Adults. Redditch: Worcs, BAPEN (2003).

- Todorovic V, Russell C, Stratton R, Ward J, Elia M. The 'MUST' Explanatory Booklet: A Guide to the 'Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool' ('MUST') for Adults. Redditch: British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (BAPEN) (2003).
- 21. Nestlé Nutrition Institute. *Mini Nutritional Assessment MNA*. (1994). Available from: http://www.mna-elderly.com/forms/MNA_portuguese.pdf
- Rubenstein LZ, Harker JO, Salvà A, Guigoz Y, Vellas B. Screening for undernutrition in geriatric practice developing the short-form mini-nutritional assessment (MNA-SF). J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56:M366–72. doi:10.1093/gerona/56.6.M366
- MacPhee GJ, Crowther JA, McAlpine CH. A simple screening test for hearing impairment in elderly patients. *Age Ageing* (1988) 17:347–51. doi:10.1093/ ageing/17.5.347
- Snellen H. Optotypi ad Visum Determinandum (Letterproeven tot Bepaling der Gezichtsscherpte; Probebuchstaben zur Bestimmung der Sehschaerfe). Utrecht, Netherlands: Weyers (1862).
- Fillenbaum GG, Smyer MA. The development, validity, and reliability of the OARS multidimensional functional assessment questionnaire. *J Gerontol* (1981) 36:428–34. doi:10.1093/geronj/36.4.428
- Rodrigues RMC. Validação da versão em português europeu de questionário de avaliação funcional multidimensional de idosos. *Rev Panam Salud Publica* (2008) 23:109–15. doi:10.1590/S1020-49892008000200006
- Zarit SH, Reever KE, Bach-Peterson J. Relatives of the impaired elderly: correlates of feelings of burden. *Gerontologist* (1980) 20:649–55. doi:10.1093/ geront/20.6.649
- Ferreira A, Ribeiro O, Martins S, Fernandes L. Inventário Neuropsiquiátrico (NPI): Contributo para a Validação da Versão Portuguesa. *Sinapse* (2014) 14(2):152.
- Kaufer DI, Cummings JL, Ketchel P, Smith V, MacMillan A, Shelley T, et al. Validation of the NPI-Q, a brief clinical form of the neuropsychiatric inventory. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci (2000) 12:233–9. doi:10.1176/ jnp.12.2.233
- O'Caoimh R, Gao Y, Svendrovski A, Healy E, O'Connell E, O'Keeffe G, et al. Screening for markers of frailty and perceived risk of adverse outcomes using the risk instrument for screening in the community (RISC). *BMC Geriatr* (2014) 14:1. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-104
- Prince M, Guerchet M, Prina M. The Global Impact of Dementia 2013–2050. London: Alzheimer's Disease International (2013).
- Wu Y-T, Fratiglioni L, Matthews FE, Lobo A, Breteler MM, Skoog I, et al. Dementia in Western Europe: epidemiological evidence and implications for policy making. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15:116–24. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422 (15)00092-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer PB and the handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Teixeira, Dos Santos, Alves, Azevedo, Duarte, Leuschner and Paúl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis: Discrepancy between Clinical, Neuroimaging, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers Criteria in an Italian Cohort of Geriatric Outpatients: A Retrospective Cross-sectional Study

OPEN ACCESS

rontiers

Edited by:

Marco Canevelli, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by:

Svetlana Ukraintseva, Duke University, United States Philipe De Souto Barreto, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France

*Correspondence:

Maura Marcucci marcucci.maura@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 08 September 2017 Accepted: 06 November 2017 Published: 22 November 2017

Citation:

Dolci GAM, Damanti S, Scortichini V, Galli A, Rossi PD, Abbate C, Arosio B, Mari D, Arighi A, Furnagalli GG, Scarpini E, Inglese S and Marcucci M (2017) Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis: Discrepancy between Clinical, Neuroimaging, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers Criteria in an Italian Cohort of Geriatric Outpatients: A Retrospective Crosssectional Study. Front. Med. 4:203. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00203 Giulia A. M. Dolci^{1,2}, Sarah Damanti^{1,3}, Valeria Scortichini^{1,4}, Alessandro Galli^{1,5}, Paolo D. Rossi¹, Carlo Abbate¹, Beatrice Arosio^{1,2}, Daniela Mari^{1,2}, Andrea Arighi⁶, Giorgio G. Fumagalli^{6,7}, Elio Scarpini⁶, Silvia Inglese¹ and Maura Marcucci^{1,8*}

¹ Geriatric Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ² Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ³ Nutritional Sciences, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Geriatric Unit, Medical Department Maggiore Hospital, Bologna, Italy, ⁵ Geriatric Unit, ASST Lariana, Ospedale Sant'Anna, Como, Italy, ⁶ Neurodegenerative Disease Unit, Department of Pathophysiology and Transplantation, Centro Dino Ferrari, University of Milan, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ⁷ Department of Neurosciences, Psychology, Drug Research and Child Health (NEUROFARBA), University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ⁸ Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Background: The role of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) biomarkers, and neuroimaging in the diagnostic process of Alzheimer's disease (AD) is not clear, in particular in the older patients.

Objective: The aim of this study was to compare the clinical diagnosis of AD with CSF biomarkers and with cerebrovascular damage at neuroimaging in a cohort of geriatric patients.

Methods: Retrospective analysis of medical records of \geq 65-year-old patients with cognitive impairment referred to an Italian geriatric outpatient clinic, for whom the CSF concentration of amyloid- β (A β), total Tau (Tau), and phosphorylated Tau (p-Tau) was available. Clinical diagnosis (no dementia, possible and probable AD) was based on the following two sets of criteria: (1) the *Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (*DSM*-IV) plus the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) and (2) the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA). The Fazekas visual scale was applied when a magnetic resonance imaging scan was available.

Results: We included 94 patients, mean age 77.7 years, mean Mini Mental State Examination score 23.9. The concordance (kappa coefficient) between the two sets of clinical criteria was 70%. The mean CSF concentration (pg/ml) (\pm SD) of biomarkers was as follows: A β 687 (\pm 318), Tau 492 (\pm 515), and p-Tau 63 (\pm 56). There was a trend for lower A β and higher Tau levels from the no dementia to the probable AD group. The

83

percentage of *abnormal liquor* according to the local cutoffs was still 15 and 21% in patients without AD based on the *DSM*-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA or the NIA-AA criteria, respectively. The exclusion of patient in whom normotensive hydrocephalus was suspected did not change these findings. A total of 80% of patients had the neuroimaging report describing chronic cerebrovascular damage, while the Fazekas scale was positive in 45% of patients overall, in 1/2 of no dementia or possible AD patients, and in about 1/3 of probable AD patients, with no difference across ages.

Conclusion: We confirmed the expected discrepancy between different approaches to the diagnosis of AD in a geriatric cohort of patients with cognitive impairment. Further research is needed to understand how to interpret this discrepancy and provide clinicians with practical guidelines.

Keywords: Alzheimer, aging, clinical criteria, biomarkers, neuropsychological tests, cerebrovascular disease

INTRODUCTION

For decades, Alzheimer's disease (AD) has been diagnosed only based on clinical criteria (1). With the increasing knowledge of the pathogenic processes underlying this and other dementias, several biomarkers have been proposed to support the diagnosis, also at early stages (2–4). Biomarkers are defined as any objective measurement of an *in vivo* pathological process (5). Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) proteins [amyloid- β (A β) protein, total Tau (Tau), and phosphorylated Tau (p-Tau)] and functional and anatomical neuroimaging findings represent the most studied biomarkers of AD.

The role of these biomarkers in the diagnosis of AD in clinical practice has not been completely clarified yet, as both the American (1) and International Working Group Guidelines (6) underline. Understanding their role in the diagnostic workflow might be particularly challenging in an older population (>85 years) presenting with cognitive impairment. There is evidence suggesting that, as age increases, the prevalence of pathological patterns that have been associated with the disease, increases also in subjects without cognitive impairment (7, 8). Also, the association between the presence of neuritic plaques in autoptic specimens and dementia is less strong in older people (9, 10). Changes in neuroimaging may be less salient in the older ages, in which atrophy often coexists with cerebrovascular damage. Furthermore, chronic cerebrovascular disease is such a frequent neuroimaging finding that its contribution to the cognitive deficit remains difficult to define, especially when not properly quantified (11). Finally, in the oldest patients, the burden of comorbidities often makes the scenario more complex (6). All these reasons increase the chance of conflicting findings between biomarkers and clinical symptoms. The whole picture is further complicated by the fact that the existing sets of diagnostic criteria for AD proposed by different scientific societies assign a different place to some clinical symptoms and signs. In fact, the diagnostic criteria have changed over time, integrating the new knowledge upon the disease mechanisms and biomarkers and reflecting different disease definitions (1, 6, 12). However, the newer criteria have not replaced the older ones, which are still being used in clinical research, and

in particular in studies evaluating therapies for AD (13). The dimension of the problem can be substantial and represents a barrier to a straightforward diagnostic process in routine practice, especially in those clinical settings providing care to less selected older patients such as geriatrics.

With such a background, the objective of our study was to represent the level of discrepancy between different diagnostic approaches, describing a population of older patients with cognitive impairment referred to an Italian geriatric outpatient clinic. In particular, we compared the diagnosis based on clinical criteria with the CSF biomarkers and with cerebrovascular damage finding at neuroimaging.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Population

This is a retrospective cross-sectional study of medical records of 65-year-old or older patients, referred to the Alzheimer Evaluation Unit (UVA) of the Division of Geriatrics of the IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico in Milan between June 2009 and October 2014. Ethical approval was not required for this study in accordance with the institutional guidelines.

We included in the study all those patients with a cognitive impairment who underwent at physician's discretion a lumbar puncture during the diagnostic workup and for whom the concentration of A β , Tau, and p-Tau in the CSF was available. There was no exclusion criterion. In particular, as per our practice, patients undergo a lumbar puncture with liquor collection and examination: (i) in the context of differential diagnosis of dementia, when the treating physician deems it as necessary to help confirm or rule out a clinical suspicion of AD, and (ii) in the context of diagnosis and therapy (i.e., *ex juvantibus*) of normotensive hydrocephalus.

All patients undergo the lumbar puncture only if a specific written informed consent was provided by the patient or by her/his next of kin.

Retrospectively, but in a blind fashion with respect to the actual diagnosis made by the treating physician, we characterized

the patients according to different diagnostic approaches. We first classified the patients using two different sets of clinical diagnostic criteria for AD (not taking into account the laboratory findings) and then compared the clinical diagnoses with the results of CSF biomarkers. Second, we described the prevalence of signs of vascular damage at neuroimaging according to different approaches, i.e., standard descriptive reports versus visual quantitative scales, and its correlation with the clinical and the liquor-based classifications. Within this framework, we also evaluated the contribution of neuropsychological (NPS) tests in making the diagnosis of AD. In fact, it is known that many patients with cognitive impairment have poor awareness or understanding of their cognitive impairment (14). Thus, an objective cognitive assessment lies at the core of an appropriate diagnostic workup for cognitive decline. Moreover, NPS tests can help define early or prodromal states like a mild cognitive impairment (MCI), in which biomarkers might be already positive (6, 15, 16). Finally, all the patients for whom a brain magnetic resonance imaging scan was available were included in the sub-study on neuroimaging.

To have an objective comparison across different diagnostic tools, we included all patients with a CSF record, regardless of the final diagnosis made by the treating physician. Patients with a clinical suspicion of normotensive hydrocephalus were included in the main analyses as expected negative cases (i.e., cases in which CSF biomarkers were expected to be negative). They were then excluded as a sensitivity analysis.

Data Collection

Patient medical records temporarily close but preceding the time of the lumbar puncture were evaluated for the purpose of our study. The study investigators were guarantor for protecting the confidential data from any inappropriate use beyond the purpose of this study.

Clinical Diagnostic Criteria and NPS Assessment

Two investigators (GD and AG) screened the patient charts independently and retrospectively reanalyzed medical records of patients included in the study, being blinded to the diagnosis that was made by the treating geriatrician. Clinical diagnosis of dementia and of AD was based on the criteria of the Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) (17) and of the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) 1984 (18), respectively (Appendix in Supplementary Material). Patients were also classified according to the criteria for dementia and AD of the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) 2011 (1) (Appendix in Supplementary Material). Based on each of the two sets of clinical criteria, patients were classified into no dementia, possible AD, and probable AD. The results of the following clinical investigations were taken into account for the classification of each patient upon those criteria, when available: the multidimensional geriatric assessment, blood tests, NPS tests, and neuroimaging. In particular, we relied on the results of the NPS assessment, when available, in case of inconsistency between the NPS report and the record of the geriatric visit for

what concerned the presence of memory deficits and the level of impact on function. In order to preserve the comparative analyses of our sub-study, when we applied the clinical diagnostic criteria, we used the neuroimaging reports only to rule out the presence of a clear alternative diagnosis (i.e., normotensive hydrocephalus, multi-infarct disease, and tumor). The descriptive finding of "leukoaraiosis" or "chronic cerebrovascular disease" was not considered sufficient for meeting the criterion of an alternative (i.e., vascular) etiology of dementia.

We looked for the NPS assessment that preceded or coincided with the date of the lumbar puncture. In patients with multiple assessments, we used the outcome of the assessment that was temporarily closer to the date of the lumbar puncture. We used the outcome of NPS tests performed after the lumbur puncture only if temporarily very close (no more than 1 month later). The battery of NPS tests was administered by an expert neuropsychologist. Global cognitive functioning was assessed by means of the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) (19) and general intellectual functioning was investigated by using Raven's colored progressive matrices (20). For temporal orientation, the first item of the MMSE was considered. Anterograde long-term memory was rated with the prose recall test (21) and the delayed recall of the Rey-Osterreith complex figure test (17). Verbal short-term memory was assessed by means of the forward digit span test (18). The digit cancelation test (21) was administered to examine visual attention. Executive prefrontal functions were evaluated using the backward digit span test (17), the trail-making test (22), and the phonological fluency test (23). Spatial skills were divided into spatial orientation, assessed by the second item of the MMSE, and spatial abilities, explored by means of the copy of geometrical figure test (20) and the copy of the Rey-Osterreith complex figure test (17). Language was examined using the picture-naming test (24). All tests, excepted for the orientation one, have been validated and standardized in a sample of healthy Italian subjects. Most of the normative data are referred to the study from Spinnler and Tognoni (21). According to the outcome of the NPS assessment, patients were classified into: normal cognition, MCI, or diffuse/severe cognitive impairment. Patients classified as MCI were divided into the following four subtypes: only memory domain affected, singledomain MCI with a deficit other than on memory domain, multiple domain MCI with memory domain affected, and multiple domain MCI with deficits other than on memory domain.

CSF Biomarkers

The lumbar puncture was performed according to procedural standards. The dosage of A β protein, Tau, and p-Tau in the liquor was performed on site. The cerebrospinal fluid sample was centrifuged at 4°C and stored at -30° C until analysis. A β 42 protein, Tau and p-Tau 181 were determined by ELISA kits (Innogenetics). The local laboratory cutoff points for normal protein concentrations are as follows: A β 42 > 600 pg/ml, Tau < 500 pg/ml, and p-Tau < 61 pg/ml.

Neuroimaging

Available brain MRI images were examined independently and retrospectively by three operators blinded to the patient clinical

Challenges in Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis

history. The Fazekas visual scale (25) was applied on at least one long TR sequence, Flair or T2. Given the smallest number of missing data, for the purpose of the analysis, only axial plane images were considered. The Fazekas scores range from 0 (normal) to 3 (extensive, diffuse, and confluent lesions of the subcortical white matter). For the purpose of our analyses, we dichotomized the Fazekas scores into negative (0 or 1) and positive (\geq 2). We chose this cutoff in order to be more specific in this population at high prevalence of chronic cerebrovascular damage.

We decided not to include the assessment of atrophy according to the qualitative versus quantitative approach in our comparative analyses, because only a very small subgroup of patients had suitable MRI images to apply atrophy quantitative scales. Functional neuroimaging (positron emission tomography) was available only for few patients.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean, SD, median and range in case of numerical variables, and frequency in case of categorical variables) were used to present the classification of patients according to the clinical criteria (DSM-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA versus NIA-AA), the CSF biomarkers, and the neuroimaging biomarkers of cerebrovascular disease. First, the two different clinical criteria were compared and the concordance was measured by Cohen's kappa calculation (to take into account the effect of chance). Distributions of biomarkers were compared with the clinical diagnoses according to the NIA-AA criteria, using cross tabulations and Pearson χ^2 or Kruskal–Wallis test, in the whole cohort and by age groups. As sensitivity analyses, the comparison was repeated (i) excluding patients that underwent the lumber puncture in the context of a suspicion of normotensive hydrocephalus and (ii) taking into account the NPS diagnosis. Inter-rater reproducibility for the MRI visual scales was also calculated as Kappa.

RESULTS

The clinical records of 94 patients were examined. **Table 1** shows the baseline characteristics of the study cohort. In most of the cases (68%), the lumbar puncture was performed in the context of a differential diagnosis for AD. In 11 of these 64 patients, alternative dementia etiologies were considered: Lewi Body Dementia in four patients; Fronto-Temporal Dementia in six patients (in one of these patients normotensive hydrocephalus etiology was also under consideration); and subclinical hypothyroidism in one patient. In 30 patients, normotensive hydrocephalus was the main diagnostic hypothesis and the main reason for the lumbar puncture.

 Table 2 summaries the availability of data for the comparison of the different diagnostic tools.

Classifications According to Clinical Diagnostic Criteria and CSF Biomarkers

A total of 55 (58%), 13 (14%), and 26 (28%) patients were classified as being affected by no dementia, possible AD, and probable AD, respectively, according to the *DSM*-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA criteria; 39 (41%), 27 (29%), and 28 (30%), respectively, according TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics.

Characteristics	Distribution
Mean age (SD), years	77.7 (5.2)
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	58 (61.7)
Mean MMSE (SD)	23.9 (4.1)
Mean basic ADL score (SD)	4.7 (1.6) ^a
Mean instrumental ADL score (SD)	4.3 (2.5) ^{a,b}
History of hypertension, n (%)	58 (61.7)
History of diabetes mellitus, n (%)	18 (19.1)
History of dyslipidemia, n (%)	40 (42.5)
Smoker, <i>n</i> (%)	
Yes	53 (53.4)
No	10 (10.6)
Ex	31 (33.0)
History of coronary artery disease, n (%)	9 (9.6)
History of stroke or TIA, n (%)	8 (8.5)
History of peripheral artery disease, n (%)	4 (4.2)
Carotid atherosclerosis, n (%)	43 (45.7)°

n, number; MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination; ADL, activity of daily living;

TIA, transient ischemic attack.

alnformation missing for one patient.

^bIn 35 patients (30 men), The maximum number of applicable items was less than 8. ^cStenosis of at least 20% at the US scan.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace |$ Availability of data on the different diagnostic approaches in the study cohort.

Diagnostic approach	Number of patients with data (% of the total cohort)
Clinical criteria	94 (100)
CSF biomarkers	94 (100)
NPS assessment	71 (75)
Neuroimaging-standard report	76 (81)
Neuroimaging-Fazekas scale	40 (42)

CSF, cerebral spinal Cerebrospinal fluid; NPS, neuropsychological.

TABLE 3 | Comparison of *Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*

 (DSM-IV) plus National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders

 and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association

 (NINCDS-ADRDA) and National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) criteria for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease (AD).

Clinical diagnostic		NIA-AA criteria				
criteria		No dementia, n (%)	Possible AD, n (%)	Probable AD, n (%)	Total, n (%)	
DSM-IV plus NINCDS- ADRDA criteria	No dementia, n (%)	39 (71)	16 (29)	0 (0)	55 (58)	
	Possible AD, n (%)	0 (0)	11 (85)	2 (15)	13 (14)	
	Probable AD, n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	26 (100)	26 (28)	
	Total, <i>n</i> (%)	39 (41)	27 (29)	28 (30)	94 (100)	

to the NIA-AA. As pre-specified, criterion on the presence of memory deficits was fulfilled using the objective outcome of the NPS assessment. In fact, 64% of those patients who had no objective memory deficit at the NPS tests had expressed a memory complaint during the clinical visit.

Table 3 compares patient classification according to theDSM-IVplusNINCDS-ADRDAwith theNIA-AAclinical

criteria. Every patient who was classified as demented according to the *DSM*-IV criteria was also classified as demented according to the NIA-AA criteria; whereas 29% classified as demented according to the NIA-AA criteria were not demented according to *DSM*-IV criteria. The crude concordance between the two sets of criteria for the diagnosis of dementia was 83%, with a kappa coefficient of 67%. The crude concordance for the specific diagnosis (no dementia, possible and probable AD) between the two criteria was 81% with a kappa of 70%.

The mean (SD) value of $A\beta$, Tau, and p-Tau in the study population was 687 pg/ml (318), 492 pg/ml (515), and 63 pg/ml (56), respectively. According to the local laboratory cutoffs, $A\beta$ and Tau values were on average normal whereas mean p-Tau values were abnormal (high).

There was a statistically significant difference in the CSF concentration of $A\beta$ and Tau but not of p-Tau, across the three diagnoses made according to both NINCDS-ADRDA and NIA-AA criteria (**Figure 1**). In particular, there was a trend for lower $A\beta$ values and higher Tau levels going from the no dementia group to probable AD group, more evident in the case of the NINCDS-ADRDA diagnoses.

When the biomarkers levels were dichotomized based on local lab cutoffs into *positive* (i.e., abnormal) or *negative* (i.e., normal), the frequency of biomarkers positivity differed across the diagnoses in a statistically significant way only for $A\beta$, with both *DSM*-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA and NIA-AA classification (4). Every biomarker tended to be more frequently positive in the case of patients with a diagnosis of probable AD compared to patients with a diagnosis of possible AD or no dementia (**Table 4**). Compared to patients with no dementia, patients with possible AD tended to present with positive biomarkers more frequently when *DSM*-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA criteria were used but less frequently when NIA-AA criteria were used (**Table 4**).

Then, the CSF biomarkers were considered as a whole and the patient classified as having *positive liquor* only when the level of all the three proteins was abnormal (i.e., reduced A β , elevated Tau, and p-Tau). In this case, only 18 patients (19%) had *positive liquor*. Patients with *positive liquor* were on average younger than those with *negative liquor* [mean age 74.7 (SD ±3.7) versus 77.2 (SD ±2.7), *p* for Kruskal–Wallis test = 0.002].

Table 5 shows the distribution of the *liquor* biomarker according to the different diagnoses and to different age groups. The trend for *positive liquor* was the same in the whole population and in the two age groups, with a higher prevalence of *positive liquor* in probable AD than in possible AD and no dementia, in both clinical classifications. The prevalence was again higher in those with no dementia than in those with possible dementia in the case of NIA-AA criteria. In any age group and in any clinical diagnosis group, a *negative liquor* was more prevalent than *positive liquor* (**Table 5**).

When we considered age cutoffs progressively lower than 80, the percentage of patients with *positive liquor* became higher than the percentage of patients with *negative liquor* only among patients with a diagnosis of probable AD (any set of criteria) younger than 76 years (66% positive versus 33% negative).

Thirty of the 94 patients underwent a lumbar puncture in the context of a clinical suspicion of normotensive hydrocephalus. When re-classified in a blinded fashion according to the two sets of clinical criteria, these patients were all classified as with no dementia according to the *DSM*-IV criteria. According to the NIA-AA criteria, 19 (63%) patients were not demented and 11 (27%) patients had a possible AD. **Table 6** shows the comparison between the clinical (NIA-AA criteria) and the liquor diagnoses when patients with normotensive hydrocephalus were excluded. The trend did not change compared with the main analysis.

NPS Assessment

The outcome of the NPS assessment was available for 71 patients. Only one patient had a normal test performance; 44 patients were diagnosed as affected by diffuse cognitive impairment; and 26 patients were diagnosed as affected by MCI. Age was no significantly different between patients with diffuse cognitive impairment (mean 76.4 years, SD \pm 3.8) and patients with MCI (mean 76.4 years SD \pm 5.5). Twenty-six of the 27 patients classified as with no dementia according to the NIA-AA criteria (96.3%) were diagnosed as affected by MCI, most of them (88%) with deficits in multiple cognitive domains. In particular, the definition into MCI subtypes was available for 25 patients: three (12%) patients were classified as single MCI with only memory domain affected; 15 (60%) patients were classified as multiple domain MCI with memory domain affected; and seven (26%) patients were classified as multiple domain MCI with deficits other than on memory domain. No patient was classified as single-domain MCI with a deficit other than on memory domain.

Tables 7 and **8** show the frequency of liquor positivity according to the NPS outcome and MCI phenotypes, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference in the frequency of positivity across NPS definitions. In particular, the biomarker liquor tended to be more frequently positive in patients with MCI than in patient with diffuse cognitive impairment.

Cerebrovascular Burden at Neuroimaging

MRI images were available for 40 patients. Thirty-two of these 40 (80%) patients had a diagnosis of cerebrovascular damage according to the qualitative report made by the radiologist. Mean Fazekas score was 1.55 ± 1 . According to the Fazekas score 18 of the 40 (45%) patients were positive. Table 9 shows the mean Fazekas scores and positivity according to the clinical diagnostic criteria. According to both clinical classifications, Fazekas was positive in about half of the patients with no dementia or possible AD, while it was positive in about onethird of the patients with probable AD. When only patients with a diagnosis of probable AD according to the NIA-AA criteria were considered, the proportion of patients with a positive Fazekas in progressively younger subgroups remained the same or increased compared with the whole population or with the oldest ones (Table 10). The results were the same for patients with probable AD according to DSM-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA criteria.



FIGURE 1 | Distributions of amyloid-β (Aβ), total Tau (Tau), and phosphorylated Tau (p-Tau) values in no dementia, possible Alzheimer's disease (AD) and probable AD patients according to *Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV)* plus National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADRDA) and National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) criteria. Legend: mean (SD) concentration is provided for each diagnostic category. *Kruskal–Wallis test for difference in the protein distribution across diagnostic groups.

When in the same patients with a clinical diagnosis of probable AD (according to NIA-AA or NINCDS-ADRDA criteria) the Fazekas results were cross-tabulated with the CSF results (**Table 11**), there was no statistically significant difference in frequency distribution.

DISCUSSION

Our retrospective analysis of a cohort of patients with a cognitive deficit referring to a geriatric outpatient clinic (mean age 78 years), confirmed a non-negligible discrepancy between the

TABLE 4 | Relationship between CSF biomarkers and clinical diagnosis.

Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV plus National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association criteria

National Institute on Aging- Alzheimer's Association criteria

	the Alzheimer S	Disease and Related	Disorder's Association criteria			
	Amyloid-β (Aβ)	Total tau (Tau)	Phosphorylated tau (p-Tau)	Αβ	Tau	p-Tau
	Positive, <i>n</i> (%)	Positive, n (%)	Positive, n (%)	Positive, <i>n</i> (%)	Positive, n (%)	Positive, n (%)
No dementia	20 (36)	17 (31)	19 (35)	16 (41)	12 (31)	15 (39)
Possible AD	5 (38)	5 (38)	7 (54)	8 (30)	8 (30)	9 (33)
Probable AD	18 (69)	13 (50)	13 (50)	19 (68)	15 (54)	15 (54)
Pearson χ^2 , p	0.012	0.251	0.261	0.013	0.102	0.277

TABLE 5 | Distribution of the biomarker liquor according to the Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) plus National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (NINCDS-ADDRDA) and National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) diagnosis and age groups.

Age (years)	DSM-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA criteria		NIA-AA criteria			
	Diagnosis	Positive liquor, n (%)	Pearson χ ² , p	Diagnosis	Positive liquor, n (%)	Pearson χ ² , p
Any	No dementia	8 (15)	0.208	No dementia	8 (21)	0.027
	Possible AD	2 (15)		Possible AD	2 (4)	
	Probable AD	8 (31)		Probable AD	8 (32)	
≥80	No dementia	2 (7)	0.324	No dementia	2 (11)	0.321
	Possible AD	O (O)		Possible AD	O (O)	
	Probable AD	1 (20)		Probable AD	1 (20)	
<80	No dementia	6 (24)	0.494	No dementia	6 (27)	0.168
	Possible AD	2 (16)		Possible AD	1 (7)	
	Probable AD	7 (33)		Probable AD	8 (35)	

TABLE 6 | Distribution of the biomarker *liquor* according to National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) diagnosis in patients without a clinical suspicion of normotensive hydrocephalus.

Diagnosis NIA-AA criteria	Positive liquor, n (%)	Pearson χ ² , p	
No dementia	7 (35)	0.102	
Possible AD	1 (4)		
Probable AD	9 (32)		
Any	17 (27)		

TABLE 7 | Positivity of the biomarker according to different neuropsychological (NPS) diagnosis.

	Positive liquor among all patients with NPS assessment (71), <i>n</i> (%)	Positive liquor among those patients with NPS assessment with no normotensive hydrocephalus suspect (62), <i>n</i> (%)
Cognitive normal	1 (100)	-
Mild cognitive impairment	7 (27)	7 (35)
Diffuse cognitive impairment	10 (23)	10 (24)
Total	18 (25)	17 (27)

diagnosis of AD when based on clinical criteria, CSF biomarkers, or neuroimaging.

First, we confirmed a substantial discordance between the two sets of clinical diagnostic criteria, i.e., DSM-IV plus TABLE 8 | Positivity of the biomarker liquor according to different mild cognitive impairment (MCI) phenotypes and age groups.

Age (years)	Neuropsychological phenotype	Negative liquor, n (%)	Positive liquor, n (%)
≥80	Amnestic MCI	0	0
	Multiple domain MCI+	3 (60)	2 (40)
	Multiple domain MCI-	5 (100)	O (O)
<80	Amnestic MCI	2 (67)	1 (33)
	Multiple domain MCI+	7 (70)	3 (30)
	Multiple domain MCI-	1 (50)	1 (50)

+. with amnestic component: -. without amnestic component.

NINCDS-ADRDA (1984) versus NIA-AA (2011) criteria, with an agreement of only 70% when adjusted for the effect of chance. The discordance likely reflects the evolution in the definition of dementia and AD and was someway expected. However, we wanted to quantify this discrepancy in a cohort of patients with a higher probability of a complex phenotype, since 1984 criteria have been used to define patient eligibility for approval studies of many current drugs available for AD and are still being used in research (13, 26-29). According to our data, most (16 out of 27, 59%) of the "possible AD" patients according to the newer criteria would have been classified as "no dementia" by the older approach (Table 3) and would have been not eligible for those studies. The results of those studies are therefore not necessarily applicable to this subset of patients defined as "possible AD" according to a more comprehensive understanding of the disease.

Diagnosis

TABLE 9 | Cerebrovascular damage at neuroimaging according to the Fazekas scale and clinical diagnosis of dementia.

National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association criteria

	Association criteria					
	Fazekas, mean (SD)	Positive Fazekas,ª n (%)	ρ (Pearson χ^2 test)	Fazekas, mean (SD)	Positive Fazekas, ^a n (%)	p (Pearson χ^2 test)
No dementia	1.1 (1.1)	12 (52)	0.453	1.6 (1.1)	10 (53)	0.451
Possible AD	1.2 (0.9)	2 (50)		1.6 (1.1)	4 (50)	
Probable AD	1.4 (1.0)	4 (31)		1.3 (1.0)	4 (31)	

^aScore >2

TABLE 10 | Distribution of the positive Fazekas score in different age subgroups in people with a clinical diagnosis of probable AD (National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association criteria).

Age (years)	Positive Fazekas, n (%)
≥80	1 (33)
<80	3 (30)
<75	2 (40)
<72	1 (100)

TABLE 11 | Correlation of the biomarker liquor and cerebrovascular burden at neuroimaging according to Fazekas scores, in subjects with a clinical diagnosis of probable AD (National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association criteria) in different age subgroups

	Negative Fazekas, n (%)	Positive Fazekas, n (%)	p
Total			
Negative liquor	6 (67)	3 (33)	0.764
Positive liquor	3 (75)	1 (25)	
<80 years			
Negative liquor	4 (67)	2 (37)	0.778
Positive liquor	3 (75)	1 (25)	
≥80 years			
Negative liquor	2 (67)	1 (33)	-
Positive liquor	O (O)	O (O)	
≤75 years			
Negative liquor	1 (50)	1 (50)	0.709
Positive liquor	2 (67)	1 (33)	
>75 years			
Negative liquor	5 (71)	2 (29)	0.537
Positive liquor	1 (100)	O (O)	

One of the main differences between the two criteria is that the older ones, but not the newer, include the presence of amnesic deficits as a necessary criterion for AD diagnosis. Interestingly, in our cohort, the majority of patients (64%), who had no objective memory deficiency at the NPS tests, had in fact complained about forgetfulness during the clinical visit. This datum has been already described in the literature (30). This confirmed the role of the NPS assessment, which in practice might be sometimes forgone in the assessment of the oldest old patients. An extended NPS battery helped us to better define not only the phenotype but also the severity of the cognitive disorder (6, 31, 32), which, in some cases, allowed us to suppose a higher functional impairment, or a higher contribution of the cognitive deficits to the functional

impairment, among other possible health and social contributors, compared to what the interview with the patients or their caregivers had suggested.

The distribution of the CSF biomarkers levels in our population was quite sparse, even in patients with a clinically probable AD. In particular, patients with positive liquor biomarkers still represented a minority among those that would have been classified as probable AD based on clinical criteria only; they represented the majority only in a younger (i.e., <76 years) subset of patients. In 2012, Mattsson et al. investigated the effect of age on the diagnostic performance of CSF biomarkers in a large multi-center study population and they found that although the diagnostic accuracy for AD decreased with age, the predictive values for a combination of biomarkers remained essentially stable. In comparison with our population, their cross-sectional cohort of patients with AD had a lower median age (71 versus 77.7), an higher percentage of male subjects (57 versus 38.3%) and a lower MMSE median score (22 versus 23.9) (33). In that study the clinical diagnosis of AD was based on DSM-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA criteria. In our study too, there was a non-statistically significant trend for an increased liquor positivity going from "no dementia" to "possible" and then "probable AD," only when the DSM-IV plus NINCDS-ADRDA were used. This suggests a higher concordance between the CSF biomarkers so far known and the classical AD variant, rather than with the more comprehensive AD definition. In contrast, when we looked at the relationship between the CSF protein distribution and the NPS outcome, we did not find the expected association between a classical amnesic MCI phenotype and positive biomarkers.

Our findings confirm that quantitative methods based on neuroimaging (i.e., the Fazekas scale) can help refine the classification of patients upon the degree of cerebrovascular damage compared to descriptive radiological reports (34). Yet, the clinical relevance of neuroimaging remains uncertain among relatively older patients. Indeed, we less frequently found a positive Fazekas in patients with probable AD, compared with patient with possible or no AD, suggesting that the vascular damage is not a typical pathogenic mechanism of the disease. However, there was still a substantial percentage (31%) of positive Fazekas among patients with probable AD. Furthermore, we found that a positive Fazekas tended to be only slightly more frequent among probable AD with negative liquor than among those with a positive liquor, regardless of age. This finally suggests that the two pathogenic pathways, i.e., the vascular and the degenerative, can definitely coexist and not necessarily only in patients who would easily meet the definition of vascular/mixed dementia (such as patients with a history of stroke).

The retrospective nature and the small sample size are the main limitations of our study, which could be only descriptive and explorative in nature. Then, although less selected in terms of age and clinical complexity than in randomized controlled trials, our cohort still represented a selected population. Indeed, including only patients who underwent a lumbar puncture might have led to the exclusion of the oldest and most complex patients for whom the lumbar puncture is more frequently thought not to have a favorable risk-benefit profile. Finally, we had to deal with missing and incomplete information, given the retrospective nature of our study and the use of data from routine practice. The time lag between the date in which the patient underwent the lumbar puncture and the time in which some other study variables were collected could represent a limitation to the actual concurrency of the cross-sectional comparison. However, this is consistent with the routine practice.

CONCLUSION

To conclude, we showed a significant degree of discordance between clinical criteria, NPS assessment, liquor biomarkers, and neuroimaging when used to characterize cognitive disorders in geriatric outpatients. Given the methodological limitations of our study, prospective larger multi-center studies, including inception cohorts of unselected patients that undergo a clinical, laboratory, and neuroradiological assessment, and with a clinical follow-up, would be theoretically necessary to better understand the role of biomarkers in the diagnostic workup of geriatric patients with cognitive disorders. However, practical and ethical issues might hinder the conduction of such a type of study, while the current demographic trend will lead quickly to a further increase of the prevalence of this patient population. Hence, researchers and clinicians in the field should make the efforts to combine their experience and expertise to reach a consensus on the best diagnostic practice in this population.

REFERENCES

- McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR Jr, Kawas CH, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* (2011) 7(3):263–9. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005
- Beach TG, Monsell SE, Phillips LE, Kukull W. Accuracy of the clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer disease at National Institute on Aging Alzheimer Disease Centers, 2005-2010. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2012) 71(4):266–73. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31824b211b
- Shaw LM, Vanderstichele H, Knapik-Czajka M, Clark CM, Aisen PS, Petersen RC, et al. Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65(4):403–13. doi:10.1002/ana.21610

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was a retrospective analyis of data routinely collected for clinical purpose, retrieved from patient medical charts. No approval from an ethics committee was sought. Given the nature of the study, the patients did not provide a specific consent. They had provided an informed consent to the clinical procedures performed as outpatients at the geriatric clinic, as per good clinical practice. The analyses were performed, and the results reported with full respect of anonymity and confidentiality. The data retrieved for the purpose of this study were not used for any other purpose.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GD and MM are the lead investigators and headed study design, data collection, and article writing. MM is also the senior mentor of the study and oversaw the study design. VS, AG, AA, and GF are coinvestigators and participated in study design, data collection, and article review. SD helped with statistical analysis and participated in article review. PR, CA, SI, and BA contributed to the study design, facilitated access to medical records, and participated in article review. DM is the medical director of the Geriatric Unit of the Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico in Milan. ES is the responsible of the Alzheimer Evaluation Unit of the Neurodegenerative disease Unit of the Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico in Milan. DM and ES are the guarantors for study compliance to ethical principles and participated in article review. All the authors reviewed and accepted the final version of the article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the staff of the outpatient clinic of the Geriatric Unit of the Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico in Milan.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmed.2017.00203/ full#supplementary-material.

- Consensus Recommendations for the Postmortem Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease. The national institute on aging, and reagan institute working group on diagnostic criteria for the neuropathological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* (1997) 18(4 Suppl):S1–2.
- Jack CR Jr, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner MW, et al. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. *Lancet Neurol* (2010) 9(1):119–28. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70299-6
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, Hampel H, Molinuevo JL, Blennow K, et al. Advancing research diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: the IWG-2 criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13(6):614–29. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70090-0
- Ossenkoppele R, Sen WJ, Rabinovici GD, Knol DL, van der Flier WM, van Berckel BN, et al. Prevalence of amyloid PET positivity in dementia syndromes: a meta-analysis. JAMA (2015) 313(19):1939–49. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.4669

- Jack CR Jr, Wiste HJ, Weigand SD, Therneau TM, Knopman DS, Lowe V, et al. Age-specific and sex-specific prevalence of cerebral β-amyloidosis, tauopathy, and neurodegeneration in cognitively unimpaired individuals aged 50-95 years: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet Neurol* (2017) 16(6):435–44. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30077-7
- Savva GM, Wharton SB, Ince PG, Forster G, Matthews FE, Brayne C, et al. Age, neuropathology, and dementia. N Engl J Med (2009) 360(22): 2302–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0806142
- Dolan D, Troncoso J, Resnick SM, Crain BJ, Zonderman AB, O'Brien RJ. Age, Alzheimer's disease and dementia in the baltimore longitudinal study of ageing. *Brain* (2010) 133(Pt 8):2225–31. doi:10.1093/brain/awq141
- 11. Gorelick PB, Scuteri A, Black SE, Decarli C, Greenberg SM, Iadecola C, et al. American Heart Association Stroke Council, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on Cardiovascular Nursing, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, and Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia. Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2011) 42(9):2672–713. doi:10.1161/STR.0b013e3182299496
- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, Cummings JL, Dekosky ST, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Revising the definition of Alzheimer's disease: a new lexicon. *Lancet Neurol* (2010) 9(11):1118–27. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422 (10)70223-4
- Howard R, McShane R, Lindesay J, Ritchie C, Baldwin A, Barber R, et al. Donepezil and memantine for moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(10):893–903. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1106668
- 14. Onor ML, Trevisiol M, Negro C, Aguglia E. Different perception of cognitive impairment, behavioral disturbances, and functional disabilities between persons with mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease and their caregivers. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen (2006) 21(5):333–8. doi:10.1177/1533317506292454
- Gauthier S, Reisberg B, Zaudig M, Petersen RC, Ritchie K, Broich K, et al. International Psychogeriatric Association Expert Conference on mild cognitive impairment. Mild cognitive impairment. *Lancet* (2006) 367(9518): 1262–70. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68542-5
- Visser PJ, Verhey F, Knol DL, Scheltens P, Wahlund LO, Freund-Levi Y, et al. Prevalence and prognostic value of CSF markers of Alzheimer's disease pathology in patients with subjective cognitive impairment or mild cognitive impairment in the DESCRIPA study: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2009) 8(7):619–27. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70139-5
- Caffarra P, Vezzadini G, Dieci F, Zonato F, Venneri A. Rey-Osterrieth complex figure: normative values in an Italian population sample. *Neurol Sci* (2002) 22(6):443–7. doi:10.1007/s100720200003
- Orsini A, Grossi D, Capitani E, Laiacona M, Papagno C, Vallar G. Verbal and spatial immediate memory span: normative data from 1355 adults and 1112 children. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) 8(6):539–48. doi:10.1007/BF02333660
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res (1975) 12(3):189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- 20. Raven JC. Manuale Di Istruzioni Delle Matrici Progressive Colore. Firenze: Organizzazioni Speciali (1984).
- Spinnler H, Tognoni G. Standardizzazione e taratura italiana di test neuropsicologici. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1987) 8(Suppl 8):1–120.
- Giovagnoli AR, Del Pesce M, Mascheroni S, Simoncelli M, Laiacona M, Capitani E. Trail making test: normative values from 287 normal adult controls. *Ital J Neurol Sci* (1996) 17(4):305–9. doi:10.1007/BF01997792
- 23. Novelli G, Papagno C, Capitani E, Laiacona M, Vallar G, Cappa SM. Three clinical tests for the assessment of lexical retrieval and production:

norms from 320 normal subjects. Arch Psicol Neurol Psichiatr (1986) 47(4): 477–506.

- Laiacona M, Barbarotto R, Trivelli C, Capitani E. Dissociazioni semantiche intercategoriali: descrizione di una batteria standar-dizzata e dati normativi. *Arch Psicol Neurol Psichiatr* (1993) 54(2):209–48.
- Fazekas F, Chawluk JB, Alavi A, Hurtig HI, Zimmerman RA. MR signalabnor malities at 1.5 T in Alzheimer's dementia and normal aging. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* (1987) 149(2):351–6. doi:10.2214/ajr.149.2.351
- Rösler M, Anand R, Cicin-Sain A, Gauthier S, Agid Y, Dal-Bianco P, et al. Efficacy and safety of rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease: international randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* (1999) 318(7184):633–8. Erratum in: BMJ (2001) 322(7300):1456. doi:10.1136/bmj.318.7184.633
- Rogers SL, Farlow MR, Doody RS, Mohs R, Friedhoff LT. A 24-week, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Donepezil Study Group. *Neurology* (1998) 50(1):136–45. doi:10.1212/ WNL.50.1.136
- Wilcock GK, Lilienfeld S, Gaens E. Efficacy and safety of galantamine in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: multicentre randomised controlled trial. Galantamine International-1 Study Group. *BMJ* (2000) 321(7274):1445–9. Erratum in: *BMJ* (2001) 322(7283):405. doi:10.1136/bmj. 321.7274.1445
- Reisberg B, Doody R, Stöffler A, Schmitt F, Ferris S, Möbius HJ, et al. Memantine in moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med (2003) 348(14):1333–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa013128
- Abbate C, Trimarchi PD, Nicolini P, Bergamaschini L, Vergani C, Mari D. Comparison of informant reports and neuropsychological assessment in mild cognitive impairment. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen* (2011) 26(7):528–34. doi:10.1177/1533317511429323
- Jansen WJ, Handels RL, Visser PJ, Aalten P, Bouwman F, Claassen J, et al. The diagnostic and prognostic value of neuropsychological assessment in memory clinic patients. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2017) 55(2):679–89. doi:10.3233/ JAD-160126
- Meijs AP, Claassen JA, Rikkert MG, Schalk BW, Meulenbroek O, Kessels RP, et al. How does additional diagnostic testing influence the initial diagnosis in patients with cognitive complaints in a memory clinic setting? *Age Ageing* (2015) 44(1):72–7. doi:10.1093/ageing/afu053
- Mattsson N, Rosén E, Hansson O, Andreasen N, Parnetti L, Jonsson M, et al. Age and diagnostic performance of Alzheimer disease CSF biomarkers. *Neurology* (2012) 78(7):468–76. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182477eed
- 34. Wardlaw JM, Smith EE, Biessels GJ, Cordonnier C, Fazekas F, Frayne R, et al. Standards for ReportIng Vascular changes on neuroimaging (STRIVE v1). Neuroimaging standards for research into small vessel disease and its contribution to ageing and neurodegeneration. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12(8): 822–38. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70124-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Dolci, Damanti, Scortichini, Galli, Rossi, Abbate, Arosio, Mari, Arighi, Fumagalli, Scarpini, Inglese and Marcucci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Of Microbes and Minds: A Narrative Review on the Second Brain Aging

Riccardo Calvani, Anna Picca*, Maria Rita Lo Monaco, Francesco Landi, Roberto Bernabei and Emanuele Marzetti

Department of Geriatrics, Neurosciences and Orthopedics, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy

In recent years, an extensive body of literature focused on the gut–brain axis and the possible role played by the gut microbiota in modulating brain morphology and function from birth to old age. Gut microbiota has been proposed as a relevant player during the early phases of neurodevelopment, with possible long-standing effects in later life. The reduction in gut microbiota diversity has also become one of the hallmarks of aging, and disturbances in its composition are associated with several (age-related) neurological conditions, including depression, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease. Several pathways have been evoked for gut microbiota–brain communication, including neural connections (vagus nerve), circulating mediators derived by host-bacteria cometabolism, as well as the influence exerted by gut microbiota on host gut function, metabolism, and immune system. Although the most provoking data emerged from animal studies and despite the huge debate around the possible epiphenomenal nature of those findings, the gut microbiota–brain axis still remains a fascinating target to be exploited to attenuate some of the most burdensome consequences of aging.

Keywords: gut microbiota, neurological disorders, inflamm-aging, gut-brain crosstalk, gut metabolism, brain development, Alzheimer, Parkinson

GUT MICROBIOTA AND CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM (CNS) IN HEALTH AND DISEASE: I "GUT" A FEELING

Over the past decades, few aspects of human physiology have attracted the interest of researchers all over the world as the interaction between gut microbiota and human host (1). According to the current literature, the human holobiont (or superorganism) contains at least the same number of microorganisms (bacteria, archaea, fungi, and viruses) as its own cells (2). More than a billion years of mammalian–microbial coevolution have shaped a life-long interdependency (3). Growing evidence suggests that gut microbiota may be "at the intersection of everything," being implicated in virtually all physiological or pathological situations (1). Gut microbiota has been implicated in the maturation and modulation of the host immune response (4), interactions (positive and negative) with pathogens (5), regulation of bone density (6), vitamin biosynthesis (7), intestinal 5–10% of daily host energy requirements derives from gut microbiota metabolic activities (8).

Not surprisingly, gut microbiota composition and activities have been associated with a plethora of conditions, ranging from obesity to cardiovascular disease, chronic inflammatory diseases, and cancer (9–11).

Recently, a great emphasis has been placed on the role of intestinal microbiota in regulating the gut-brain axis (12–15). Gut microbiota and brain may influence one another through several pathways (**Figure 1**). Gut microbes-brain bidirectional communication is mediated by the vagus nerve that conveys information from the gastrointestinal tract to the CNS and back from CNS to

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco Canevelli, Sapienza Università di Roma. Italv

Reviewed by:

Philipe De Souto Barreto, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Toulouse, France Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Wee Shiong Lim, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Singapore

*Correspondence:

Anna Picca anna.picca1@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 06 January 2018 Accepted: 15 February 2018 Published: 02 March 2018

Citation:

Calvani R, Picca A, Lo Monaco MR, Landi F, Bernabei R and Marzetti E (2018) Of Microbes and Minds: A Narrative Review on the Second Brain Aging. Front. Med. 5:53. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00053

93



the intestine to modulate intestinal motility, release of neurotransmitters and intestinal immune tone (16, 17). The sympathetic branch of the autonomic nervous system is also involved in intestinal homeostasis and gut immune regulation (18). Gut microbiota may also synthesize (or modulate the synthesis of) a number of neurotransmitters, including dopamine (DA), serotonin (5-HT), noradrenaline (NA), and gamma-aminobutyric acid (19–22). The hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis (HPA axis) is another bidirectional route of communication through which host and gut microbes may interact to orchestrate the core response to both physical and psychological stress challenges (23–25). Bacterial metabolic activities may influence host metabolism and lead to the production of metabolites with neuroactive properties, including short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and dietary amino acid catabolites (26, 27). Finally, bacterial mediators in the forms of microbe-associated molecular patterns may drive neuroinflammation (28).

Through all these pathways, gut microbiota exerts a widespread influence on key neurological and behavioral processes and may be involved in critical phases of neurodevelopment and neurodegenerative disorders (12–14, 29). In this scenario, microbial activities on gut-brain axis seem to be especially relevant at the two extremities of human life course (13, 15). Early-life gut microbiota may play a role in shaping neuronal networks influencing cognitive, emotional, and social domains (13). Aging is associated with a reduction in microbial complexity, while alterations in intestinal microbiota composition, structure, and function have been retrieved in older individuals with Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD) (30, 31). In this narrative review, recent evidence on life-long gut microbiota-brain axis is summarized, with a particular focus on aging and age-related neurodegenerative diseases. All accessible relevant studies written in English were included.

GUT MICROBIOTA AND NEURODEVELOPMENT: EARLY ORIGINS OF LATE NEUROLOGICAL DISEASES?

The notion of "developmental origins of health and disease" poses that prenatal and perinatal life stages are critical periods in which environmental stimuli exert direct and indirect effects on the fetus that might be reflected in later health and disease conditions (32). In this context, early host-microbiota interactions seem to be among the most relevant factors in "programming" adult phenotypes (33). It has been postulated that a succession of microbiota components occurs through major steps at birth (depending on the timing and mode of delivery), then during breastfeeding and first interactions with the environment, and finally during and after weaning. Maternal-host factors (genetic background of mother-infant dyad) and perinatal exposure to antibiotics are among the most relevant factors in shaping the newborn's microbiota (33, 34). Interaction with colonizing microbiota may prime immune and metabolic functions and have a long-lasting influence on the risk of developing several conditions in later life, including gastrointestinal, allergic, autoimmune, and metabolic diseases (34).

Neurodevelopment is one of the most complex and fascinating aspects of human physiology that may be affected by early contact with gut microbiota (12–14, 35). Human brain development starts during the third gestational week and lasts through adolescence and into early adulthood in humans under the control of both genetic and environmental factors (36). The development of cognitive, emotional, and social brain circuits occur in parallel under the fine modulation by several molecular regulatory networks (37, 38). Critical windows in brain development have been described, during which neural circuits are particularly sensitive and even vulnerable to external factors, including gut microbiota composition (39, 40). Interestingly, early post-natal brain development overlap with gut microbiota establishment (33, 39, 40).

Animal models, in particular germ-free (GF) mice, have been crucial for the study of gut microbiota-brain axis in early phases of neurodevelopment (41). Seminal studies suggest that both the composition and the metabolic activity of gut microbiota at specific time points may influence HPA axis development (42) and have long-lasting impact on behavioral and neuroendocrine responses to stress (42–45). Gut microbiota may program the activity of multiple neurotransmitter systems in different brain regions inducing a long-term modulation of motor control and anxiety-like behavior in adult life (13, 35, 46). GF mice had a higher turnover rate of NA, DA, and serotonin 5-HT in the striatum compared with specific pathogen-free (SPF) mice (46). The serotonergic system seems to be particularly susceptible to early-life microbiota dynamics (47–50). Male GF animals showed a marked elevation in 5-HT and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, its

main metabolite, in the hippocampus compared with conventionally colonized control animals (48). Interestingly, post-weaning restoration of a normal flora failed to reverse the alterations in brain neurochemistry elicited by the lack of early life exposure to gut microbiota (48). Also, plasma 5-HT levels are affected by gut microbiota activity. In a metabolomics study, the colonization of GF mice induced a significant increase in plasma 5-HT (51), and bacterial metabolites were shown to stimulate 5-HT synthesis and secretion by enterochromaffin cells (20, 21). Intriguingly, the maternal separation in mice, an established model of early-life stress, induced profound changes in the gut microbiota that resulted in an anxiety-like phenotype (52).

The gut microbiota may also play a role in synapse maturation and synaptogenesis. In particular, GF animals when compared with SPF animals, showed higher striatal expression of synaptophysin and PSD 95, two markers of synaptogenesis and excitatory synapse maturation, respectively (46). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a key regulator of synaptic plasticity and neurogenesis in the brain and plays a crucial role in learning, memory, and mood regulation throughout life (53). In GF mice, *Bdnf* expression is significantly lower in the hippocampus, amygdala, and cingulate cortex compared with SPF mice (46). However, some inconsistency were reported about *Bdnf* expression in the hippocampus (42, 46, 48, 49).

Intriguingly, most of the reported neurodevelopmental alterations in GF mice occur differently in the two sexes (42, 46, 48, 49). Gut microbiota influence on neurogenesis is relevant for the normal gross morphology and ultrastructure of the amygdala and hippocampus (54, 55). While GF mice exhibit increased adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the dorsal hippocampus, subsequent post-weaning microbial colonization failed to reverse these changes, suggesting the existence of a critical developmental window in early life during which gut microbiota may program adult hippocampal neurogenesis (55). Gut microbiota may also be instrumental for the development of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). GF mice, starting from intrauterine life, displayed a life-long increased BBB permeability compared with mice with a normal gut flora that can partially be reverted by the exposure to pathogen-free gut microbiota during adult life (56).

Microglia, the macrophages that constitute the first-line immune defense of the CNS, play a central role in brain development, plasticity, and cognition and have been associated with the initiation or progression of several developmental and neurodegenerative diseases, including AD and PD (57, 58). Very recently, it was shown that microglia exhibited a timeand sex-specific susceptibility to gut microbiota depletion in mice (59). In particular, males seem to have their critical window during early in utero development, while females are more affected during adulthood. Microbiota alterations may have both acute and long-term effects on microglial functions. Remarkably, human fetal microglia showed significant similarities in the expression of key microglial genes when compared with murine counterparts (59). Finally, GF mice exhibited an increased myelination of neurons in the prefrontal cortex that could be reversed by colonization with a conventional microbiota following weaning (60).

Interventions on the early gut microbiota community (through the use of antibiotics, drastic changes in diet and/or pre/probiotic administration) may have profound effects on the gut–brain axis throughout life. For instance, antibiotic use during the first years of life was associated with neurocognitive outcomes later in life (e.g., depression, behavioral difficulties) (61).

In summary, several lines of evidence, although obtained mostly from animal models, suggest a relevant role played by the gut microbiota during the early phases of neurodevelopment, with possible long-standing effects later in life. The translatability of animal model findings to humans is obviously a priority but, also when ascertained, a comprehensive discussion should be started before implementing intervention strategies that could harm the mother–infant dyad in the first critical 1,000 days of life (62, 63).

THE ADULT "STEADY-STATE" MICROBIOTA AND CNS: COMMITTING TO A STABLE RELATIONSHIP

From birth till adulthood, bacterial diversity and functional capacity expand progressively, although at different rates across life stages (i.e., faster during infancy and slightly slower in early childhood) (64, 65).

In adulthood, gut microbial population fluctuates around a steady state (in terms of composition, diversity, and function) and remains quite resilient unless gross perturbations occur (e.g., major health conditions) (66). "Healthy" adult gut microbiota are consistently dominated by 2 main phyla (Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes), but more than 1,000 different bacterial species have been characterized and represent the vast human microbial collection (67-69). Each individual is characterized by a specific combination and proportion of different microbial species and subspecies (strains) that constitutes a unique microbial fingerprint (69). Despite this taxonomic inter-individual variability, adult gut microbiota display a relatively consistent functional capacity in healthy persons (70, 71). Importantly, microbial diversity and functional redundancy are positively associated with health, while decreased microbial richness and diversity and loss of functional redundancy characterize the microbiota in multiple disease conditions (66, 69, 72). Adult gut microbiota is influenced by several factors, including host genetics (73), nutrition and dietary habits (74, 75), xenobiotics (e.g., antibiotics) and other drugs (76-78), exercise (75, 79, 80), and circadian rhythm (81, 82).

Gut microbiota and brain dynamically interact also during adulthood. In adult mice, short-term oral administration of broad-spectrum antibiotics induced a decrease in anxiety and upregulated hippocampal expression of Bdnf(83). These changes were associated with a transient perturbation of microbiota but occurred independent of inflammatory status, vagal or sympathetic integrity, or alterations in gastrointestinal neurotransmitter levels (83). Adult neuroplasticity is sensitive to several environmental stimuli, including stress and gut microbiota alterations (84). Adult mice treated with antibiotics showed decreased hippocampal neurogenesis and memory retention (85). This effect was not completely rescued by the restoration of a normal flora by fecal transplant, unless supported by exercise or a probiotic cocktail administration (85).

Recent evidence suggests that complex microbiota-derived stimuli are requested for microglia maintenance also during adulthood (26, 59, 86). In particular, SCFAs, derived from bacterial fermentation processes, seem to regulate adult microglia homeostasis (26). Moreover, short-term antibiotic treatment in adult mice induce a rapid and sexually dimorphic (higher in females) change in microglial gene expression, reinforcing the concept that microbiota perturbations may have a relevant impact of microglia also during adulthood (59).

THE SECOND BRAIN AGING: LINKING GUT MICROBIOTA TO NEURODEGENERATION

Aging is a process characterized by progressive functional decline of all physiological systems. In the gastrointestinal tract, aging involves the degeneration of enteric nervous system (ENS), alterations in gastrointestinal motility, perturbations in small intestinal permeability and mucosal defense system, which may promote the development of gastrointestinal diseases, affect the local and systemic inflammatory status, and deeply influence both the composition and function of resident microbiota (87–89).

Aging is also associated with broad changes in brain and whole body physiology that may influence gut microbiota-brain axis. In particular, the HPA axis is deeply perturbed, through a self-reinforcing cycle mediated by the hyperactivation of the HPA axis that leads to increased basal glucocorticoid release and the impaired HPA negative feedback due to reduced central glucocorticoid receptor expression (90, 91). HPA axis dysfunctions have been associated with decline in hippocampal volume and cognitive performance, and increased risk of late-life depression and anxiety (92, 93). Also circadian rhythm disruption, which is typical of aging, may be involved in this process, due to the potential effect on both cortisol level fluctuations and gut microbial activities (94, 95).

The aging brain is also deficient in the synthesis of neurotrophic factors, including BDNF (96) as well as several neurotransmitters, including 5-HT and DA, all of which lead to neuronal and cognitive dysfunction (97, 98). BBB breakdown is an early event in the aging human brain that begins in the hippocampus and may contribute to cognitive impairment (99).

Aging is also characterized by the progressive decline in immune function (immunosenescence) associated with a chronic, low-grade inflammation (inflamm-aging) (100, 101). Both processes may have many effects on the CNS, such as microglial activation, BBB breakdown, and increase in oxidative damage that may contribute to neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric diseases (100). Remarkably, recent data suggest that, in old mice, gut microbiota contribute to inflamm-aging, and that this inflammatory phenotype may be transferred to young GF mice (102).

Major taxonomic shifts and a consistent decrease in microbial richness and diversity have been reported in people 65 years of age and older and these changes were associated with worsening of health status and frailty (89, 103). Similar findings were also obtained in mice (104).

The characterization of gut microbiota of centenarians revealed the presence of significant compositional differences across life stages till extreme ages (105). In particular, core microbiota (mostly composed by the members of Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae, and Bacteroidaceae families) seem to accompany human life, decreasing in abundance along with aging (105). In longevity and extreme longevity, an enrichment in some subdominant health-associated groups (e.g., *Akkermansia, Bifidobacterium*, and *Christensenellaceae*) occurs, even with the support of some opportunistic and allochthonous bacteria (105).

Recently, the effects of aging on the microbiota gut-brain axis were assessed in male mice (106). Aged mice showed significant shifts in gut microbiota that were associated with deficits in spatial memory and increases in anxiety-like behaviors compared with young adult mice (106). These changes were positively correlated with the abundance of bacteria from the Porphyromonadaceae family. Aged mice also exhibited increased gut permeability that was associated with elevations in peripheral pro-inflammatory cytokines (106).

These preliminary findings suggest that age-related changes in gut microbiota may impact behavioral and cognitive functions and support the relevance of the alteration in gut permeability and peripheral inflammation in mediating these effects.

As outlined earlier, the possible link between early gut microbiota-brain interactions and late onset neurological conditions, including AD and PD, is an intriguing area of research (15).

Alzheimer's Disease

In AD, the most common form of age-related dementia, deposition of protein aggregates composed of amyloid- β (A β) peptide and tau in brain tissues impairs cognitive function (107). Both host- and environmental factors that regulate these processes have been described, including a potential role for gut microbiota (108) (**Figure 2**).

In AD, reduced microbial richness and diversity were observed, with low abundance of Firmicutes and *Bifidobacterium* and increased Bacteroidetes that characterized the microbiome of AD patients (108). Correlations were found between the levels of *Bacteroides*, *Turicibacter*, and *SMB53* and the concentration of glial activation biomarkers in cerebrospinal fluid of AD (108).

An increase in the abundance of the pro-inflammatory *Escherichia/Shigella* taxon, and a corresponding reduction in the anti-inflammatory *E. rectale* was associated with higher levels of inflammatory mediators in patients with cognitive impairment and brain amyloidosis (109). Also in a mouse model overex-pressing amyloid precursor protein and presenilin 1 (APPPS1), a distinct microbial signature was observed with an increase in *Rikenellaceae* and decreased *Allobaculum* and *Akkermansia* compared with age-matched wild-type controls (110).

Interestingly, reduced levels of *Akkermansia* characterize gut microbiota of mice with obesity and type 2 diabetes (111), two potentially modifiable risk factors for AD (107). Importantly, both young and old GF APPPS1 transgenic mice displayed a drastic reduction of cerebral A β pathology when compared with control mice, along with a reduced microgliosis (110). Further to



FIGURE 2 | Age-related changes in gut–brain axis possibly involved in neurodegeneration. Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; PD, Parkinson's disease.

this, colonization of GF-APPPS1 transgenic mice with microbiota from conventionally raised APPPS1 transgenic mice increased cerebral A β pathology, while colonization with microbiota from wild-type mice was less effective in increasing cerebral A β levels (110). Notably, GF-APPPS1 displayed increased levels of the A β -degrading enzymes insulin degrading enzyme and neprilysin degrading enzyme, suggesting a mechanism through which gut microbiota influence cerebral A β amyloidosis (110).

In the same mouse model of AD, life-long antibiotic treatment induced a considerable perturbation in gut microbial composition (including an expansion of Akkermansia) that was associated with marked changes in the circulating cytokine/ chemokine network, a striking reduction in amyloid plaque deposition, and a concomitant increase in soluble A β (112). This was accompanied by alterations in neuroinflammatory milieu that lead to reduced plaque-localized gliosis and altered microglial morphology (112). Remarkably, early post-natal antibiotic treatment alone resulted in long-term alterations in gut microbial genera that were associated with changes in the inflammatory environment of serum and cerebrospinal fluid and attenuated A β amyloidosis in a manner similar to that observed in mice subjected to life-long antibiotic selection pressure (113). These findings corroborate the hypothesis of the presence of critical developmental periods in which the commensal microbiota manipulation may have long-lasting effects on host immunity and potential implications for neurodegenerative diseases.

In another model of AD, the 5xFAD transgenic mouse, elevated levels of APP were found not only in the brain but also in the different gut districts and this was associated with a distinct fecal microbiota profile relative to wild-type animals, with an increase in pro-inflammatory species (e.g., *Clostridium leptum*) (114).

Alterations in gut microbiota composition together with the increase in intestinal permeability with age may lead to the translocation of microbes or microbial components [i.e., lipopolysaccharide (LPS)] from the gut to induce systemic and CNS inflammation (115). Interestingly, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated a possible association between LPS and AD pathology. Coincubation of A β peptide with LPS potentiated amyloid fibril formation (116), and systemic administration of LPS in wild-type and transgenic AD mice induced neuroinflammation, amyloid deposition, and tau pathology (117–119). Moreover, in postmortem brain parenchyma and blood vessels from patients with AD, levels of LPS and Gram-negative *E. coli* fragments were greater compared with control brains and colocalized with amyloid plaques (120).

While the study of the microbiota gut-brain axis in AD is still in its infancy, promising preclinical data suggest that the modulation of gut microbiota through dietary ingredients or probiotics may provide a means to counteract the development or progression of neurodegenerative disease. For instance, in a triple-transgenic mouse model of AD (3xTg-AD), a formulation of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria changed the composition of gut microbiota, stimulated the production of beneficial metabolites (e.g., increased SCFAs), reduced the levels of proinflammatory cytokines, increased gut hormones concentration and positively modulate quality control processes and proteolysis, reducing A β load and improving cognitive function (121). Moreover, the administration of the probiotic mixture VSL#3 to aged rats induced a robust perturbation in gut microbiota composition, that was accompanied by gene expression changes in the brain cortex, attenuated age-related deficits in long-term potentiation, decreased microglial activation, and increased BDNF and synapsin levels (122). In addition, 3-hydroxybenzoic acid and 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)propionic acid, the phenolic products of microbial conversion of grape seed polyphenol extracts (and other dietary polyphenols), may potently interfere with the assembly of A β peptides into neurotoxic A β aggregates in vitro (123).

Despite these interesting preliminary findings, more work is needed to determine whether gut microbiota modulation may be employed for the prevention and/or treatment of AD pathogenic processes.

Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder, affecting 2–3% of the population \geq 65 years of age (124, 125). Degeneration of the dopaminergic nigro-striatal pathway and widespread intracellular α -synuclein accumulation are the neuropathological hallmarks of PD that are associated with bradykinesia and other cardinal motor and non-motor features (126).

Gastrointestinal dysfunction, in particular in the form of constipation, is among the most frequent prodromal nonmotor symptoms of PD that may precede motor symptoms by decades (126). At later disease stages, oral issues including drooling and swallowing problems and delays in gastric emptying further exacerbate gastrointestinal dysfunction (127). Aggregates of α -synuclein have been retrieved in the mucosal and submucosal nerve fibers and ganglia of the ENSs of PD patients at early disease stages (128, 129). In addition, some observations from experimental models support the intriguing hypothesis that intestinal α -synuclein may spread to the brain *via* postganglionic enteric neurons and the vagus nerve (130). Interestingly, the risk of developing PD was significantly decreased in patients who underwent a full truncal vagotomy compared with those who underwent selective vagotomy and in the general population (131).

Not surprisingly, gastrointestinal disturbances in people with PD are accompanied by alterations in fecal and mucosal microbial populations (31, 132-134). In particular, a reduced abundance of Prevotellaceae, mucin producers that regulate intestinal permeability, was commonly reported in PD patients (31, 132, 135, 136), while Enterobacteriaceae were positively associated with the severity of postural instability and gait difficulty (31). Clostridium coccoides group was high in early PD patients, while Lactobacillus gasseri subgroup was high in advanced PD patients (132). A pro-inflammatory dysbiosis, characterized by low counts of "anti-inflammatory" butyrate-producing bacteria from the genera Blautia, Coprococcus, and Roseburia and higher "pro-inflammatory" Proteobacteria of the genus Ralstonia was also reported in individual with PD (133). Individuals affected by PD also showed lower levels of SCFA concentrations, derived from host-microbiota cometabolism, that may have neuroactive and immunomodulating properties (135). Other evidence of microbiota dysregulation in PD includes small intestine bacterial overgrowth and high rates of Helicobacter pylori infection (137, 138). It is worth noting that this infection has also been involved in the pathogenesis of AD (139). Finally, the total abundance of intestinal bacterial was found to decrease during PD progression, with a low count of Bifidobacterium associated with worsening of PD symptoms (134).

Collectively, these findings suggest that perturbations in gut microbiota structure and function may be associated with the development and progression of PD through several potential mechanisms, including inflammation and bacterial translocation (Figure 2). However, findings in humans remain largely descriptive. Again, animal models provided some useful insights into the physiopathological mechanisms linking gut dysbiosis to PD. Under GF conditions, or when bacteria were depleted in post-natal life following antibiotic treatment, transgenic mice overexpressing α -synuclein showed reduced microglia activation, α-synuclein inclusions, gastrointestinal symptoms, and motor deficits compared with animals with a complex microbiota (140). Moreover, administration of a mixture of microbially derived SCFAs (acetate, propionate, and butyrate) restored all major features of PD in GF mice, suggesting that microbial metabolic mediators may promote microglia activation and α-synuclein aggregation and contribute to motor dysfunction in PD (140). Remarkably, mice transplanted with PD microbiota compared with mice who received microbiota from healthy human controls displayed enhanced motor dysfunction, suggesting that dysbiosis may be the environmental factor that combined with a genetic



predisposition (α -synuclein overexpression) influences disease outcomes in mice (140).

As already outlined for AD, in neurodegenerative diseases, including PD, the passage of bacterial products from the intestine to the circulation and into brain, or "molecular mimicry" processes induced by bacterial amyloids may trigger a persistent neuroinflammation (28, 141, 142) that in turn contributes to neuronal dysfunction and death (143). In this scenario, it has recently been proposed that $A\beta$ production and aggregation may originally act as an antimicrobial defense and then infectious or sterile inflammatory stimuli may drive amyloidosis (144).

While it is currently recommended the use of fermented milk containing probiotics and prebiotic fiber in PD patients with constipation (145), the possible beneficial effects of the manipulation of gut microbiota (through diet, live bacteria, or microbiota transplantation) on the initiation or progression of the neurodegenerative process have not yet been explored. Further studies are also needed to assess the possible interactions among these interventions and levodopa uptake and availability.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

At the beginning of the twentieth century, the Nobel Prize winner Elie Metchnikoff theorized in his tracts, *The Nature of Man: Studies in Optimistic Philosophy* (1903) and *The Prolongation of Life: Optimistic Studies* (1907), that health status could be improved and senility delayed by replacing the native gut microbes with lactic acid bacteria such as those present in yogurt (146). In the past few decades, this idea was resumed and updated under the influence of methodological and technological advances in science (147). A more ecological perspective was

then embraced and the concepts of complexity, (dis)harmony, (Nash)equilibrium, and personalization/precision were introduced to capture the dynamic aspects of gut microbiota-host relationship (66, 147–149).

While the study of microbiota gut-brain axis is still in infancy, a number of potential mechanisms (and, hence, plausible targets) have begun to be unveiled. Early-life interactions between host and colonizing gut microbes seem to influence the way in which the nervous system starts obtaining information about the external and internal environment in critical phases of neurodevelopment. BBB establishment and function, central inflammatory processes and neurogenesis may be differentially affected by the gut microbial assemblies and their metabolic products (**Figure 3**). Evidence is also accumulating for a role of life-long microbiota-host interactions in age-related disorders such as AD and PD.

Taken together, these data open up the possibility of developing interventions targeting the gut microbiota (in particular at the extreme ages of life) to improve brain health. Preclinical studies have suggested the efficacy of the modulation of the gut microbiota in ameliorating conditions such as depression and neurodegenerative diseases (150). A new term, "psychobiotics" (and related "psychobiotic properties"), was coined to define live bacteria (probiotics) and nutritional support for such bacteria (prebiotics), but also virtually any exogenous factor, such as diet, exercise, and drugs, acting on brain through bacterially mediated effects (19).

Despite the "optimistic nature" of this 100-year-old idea, future research should tackle several challenging questions before truly effective interventions in humans may be implemented. For instance, most of the published studies have only associated the gut microbiota with diseases without proving any causation (1, 151). It is therefore crucial to assess whether changes in microbiota underpin disease pathophysiology or are just epiphenomena. Further to this, the microbial properties that are necessary to support proper neurodevelopment and prevent neurodegeneration should be clearly established. In addition, sufficiently powered, rigorous clinical trials should be conducted to assess the translatability of animal model findings to human conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RC, EM, and AP conceived the manuscript. RC, MRLM, and AP drafted the paper. RB, FL, and EM supervised and edited the

REFERENCES

- 1. Cani PD. Gut microbiota—at the intersection of everything? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2017) 14:321–2. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2017.54
- Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Are we really vastly outnumbered? Revisiting the ratio of bacterial to host cells in humans. *Cell* (2016) 164:337–40. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.013
- Lynch SV, Pedersen O. The human intestinal microbiome in health and disease. N Engl J Med (2016) 375:2369–79. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1600266
- Postler TS, Ghosh S. Understanding the holobiont: how microbial metabolites affect human health and shape the immune system. *Cell Metab* (2017) 26:110–30. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.008
- Bäumler AJ, Sperandio V. Interactions between the microbiota and pathogenic bacteria in the gut. *Nature* (2016) 535:85–93. doi:10.1038/ nature18849
- Jones RM, Mulle JG, Pacifici R. Osteomicrobiology: the influence of gut microbiota on bone in health and disease. *Bone* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.bone. 2017.04.009
- LeBlanc JG, Milani C, de Giori GS, Sesma F, van Sinderen D, Ventura M. Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2013) 24:160–8. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2012.08.005
- Macfarlane GT, Gibson GR. Carbohydrate fermentation, energy transduction and gas metabolism in the human large intestine. In: Mackie RL, White BA, editors. *Gastrointestinal Microbiology*. Boston, MA: Springer (1997). p. 269–318.
- Torres-Fuentes C, Schellekens H, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The microbiota-gut-brain axis in obesity. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 2:747–56. doi:10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30147-4
- Marques FZ, Mackay CR, Kaye DM. Beyond gut feelings: how the gut microbiota regulates blood pressure. Nat Rev Cardiol (2018) 15:20–32. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.120
- Garrett WS. Cancer and the microbiota. Science (2015) 348:80-6. doi:10.1126/ science.aaa4972
- Sharon G, Sampson TR, Geschwind DH, Mazmanian SK. The central nervous system and the gut microbiome. *Cell* (2016) 167:915–32. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.10.027
- Kelly JR, Minuto C, Cryan JF, Clarke G, Dinan TG. Cross talk: the microbiota and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Front Neurosci* (2017) 11:490. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00490
- Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Gut instincts: microbiota as a key regulator of brain development, ageing and neurodegeneration. J Physiol (2017) 595:489–503. doi:10.1113/JP273106
- Sherwin E, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Recent developments in understanding the role of the gut microbiota in brain health and disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2017). doi:10.1111/nyas.13416
- Forsythe P, Bienenstock J, Kunze WA. Vagal pathways for microbiome-brain-gut axis communication. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2014) 817:115–33. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4_5
- Andersson U, Tracey KJ. Reflex principles of immunological homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) 30:313–35. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075015

manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the "Centro Studi Achille e Linda Lorenzon" (AP, EM, and RC), intramural research grants from the Catholic University of the Sacred Heart (D3.2 2013 and D3.2 2015, FL), Innovative Medicines Initiative Joint Undertaking (IMI-JU 115621, EM, FL, RB, and RC), and Fondazione Roma (NCDs Call for Proposal 2013, AP and RC). The figures were drawn using the freely available Servier Medical Art resource (http://www.servier.com/Powerpoint-image-bank).

- de Jonge WJ. The gut's little brain in control of intestinal immunity. ISRN Gastroenterol (2013) 2013:630159. doi:10.1155/2013/630159
- Sarkar A, Lehto SM, Harty S, Dinan TG, Cryan JF, Burnet PWJ. Psychobiotics and the manipulation of bacteria-gut-brain signals. *Trends Neurosci* (2016) 39:763–81. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2016.09.002
- Reigstad CS, Salmonson CE, Rainey JF, Szurszewski JH, Linden DR, Sonnenburg JL, et al. Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *FASEB* J (2015) 29:1395–403. doi:10.1096/fj.14-259598
- Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* (2015) 161:264–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.047
- Barrett E, Ross RP, O'Toole PW, Fitzgerald GF, Stanton C. γ-Aminobutyric acid production by culturable bacteria from the human intestine. J Appl Microbiol (2012) 113:411–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05344.x
- Foster JA, Rinaman L, Cryan JF. Stress & the gut-brain axis: regulation by the microbiome. *Neurobiol Stress* (2017) 7:124–36. doi:10.1016/j. ynstr.2017.03.001
- Mudd AT, Berding K, Wang M, Donovan SM, Dilger RN. Serum cortisol mediates the relationship between fecal Ruminococcus and brain N-acetylaspartate in the young pig. *Gut Microbes* (2017) 8:589–600. doi:10.1080/19490976.2017.1353849
- Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV, Escaravage E, Savignac HM, Dinan TG, et al. Ingestion of *Lactobacillus* strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:16050–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1102999108
- Erny D, Hrabě de Angelis AL, Jaitin D, Wieghofer P, Staszewski O, David E, et al. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. *Nat Neurosci* (2015) 18:965–77. doi:10.1038/nn.4030
- Rothhammer V, Mascanfroni ID, Bunse L, Takenaka MC, Kenison JE, Mayo L, et al. Type I interferons and microbial metabolites of tryptophan modulate astrocyte activity and central nervous system inflammation via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:586–97. doi:10.1038/nm.4106
- Pal GD, Shaikh M, Forsyth CB, Ouyang B, Keshavarzian A, Shannon KM. Abnormal lipopolysaccharide binding protein as marker of gastrointestinal inflammation in Parkinson disease. *Front Neurosci* (2015) 9:306. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2015.00306
- Fung TC, Olson CA, Hsiao EY. Interactions between the microbiota, immune and nervous systems in health and disease. *Nat Neurosci* (2017) 20:145–55. doi:10.1038/nn.4476
- Jiang C, Li G, Huang P, Liu Z, Zhao B. The gut microbiota and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis (2017) 58:1–15. doi:10.3233/JAD-161141
- Scheperjans F, Aho V, Pereira PAB, Koskinen K, Paulin L, Pekkonen E, et al. Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. *Mov Disord* (2015) 30:350–8. doi:10.1002/mds.26069
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Mitchell MD. Developmental origins of health and disease: reducing the burden of chronic disease in the next generation. *Genome Med* (2010) 2:14. doi:10.1186/gm135
- Rautava S, Luoto R, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Microbial contact during pregnancy, intestinal colonization and human disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2012) 9:565–76. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2012.144

- Goulet O. Potential role of the intestinal microbiota in programming health and disease. Nutr Rev (2015) 73(Suppl 1):32–40. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuv039
- Tognini P. Gut microbiota: a potential regulator of neurodevelopment. Front Cell Neurosci (2017) 11:25. doi:10.3389/fncel.2017.00025
- Stiles J, Jernigan TL. The basics of brain development. Neuropsychol Rev (2010) 20:327–48. doi:10.1007/s11065-010-9148-4
- Bassett DS, Sporns O. Network neuroscience. Nat Neurosci (2017) 20:353–64. doi:10.1038/nn.4502
- Chai LR, Khambhati AN, Ciric R, Moore TM, Gur RC, Gur RE, et al. Evolution of brain network dynamics in neurodevelopment. *Netw Neurosci* (2017) 1:14–30. doi:10.1162/NETN_a_00001
- Borre YE, O'Keeffe GW, Clarke G, Stanton C, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Microbiota and neurodevelopmental windows: implications for brain disorders. *Trends Mol Med* (2014) 20:509–18. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2014.05.002
- Chu DM, Ma J, Prince AL, Antony KM, Seferovic MD, Aagaard KM. Maturation of the infant microbiome community structure and function across multiple body sites and in relation to mode of delivery. *Nat Med* (2017) 23:314–26. doi:10.1038/nm.4272
- Luczynski P, McVey Neufeld K-A, Oriach CS, Clarke G, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Growing up in a bubble: using germ-free animals to assess the influence of the gut microbiota on brain and behavior. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2016) 19:yw020. doi:10.1093/ijnp/pyw020
- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y, Sonoda J, Oyama N, Yu X-N, et al. Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal system for stress response in mice. *J Physiol* (2004) 558:263–75. doi:10.1113/ jphysiol.2004.063388
- 43. Nishino R, Mikami K, Takahashi H, Tomonaga S, Furuse M, Hiramoto T, et al. Commensal microbiota modulate murine behaviors in a strictly contamination-free environment confirmed by culture-based methods. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2013) 25:521–8. doi:10.1111/nmo.12110
- 44. Gacias M, Gaspari S, Santos P-MG, Tamburini S, Andrade M, Zhang F, et al. Microbiota-driven transcriptional changes in prefrontal cortex override genetic differences in social behavior. *Elife* (2016) 5:e13442. doi:10.7554/ eLife.13442
- Moloney RD, Desbonnet L, Clarke G, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The microbiome: stress, health and disease. *Mamm Genome* (2014) 25:49–74. doi:10.1007/ s00335-013-9488-5
- 46. Diaz Heijtz R, Wang S, Anuar F, Qian Y, Björkholm B, Samuelsson A, et al. Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:3047–52. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010529108
- O'Mahony SM, Clarke G, Borre YE, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Serotonin, tryptophan metabolism and the brain-gut-microbiome axis. *Behav Brain Res* (2015) 277:32–48. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.07.027
- Clarke G, Grenham S, Scully P, Fitzgerald P, Moloney RD, Shanahan F, et al. The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sex-dependent manner. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18:666–73. doi:10.1038/mp.2012.77
- Neufeld KM, Kang N, Bienenstock J, Foster JA. Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2011) 23(255–64):e119. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01620.x
- El Aidy S, Kunze W, Bienenstock J, Kleerebezem M. The microbiota and the gut-brain axis: insights from the temporal and spatial mucosal alterations during colonisation of the germfree mouse intestine. *Benef Microbes* (2012) 3:251–9. doi:10.3920/BM2012.0042
- Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, et al. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2009) 106:3698–703. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0812874106
- De Palma G, Blennerhassett P, Lu J, Deng Y, Park AJ, Green W, et al. Microbiota and host determinants of behavioural phenotype in maternally separated mice. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7735. doi:10.1038/ncomms8735
- Zuccato C, Cattaneo E. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2009) 5:311–22. doi:10.1038/nrneurol. 2009.54
- Luczynski P, Whelan SO, O'Sullivan C, Clarke G, Shanahan F, Dinan TG, et al. Adult microbiota-deficient mice have distinct dendritic morphological changes: differential effects in the amygdala and hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci* (2016) 44:2654–66. doi:10.1111/ejn.13291

- Ogbonnaya ES, Clarke G, Shanahan F, Dinan TG, Cryan JF, O'Leary OF. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is regulated by the microbiome. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 78:e7–9. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.12.023
- Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Tóth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:263ra158. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759
- Tay TL, Savage JC, Hui CW, Bisht K, Tremblay M-È. Microglia across the lifespan: from origin to function in brain development, plasticity and cognition. J Physiol (2017) 595:1929–45. doi:10.1113/JP272134
- Colonna M, Butovsky O. Microglia function in the central nervous system during health and neurodegeneration. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2017) 35:441–68. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-051116-052358
- Thion MS, Low D, Silvin A, Chen J, Grisel P, Schulte-Schrepping J, et al. Microbiome influences prenatal and adult microglia in a sex-specific manner. *Cell* (2017) 172:500–16. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.042
- Hoban AE, Stilling RM, Ryan FJ, Shanahan F, Dinan TG, Claesson MJ, et al. Regulation of prefrontal cortex myelination by the microbiota. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6:e774. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.42
- Slykerman RF, Thompson J, Waldie KE, Murphy R, Wall C, Mitchell EA. Antibiotics in the first year of life and subsequent neurocognitive outcomes. *Acta Paediatr* (2017) 106:87–94. doi:10.1111/apa.13613
- Wachs TD, Georgieff M, Cusick S, McEwen BS. Issues in the timing of integrated early interventions: contributions from nutrition, neuroscience, and psychological research. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2014) 1308:89–106. doi:10.1111/ nyas.12314
- Richardson SS, Daniels CR, Gillman MW, Golden J, Kukla R, Kuzawa C, et al. Society: don't blame the mothers. *Nature* (2014) 512:131–2. doi:10.1038/ 512131a
- Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature* (2012) 486:222–7. doi:10.1038/nature11053
- Cheng J, Ringel-Kulka T, Heikamp-de Jong I, Ringel Y, Carroll I, de Vos WM, et al. Discordant temporal development of bacterial phyla and the emergence of core in the fecal microbiota of young children. *ISME J* (2016) 10:1002–14. doi:10.1038/ismej.2015.177
- Lozupone CA, Stombaugh JI, Gordon JI, Jansson JK, Knight R. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature* (2012) 489: 220–30. doi:10.1038/nature11550
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* (2010) 464:59–65. doi:10.1038/nature08821
- Rajilić-Stojanović M, de Vos WM. The first 1000 cultured species of the human gastrointestinal microbiota. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* (2014) 38:996–1047. doi:10.1111/1574-6976.12075
- Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C. The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med (2016) 8:51. doi:10.1186/s13073-016-0307-y
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium, Gevers D, Knight R, Abubucker S, Badger JH, Chinwalla AT, et al. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. *Nature* (2012) 486:207–14. doi:10.1038/nature11234
- Shreiner AB, Kao JY, Young VB. The gut microbiome in health and in disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol (2015) 31:69–75. doi:10.1097/ MOG.000000000000139
- Moya A, Ferrer M. Functional redundancy-induced stability of gut microbiota subjected to disturbance. *Trends Microbiol* (2016) 24:402–13. doi:10.1016/j. tim.2016.02.002
- Goodrich JK, Davenport ER, Waters JL, Clark AG, Ley RE. Cross-species comparisons of host genetic associations with the microbiome. *Science* (2016) 352:532–5. doi:10.1126/science.aad9379
- 74. Singh RK, Chang H-W, Yan D, Lee KM, Ucmak D, Wong K, et al. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications for human health. *J Transl Med* (2017) 15:73. doi:10.1186/s12967-017-1175-y
- Kang SS, Jeraldo PR, Kurti A, Miller MEB, Cook MD, Whitlock K, et al. Diet and exercise orthogonally alter the gut microbiome and reveal independent associations with anxiety and cognition. *Mol Neurodegener* (2014) 9:36. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-9-36
- Wilson ID, Nicholson JK. Gut microbiome interactions with drug metabolism, efficacy, and toxicity. *Transl Res* (2017) 179:204–22. doi:10.1016/j. trsl.2016.08.002

- 77. Spanogiannopoulos P, Bess EN, Carmody RN, Turnbaugh PJ. The microbial pharmacists within us: a metagenomic view of xenobiotic metabolism. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2016) 14:273–87. doi:10.1038/nrmicro. 2016.17
- Roy S, Trinchieri G. Microbiota: a key orchestrator of cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2017) 17:271–85. doi:10.1038/nrc.2017.13
- Clarke SF, Murphy EF, O'Sullivan O, Lucey AJ, Humphreys M, Hogan A, et al. Exercise and associated dietary extremes impact on gut microbial diversity. *Gut* (2014) 63:1913–20. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-306541
- Clark A, Mach N. The crosstalk between the gut microbiota and mitochondria during exercise. *Front Physiol* (2017) 8:319. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017. 00319
- Thaiss CA, Levy M, Korem T, Dohnalová L, Shapiro H, Jaitin DA, et al. Microbiota diurnal rhythmicity programs host transcriptome oscillations. *Cell* (2016) 167:1495–510.e12. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.003
- Thaiss CA, Zeevi D, Levy M, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Tengeler AC, et al. Transkingdom control of microbiota diurnal oscillations promotes metabolic homeostasis. *Cell* (2014) 159:514–29. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014. 09.048
- Bercik P, Denou E, Collins J, Jackson W, Lu J, Jury J, et al. The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behavior in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141(599–609):609–603. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2011.04.052
- Cryan JF. Stress and the microbiota-gut-brain axis: an evolving concept in psychiatry. Can J Psychiatry (2016) 61:201–3. doi:10.1177/0706743716635538
- Möhle L, Mattei D, Heimesaat MM, Bereswill S, Fischer A, Alutis M, et al. Ly6C(hi) monocytes provide a link between antibiotic-induced changes in gut microbiota and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15:1945–56. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.074
- Prinz M, Erny D, Hagemeyer N. Ontogeny and homeostasis of CNS myeloid cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:385–92. doi:10.1038/ni.3703
- Soenen S, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Horowitz M. The ageing gastrointestinal tract. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2016) 19:12–8. doi:10.1097/ MCO.00000000000238
- Salazar N, Arboleya S, Valdés L, Stanton C, Ross P, Ruiz L, et al. The human intestinal microbiome at extreme ages of life. Dietary intervention as a way to counteract alterations. *Front Genet* (2014) 5:406. doi:10.3389/ fgene.2014.00406
- Claesson MJ, Cusack S, O'Sullivan O, Greene-Diniz R, de Weerd H, Flannery E, et al. Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(Suppl 1):4586–91. doi:10.1073/pnas.1000097107
- Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS. The neuroendocrinology of stress and aging: the glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis. *Endocr Rev* (1986) 7:284–301. doi:10.1210/edrv-7-3-284
- Prenderville JA, Kennedy PJ, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Adding fuel to the fire: the impact of stress on the ageing brain. *Trends Neurosci* (2015) 38:13–25. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2014.11.001
- Lupien SJ, Schwartz G, Ng YK, Fiocco A, Wan N, Pruessner JC, et al. The Douglas Hospital Longitudinal Study of normal and pathological aging: summary of findings. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2005) 30:328–34. doi:10.record/2006-04022-004
- Belvederi Murri M, Pariante C, Mondelli V, Masotti M, Atti AR, Mellacqua Z, et al. HPA axis and aging in depression: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 41:46–62. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2013.12.004
- Hood S, Amir S. The aging clock: circadian rhythms and later life. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:437–46. doi:10.1172/JCI90328
- Liang X, FitzGerald GA. Timing the microbes: the circadian rhythm of the gut microbiome. *J Biol Rhythms* (2017) 32:505–15. doi:10.1177/ 0748730417729066
- Erickson KI, Prakash RS, Voss MW, Chaddock L, Heo S, McLaren M, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is associated with age-related decline in hippocampal volume. *J Neurosci* (2010) 30:5368–75. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.6251-09.2010
- Mattson MP, Maudsley S, Martin B. BDNF and 5-HT: a dynamic duo in age-related neuronal plasticity and neurodegenerative disorders. *Trends Neurosci* (2004) 27:589–94. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2004.08.001

- Li S-C, Lindenberger U, Bäckman L. Dopaminergic modulation of cognition across the life span. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2010) 34:625–30. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2010.02.003
- Montagne A, Barnes SR, Sweeney MD, Halliday MR, Sagare AP, Zhao Z, et al. Blood-brain barrier breakdown in the aging human hippocampus. *Neuron* (2015) 85:296–302. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.032
- Deleidi M, Jäggle M, Rubino G. Immune aging, dysmetabolism, and inflammation in neurological diseases. *Front Neurosci* (2015) 9:172. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2015.00172
- 101. Franceschi C, Campisi J. Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2014) 69(Suppl 1):S4–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu057
- 102. Fransen F, van Beek AA, Borghuis T, Aidy SE, Hugenholtz F, van der Gaast-de Jongh C, et al. Aged gut microbiota contributes to systemical inflammaging after transfer to germ-free mice. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1385. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01385
- 103. Jackson MA, Jackson M, Jeffery IB, Beaumont M, Bell JT, Clark AG, et al. Signatures of early frailty in the gut microbiota. *Genome Med* (2016) 8:8. doi:10.1186/s13073-016-0262-7
- 104. Langille MG, Meehan CJ, Koenig JE, Dhanani AS, Rose RA, Howlett SE, et al. Microbial shifts in the aging mouse gut. *Microbiome* (2014) 2:50. doi:10.1186/s40168-014-0050-9
- Biagi E, Franceschi C, Rampelli S, Severgnini M, Ostan R, Turroni S, et al. Gut microbiota and extreme longevity. *Curr Biol* (2016) 26:1480–5. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2016.04.016
- 106. Scott KA, Ida M, Peterson VL, Prenderville JA, Moloney GM, Izumo T, et al. Revisiting Metchnikoff: age-related alterations in microbiota-gut-brain axis in the mouse. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 65:20–32. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2017.02.004
- Masters CL, Bateman R, Blennow K, Rowe CC, Sperling RA, Cummings JL. Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2015) 1:15056. doi:10.1038/nrdp. 2015.56
- Vogt NM, Kerby RL, Dill-McFarland KA, Harding SJ, Merluzzi AP, Johnson SC, et al. Gut microbiome alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:13537. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y
- 109. Cattaneo A, Cattane N, Galluzzi S, Provasi S, Lopizzo N, Festari C, et al. Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. *Neurobiol Aging* (2017) 49:60–8. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016. 08.019
- 110. Harach T, Marungruang N, Duthilleul N, Cheatham V, Mc Coy KD, Frisoni G, et al. Reduction of Abeta amyloid pathology in APPPS1 transgenic mice in the absence of gut microbiota. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:41802. doi:10.1038/ srep41802
- 111. Everard A, Belzer C, Geurts L, Ouwerkerk JP, Druart C, Bindels LB, et al. Cross-talk between Akkermansia muciniphila and intestinal epithelium controls diet-induced obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:9066–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.1219451110
- 112. Minter MR, Zhang C, Leone V, Ringus DL, Zhang X, Oyler-Castrillo P, et al. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in gut microbial diversity influences neuro-inflammation and amyloidosis in a murine model of Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:30028. doi:10.1038/srep30028
- 113. Minter MR, Hinterleitner R, Meisel M, Zhang C, Leone V, Zhang X, et al. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in microbial diversity during post-natal development alters amyloid pathology in an aged APPSWE/PS1ΔE9 murine model of Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:10411. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-11047-w
- 114. Brandscheid C, Schuck F, Reinhardt S, Schäfer K-H, Pietrzik CU, Grimm M, et al. Altered gut microbiome composition and tryptic activity of the 5xFAD Alzheimer's mouse model. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2017) 56:775–88. doi:10.3233/ JAD-160926
- 115. Kell DB, Pretorius E. On the translocation of bacteria and their lipopolysaccharides between blood and peripheral locations in chronic, inflammatory diseases: the central roles of LPS and LPS-induced cell death. *Integr Biol* (*Camb*) (2015) 7:1339–77. doi:10.1039/c5ib00158g
- 116. Asti A, Gioglio L. Can a bacterial endotoxin be a key factor in the kinetics of amyloid fibril formation? *J Alzheimers Dis* (2014) 39:169–79. doi:10.3233/ JAD-131394

- 117. Sheng JG, Bora SH, Xu G, Borchelt DR, Price DL, Koliatsos VE. Lipopolysaccharide-induced-neuroinflammation increases intracellular accumulation of amyloid precursor protein and amyloid beta peptide in APPswe transgenic mice. *Neurobiol Dis* (2003) 14:133–45. doi:10.1016/S0969-9961 (03)00069-X
- 118. Kahn MS, Kranjac D, Alonzo CA, Haase JH, Cedillos RO, McLinden KA, et al. Prolonged elevation in hippocampal Aβ and cognitive deficits following repeated endotoxin exposure in the mouse. *Behav Brain Res* (2012) 229: 176–84. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.01.010
- 119. Kitazawa M, Oddo S, Yamasaki TR, Green KN, LaFerla FM. Lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation exacerbates tau pathology by a cyclin-dependent kinase 5-mediated pathway in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci* (2005) 25:8843–53. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 2868-05.2005
- Zhan X, Stamova B, Jin L-W, DeCarli C, Phinney B, Sharp FR. Gram-negative bacterial molecules associate with Alzheimer disease pathology. *Neurology* (2016) 87:2324–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000003391
- 121. Bonfili L, Cecarini V, Berardi S, Scarpona S, Suchodolski JS, Nasuti C, et al. Microbiota modulation counteracts Alzheimer's disease progression influencing neuronal proteolysis and gut hormones plasma levels. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:2426. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02587-2
- 122. Distrutti E, O'Reilly J-A, McDonald C, Cipriani S, Renga B, Lynch MA, et al. Modulation of intestinal microbiota by the probiotic VSL#3 resets brain gene expression and ameliorates the age-related deficit in LTP. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e106503. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0106503
- 123. Wang D, Ho L, Faith J, Ono K, Janle EM, Lachcik PJ, et al. Role of intestinal microbiota in the generation of polyphenol-derived phenolic acid mediated attenuation of Alzheimer's disease β-amyloid oligomerization. *Mol Nutr Food Res* (2015) 59:1025–40. doi:10.1002/mnfr.201400544
- Pringsheim T, Jette N, Frolkis A, Steeves TDL. The prevalence of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord* (2014) 29: 1583–90. doi:10.1002/mds.25945
- Hirsch L, Jette N, Frolkis A, Steeves T, Pringsheim T. The incidence of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroepidemiology* (2016) 46:292–300. doi:10.1159/000445751
- Poewe W, Seppi K, Tanner CM, Halliday GM, Brundin P, Volkmann J, et al. Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2017) 3:17013. doi:10.1038/ nrdp.2017.13
- Fasano A, Visanji NP, Liu LWC, Lang AE, Pfeiffer RF. Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet Neurol* (2015) 14:625–39. doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(15)00007-1
- 128. Hilton D, Stephens M, Kirk L, Edwards P, Potter R, Zajicek J, et al. Accumulation of α-synuclein in the bowel of patients in the pre-clinical phase of Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* (2014) 127:235–41. doi:10.1007/ s00401-013-1214-6
- 129. Shannon KM, Keshavarzian A, Mutlu E, Dodiya HB, Daian D, Jaglin JA, et al. Alpha-synuclein in colonic submucosa in early untreated Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2012) 27:709–15. doi:10.1002/mds.23838
- 130. Holmqvist S, Chutna O, Bousset L, Aldrin-Kirk P, Li W, Björklund T, et al. Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. *Acta Neuropathol* (2014) 128:805–20. doi:10.1007/ s00401-014-1343-6
- 131. Svensson E, Horváth-Puhó E, Thomsen RW, Djurhuus JC, Pedersen L, Borghammer P, et al. Vagotomy and subsequent risk of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol (2015) 78:522–9. doi:10.1002/ana.24448
- 132. Hasegawa S, Goto S, Tsuji H, Okuno T, Asahara T, Nomoto K, et al. Intestinal dysbiosis and lowered serum lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0142164. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0142164
- Keshavarzian A, Green SJ, Engen PA, Voigt RM, Naqib A, Forsyth CB, et al. Colonic bacterial composition in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2015) 30:1351–60. doi:10.1002/mds.26307
- Minato T, Maeda T, Fujisawa Y, Tsuji H, Nomoto K, Ohno K, et al. Progression of Parkinson's disease is associated with gut dysbiosis: two-year

follow-up study. *PLoS One* (2017) 12:e0187307. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0187307

- 135. Unger MM, Spiegel J, Dillmann K-U, Grundmann D, Philippeit H, Bürmann J, et al. Short chain fatty acids and gut microbiota differ between patients with Parkinson's disease and age-matched controls. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2016) 32:66–72. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.08.019
- 136. Bedarf JR, Hildebrand F, Coelho LP, Sunagawa S, Bahram M, Goeser F, et al. Functional implications of microbial and viral gut metagenome changes in early stage L-DOPA-naïve Parkinson's disease patients. *Genome Med* (2017) 9:39. doi:10.1186/s13073-017-0428-y
- 137. Fasano A, Bove F, Gabrielli M, Petracca M, Zocco MA, Ragazzoni E, et al. The role of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2013) 28:1241–9. doi:10.1002/mds.25522
- Huang H-K, Wang J-H, Lei W-Y, Chen C-L, Chang C-Y, Liou L-S. *Helicobacter* pylori infection is associated with an increased risk of Parkinson's disease: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2017) 47:26–31. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017.11.331
- 139. Doulberis M, Kotronis G, Thomann R, Polyzos SA, Boziki M, Gialamprinou D, et al. Review: impact of *Helicobacter pylori* on Alzheimer's disease: what do we know so far? *Helicobacter* (2018) 23:e12454. doi:10.1111/hel.12454
- 140. Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, Janssen S, Shastri GG, Ilhan ZE, et al. Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Cell* (2016) 167:1469–80.e12. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.11.018
- 141. Friedland RP. Mechanisms of molecular mimicry involving the microbiota in neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis (2015) 45:349–62. doi:10.3233/ JAD-142841
- Hill JM, Lukiw WJ. Microbial-generated amyloids and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Front Aging Neurosci (2015) 7:9. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2015.00009
- Ransohoff RM. How neuroinflammation contributes to neurodegeneration. Science (2016) 353:777–83. doi:10.1126/science.aag2590
- 144. Kumar DKV, Choi SH, Washicosky KJ, Eimer WA, Tucker S, Ghofrani J, et al. Amyloid-β peptide protects against microbial infection in mouse and worm models of Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:340ra72. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaf1059
- Burgos R, Bretón I, Cereda E, Desport JC, Dziewas R, Genton L, et al. ESPEN guideline clinical nutrition in neurology. *Clin Nutr* (2017) 37:354–96. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2017.09.003
- Mackowiak PA. Recycling Metchnikoff: probiotics, the intestinal microbiome and the quest for long life. *Front public Heal* (2013) 1:52. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2013.00052
- 147. Podolsky SH. Metchnikoff and the microbiome. *Lancet (London, England)* (2012) 380:1810–1. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62018-2
- 148. Blaser MJ, Kirschner D. The equilibria that allow bacterial persistence in human hosts. *Nature* (2007) 449:843–9. doi:10.1038/nature06198
- Kuntz TM, Gilbert JA. Introducing the microbiome into precision medicine. Trends Pharmacol Sci (2017) 38:81–91. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.10.001
- Mancuso C, Santangelo R. Alzheimer's disease and gut microbiota modifications: the long way between preclinical studies and clinical evidence. *Pharmacol Res* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2017.12.009
- Hanage WP. Microbiology: microbiome science needs a healthy dose of scepticism. *Nature* (2014) 512:247–8. doi:10.1038/512247a

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Calvani, Picca, Lo Monaco, Landi, Bernabei and Marzetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Getting Lost Behavior in Patients with Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Cognitive and Anatomical Model

Chathuri Yatawara¹, Daryl Renick Lee¹, Levinia Lim¹, Juan Zhou^{2†} and Nagaendran Kandiah^{1,2*†}

¹Department of Neurology, National Neuroscience Institute, Singapore, Singapore, ²Duke—NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

Background: Getting lost behavior (GLB) in the elderly is believed to involve poor topdown modulation of visuospatial processing, by impaired executive functions. However, since healthy elderly and elderly with Alzheimer's disease (AD) experience a different pattern of cognitive decline, it remains unclear whether this hypothesis can explain GLB in dementia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco Canevelli, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by:

Kye Y. Kim, Virginia Tech Carilion School of Medicine and Carilion Center for Healthy Aging, United States Mario Ulises Pérez-Zepeda, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Chile

*Correspondence:

Nagaendran Kandiah nagaendran.kandiah@ singhealth.com.sg †Joint senior authors.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 19 September 2017 Accepted: 02 November 2017 Published: 16 November 2017

Citation:

Yatawara C, Lee DR, Lim L, Zhou J and Kandiah N (2017) Getting Lost Behavior in Patients with Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Cognitive and Anatomical Model. Front. Med. 4:201. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00201 **Objective:** We sought to identify whether poor executive functions and working memory modulate the relationship between visuospatial processing and prevalence of GLB in healthy elderly and patients with AD. Complementary to this, we explored whether brain regions critical for executive functions modulate the relationship between GLB and brain regions critical for visuospatial processing.

Method: Ninety-two participants with mild AD and 46 healthy age-matched controls underwent neuropsychological assessment and a structural MRI. GLB was assessed using a semistructured clinical interview. Path analysis was used to explore interactions between visuospatial deficits, executive dysfunction/working memory, and prevalence of GLB, in AD and controls independently.

Results: For both healthy controls and patients with mild AD, visuospatial processing deficits were associated with GLB only in the presence of poor working memory. Anatomically, GLB was associated with medial temporal atrophy in patients with mild AD, which was not strengthened by low frontal gray matter (GM) volume as predicted. Instead, medial temporal atrophy was more strongly related to GLB in patients with high frontal GM volumes. For controls, GLB was not associated with occipital, parietal, medial temporal, or frontal GM volume.

Conclusion: Cognitively, a top-down modulation deficit may drive GLB in both healthy elderly and patients with mild AD. This modulation effect may be localized in the medial temporal lobe for patients with mild AD. Thus, anatomical substrates of GLB in mild AD may not follow the typical top-down modulation mechanisms often reported in the healthy aging population. Implications advance therapeutic practices by highlighting the need to target both working memory and visuospatial deficits simultaneously, and that anatomical substrates of GLB may be disease specific.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, getting lost, wayfinding, medial temporal lobe, top-down modulation

Getting lost behavior (GLB) is defined as the inability to find one's way in familiar or unfamiliar environments (1). GLB is highly prevalent in patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD), with an approximate 40% of patients reportedly experiencing some phenomenon of getting lost (2). This prevalence increases to 70% in patients with severe AD and often leads to institutionalization, increased risk of falls and even death (3). Despite its prevalence and devastating impact, the mechanisms underlying GLB in AD remain unclear.

Early assumptions on the underlying cause of GLB in patients with AD have focused on visuospatial processing problems, such as motion perception that guides self-movement and maintains spatial orientation (4). However, more recent speculations have centered around GLB as a problem with higher level cognition such as working memory, defined as the capacity to temporarily maintain and manipulate information in memory, and executive functions, which involve mental flexibility, problem solving and decision making (5).

One theory that integrates the functions of both visuospatial processing and higher level cognition is the top-down modulation hypothesis of cognitive aging. This hypothesis proposes that working memory and executive functions may exert modulatory control over the efficacy of visuospatial processing and its association with behavioral systems such as navigation (6). For example, if lost, selective attention is required to moderate visual perception toward relevant visual information and suppress attention toward irrelevant information competing for cognitive resources, additionally, mental flexibility is required to facilitate strategy switching and working memory is required to engage visual memory to manipulate information no longer in the environment (5).

The neural basis for higher level cognition and visuospatial processing are anatomically distinct, with the former localized in the frontal brain region (7, 8) and the latter localized in the occipital, posterior parietal and medial temporal brain regions (9). Despite the distinct locations, the regions for higher level cognition and visuospatial processing are functionally integrated (10). For instance, a fMRI study in healthy adults demonstrated that the frontal cortex modulated the magnitude of activity in the occipital cortex during a delayed visual recognition task (11). Following on from this, a subsequent study identified that the magnitude of this modulation predicted successful performance on a visuospatial processing task (12).

In healthy cognitive aging, frontal lobe structures are typically the first to deteriorate (13). As a result, the elderly demonstrate a pronounced deficit in suppressing cortical activity associated with task-irrelevant information processing, compared to younger adults (6). This deficit with top-down modulation of cortical activity is believed to be one substrate of GLB in the elderly (14). Compared to healthy cognitive aging, patients with AD experience early atrophy in structures critical for learning and memory, such as the parietal and medial temporal lobe, while structures important for top-down modulation, such as the frontal lobe, may become affected at later stages of the disease (15). Due to the different patterns of neurodegeneration associated with AD compared to healthy aging, it remains unclear whether the topdown hypothesis is suitable for explaining GLB in patients with mild AD.

We sought to identify whether deficits with higher order cognition, such as executive functions and working memory, moderate the effect of visuospatial deficits on prevalence of GLB. This hypothesis was explored in healthy controls and patients with AD to identify whether the same mechanisms are present in the normal and abnormal aging process. Complimentary to this, we sought to identify whether anatomical mechanisms of GLB in patients with mild AD involve top-down modulation deficits. Specifically, we predicted that reduced volume of frontal gray matter (GM) may strengthen the relationship between GLB and atrophy in regions critical for visuospatial processing, namely the occipital, parietal and medial temporal GM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling, Screening, Procedure

In this cross-sectional study, patients with mild AD were recruited from a tertiary neurology center in Singapore (National Neuroscience Institute) between 2013 and 2016. Diagnosis of mild probable AD was based on the NIA-AA Criteria (16) and a full medical work-up, which involved medical and caregiver reports, structural MRI, a comprehensive cognitive evaluation and blood test to rule out cognitive impairment due to vitamin deficiency or thyroid abnormalities. Additional criteria for a diagnosis of mild AD included a Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (CDR) (17) of 1. Age-matched controls from the community were recruited at the National Neuroscience Institute from 2010 to 2016 and included elderly who were "cognitively normal," as determined by a comprehensive cognitive assessment, a MMSE score >28 and a CDR of 0. Recruitment of the clinical and control cohort was non-random and involved consecutive sampling methods.

Exclusion criteria for all participants included (a) major visual impairment, such as blindness, visual agnosia or cortical blindness, (b) a current diagnosis or history of neuropsychiatric conditions (e.g., psychosis, depression), (c) comorbid neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., Parkinson's disease), (d) a history of clinical strokes (e.g., CAA and prior clinical strokes), and (e) a current or history of alcohol or drug abuse.

Measures

Primary outcome measure, GLB, was indexed using a semistructured clinical interview with a psychologist blinded to diagnosis. The interview queried the changes, if any, in the visuospatial abilities of the subject and involved responses from both the subject and their caregiver, or family member in the case of controls, for clarification purposes. The subject was queried on whether they still travel alone, how well they can recall travel routes (including travel route to the present location), whether they make wrong turns on familiar paths and whether they have experienced getting lost in the past 6 months. Caregiver/family member questions sought to validate the subject's responses and focused on whether the subject still travels on their own and whether there has been instances of making wrong turns on familiar routes or getting lost in the past 6 months (see supplementary materials for full interview). After cross-referencing the accounts of the subject and caregiver/family member, the presence of GLB was then recorded as a yes or no by the psychologist based on clear indications that the subject was not able to orientate themselves in familiar environments, or that there have been instances of getting lost.

Cognitive predictor variables included working memory, which was indexed using the composite score of Wechsler's forward and backward digit span tasks [WMS-IV; (18)]; executive function, which was indexed using the composite score of the Frontal Assessment Battery [FAB; (19)] and Color Trails 2 task (20); and visuospatial processing, which was indexed using the composite of Wechsler's block design [WAIS–IV; (21)] and Wechsler's immediate and delayed visual reproduction task [Wechsler Memory Scale-IV; (18)].

Image Acquisition and Processing

Anatomical predictor variables included the volumetric measure of frontal, parietal, medial temporal and occipital GM. Subjects underwent MRI in a whole body MR system which included a 3T Siemens Tim Trio system (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) and a 3T Siemens Prisma system (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany). Voxel-based morphometry was conducted using the Computational Anatomy Toolbox (CAT12) package for the Statistical Parametric Mapping 12 (SPM12) software (http:// www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm) in MATLAB. Volumetric MPRAGE sequences were converted from DICOM to 3D NIFTI format and manually oriented to be within the standard Montreal Neurological Institute template space. Images were segmented into GM and cerebrospinal fluid maps using a unified segmentation pipeline (22), including affine regularization to the International Consortium for Brain Mapping space template for East Asian brains, bias corrections, and affine and non-linear modulated normalization. The generated GM maps were then smoothed (8 mm full width at half maximum) in SPM12. CAT12 was used to estimate the total intracranial volume for each subject, and the smoothed GM maps were used to generate global volumes of GM, and also regional volumes based on regions of interest defined using the Wake Forest University Pick Atlas v3.0 software toolbox (23).

Statistical Analysis

Group Comparisons

A *t*-test was used to identify the neuropsychological and anatomical deficits in the mild AD group as compared to age-matched healthy controls.

Path Analysis

The *a priori* cognitive and anatomical models, depicted in **Figure 1**, were assessed using moderation path analysis with SPSS Amos version 20 (24). Moderation analysis determined whether the effect of

a predictor variable on an outcome was enhanced or attenuated in the presence of a third moderating variable. In our cognitive model, the predictor variables included visuospatial skills, the outcome included prevalence of GLB and the moderating variables included executive functions or working memory. In our anatomical model, the predictor variables included regions of visuospatial processing, namely the parietal, occipital or medial temporal GM, the outcome included prevalence of GLB and the moderating variable included the region for higher order cognition, namely frontal GM. The moderation effect was calculated by mean centering all variables, then multiplying each predictor variable with each moderating variable to obtain an "interaction variable."

Path analysis was conducted separately for both the cognitive and anatomical models and for each diagnostic group (mild AD or controls) by including diagnosis type as the multi-group variable. For each analysis, the primary independent variable was the interaction variable, the secondary independent variables were the target predictor and moderating variable, while the dependent variable was the presence of GLB (indexed as a binary variable). Each analysis also controlled for years of education (given it was different between mild AD and controls), gender and MMSE score (given they were different between mild AD patients with and without GLB). The path analysis model fit was revised using modification indices and assessed using previously published recommended criteria: (a) $\chi^2 p$ value > 0.05, (b) Bentler comparative fit index (CFI: >0.95), and (c) root mean error of approximation (RMSEA: <0.04) (25).

Due to our non-random sampling methods, we applied bias-corrected (BC) bootstrap estimation with 1,000 resamples as a non-parametric approach for estimating effect-sizes, SEs and biases (26). Bootstrapping is useful in regression because it measures the variability of the linear approximation of each path in the model and estimates the bias of this linear approximation to the population (27). BC bootstrap estimation has further been shown to be useful as a multiple comparison correction method for hypothesis testing (28-30). The significance of the BC bootstrap estimate was indicated by confidence intervals that did not contain 0. Effect sizes for the direct paths between independent and dependent variables were indexed using the standardized coefficient of the path, where 0.10 indicated a small effect, 0.30 indicated a medium effect and 0.50 indicated a large effect (31). Effect sizes for the path between the interaction and the dependent variable was indexed by squaring Cohen's (31) estimations because interaction effects represent a product of two effects (32). Thus, a small interaction effect size would be 0.01, moderate would be 0.09, and large would be 0.25.

RESULTS

Participants

The cohort consisted of 92 participants with mild AD and 46 healthy controls matched on age. **Table 1** shows that compared to the controls, the mild AD group overall had less years of education (p = 0.00), a higher prevalence of GLB (p = 0.01), lower global cognition (p = 0.00), performed worse on all cognitive domain tasks (p = 0.00) and had significant atrophy in the medial temporal (p = 0.02) and occipital GM region (p = 0.00). Within



the mild AD group, those that experienced GLB were more likely to be male (p = 0.01), have lower global cognition (p = 0.00), poorer performance on executive function tasks (FAB, p = 0.01and color trials, p = 0.01), poorer performance on visuospatial tasks (block design, p = 0.001) and visual reproduction (immediate recall, p = 0.02) and reduced volumes in the medial temporal (p = 0.01) and occipital GM regions (p = 0.01). For healthy controls, no differences were observed between those with and without GLB.

Path Analysis

Cognitive Model

The cognitive model had good model fit, with chi square (12) = 15.49, p = 0.21, CFI = 0.99 and RMSEA = 0.04. **Table 2** presents the characteristics of each path in the model, after controlling for covariates. GLB was not directly associated with working memory, executive functions or visuospatial skills in patients with mild AD or healthy controls. The interaction between working memory and visuospatial skills was significantly associated with GLB for both groups, suggesting that visuospatial deficits were associated with GLB only for those with poor working memory. This interaction was of a moderate effect size for patients with mild AD and of a moderate to large effect size for healthy controls. The interaction between executive functions and visuospatial skills was not significant for either group.

Anatomical Model

The anatomical model had good model fit, with χ^2 (6) = 2.49, p = 0.47, CFI = 0.99 and RMSEA = 0.00. **Table 3** depicts that for patients with mild AD, GLB was directly related to medial temporal GM, which was associated with a moderate to large effect size. GLB was not directly related to parietal, occipital or frontal GM (p > 0.05). The interaction between frontal and medial temporal GM was significant, see **Figure 2**. Frontal GM did not interact with parietal or occipital GM.

For healthy age-matched controls, GLB was not directly or indirectly related to frontal, parietal, medial temporal or occipital GM (p > 0.05).

DISCUSSION

Main Findings

Getting lost behavior in patients with mild AD and healthy agematched controls was associated with visuospatial processing deficits only in the presence of poor working memory, while controlling for educational attainment, gender and global cognition. This suggests that for both AD and normal aging, visuospatial processing deficits may not be sufficient for GLB, and that impairments with higher cognitive functions, including working memory, may be necessary. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that GLB may involve a deficit with top-down modulation of visuospatial processing, by impaired working memory.
	Mild AD, mean (SD)			Healthy controls, mean (SD)			
	Total (N = 92)	GLB+ (N = 26)	GLB- (N = 66)	Total (N = 46)	GLB+ (<i>N</i> = 4)	GLB- (N = 42	
Demographics							
Age (years)	68.30 (9.28)	71.14 (8.05)	67.18 (9.55)	65.32 (6.04)	63.67 (7.19)	65.48 (5.99)	
Gender (males, %)	45 (48)	18 (69)	27 (41)	22 (48)	2 (50)	20 (48)	
Years of education	9.62 (3.88)	9.62 (3.5)	9.62 (4.02)	13.02 (2.91)	11.50 (3.87)	13.17 (2.87)	
Race							
Chinese	86	23	63	43	39	4	
Malay	3	3	2	0	0	0	
Indian	2	2	1	3	3	0	
Other	1	1	0	0	0	0	
GLB prevalence	26 (28%)	-	-	4 (8%)	-	-	
Cognitive measures							
Global cognition							
MMSE (score range 0–30)	24.47 (4.39)	21.46 (4.82)	25.65 (3.61)	28.70 (1.57)	28.25 (0.97)	28.74 (1.64)	
Executive function							
FAB (score range 0–18)	14.34 (3.11)	13.08 (2.56)	14.83 (3.18)	17.33 (0.96)	17.50 (5.77)	17.31 (1.00)	
Color Trails 2 (seconds)	732.98 (135.65)	671.26 (185.28)	757.30 (102.15)	830.11 (26.91)	833.73 (7.01)	829.76 (28.13)	
Working memory							
Digitspan-forward (score range 0–16)	9.25 (2.44)	8.62 (2.11)	9.50 (2.53)	11.04 (2.22)	10.50 (3.00)	11.10 (2.71)	
Digitspan-backward	7.42 (2.09)	7.00 (1.60)	7.59 (2.16)	9.89 (3.08)	10.25 (3.30)	9.86 (3.09)	
(score range 0–16)							
Visuospatial skills							
Block design (score range 0–48)	28.26 (11.23)	22.15 (10.68)	30.64 (10.58)	37.13 (7.05)	38.00 (6.92)	37.05 (7.14)	
Immediate VR (score range 0–43)	25.15 (10.90)	20.77 (11.48)	26.88 (10.25)	36.07 (3.89)	36.75 (3.09)	36.00 (3.98)	
Delayed VR (score range 0-43)	14.60 (12.77)	10.69 (11.84)	16.14 (12.88)	27.35 (9.44)	30.50 (4.43)	27.05 (9.76)	
Structural imaging (gray matter)							
Frontal	71.77 (6.83)	69.84 (6.31)	72.52 (6.92)	73.64 (7.11)	77.55 (9.89)	73.26 (6.84)	
Parietal	32.35 (3.41)	31.40 (3.4)	32.72 (3.46)	33.03 (3.16)	34.12 (5.57)	32.93 (2.92)	
Medial temporal	46.11 (5.11)	43.76 (4.79)	40.80 (4.39)	48.22 (4.24)	49.15 (5.53)	48.14 (4.17)	
Occipital	23.41 (2.93)	22.17 (2.69)	23.91 (2.97)	25.06 (2.86)	25.79 (4.34)	24.99 (2.85)	

AD, Alzheimer's disease; GLB+, getting lost behavior was prevalent; GLB–, getting lost behavior was not prevalent; MMSE, mini-mental state examination; FAB, frontal assessment battery; VR, visual recall.

 TABLE 2 | Regression coefficients and significance of paths in the cognitive model for patients with AD and healthy controls.

Relationships	Standardized b	SE	BC 95% CI
Mild AD			
Direct relationships			
Visuospatial skills → GLB	-0.17	0.14	-0.03 to 0.38
Working memory → GLB	-0.09	0.09	-0.22 to 0.04
Executive functions → GLB	-0.07	0.15	-0.33 to 0.17
Interactions			
Working memory \times visuospatial	0.28	0.08	0.07-0.32*
skills → GLB			
Executive functions x visuospatial	-0.02	0.14	-0.28 to 0.82
skills → GLB			
Healthy controls			
Direct relationships			
Visuospatial skills → GLB	-0.22	0.26	-0.28 to 0.54
Working memory → GLB	-0.31	0.19	-0.67 to 0.01
Executive functions → GLB	-0.39	0.43	-0.10 to 1.4
Interactions			
Working memory x visuospatial	0.43	0.18	0.21-0.95**
skills → GLB			
Executive functions x visuospatial	-0.37	0.38	-0.83 to 0.43
skills → GLB			

*p < 0.05.

**p < 0.01.

SE, standard error; BC, bias corrected; Cl, confidence interval; GLB, getting lost behavior; AD, Alzheimer's disease.

TABLE 3 | Regression coefficients and significance of the paths in the anatomical model for patients with Alzheimer's disease.

Relationships	Standardized b	SE	BC 95% CI
Direct relationships			
Occipital GM → GLB	-0.28	0.18	-0.61 to 0.02
Parietal GM → GLB	0.14	0.23	-0.24 to 0.52
Medial temporal GM \rightarrow GLB	-0.45	0.21	-0.79 to -0.12
Frontal GM → GLB	0.29	0.21	-0.17 to 0.55
Interactions			
Frontal GM \times occipital GM \rightarrow GLB	-0.27	0.12	-0.46 to 0.00
Frontal GM \times parietal GM \rightarrow GLB	-0.07	0.19	-0.41 to 0.23
Frontal GM \times medial temporal GM \rightarrow GLB	-0.22	0.17	-0.41 to -0.05

*p < 0.05.

SE, standard error; BC, bias corrected; CI, confidence interval; GLB, getting lost behavior; GM, gray matter.

The anatomical substrates of GLB were not consistent with the top-down deficit hypothesis for neither patients with mild AD or healthy controls. In patients with mild AD, GLB was directly associated with medial temporal atrophy; however, this association was not strengthened in the presence of reduced frontal GM as predicted. Instead, the relationship between medial temporal atrophy and GLB was strengthened in patients with



a high volume of frontal GM, indicating atypical modulatory mechanisms. Alternatively for healthy age-matched controls, GLB was not associated with occipital, parietal, medial temporal or frontal GM volumes, suggesting that the prevalence of GLB in this population may be associated with factors other than neural degeneration.

Cognitive Model

Getting lost behavior in patients with mild AD was not directly associated with general cognitive functions, such as working memory, executive functions or visuospatial processing, which converges with previous findings (33). Some (33) have interpreted this lack of association to suggest that GLB may not be a manifestation of generalized cognitive decline, rather a navigation specific decline. An alternative perspective identified by our moderation analysis suggested that the interaction between cognitive functions may be critical for understanding GLB in mild AD rather than independent associations. More specifically, general visuospatial processing deficits may become associated with GLB in the context of poor working memory, whereby poor working memory may impede the encoding and manipulation of information necessary for visuospatial processing. These findings are consistent with behavioral studies demonstrating that GLB in mild AD is a primary function of poor spatial working memory, and that visuospatial information processing deficits are secondary to these deficits (34, 35). Thus, one cognitive mechanism of GLB in patients with mild AD may involve altered top-down modulation of visuospatial processing by poor working memory.

Similar to patients with AD, healthy age-matched controls exhibited an association between GLB and visuospatial processing

deficits only in the context of poor working memory. Interestingly, insights from previous studies indicate that the groups may differ with the function of working memory in top-down modulation. For instance, in healthy aging, the inability to suppress task-irrelevant information is a key substrate of GLB (6). Meanwhile for patients with AD, the inability to store and manipulate task-relevant visuospatial information is believed to be primary for GLB (36). Thus, we propose that while the functional role of working memory in GLB may differ between healthy elderly and patients with mild AD, the mechanisms by which working memory deficits affect GLB are similar across the groups.

Contrary to expectations, executive functions did not play a top-down modulatory role on the relationship between visuospatial processing and GLB. Executive functions have been implicated in way-finding, which involves spatial problem solving abilities when appropriate solutions are not available in memory (5, 36). Our findings suggest that the information source used to problem solve, namely working memory, may be more critical for GLB in elderly with mild AD than the problem solving skill itself. Given that working memory deficits are a primary diagnostic feature of AD, we propose that cognitive functions most implicated in the top-down effects of GLB may be the most vulnerable cognitive functions in each disease group.

Anatomical Model

Consistent with previous research (37), the medial temporal lobe was strongly associated with GLB in patients with mild AD. The effect size was moderate to large, suggesting that medial temporal atrophy may result in observable deficits with wayfinding in patients with mild AD. The medial temporal region includes the hippocampus, the subicular complex and the parahippocampal cortical regions, which collectively play a critical role in the encoding, storage and active manipulation of cognitive maps (38). Accordingly, past research has demonstrated that patients with lesions to the medial temporal lobe exhibit deficits with spatial memory, including recalling locations, drawing maps of the environment and making judgments about the distance and proximity of locations (39). Similar spatial memory deficits have been observed in patients with AD (33). Thus, together with previous literature, our findings suggest that structures controlling memory functions may be a primary anatomical substrate of GLB in patients with mild AD.

To advance our understanding of the anatomical mechanisms of GLB in patients with AD, we proposed that the association between medial temporal atrophy and GLB may be strengthened by the top-down effects of reduced frontal GM volume. Contrarily to this hypothesis, we observed that the association between medial temporal atrophy and GLB was strengthened in the presence of healthy frontal GM volume. In our cohort, patients with AD exhibited comparable volumes of frontal GM to the healthy controls, which is consistent with previous findings that the frontal lobe in AD often begins to degenerate at later stages of the disease (15). This may be one reason why patients with mild AD did not exhibit typical anatomical top-down modulation mechanisms as observed in healthy aging (6). Given that our cognitive model indicated that poor working memory was necessary for poor visuospatial deficits to be associated with GLB, it is likely that this cognitive top-down modulation in patients with mild AD may be localized in the medial temporal lobe.

The medial temporal lobe and posterior parietal lobe have been argued to have overlapping but complimentary roles in spatial navigation (33). However, we only observed the medial temporal lobe to be associated with GLB in patients with mild AD. One reason for this may be that only the medial temporal lobe was reduced in volume for mild AD patients compared to healthy age-matched controls, while the parietal GM appeared healthy. Given the medial temporal lobe is one of the first regions to become affected in AD (15), our findings suggest that disease-related patterns of atrophy may contribute to the vulnerability of the spatial navigation network in patients with mild AD. Thus, anatomical markers of GLB may be disparate for patients with mild AD and healthy elderly, stressing the need for tailored assessment criteria and treatment strategies.

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research

One strength of this study was that we used a real-world indicator of GLB, clinical interview. This measure was binary and future research may benefit from studying GLB as a continuous variable, which will allow the comparison of Alzheimer's patients with GLB and without GLB. Such comparisons will identify neural correlates for GLB not contributed by anatomical changes accounted for by typical cognitive deficits such as episodic memory loss. Another strength is that we applied path analysis to assess simultaneous relationships between variables in a multivariable pathway, however we note that our cross-sectional design did not allow us to infer causality. Future research may benefit from investigating the predictive value of the cognitive and anatomical mechanisms on the incidence of GLB. One limitation of the current study was the non-random sampling procedure, which may limit the generalizability of the results. We further note that we explored broad neural regions while specific regions such as the dorsal occipital cortex, the posterior parietal cortex and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex have previously been implicated in GLB (9, 40, 41). The inclusion of broad regions in the current study was an important preliminary step for model building, paving the way for future research to specify the models in more detail. We further note that the cognitive assessments were not navigation specific, however the trends were consistent with previous studies (33) utilizing navigation specific memory and visuospatial tasks.

Conclusion

This study advanced our understanding of GLB by demonstrating that a cognitive top-down modulation deficit may drive GLB in both healthy elderly and patients with mild AD. Specifically, our findings suggest that visuospatial processing deficits may not be sufficient for GLB, and that its interaction with higher cognitive functions, including working memory, may be necessary. In patients with mild AD, GLB may be localized to disease-affected structures, such as the medial temporal lobe, and anatomical mechanisms of GLB may not involve typical top-down modulation. Implications of these cognitive and anatomical findings may advance the assessment and treatment of GLB in elderly with mild AD, including cognitive training, neurofeedback, neuromodulation, and pharmacological intervention. Specifically, intervention for GLB may be optimized by improving working memory simultaneously with visuospatial processing skills, as opposed to targeting only visuospatial skills. Additionally, research measuring visuospatial skills and GLB should consider controlling for working memory. Furthermore, assessment practices of GLB may be advanced by identifying that the anatomical mechanisms of GLB may be disease specific.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the SingHealth Centralized Institutional Review Board (CIRB) and conducted in accordance with Singhealth CIRB guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects or their next of kin if they were mentally incapable of giving consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CY: study concept, study design, statistical analysis, interpretation of data, and preparation of manuscript; DL: study design, data processing, and preparation of manuscript, LL: data collection and preparation of manuscript; JZ: revision of manuscript for intellectual content; NK: study concept and revision of manuscript for intellectual content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the team at the National Neuroscience for assistance with data collection and supporting this study, particularly Russell Chander.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dudchenko PA. Why People Get Lost: The Psychology and Neuroscience of Spatial Cognition. USA: Oxford University Press (2010).
- 2. Pai M-C, Lee C-C. The incidence and recurrence of getting lost in community-dwelling people with Alzheimer's disease: a two and a half-year followup. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(5):e0155480. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0155480
- 3. Algase DL. Wandering in dementia. Annu Rev Nurs Res (1999) 17(1):185–217.
- Tetewsky SJ, Duffy CJ. Visual loss and getting lost in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology (1999) 52(5):958–958. doi:10.1212/WNL.52.5.958
- Chiu Y-C, Algase D, Whall A, Liang J, Liu H-C, Lin K-N, et al. Getting lost: directed attention and executive functions in early Alzheimer's disease patients. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2004) 17(3):174–80. doi:10.1159/ 000076353
- Gazzaley A, Cooney JW, Rissman J, D'Esposito M. Top-down suppression deficit underlies working memory impairment in normal aging. *Nat Neurosci* (2005) 8(10):1298–300. doi:10.1038/nn1205-1791c
- Buschman TJ, Miller EK. Top-down versus bottom-up control of attention in the prefrontal and posterior parietal cortices. *Science* (2007) 315(5820): 1860–2. doi:10.1126/science.1138071
- Kastner S, Ungerleider L. Mechanisms of visual attention in the human cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci (2000) 23(1):315–41. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro. 23.1.315
- Possin KL. Visual spatial cognition in neurodegenerative disease. *Neurocase* (2010) 16(6):466–87. doi:10.1080/13554791003730600
- Passini R, Rainville C, Marchand N, Joanette Y. Wayfinding in dementia of the Alzheimer type: planning abilities. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (1995) 17(6):820–32. doi:10.1080/01688639508402431
- Gazzaley A, Rissman J, Cooney J, Rutman A, Seibert T, Clapp W, et al. Functional interactions between prefrontal and visual association cortex contribute to top-down modulation of visual processing. *Cereb Cortex* (2007) 17(Suppl 1):i125–35. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhm113
- Rutman AM, Clapp WC, Chadick JZ, Gazzaley A. Early top-down control of visual processing predicts working memory performance. *J Cogn Neurosci* (2009) 22(6):1224–34. doi:10.1162/jocn.2009.21257
- 13. West RL. An application of prefrontal cortex function theory to cognitive aging. *Psychol Bull* (1996) 120(2):272. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.120.2.272
- Rissman J, Gazzaley A, D'Esposito M. The effect of non-visual working memory load on top-down modulation of visual processing. *Neuropsychologia* (2009) 47(7):1637–46. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.01.036
- Braak H, Braak E. Staging of Alzheimer's disease-related neurofibrillary changes. *Neurobiol Aging* (1995) 16(3):271–8. doi:10.1016/0197-4580(95)00021-6
- McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR, Kawas CH, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on aging-Alzheimer's association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer Dement* (2011) 7(3):263–9. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005
- Morris JC. The clinical dementia rating (CDR): current version and scoring rules. *Neurology* (1993) 43(11):2412–4. doi:10.1212/WNL.43.11.2 412-a
- Wechsler D. Wechsler Memory Scale-(WMS-IV). New York: The Psychological Corporation (2009).

FUNDING

This study was supported by the A*Star Biomedical research council grant (13/1/96/19/687A). CY, DL, LL, JZ, and NK report no biomedical financial interests or potential conflict of interests.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmed.2017.00201/ full#supplementary-material.

- Dubuois B, Slachevsky A, Litvan I, Pillon B. The FAB A frontal assessment battery at bedside. *Neurology* (2000) 55(11):1621–6. doi:10.1212/ WNL.55.11.1621
- 20. D'Elia L, Satz P. Color Trails 1 and 2. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (1989).
- 21. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth. San Antonio: Pearson (2008).
- Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Unified segmentation. Neuroimage (2005) 26(3): 839–51. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.018
- Maldjian JA, Laurienti PJ, Kraft RA, Burdette JH. An automated method for neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. *Neuroimage* (2003) 19(3):1233–9. doi:10.1016/S1053-8119(03) 00169-1
- 24. Arbuckle J. IBM SPSS Amos 20. Version 20.0. Chicago: SPSS (2011).
- Schreiber JB, Nora A, Stage FK, Barlow EA, King J. Reporting structural equation modeling and confirmatory factor analysis results: a review. *J Educ Res* (2006) 99(6):323–38. doi:10.3200/JOER.99.6.323-338
- Shrout PE, Bolger N. Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychol Methods* (2002) 7(4):422. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422
- Hesterberg TC. What teachers should know about the bootstrap: resampling in the undergraduate statistics curriculum. *Am Stat* (2015) 69(4):371–86. doi:10.1080/00031305.2015.1089789
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc B Methodol (1995) 57(1):289–300.
- Pike N. Using false discovery rates for multiple comparisons in ecology and evolution. *Methods Ecol Evol* (2011) 2(3):278–82. doi:10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00061.x
- Westfall PH. On using the bootstrap for multiple comparisons. J Biopharm Stat (2011) 21(6):1187–205. doi:10.1080/10543406.2011.607751
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Academic Press (1988).
- Hayes AF. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford Press (2013).
- deIpolyi AR, Rankin K, Mucke L, Miller B, Gorno-Tempini M. Spatial cognition and the human navigation network in AD and MCI. *Neurology* (2007) 69(10):986–97. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000271376.19515.c6
- Alescio-Lautier B, Michel B, Herrera C, Elahmadi A, Chambon C, Touzet C, et al. Visual and visuospatial short-term memory in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease: role of attention. *Neuropsychologia* (2007) 45(8):1948–60. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.04.033
- McShane R, Gedling K, Keene J, Fairburn C, Jacoby R, Hope T. Getting lost in dementia: a longitudinal study of a behavioral symptom. *Int Psychogeriatr* (1998) 10(03):253–60. doi:10.1017/S1041610298005365
- Iachini T, Iavarone A, Senese VP, Ruotolo F, Ruggiero G. Visuospatial memory in healthy elderly, AD and MCI: a review. *Curr Aging Sci* (2009) 2(1):43–59. doi:10.2174/1874609810902010043
- Vlček K, Laczó J. Neural correlates of spatial navigation changes in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Behav Neurosci* (2014) 8:89. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00089
- Howard MW, Fotedar MS, Datey AV, Hasselmo ME. The temporal context model in spatial navigation and relational learning: toward a common

explanation of medial temporal lobe function across domains. *Psychol Rev* (2005) 112(1):75–116. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.112.1.75

- Urgolites ZJ, Kim S, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. Map reading, navigating from maps, and the medial temporal lobe. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(50):14289–93. doi:10.1073/pnas.1617786113
- Karnath H-O, Ferber S, Himmelbach M. Spatial awareness is a function of the temporal not the posterior parietal lobe. *Nature* (2001) 411(6840):950–3. doi:10.1038/35082075
- Saxe R, Xiao D-K, Kovacs G, Perrett D, Kanwisher N. A region of right posterior superior temporal sulcus responds to observed intentional actions. *Neuropsychologia* (2004) 42(11):1435–46. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2004.04.015

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Yatawara, Lee, Lim, Zhou and Kandiah. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Big Data and Dementia: Charting the Route Ahead for Research, Ethics, and Policy

Marcello Ienca, Effy Vayena and Alessandro Blasimme*

Health Ethics and Policy Laboratory, Department of Health Sciences and Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Emerging trends in pervasive computing and medical informatics are creating the possibility for large-scale collection, sharing, aggregation and analysis of unprecedented volumes of data, a phenomenon commonly known as big data. In this contribution, we review the existing scientific literature on big data approaches to dementia, as well as commercially available mobile-based applications in this domain. Our analysis suggests that big data approaches to dementia research and care hold promise for improving current preventive and predictive models, casting light on the etiology of the disease, enabling earlier diagnosis, optimizing resource allocation, and delivering more tailored treatments to patients with specific disease trajectories. Such promissory outlook, however, has not materialized yet, and raises a number of technical, scientific, ethical, and regulatory challenges. This paper provides an assessment of these challenges and charts the route ahead for research, ethics, and policy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco Canevelli, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by:

Jagadish K. Chhetri, Gérontopôle-Institute on Aging, Toulouse University Hospital, France Nagaendran Kandiah, National Neuroscience Institute (NNI), Singapore

*Correspondence:

Alessandro Blasimme alessandro.blasimme@hest.ethz.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Geriatric Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 03 November 2017 Accepted: 16 January 2018 Published: 06 February 2018

Citation:

lenca M, Vayena E and Blasimme A (2018) Big Data and Dementia: Charting the Route Ahead for Research, Ethics, and Policy. Front. Med. 5:13. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00013 Keywords: dementia, big data, ethics, health policy, Alzheimer's disease, real-world evidence, mild cognitive impairment, m-health

INTRODUCTION: BIG DATA, HEALTH, AND DEMENTIA

The predicted threefold increase in the prevalence of dementia in the coming decades (1) will put health-care systems and informal caregivers under an unmanageable pressure. This explains the current eagerness to find a cure, to slow down progression, and to develop better predictive tools to spot early signs of cognitive decline that may develop into full-blown dementias. The identification of biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease (AD) has paved the way for research into early determinants, with an emphasis on treating patients before the clinical manifestation of the disease (2). According to a study of the drug development pipeline for AD in 2017, current efforts focus mainly on disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) (3), and most of DMT agents in phase III AD trials (as reported on https://clinicaltrials.gov in 2017) address amyloid targets (15 out of 18) (idem). Yet, the failure rate for these kinds of trials is notoriously high (4).

Increased tau protein in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is also used as a biomarker for patients affected by mild cognitive impairment (MCI) who are likely to transition to AD (5). Still, the very use of MCI as a prodromal phase of AD has recently come under attack, as MCI itself reverts to normal cognitive functioning in many patients (6, 7).

Genome wide association studies have identified genes associated with increased risk of late onset AD (idem). In particular, APOe4 has been shown to have some, but only limited predictive value in determining the progression from (MCI) to AD (8).

Further efforts are underway to establish other biomarkers—genetic, biological, and combinations thereof—in both CSF and plasma (2), as well as attempts to look at cognitive decline on longitudinally longer scales (9). Multidimensional models integrating multiple biomarker data and etiological pathways are regarded as decisively more promising than reductionist approaches based on single explanatory hypothesis like those driving clinical research on the amyloid cascade (4, 10).

Integrative approaches to dementias are ideal candidates to test an incipient approach driven by the use of big data in dementia research. Recently, the global surge of interest around big data has spilled over into the field of dementia, as well as in many other domains of medicine and health research. Big data refers to unprecedentedly large amounts of data analyzed through novel data mining techniques for a variety of different purposes. Although the concept lacks an agreed-upon definition, it is generally assumed that big data is characterized by the so-called 3Vs: volume, velocity, and variety (11). This simplified definition captures some peculiar facts. For starters, the total amount of data stored in data centers in the world is estimated to reach 915 exabytes by 2020 (2.4-fold increase with respect to today) (12). In parallel the amount of data generated by networked end-user devices and appliances will be more than triple in the same period (12). Data are being generated at impressive velocity. Both structured and unstructured data contribute to this rapid growth. Biomedicine does its part too. Sequencing a whole human genome now take as little as few hours, and it is estimated that more than 35 petabytes of genomic data are produced every year (13). But genomic data are not the only reason why health care is predicted to be one of the domains in which big data will have a transformative effect (14). Electronic health records (EHRs)—comprehensive records of patient health history in electronic format-have now entered routine clinical practice in most advanced countries. Sensorequipped mobile devices, wearables, and appliances keep track of physical activity, location, sleeping habits, and vital parameters in real time, 24 h a day. Mobile-based applications (hereafter apps), loyalty cards, credit cards, and smart objects register accurate data about our consuming habits. Biomedical research produces huge amounts of data that scientists can store and share for secondary use through a variety of data repositories and biobanks. The ability of such heterogeneous information to provide a multidimensional account of one's health state has led some to speak of it as our "digital phenotype" (15), and to introduce the notion of "digital health" (16). Interest is rapidly growing around the potential medical breakthroughs enabled by mining such unprecedented amounts of data.

Dementia research is among those fields in which big data are regarded as more promising. Leveraging the collection, aggregation, and predictive analysis of large data volumes could reboot dementia research and care as it holds the potential of casting new light on its etiology, enabling timelier diagnosis and prevention strategies, and possibly overcoming current therapeutic limitations. In particular, this potential is more likely to be realized by enabling the integration of EHRs, molecular biomarkers, neuroimaging biomarkers, and mobile health (mHealth) data.

In this contribution, we review the existing scientific literature on big data approaches to dementia including both original research articles and commercially available mHealth applications. Based on this synthesis, we identify some major promises and challenges associated with big data trends in dementia research and care and chart the route ahead for research, ethics, and policy (see **Figure 1**).

METHODS

In spite of their disruptive potential, big data trends in dementia still remain a relatively unexplored topic. In October 2017, we conducted a PubMed search [("big data" AND "dementia") OR ("big data" AND "cognitive decline")] with unrestricted time range. The search retrieved nine peer-reviewed articles and one conference paper. The nine scientific articles included editorials (17, 18) and commentaries aimed at introducing big data principles to the dementia community, examining the applicability of these principles to dementia research or discussing the level of preparedness of the dementia community for big data approaches (19). While most articles focused primarily on AD dementia, a recent commentary explored the use of big data resources to optimize data use in vascular dementia research (20).

The data sources examined in these studies included EHRs (20), Internet searches (21), and genetic data (22). Additional data sources such as mHealth data did not appear in the foreground of current scientific literature. However, a parallel search on the two main digital distribution services (app stores), namely, Google Play and iTunes (the latter screened through API search), indicated the current availability of 35 mobile apps aimed at screening dementia and cognitive decline through self-assessment tools or digital assistants for health professionals.

Further screening was performed through unstructured online search and retrieval of secondary sources. This second phase of analysis revealed that, besides traditional research models, big data approaches to dementia have also been pursued in the form of data analytics challenges. For instance, the DREAM Challenge for AD aimed at: (i) predicting changes in cognitive scores 2 years after initial assessment; (ii) understanding the biological basis of resilience to amyloid pathology; and (iii) classifying individuals into diagnostic groups using neuroimaging. The challenge capitalizes on large datasets such as the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative's database and leverages multiple data sources including genetics, neuroimaging, cognitive assessment, and demographic information.

While research articles on big data and dementia still appear relatively rare, several policy documents produced by intergovernmental organizations focus on this topic. Between 2013 and 2015, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) released five policy papers addressing promises and challenges of big data trends in dementia care and research (23–27).

RESULTS

Promises

As often observed, dementia is "both a global problem and a pathological conundrum" (18). Therefore, the deployment of big data techniques should aim both at alleviating the global burden of dementia and at providing novel explanatory resources for the further understanding of the disease.



Big data may in the future help in cracking the pathological conundrum of AD by shedding new light on its etiology. The use of single molecular biomarkers in isolation has so far not successfully predicted the functional and cognitive outcomes of dementia (28). Based on this observation, researchers have criticized the disproportionate focus on single molecular biomarkers such as amyloid- β and tau in dementia research, and called for more integrative approaches to the study of the etiology (10, 29). For this reason, big data trends could corroborate a multi-modal (having different modes of data acquisition from heterogeneous data sources) and multi-scalar (from the molecular to the behavioral and population scale) account of dementia, enabling statistical associations across different data types and scales. This might fix the lack of integration that currently affects different data levels, hence helping to "glimpse the big picture" (30)-from genes and molecules to cognition and behavior-in dementia research.

In recent years, attempts to integrate and statistically correlate information across large population groups have been used to achieve earlier detection of AD, ideally in the pre-symptomatic phase. Researchers have utilized multiple data sources including neuroimaging (31, 32), hand gesture tracking (33), and retinal scans (34), and developed machine learning algorithms to detect structural (e.g., changes in brain structure) or functional (e.g., changes in time response during the completion of tasks) anomalies years prior to the onset of symptoms. Some of these studies show prognostic and predictive potential (32, 33). In parallel, a number of smartphone-based apps claim the ability to detect early signs of cognitive decline through gaming behavior or digitalized mental examination. For example, the mobile app Sea Hero Quest (35) gamified virtual spatial navigation assessment techniques (36) to find correlations between levels of gaming performance and cognitive decline (37). With over 2.5 million users, the app can capitalize on larger datasets than most conventional clinical tools, hence leveraging the potential of big data analytics to improve screening and early detection. While Sea Hero Quest is designed for self-assessment, other apps such as CogniSense (38) and ACEmobile (39) provide digital assistance to clinicians during the cognitive screening of patients.

Employing big data to reduce the global burden of dementia (25) implies aggregating large sets of population-scale data to improve prevention and public health strategies. For example,

Doubal et al. have argued that the linkage of routine clinical data at a national or even international level might result in a better understanding of the risk factors of dementia, resulting in more effective prevention (20). In a similar fashion, Dacks et al. have argued that optimizing the use of observational data through data-pooling and Internet-based tools might support personal, clinical, or public health decision-making and contribute to the development of specific interventions that reduce modifiable risk factors (40). In parallel, as stated in an OECD report, integrating data from different size scales (from molecular to whole population) and information types (from neurophysiological to behavioral) might enable the development of precision medicine solutions (24). With recent unmet expectations regarding pharmacological therapy, this personalized turn can increase therapeutic effectiveness through the customization of treatments and medical decisions to each individual patient (41, 42). This is particularly relevant as evidence suggests that the "biological processes driving the clinical phenotype can differ remarkedly from patient to patient" (28) and can also depend on comorbidities, co-medications, and patient genotypes.

Challenges

Big data and digital health tools can streamline the detection of early signs of cognitive decline. MCI is a prominent example of a prodromal syndrome that, while not strongly debilitating, can develop into full-blown dementia (43).

Other entities have recently been suggested to have a similar predictive value, such as subjective cognitive decline and mild behavioral impairment (44, 45). Apps that monitor the clinical presentation of such conditions (such as users' mood and cognitive performance over time) can greatly facilitate spotting changes from baseline functioning levels. The ubiquity and ease-of-use of such tools may enable self-monitoring practices, thus leading to a widespread increase in the number of patients referred to neurologists. On the one hand, if this enhances early detection of patients at risk of developing dementia, such practices can inflate the number of false positive diagnoses. This is a concrete risk, especially in light of recent findings showing that conditions like MCI, for instance, are prone to stabilization or even spontaneous reversion to normal functioning (46). In the absence of adequate evidence and guidelines, excessive emphasis on preclinical syndromes can lead to over-diagnosis and unnecessary medicalization, with consequences for both health systems and patients. The latter face risks of insurance and employment discrimination, stigmatization, and direct psychological harm. Health systems, on the other hand, may have to cope with unnecessary financial and organizational costs in response to an upsurge of mild/preclinical syndromes (46-48).

These downstream effects of mHealth applications in dementia demonstrate the need to establish *ad hoc* regulatory pathways to validate apps that make medical claims. Regulators such as the US Food and Drugs Administration (49) and the UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (50) are starting to venture in this domain. Nonetheless, we observed that many developers present their applications in ambiguous ways, without offering sufficient information regarding either the evidence backing their products, or the way in which they will handle the personal data of their customers. More effective incentives and disincentives are still needed to ensure sufficient consumer protection in this area. In particular, there needs to be more stringent oversight regarding the health-related claims of apps.

Despite these drawbacks, early detection remains laudable, as it allows us to treat patients before degenerative trajectories compromise the odds of slowing or stabilizing cognitive decline. The collection and analysis of multiple data types describing the aging trajectory of individual patients can help isolate discrete stressors and molecular characteristics (including genetic ones), and cluster them with cognitive or neuro-psychiatric symptoms that lead to the clinical manifestation of dementia. This kind of knowledge will improve the clinical understanding of dementia, as well as the development of personalized therapeutic and preventive interventions. Creating the evidence base for such interventions will require large-scale personal data repositories, giving rise to regulatory challenges in terms of data management, protection, aggregation, interoperability, privacy, and informed consent for the collection, use, and sharing of such data. Such issues are currently being debated in ethics and regulatory circles (51). Yet, other pressing issues relate to the most adequate means to generate clinically reliable and usable evidence from heterogeneous "real-world data," such as EHRs, mobile device data, and socioeconomic data (52). Current discussions on pragmatic trial designs will likely turn out relevant to research in novel, datadriven approaches to prevention and therapy in dementia (53). In the case of a stigmatizing condition like dementia linking data from within and without the clinical setting to detect early signs of cognitive decline poses peculiar ethical challenges. At a minimum, patients (or their legal representatives, in case of advanced dementia) should be made aware of such activities and be given the option to opt out.

A WAY FORWARD: THE NEED FOR AN INTEGRATIVE APPROACH

Scientific Evidence and Theory

To overcome the above structural challenges and ensure the success of big data initiatives for dementia, there is a need for integrative approaches at the level of research methodology, digital infrastructures, and financing, as well as ethics and regulation.

At the scientific level, there is a need for clearly demarcating the explanatory power of big data driven research. Large-scale data collection and further mining through analytical tools could boost dementia research and care management, establishing reliable statistical correlations between heterogeneous data sources whose association could not be detected through small-scale methods. It is questionable, however, whether big data approaches alone would suffice to uncover the causal mechanisms of AD pathology. The idea that large datasets might *speak for themselves* (54), independent of explanatory hypotheses (55) has attracted praise as well as criticism (56, 57). Integrative approaches are needed to combine the predictive power of big data with theoretically robust and causally explanatory scientific models. A valid proposal for such integration has been advanced by Geerts et al., who suggested that data-driven analytic approaches in AD research "need to be organically integrated into a quantitative understanding of the pathology" involving mechanism-based modeling and simulation approaches. In their view, this integration could enable a shift from big data to *smart-data*, i.e., from "information" to "actionable knowledge" (28). Similarly, DeKosky has called for the integration of big data approaches with basic neuroscience (18).

Integrative and theory-mediated big data approaches are well placed to overcome current limitations in dementia research. Taking a stance from systems biology and complexity theory, Geerts et al. argued that the integration of big data analytics with modeling and simulation might overcome the explanatory failures of reductionist biological approaches focused on single molecular biomarkers in isolation. In their view, this holistic approach has already shown benefits in PD-dementia, as it has led to a better understanding and optimization of deep-brain stimulation protocols (28).

Digital Infrastructure

Current digital infrastructures of dementia research and care need to be upgraded. As stated in a recent OECD report, secure infrastructures for data storage, processing, and access need to be sustained through complementary resources (27). While ongoing digitalization and automation in dementia care offer novel opportunities for large-scale data acquisition (58), further efforts are required to sustain the secure and reliable sharing of such information, and to guarantee the interoperability of different data-repositories (e.g., genetic biobanks, neuroimaging repositories, and eHealth data platforms). Active cooperation between public and private actors has been recognized as a viable strategy for increasing funding opportunities and favoring the digital transformation of dementia research and care (26). Yet, the appropriation of health data by large ICT corporation can cause public unease, thus undermining the development of data-driven medicine. A recent controversy over Google's access to NHS data through its AI subsidiary DeepMind shows that sufficient safeguards are not yet in place (59).

Ethical Guidelines

Ethically robust guidelines for the collection and sharing of personal health data would facilitate big data research while maintaining public trust and protecting data subjects. Existing oversight mechanisms (such as ethics review) and conventional informed consent models appear "ill suited" for large-scale data collections (60, 61). As far as research on large-scale repositories of structured and unstructured data is concerned, *ad hoc* criteria for assessing research protocols employing novel data analytics

REFERENCES

- Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Alzheimers Dement* (2013) 9:63–75.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007
- Huynh RA, Mohan C. Alzheimer's disease: biomarkers in the genome, blood, and cerebrospinal fluid. *Front Neurol* (2017) 8:102. doi:10.3389/fneur. 2017.00102
- Cummings J, Lee G, Mortsdorf T, Ritter A, Zhong K. Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2017. *Alzheimers Dement* (2017) 3:367–84. doi:10.1016/ j.trci.2017.05.002

tools are urgently needed. Moreover, informed consent-in its current shape-does not grant data subjects (nor their legal representatives) sufficient control over highly sensible information regarding their cognitive state. This is a disincentive for people to make their data available for research in the first place. New mechanisms are being explored to enable more granular data control on the part of data subjects-for example by implementing data portability rights, or by introducing electronic consent management mechanisms and participatory forms of data governance (61). The longitudinal nature of studies based on big data and real-word evidence, however, poses issues relative to the validity of initial consent obtained from people whose cognitive functions may degrade over time. Ad hoc oversight mechanisms, such as advanced directives, shall be in place to safeguard the autonomy and wellbeing of those patients while at the same time enabling scientific progress.

Privacy and Data Security

As to privacy and data security, researchers and regulators need to acknowledge that not even anonymization of deep phenotypic data-such as those that are needed for the development of big data approaches in dementia-is a sufficient firewall. As demonstrated in the case of genomic (62) and electrophysiological data (63), maliciously re-identifying anonymous data is within reach of sufficiently skilled offenders. Given the sensitive nature of data regarding cognition (64) and given the frequency of spectacular health data breaches (65), data security represents a priority. It follows that efficient regulatory and technical measures to shore up data security are key to scientific progress in the field. Privacypreserving techniques such as encryption and block chain need to be incorporated into the digital infrastructure of current data transmissions. These solutions will not only enhance data security but also facilitate and sustain the trust of individuals (both healthy subjects and people with symptomatic dementia) in the data collection and sharing (66).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation under awards 407540_167223 (NRP 75 Big Data) and PP00P3_157556, and the Swiss Academy of Medical Sciences under award KZS 20/17.

- Canevelli M, Bruno G, Cesari M. The sterile controversy on the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2017) 83:472–3. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2017.09.015
- Vos SJ, Van Rossum IA, Verhey F, Knol DL, Soininen H, Wahlund L-O, et al. Prediction of Alzheimer disease in subjects with amnestic and nonamnestic MCI. *Neurology* (2013) 80:1124–32. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318288690c
- Canevelli M, Grande G, Lacorte E, Quarchioni E, Cesari M, Mariani C, et al. Spontaneous reversion of mild cognitive impairment to normal cognition: a systematic review of literature and meta-analysis. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2016) 17:943–8. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.020

- Canevelli M, Blasimme A, Vanacore N, Bruno G, Cesari M. From evidence to action: promoting a multidimensional approach to mild cognitive impairment. J Am Med Dir Assoc (2015) 16:710–1. doi:10.1016/j.jamda. 2015.04.013
- Elias-Sonnenschein LS, Viechtbauer W, Ramakers IH, Verhey FR, Visser PJ. Predictive value of APOE-epsilon4 allele for progression from MCI to AD-type dementia: a meta-analysis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2011) 82:1149–56. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2010.231555
- Vos SJ, Xiong C, Visser PJ, Jasielec MS, Hassenstab J, Grant EA, et al. Preclinical Alzheimer's disease and its outcome: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12:957–65. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70194-7
- Herrup K. The case for rejecting the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Nat Neurosci* (2015) 18:794–9. doi:10.1038/nn.4017
- Laney D. 3D data management: controlling data volume, velocity and variety. META Group Res Note (2001) 6:70.
- 12. Cisco. Cisco Global Cloud Index: Forecast and Methodology, 2015-2020, White Paper. Cisco Public (2016).
- Stephens ZD, Lee SY, Faghri F, Campbell RH, Zhai C, Efron MJ, et al. Big data: astronomical or genomical? *PLoS Biol* (2015) 13:e1002195. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.1002195
- 14. Manyika J, Chui M, Brown B, Bughin J, Dobbs R, Roxburgh C, et al. *Big Data: The Next Frontier for Innovation, Competition, and Productivity.* McKinsey Global Institute (2011).
- Jain SH, Powers BW, Hawkins JB, Brownstein JS. The digital phenotype. Nat Biotechnol (2015) 33:462–3. doi:10.1038/nbt.3223
- FDA. Digital Health, U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Food & Drug Administration (2016).
- Khachaturian AS, Meranus DH, Kukull WA, Khachaturian ZS. Big data, aging, and dementia: pathways for international harmonization on data sharing. *Alzheimers Dement* (2013) 9:S61–2. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2013. 09.001
- DeKosky ST. The role of big data in understanding late-life cognitive decline: E Unum, Pluribus. JAMA Neurol (2014) 71:1476–8. doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2014.2818
- Hofmann-Apitius M. Is dementia research ready for big data approaches? BMC Med (2015) 13:145. doi:10.1186/s12916-015-0367-7
- Doubal FN, Ali M, Batty GD, Charidimou A, Eriksdotter M, Hofmann-Apitius M, et al. Big data and data repurposing-using existing data to answer new questions in vascular dementia research. *BMC Neurol* (2017) 17:72. doi:10.1186/s12883-017-0841-2
- Wang H-W, Chen D-R, Yu H-W, Chen Y-M. Forecasting the incidence of dementia and dementia-related outpatient visits with Google trends: evidence from Taiwan. J Med Internet Res (2015) 17:e264. doi:10.2196/jmir.4516
- Swarup V, Geschwind DH. Alzheimer's disease: from big data to mechanism. Nature (2013) 500:34–5. doi:10.1038/nature12457
- 23. Deetjen U, Meyer ET, Schroeder R. *Big Data for Advancing Dementia Research: An Evaluation of Data Sharing Practices in Research on Age-Related Neurodegenerative Diseases.* Paris: OECD Publishing (2015).
- 24. Geoff A, Jillian O. Dementia Research and Care Can Big Data Help? Can Big Data Help? Paris: OECD Publishing (2015).
- 25. OECD. Unleashing the Power of Big Data for Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia Research: Main Points of the OECD Expert Consultation on Unlocking Global Collaboration to Accelerate Innovation for Alzheimer's Disease and Dementia. Paris: OECD Publishing (2014).
- 26. OECD. Public-Private Partnerships in Biomedical Research and Health Innovation for Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias. Paris: OECD Publishing (2015).
- 27. OECD. Addressing Dementia. Paris: OECD Publishing (2015).
- Geerts H, Dacks PA, Devanarayan V, Haas M, Khachaturian ZS, Gordon MF, et al. Big data to smart data in Alzheimer's disease: the brain health modeling initiative to foster actionable knowledge. *Alzheimers Dement* (2016) 12:1014–21. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2016.04.008
- Ridler C. Dementia prevention hits the headlines at AAIC17. Nat Rev Neurol (2017) 13:576–576. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2017.115
- Husain M. Big data: could it ever cure Alzheimer's disease? Brain (2014) 137:2623-4. doi:10.1093/brain/awu245
- Amoroso N, La Rocca M, Bruno S, Maggipinto T, Monaco A, Bellotti R, et al. Brain Structural Connectivity Atrophy in Alzheimer's Disease. arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.02369. (2017).

- Mathotaarachchi S, Pascoal TA, Shin M, Benedet AL, Kang MS, Beaudry T, et al. Identifying incipient dementia individuals using machine learning and amyloid imaging. *Neurobiol Aging* (2017) 59:80–90. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2017.06.027
- Souillard-Mandar W, Davis R, Rudin C, Au R, Libon DJ, Swenson R, et al. Learning classification models of cognitive conditions from subtle behaviors in the digital clock drawing test. *Mach Learn* (2016) 102:393–441. doi:10.1007/ s10994-015-5529-5
- Koronyo Y, Biggs D, Barron E, Boyer DS, Pearlman JA, Au WJ, et al. Retinal amyloid pathology and proof-of-concept imaging trial in Alzheimer's disease. *JCI Insight* (2017) 2:1–19. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.93621
- Morgan J. Gaming for dementia research: a quest to save the brain. Lancet Neurol (2016) 15:1313. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30123-5
- Ventura M, Shute V, Wright T, Zhao W. An investigation of the validity of the virtual spatial navigation assessment. *Front Psychol* (2013) 4:852. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2013.00852
- 37. Gholipour B. Can You Diagnose Dementia from a Gaming App? Scientific American (2016).
- Clionsky M, Clionsky E. Dementia and the brain-breathing connection. J Alzheimers Dis Parkinsonism (2016) 6:e135. doi:10.4172/2161-0460. 1000e135
- Newman C, Hodges J, Pearson S, Noad R. The design and implementation of a computer supported assessment of dementia-ACEmobile. *Int J Integr Care* (2014) 14. doi:10.5334/ijic.1784
- Dacks PA, Andrieu S, Blacker D, Carman AJ, Green AM, Grodstein F, et al. Dementia prevention: optimizing the use of observational data for personal, clinical, and public health decision-making. *J Prev Alzheimers Dis* (2014) 1:117–23.
- Blasimme A, Vayena E. Becoming partners, retaining autonomy: ethical considerations on the development of precision medicine. *BMC Med Ethics* (2016) 17:67. doi:10.1186/s12910-016-0149-6
- Blasimme A, Vayena E. "Tailored-to-you": public engagement and the political legitimation of precision medicine. *Perspect Biol Med* (2017) 59:172–88. doi:10.1353/pbm.2017.0002
- Langa KM, Levine DA. The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment: a clinical review. JAMA (2014) 312:2551–61. doi:10.1001/ jama.2014.13806
- 44. Jessen F, Amariglio RE, van Boxtel M, Breteler M, Ceccaldi M, Chételat G, et al. A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* (2014) 10:844–52. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.01.001
- Ismail Z, Smith EE, Geda Y, Sultzer D, Brodaty H, Smith G, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms as early manifestations of emergent dementia: provisional diagnostic criteria for mild behavioral impairment. *Alzheimers Dement* (2016) 12:195–202. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2015.05.017
- Canevelli M, Bruno G, Remiddi F, Vico C, Lacorte E, Vanacore N, et al. Spontaneous reversion of clinical conditions measuring the risk profile of the individual: from frailty to mild cognitive impairment. *Front Med* (2017) 4:184. doi:10.3389/fmed.2017.00184
- Canevelli M, Blasimme A, Vanacore N, Bruno G, Cesari M. Mild behavioral impairment: ethical, methodological and clinical reflections. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 69:402–3. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.025
- Canevelli M, Blasimme A, Vanacore N, Bruno G, Cesari M. Issues about the use of subjective cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease research. *Alzheimers Dement* (2014) 10:881–2. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2014.07.154
- Hamel MB, Cortez NG, Cohen IG, Kesselheim AS. FDA regulation of mobile health technologies. N Engl J Med (2014) 371:372. doi:10.1056/ NEJMhle1403384
- MHRA. Medical Device Stand-Alone Software Including Apps. London, UK: Drug Safety, Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (2014). p. 1–38.
- 51. Vayena E, Gasser U, Wood A, O'Brien DR, Altman M. Elements of a new ethical framework for big data research. *Wash Lee L Rev Online* (2015) 72:423.
- Jarow JP, LaVange L, Woodcock J. Multidimensional evidence generation and FDA regulatory decision making: defining and using "real-world" data. JAMA (2017) 318:703–4. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.9991
- Kalkman S, van Thiel GJMW, Grobbee DE, Meinecke A-K, Zuidgeest MGP, van Delden JJM. Stakeholders' views on the ethical challenges of pragmatic trials investigating pharmaceutical drugs. *Trials* (2016) 17:419. doi:10.1186/ s13063-016-1546-3

- 54. Cukier K, Mayer-Schönberger V. *Big Data: A Revolution That Will Transform How We Live, Work and Think.* London: John Murray (2013).
- Anderson C. The end of theory: the data deluge makes the scientific method obsolete. Wired Mag (2008) 16:16–7.
- Mazzocchi F. Could big data be the end of theory in science? A few remarks on the epistemology of data-driven science. *EMBO Rep* (2015) 16:1250–5. doi:10.15252/embr.201541001
- 57. Kitchin R. Big data, new epistemologies and paradigm shifts. *Big Data Soc* (2014) 1:2053951714528481. doi:10.1177/2053951714528481
- Ienca M, Fabrice J, Elger B, Caon M, Pappagallo AS, Kressig RW, et al. Intelligent assistive technology for Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis (2017) 56:1301–40. doi:10.3233/JAD-161037
- Hawkes N. NHS data sharing deal with Google prompts concern. BMJ (2016) 353:i2573. doi:10.1136/bmj.i2573
- Vayena E, Mastroianni A, Kahn J. Caught in the web: informed consent for online health research. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:173fs6. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3004798
- Vayena E, Blasimme A. Biomedical big data: new models of control over access, use and governance. J Bioeth Inq (2017) 14:501–13. doi:10.1007/ s11673-017-9809-6
- Gymrek M, McGuire AL, Golan D, Halperin E, Erlich Y. Identifying personal genomes by surname inference. *Science* (2013) 339:321. doi:10.1126/ science.1229566

- Ienca M, Haselager P. Hacking the brain: brain-computer interfacing technology and the ethics of neurosecurity. *Ethics Inf Technol* (2016) 18:117–29. doi:10.1007/s10676-016-9398-9
- Ienca M, Andorno R. Towards new human rights in the age of neuroscience and neurotechnology. *Life Sci Soc Policy* (2017) 13:5. doi:10.1186/ s40504-017-0050-1
- Perakslis ED, Stanley M. A cybersecurity primer for translational research. Sci Transl Med (2016) 8:322s2. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa4493
- Adjekum A, Ienca M, Vayena E. What is trust? Ethics and risk governance in precision medicine and predictive analytics. *OMICS* (2017) 21:704–10. doi:10.1089/omi.2017.0156

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ienca, Vayena and Blasimme. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

